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More than half of Council’s expenditure was committed to 
Transport and Water Services.

We spent $87.5 million on acquiring and constructing assets. 
We spent 77% of our capital expenditure on transportation or 
Water Services assets. 

Council’s property plant and equipment assets are valued at 
over $1.6 billion assets.
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We’re young, by New Zealand standards—just 20 years old 
following the amalgamation of the Helensville Borough with 

the former Rodney County in 1989. But we have grown and grown fast. In fact, Rodney 
District, stretching from Te Hana in the north to Kumeu in the south, is one of the fastest 
growing areas in New Zealand. And one of the most beautiful. The 1000 kilometres of 
coastline, the stunning regional parks (thanks ARC) and above all the relaxed and friendly 
lifestyle omnipresent throughout Rodney attract visitors and residents alike. In droves.  
As a result we are a thriving community of communities that celebrate and, indeed 
propagate, our historical links to a diverse and harmonious blend of cultures and  
ethnicity that made Rodney the distinctive district she is today.

M
uriw

ai Beach.

RDC an historical overview
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Population:  
25,000.

Possibly the most diverse of all our wards and the one pundits predict will have  
the most growth—28% in the next 10 years. Here in the Western Ward you will find 
everything from the rugged coastline at Muriwai to the sweeping dunes of South Head 
and the more sedate and increasingly renowned vineyards inland. Here too you’ll find 
towns such as Helensville, Kumeu and Huapai and Riverhead—each fiercely parochial, 
proud of their past and looking positively to the future.

The Western Ward

Population:  
42,000.

Some may call it the population capital of Rodney and certainly it has the largest 
population of all our wards. And much of its industry. But it still has the Rodney  
laid-back lifestyle and even if we do lose a large part of its employment base to 
Auckland every day, the Hibiscus Coast is still a great place to come home to.

Hibiscus Coast Ward

Population:  
21,600.

Fertile ground and rolling terrain suggest a farming flavour. And the Northern Ward  
is that. But it is much more. Fabulous scenery, great beaches and reserves, history, 
arts and crafts and some of the best restaurants and cafes north of Auckland draw 
huge crowds, particularly on the weekend. And they are welcome. But in its quieter 
moments the pristine environment and the slower pace of our northern-most ward 
fashion a lifestyle without peer.

The Northern Ward

Population:  
7,500.

Our youngest ward, created just before the 2007 Local Body election. Largely rural 
in character, the Central Ward attracts those escaping from the madding crowd 
in Auckland. In the Central Ward you’ll find peace and solitude if that’s what you 
want—and a real sense of community, if you prefer to mix it up a little. Someone once 
calculated that tens of thousands of trees have been planted by life-stylers in Rodney 
in the last 30 years. You’ll find most of them in the Central Ward.

The Central Ward

District – Wide
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RDC About Rodney District Council

©Rodney District Council

This publication is Copyright. 
Other than for purposes and 

subject to the conditions 
prescribed under the Copyright 

Act, no part of the publication 
may in any form or by any 

means (electronic, mechanical, 
micro copying or otherwise) be 

reproduced, stored in a retrieval 
system or transmitted without 

prior written permission.

Enquiries should be  
addressed to the publisher:

Rodney District Council 
Private Bag 500, Orewa  

NEW ZEALAND

About Rodney District
Rodney District stretches from the east to west coast just 
north of metropolitan Auckland. It is the most northern of the 
seven local authorities that make up the Auckland Region. 
Its neighbours are Waitakere and North Shore Cities to the 
south and the Kaipara District (part of the Northland Region) 
to the North.

Rodney District is one of the fastest growing districts in New 
Zealand and has a unique blend of urban and rural lifestyles. 

Rodney District Council
Rodney District Council is the statutory organisation 
responsible for a range of functions and services including 
rubbish disposal services, urban water, sewerage and 
stormwater services and local roads. 

It develops policies and bylaws to facilitate local economic 
growth while protecting the interests of the community at large 
and the local environment.

It is also responsible for community wellbeing, fostering the 
arts and providing facilities such as holiday parks, libraries, 
leisure centres, parks and reserves, rural fire services and 
civil defence.

It advocates the needs of the local community to central 
government, other local authorities and other agencies.

Like other councils, Rodney District Council carries out 
a number of statutory functions under the Resource 
Management Act 1991, the Building Act 2004, the Bio security 
Act 1993, the Health Act 1956 and others.

Rodney District Facts
Population1: 96,562 

Growth since 1996: +43.8%

District area: 2,475 square kilometres

Rateable land value2: $21,461,700,859

Rateable capital value: $33,209,653,000

Number of rates assessments: 45,362

1) Source: Rodney Growth Model, using average  
projected growth rate 2006-2011

2) Rate information from reconciliation of valuations on  
District Valuation Roll with Pathway system @ 30 June 2009.

Council Membership
The Council is governed by a mayor elected on a district wide 
basis and 12 councillors elected from four wards.

Elected representatives of Rodney District are responsible 
for establishing policies on behalf of the district, setting the 
necessary financial requirements and monitoring the Chief 
Executive’s performance in delivering the Long Term Plan, 
Annual Plan and budget objectives.

Council agendas and minutes are freely available through the 
Rodney District Council website www.rodney.govt.nz

WELCOME

M
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Introduction from the Mayor

This Annual Report sets out the achievements of 
Rodney District Council during what will be our last 
ever complete year of operation. 

A review of the past year shows it has been a 
challenging time both for Rodney District Council and 
the wider Rodney community. For most of 2009, the 
future governance arrangements of our district have 
been uncertain, and at times seemed to be changing 
almost daily. 

Despite this, I believe we have managed to achieve 
a great deal over the past twelve months. With the 
adoption of Planning Rodney and the resolution of 
most of the outstanding appeals to our District Plan, 
Rodney now has in place a planning framework which 
will enable us to retain our own distinctive rural and 
coastal character. As the new Auckland Council does 
not yet have a planning framework in place,  
we expect that it will adopt the existing planning 
documents and District Plans of Councils across 
the region. The plans adopted by Rodney District 
Council will therefore continue to shape the future 
development of our area. 

In June 2009, the Council also adopted a ten year 
Long Term Council Community Plan (LTCCP). 844 
submissions were received on the draft Plan and 
Councillors travelled around the District to listen to  
the views of submitters. 

I have always considered the opportunity to 
get out and about and listen to the views of 
different sectors of the community to be essential 
to good decision making and we made a number of 
changes to the Plan as a result of submissions from 
the community. 

Our LTCCP sets out projects that will be progressed 
for each community within Rodney and has been 
developed with input from local residents. Like the 
District Plan, Rodney’s LTCCP will be adopted by 
the new Auckland Council. We expect that the new 
Council will continue to refer to our Council’s LTCCP 
– at least during the first year or two of its operation.

2009 began with the opening of the Northern 
motorway extension, a project which Rodney District 
Council had been working on for the past five years 
with NZTA and other members of the Northern 
Gateway Alliance. The Tunnel Dinner was one of the 
most memorable events of the year and was truly a 
credit to its organisers. 

This year also saw significant progress made on 
the Orewa Boulevard and Warkworth town centre 
upgrade. At the time this report was published both 
projects were either at or near completion, and will  
be of significant benefit to the local economy. 

Finally, construction on the new Northern Animal 
Shelter commenced in 2009, and it was officially 
opened in August this year. The shelter was 
developed in partnership with North Shore City 
Council and is a great example of neighbourly 
collaboration creating cost savings for ratepayers. 

I recognise that the last year has been particularly 
difficult for Council staff. Not only has  there been a 
long period of uncertainty for staff about the future, 
but on top of this there has been a significant amount 
of additional work associated with preparing for the 
transition to the new  Auckland Council. The efforts 
of staff are very much appreciated by myself and the 
other Councillors. Our staff are also part of the local 
community and we hope that they will be able to 
continue to live here in the future. 

It has also been a difficult time for my fellow 
Councillors, as the process of preparing and 
adopting the LTCCP and also having input into the 
government’s consultation on the future governance 
of this district have been tremendously time 
consuming for everyone involved. 

I would like to thank both staff and Councillors for 
their support over the past year and wish them well 
for the future. In particular, I would like to thank Chief 
Executive Rodger Kerr-Newell and other members of 
the Executive Team for their advice and support.  

I believe that everyone in Rodney can take pride in 
the Council’s achievements during the past twelve 
months. One of the highlights for me personally this 
year was attending the first Rodney Community 
Service Awards we have held for a number of years. 
These awards reminded me how lucky we are to live 
in a community where people are so willing to give up 
their time to help others without expecting any kind of 
recognition or reward. 

Although from November 2010 we may no longer be 
called Rodney District, I believe that the things that 
make up this community and that make it so special – 
our support for one another and our pride in who we 
are – will always remain.

Penny Webster
Mayor – Rodney District Council

RDC making a positive difference

‘I have always considered the opportunity to get out and about and listen to the views of 
different sectors of the community essential to good decision making’.
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Introduction from the Chief Executive

This will be the last annual report of the Rodney 
District Council. Whilst this is a cause of some 
sadness it is also a time to reflect on the many 
positive things that have been achieved.

We can celebrate progress on a number of major 
projects including the decision by Council to 
proactively retire debt, and the progressive move 
to a capital rating basis – all of which have put the 
District in a good way to make even further progress 
in the future.

Our steps towards the future have been guided by 
both Vision Rodney – your statement of how you 
want the District to be in the future, and Planning 
Rodney – the land use and growth document for 
the district. These were both adopted by Council in 
December 2008.

In this past year we also adopted the 2009-2019 
Long Term Council Community Plan (LTCCP) which 
sets out the council services, projects and finances 
for the next 10 years. The LTCCP will guide our 
work until November 2010 and will then become 
the responsibility of the new Auckland Council. It 
also provides valuable information for the Auckland 
Council about where the District wants to be in the 
next decade.

We have actively presented the views of Rodney 
to the people making the decisions on the future 
governance of Rodney. Since the decision making 
Rodney part of the new Auckland Council was made, 
we have been working positively with all the parties 
in the transition process to ensure the best future 
for Rodney and to ensure that those who will be 
responsible for its future are aware of the treasure 
that is the Rodney District. It is not only ‘Auckland’s 
playground’ – it has been and will continue to be 
much more than that. 

So, it is entirely appropriate that in this, our last 
annual report, we adopt a theme of Rodney, look at 
you now – an unashamed celebration of what Rodney 
is and how we would like it to be.

Rodger Kerr-Newell 
Chief Executive

WELCOME

‘We can celebrate progress on a number of major projects including the decision by 
Council to proactively retire debt, and the progressive move to a capital rating basis – all 
of which have put the District in a good way to make even further progress in the future’.
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Meet your Mayor & Councillors

Penny Webster
SECOND TERM

Mayor Penny Webster has served 
Rodney at both a national level as a 

Member of Parliament and now  
of course as our mayor. 

She was elected mayor of the district 
in 2007 after serving one term as a 

councillor for our Northern Ward.

Penny and her husband Malcolm  
live in Snells Beach.

John Kirikiri
FIRST TERM

First term in office and straight into the 
role of Deputy Mayor. John came into 

Council in 2007, elected as one of five 
councillors representing the Hibiscus 

Coast Ward. 

Despite a lack of political experience, 
John has grown into the role and 

now serves on a number of regional 
authorities as well as ably deputising 
for Mayor Penny. John lives in Manly.

Mayor Deputy Mayor

Cr Dave Parker
FIRST TERM IN OFFICE

Cr Grahame Powell
FOuRTh TERM IN OFFICE

Cr June Turner
FIRST TERM IN OFFICE

Cr Greville (Grev) Walker
SECOND TERM IN OFFICE

Cr Pat Delich
ThIRD TERM IN OFFICE

Cr Suzanne Weld
FIRST TERM IN OFFICE

Northern Ward Western Ward

Cr Wayne Walker
ThIRD TERM IN OFFICE

Cr Michael Goudie
FIRST TERM IN OFFICE

Cr Gaye harding
FOuRTh TERM IN OFFICE

Cr Zane Taylor
FIRST TERM IN OFFICE

Cr John Kirikiri
FIRST TERM IN OFFICE

hibiscus Coast Ward

RDC making a positive difference

Note: For further contact details, please refer to ‘Contact Cards: Mayor & Councillors’ which can be found on page 172 within the Appendices.

Cr Ross Craig
FIRST TERM  

IN OFFICE

Central Ward
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Meet your Management Team

WELCOME

Note: For further details about the core Council Structure & Management, please refer to ‘Council Structure & 
Management’ which can be found on page 170 within the Appendices section.

1 2 3 5

4

7

6

8

1 Rory Palmer
General Manager, Strategy

5 Rodger Kerr-Newell
Chief Executive

2 Lloyd Barton
Director, Customer Service

6 Kevin Ramsay
Director, Corporate Services

3 David Anderson
General Manager, Communications

7 Warren Maclennan
Assistant Chief Executive & Director, Strategy & Policy

4 Murray Noone
Director, Infrastructure

8 Lesley Piper
Strategic Advisor to the Chief Executive
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10 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND POLICIES

General Information
This was the final year Rodney District’s affairs were managed as two separate financial divisions – the Hibiscus Coast and the 
Rural & Townships Area. Specific issues consulted on in preparation for the Long Term Council Community Plan 2009-2019 
(LTCCP) included asking the community whether the two existing financial divisions should be retained. As a result, from 1 July 
2009 onwards the District will become a single financial division.

The Hibiscus Coast includes Orewa, Waiwera, Hatfields Beach, Stillwater, Silverdale, Red Beach, the Whangaparaoa 
Peninsula, and the area between Waiwera and Okura bounded by the new State Highway 1. 

The Rural & Townships Area includes Helensville, Kumeu, Huapai, Wellsford, Warkworth, Snells Beach, Algies Bay, Matakana 
and Omaha which makes up the balance of the District.

The Rodney District continues to be a popular and sought-after place to live and is one of the fastest growing districts in  
New Zealand. This places all sorts of pressures on the Council to provide the strategic direction, infrastructure and operational 
services to meet the community’s expectations.

At the heart of Council’s ability to provide what the community wants is the ability to fund the cost of Council services.  
The bulk of this funding comes from rates and borrowings. 

Overall Financial Results 
The financial statements are presented in New Zealand dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand dollars ($000). 
Full details of the Council’s accounting policies can be found in the detailed financial statements section of this Annual Report. 

These financial statements comply with NZ International Financial Reporting Standards, and other applicable Financial 
Reporting Standards, as appropriate for public benefit entities.

The summary details the revenue and expenditure of the Council as well as other financial transactions that have impacted on 
the Council’s net equity. The Council’s 2008/09 financial performance is compared to the budget or plan which was adopted in 
June 2008 and to last year’s results.

Overall Financial Results in Brief
2008 2009 2009

(All in $000) Note Actual Plan Actual

Summarised Operating Results
Cost of Council Services  137,266  147,263  153,547 
Regional Museum Levies  1,452  1,525  1,532 
Rate Income 88,263 99,490  99,130 
Other Revenue 66,081 68,600 66,564
Operating Surplus Before Tax 1  15,625 19,302 10,615
Capital Expenditure  95,603 80,863 87,471 
Net Cash Assets 4,366 4,752 12,824
Property, Plant and Equipment, Intangible and Forestry Assets  1,584,935  1,630,661  1,623,536 
Borrowings 2 255,800 282,580 292,179 
Times Finance Cost Covered by Rates 4.7 4.5 4.7 
Cash Investments to Rates Income 5% 5% 13% 
Proportion of Rates to Total Income 57% 59% 60%

NOTE 1 See the Statement of Comprehensive Income for an analysis of the operating surplus of $10.6 million.

NOTE 2 Borrowings are shown net of cash holdings.

A General Overview of the Year’s Results

Total Operating Expenditure ($M)

2005 2009200820072006

112

155

133

95

139

Total Revenue ($M)

2005 2009200820072006

135

165

138
129

154
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The financial surplus shown in the Statement of Comprehensive Income was $10.6M which is $8.6M less than budget.

The primary reasons for these results were:

Revenue and user charges were below budget by $2.0M
Vested Assets were below budget by $3.9M
Cash Contributions were below budget by  $4.5M
First time recognition of future landfill monitoring costs $3.5M
Loss recognised on the revaluation of investment and other properties intended for sale $1.5M
Offsetting the unfavourable variances was a gain on the sale of property plant and equipment $6.0M

Operating Expenses Funding 2008/2009

NZ Transport Agency 
Subsidies

6% 

Grants & Subsidies2% 

Revenue & User  
Charges

16% 

Other Income3% 

Interest Earned1% 

Rates72% 

Operating Expenditure
Operating expenditure includes the day-to-day costs 
necessary to run a large multi-function organisation.  
These are generally costs that impact on one year’s 
operations as opposed to capital expenditure that impacts  
on more than one financial period and creates a  
depreciable asset. 

Costs were closely monitored and controlled. The total 
operating expenditure for the 2008/09 financial year was $155 
million against a budget of $148.8 million a difference of $6.2 
million. This difference was primarily related to the requirement 
to recognise $3.5 million for the future costs of monitoring 
closed landfills. These costs will actually be incurred over the 
next 30 years. If the impact of the closed landfills is excluded, 
operating costs exceeded budget by 1.8% 

Council incurs costs to run and maintain assets such as 
roads, wastewater treatment plants and pumping stations, 
with the physical work being contracted out rather than 
being performed by Council employees. The quality of 
work performed and associated costs are subject to regular 
monitoring and review by Council. 

The graph below shows that more than half of Council’s 
expenditure was committed to Transport and Water Services.

Operating Revenues
Rates revenue continues to be the major source of operating 
revenue for the Council. Rate revenue increased by $10.9 
million on the previous financial year, the cost of Council 
services rose by $15.6 million. 

We collected $2 million less revenue and user charges than 
we had budgeted. This was mainly in the Building Control and 
Resource Consent areas, which were impacted significantly in 
the change in the economy which saw applications fall sharply.

Operating Expenditure 2008/2009 ($155M)

Economic Development

Waste Management

Community Support

Civic Leadership

Corporate Holdings

Community Facilities

Water Services

Regulation

District & Env. Planning

Regional Museum Levies

Transportation

4% 

11% 

22% 

29% 

2% 

2% 

4% 

1% 

16% 

8% 

1% 
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Capital Expenditure
Capital expenditure is the cost incurred by the Council 
when it buys or creates new assets or renews existing 
ones. These assets provide services to the community, for a 
period of greater than one year. Council spends most of its 
capital expenditure on infrastructural assets such as roads, 
wastewater, water and stormwater systems to meet the needs 
of a growing district.

Council‘s budget for 2008/09 included a plan to spend  
$80.9 million on capital expenditure. In addition there were 
$20 million worth of projects which were partially completed 
at the start of the year which had been budgeted to be 
completed in prior years. By the end of the year we had spent 
$87.4 million and reduced our unspent projects considerably.

Capital expenditure totalled $87.4 million, made up of new 
works funded by Council of $50.9 million; renewal works 
funded by Council of $33.4 million; and the value of new 
works vested by sub dividers and developers of $3.1 million. 
Capital works for Transport and Water Services account for 
77% of capital expenditure.

A General Overview of the Year’s Results

Capital Expenditure 2008/2009 ($87.5M)

Capital Expenditure Funding 2008/2009

Capital Expenditure ($M)

2005 2009200820072006

17 11 5 7 3

79

73

51

58

51

21 24 29 31 33

Water Services28% 

New

Vested

Renewal

Corporate Holdings5% 

Community Support1% 

Other2% 

Transportation49% 

Community Facilities15% 

NZ Transport Agency 
Subsidies

14% 

Vested Assets3% 

Depreciation Funds32% 

Cash Contributions6% 

Loans Raised45% 
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Borrowing and Debt Management 
The Council’s borrowings have increased over the years with the growing investment in infrastructure. Net borrowings 
(borrowings less cash held) were $292.1 million at 30 June 2009 It was budgeted that net borrowings would be $282.5 million, 
a difference of $9.6 million. Borrowings were higher due to sales of properties not eventuating by year end and income received 
from cash contributions being $4.5 million less than budgeted.

The Council will raise loans to fund capital expenditure when no other appropriate revenue or funding sources are available.

The Council’s adopted Treasury Management Policy sets out borrowing control parameters, with four key long-term ratios 
providing financial targets that it is committed to operating within.

Ratio Target Achievement

Debt as a % of equity Less than 25% 22%
Debt as a % of income Less than 175% 176%
Interest as a % of income Less than 15% 13%
Interest as a % of annual rates income Less than 30% 21%
Liquidity (Term debt + committed loan facilities to existing debt) Greater than 110% 125%

Council’s borrowing is within the key parameters of Council’s Treasury Management Policy except for the debt as a % of income 
ratio. This ratio was impacted by the lower than budgeted collection of income from cash contributions and vested assets.

Investments
The value of Council’s investments (other than cash) increased to $30.6 million – the major part of this being Council shares in 
Watercare which are currently valued at $20.0 million.

Property, Plant and Equipment, Intangibles and Forestry Assets
Council’s assets – property, plant and equipment – are valued 
at $1.62 billion compared to $1.58 billion for the previous 
year. In the year, there was capital expenditure of $87 million 
invested in purchasing, developing and renewing Council 
assets. The total amount of depreciation charged on these 
assets for the year was $37.2M. 

Depreciation funds are used to fund renewal works, loan 
repayments, new capital works (in a few cases) or held to 
meet such future requirements.

The Council has identified assets with a book value of  
$17.5 million which it intends to sell in the coming year.  
These assets are shown as assets held for resale in the 
Statement of Financial Position.

2005 2009200820072006

1,394

1,624
1,522

1,314

1,585

Property, Plant & Equipment,  
Intangibles & Forestry Assets ($M)

Change in Net Borrowings ($M)

2005 2009200820072006

60

36

43

60

44

Net Borrowings ($M)

2005 2009200820072006

169

292

212

109

256
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Service Delivery
In 2009, the high levels of activity continue to impact on 
services and facilities: 

w The number of properties connected to the water supply 
systems increased by 303 to 18,297

w The number of subdivision consent applications decreased 
by 162 to 258.

w The number of land use consent applications decreased 
by 381 to 872

w The number of books issued at the Council libraries 
decreased by 1,425 to 1,344,068

w The number of visitors to the Hibiscus Coast Leisure 
Centre increased by 33,348 to 288,545.

w The number of memberships at the Hibiscus Coast Leisure 
Centre increased by 61 to 1,913.

w The number of dogs registered increased by 387 to 14,694.

Major projects and initiatives
Listed below is a very small sample of the projects and 
initiatives that the Council and community has been involved 
in during the year. Please refer to the individual activity areas 
to see details of other key projects undertaken.

w Consulted with a range of individuals, groups, organisations 
and agencies to enable us to review and update our 
community outcomes. Vision Rodney was formally adopted 
on the 18 December 2008 following the review.

w Worked with the government, the Royal Commission on 
Auckland Governance and other councils in the greater 
Auckland area to establish and put in place an appropriate 
regional governance structure.

w An Urban Design Framework aimed at protecting the 
special heritage character of Helensville was adopted.

w Consulted with the community on Planning Rodney.  
The purpose of Planning Rodney is to develop an overall 
map for the District, showing where growth can and should 
happen and what types of land use will be allowed in 
different areas, so growth can be planned and managed 
in a sustainable way. Following strong public support 
emerging from the consultation process, the Council 
adopted Planning Rodney in December 2008. 

w Development of the Long Term Council Community Plan 
2009-2019 (LTCCP). The LTCCP sets out Council services, 
projects and expenditure from 1 July 2009 to 30 June 2019 
(with the first three years in more detail).

w Development and adoption of a Development  
Contributions Policy.

w Work continued to develop the business case and funding 
for the Penlink Project. The project is designed to provide 
a second access route from the Northern Motorway to the 
Whangaparaoa Peninsula.

w Construction of the Northern Animal Shelter in Silverdale 
– a joint project between Rodney District and North Shore 
City Councils. It provides state of the art accommodation 
for up to 40 dogs.  The partnership with North Shore City 
Council reduces the constructing and operating costs of 
providing the shelter through cost sharing. 

w The NZ Transport Agency opened their new Northern 
Motorway extension through to Puhoi. The new road 
provides an alternative route for traffic which previously 
travelled through Orewa and Waiwera.

A General Overview of the Year’s Results

w Construction of the Orewa Boulevard Project commenced. 
The project is aimed at improving the environment of 
downtown Orewa, particularly the waterfront. The intent 
is to reconnect the town centre to the beach and provide 
something that optimises the special qualities of both.

w A focus on youth included reviewing the “4Uth Strategy”, 
supporting and facilitating youth forums, promoting safety 
initiatives including campaigns aimed at speedsters and the 
implications of supplying alcohol to young people.

w Tsunami warning systems have been installed at 
Whangateau, Point Wells and Omaha.

w Kumeu Floodway project included works from Main Road 
to Weza Lane which will improve  flood control on the 
industrial / commercial properties in Kumeu and lessen 
the frequency with which properties are flooded. A new 
footbridge to provide all weather access across the river will 
be built to link either side of Weza Lane.

w Upgrading of the stream around the Taupaki bridge will 
allow continued vehicle access along Taupaki Road in more 
severe storm events than is currently the case where the 
road can be closed several times a year.

w The major upgrading to the Warkworth Wastewater 
Treatment Plant has two components to it; (1), it 
provides capacity for growth up to approximately 2017 by 
maximising the capacity of the existing system, and (2), 
it includes a Peak Flow Treatment System to treat the 
very high flows that the plant receives due to the amount 
of stormwater that gets into the wastewater system in 
Warkworth (typical of conventional gravity systems of this 
age and condition and not easily remedied).

w The Warkworth main loop is a trunk main which runs along 
Brown Road (SH1), Woodcocks Road, Mansel Road, Falls 
Road and Hill Street forming a complete loop connected 
to the View Road water reservoir. The pipe will facilitate 
industrial / commercial development within the View Road 
reservoir supply zone. Most of the pipe cost was paid for by 
the Stockyards and Summerset developers in exchange for 
the provision of a water supply.

w Over $7m was invested in Area Wide Pavement Treatment 
(AWPT), the purpose of which is to renew the current 
pavement to strengthen and restore its life.  This is 
generally done using the existing width of the road and 
may include minor drainage improvements.  In an urban 
area an AWPT may involve milling up the road surface and 
laying a new basecourse and sealed surface.  This type of 
treatment can be done on both a sealed or unsealed road 
and receives 48% subsidy from NZTA. In 2008/09 36 roads 
received an AWPT treatment.

w Crash reduction studies in excess of $1m were undertaken 
during 2008/09 to assess existing and potential crash 
sites.  Information gathered is used for future programming 
of works to plan what improvements can be made on the 
roading network to prevent crashes.  Through the Crash 
Reduction Study 19 minor safety sites across the district 
received crash remedial treatments.  The type of works that 
were implemented at these 19 sites included: vegetation 
removal, water cutting to improve skid resistance, specialist 
coloured surfacing, pedestrian crossings, improved road 
marking, improved signage (warning and delineation), 
improved driver awareness. Two major sites that were part 
of this programme of works included shoulder widening 
on Mahurangi East Road and surfacing/skid resistance on 
Coatesville Riverhead Highway. 



GROUPS OF ACTIVITIES

15RDC making a positive difference

Civic Leadership 20

DIstrict & Environmental Planning 24

Water Services 38

Transportation 56

Waste Management 70

Regulation 76

Economic Development 86

Community Support 92

Community Facilities 108

Corporate Holdings 122



16 GROUPS OF ACTIVIT IES

Long Term Council Community Plan
Rodney District Council is required under the Local Government Act 2002, to develop a Long Term Plan (LTP).

The Long Term Plan:

w describes the kind of district and communities the people of Rodney would like to live in
w describes how the Council, together with other organisations, will work with Rodney’s people to build those communities
w	 explains	what	specifically	the	Council	will	be	doing
w includes the Council’s business plans for ten years.
This Annual Report presents our achievements against the Annual Plan 2008-2009 adopted in June 2008. 

Community Outcomes and the Long Term Plan 
Vision Rodney is the map for the future of Rodney District over the next 20 to 30 years – it describes the outcomes Rodney’s 
communities value and desire for their district.

The	first	Vision Rodney was developed and adopted in July 2003. It was created through people discussing the future of the 
district, what they thought the vision should be, and what they saw as important for the future.

Vision Rodney	was	reviewed	in	2008	to	reflect	the	current	views	of	the	people	and	communities	of	Rodney	and	is	an	up-to-date	
description of the desired future. The process for reviewing Vision Rodney again involved people discussing what they thought 
was important for the future of the district.

Vision Rodney is a strategic vision of and for local communities and is used as the strategic framework for the Council.  
The Council will assist the communities of Rodney to achieve the outcomes in Vision Rodney whenever possible, and will use 
them as the basis for partnerships that the Council will enter into with and on behalf of Rodney’s communities.

Rodney’s	first	community	outcomes	were	developed	through	wide-ranging	community	consultation	which	identified	six	things	
that the community intended to see happen. These were translated by the Council into six community outcomes.

Community Intent  Community Outcome
We will keep our country look and feel A country look and feel
We will not let our towns and villages sprawl Contained and distinctive towns and villages
We will maintain our lifestyles and look after the environment Maintained lifestyles and environmental care
We will take care of ourselves while working with others Safe and healthy communities
We will be able to make our living in Rodney Jobs and opportunity in Rodney
We will determine the future of our district Locally determined futures

Progress towards achieving the first outcomes
The Council is required to report to the communities of Rodney on progress towards achieving the community outcomes.  
A monitoring framework was developed with input from partnering agencies and organisations, Council staff and members of the 
community. The full report on progress (Vision Rodney revisited: monitoring progress on the community outcomes) is available 
on the Council’s website, www.rodney.govt.nz.

Why we now have new community outcomes
Over time the view of the future changes – based on changed circumstances, new knowledge, and the views of people new to 
the district. The Local Government Act 2002 therefore requires the Council to facilitate a review of the communities’ outcomes 
at least once every six years. The Council facilitated the review in 2008 so that the new community outcomes could inform the 
LTCCP 2009-2019.

How we identified the new community outcomes
Between June and October 2008 the Council consulted a range of individuals, groups, organisations and agencies, covering 
rural and urban communities, from within Rodney and from outside the district, all of which contribute to the creation of the 
future of Rodney. We:

w held nine community meetings in Wellsford, Warkworth, Matakana, Helensville, Kumeu, Orewa and on the  
Whangaparaoa Peninsula

w met with the Student Council of a secondary school
w solicited written submissions from the community
w talked with a number of organisations such as the Ministry of Social Development, the Rodney Economic Development Trust, 

New Zealand Police
w considered past input from individuals and from organisations such as Ngati Whatua Nga Rima o Kaipara.
The results of these meetings and community input were turned into a preliminary set of community outcomes and these were 
distributed	to	those	who	had	provided	input.	Changes	were	made	to	the	draft	to	reflect	the	feedback	received	and	the	final	
document was developed.

Introduction
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The new community outcomes – Vision Rodney 2008
The full text of Vision Rodney is available on the Council’s website www.rodney.govt.nz	and	from	any	Council	office	and	library.

The new community outcomes are: 

Community Outcome Outcome statement

1. Prosperous We will have a growing and resilient economy based on a wide variety of businesses that 
fit	our	character

2. Vibrant We will have a range of recreational and cultural facilities and events across the district 
and we will encourage creativity and diversity

3. Distinctive We will maintain and enhance the character of our townships and rural areas through 
excellent urban and rural planning and the intelligent management of growth

4. Connected We will have the infrastructure and services needed for our residents, businesses and 
visitors

5. Safe and healthy We will continue to have a sense of community and we will provide for the emotional and 
physical well-being of our people

6. Clean and green We will continue to value, protect and enjoy the natural environment

Underpinning these outcomes are two key concepts.

The	first	of	these	concepts	is	Sustainability. 

During this review of Vision Rodney the word ‘sustainable’ was used many times by many individuals in many contexts.  
People	wanted	things	as	specific	as	individual	businesses	and	as	broad	as	the	entire	environment	to	be	sustainable.	 
For some it was an over-riding concern; for others it was not in the forefront of their thinking at all. 

We recognise here that sustainability is not an outcome of its own – rather it is an approach that underpins every decision and 
action. Yes, we want our environment to be managed sustainably; we also want our economy, our infrastructure, our farms, our 
townships, and our communities to be sustainable.

Sustainability therefore becomes a lens through which we see the world, a key factor in determining what actions we will take 
towards	achieving	our	outcomes,	and	the	long-term	foundation	upon	which	the	outcomes	we	have	identified	depend.

The second of these concepts is Collaboration.

The	first	version	of	Vision Rodney had as one of our outcomes: ‘We will determine the future of our District’. During the review 
people talked of ‘making decisions that suit Rodney’, of ‘doing things the Rodney way’, and of ‘managing change to suit 
Rodney’. Like the use of the word ‘sustainable’, people applied this concept of self determination to everything from opting out 
from commercial power supplies to how we would decide on the future of our townships.

Alongside this determination for Rodney’s voices to be heard is the understanding that to achieve the future we have to work 
together. Individuals, organisations, agencies, businesses and communities – all need to support each other, work together 
and	collaborate	to	make	the	desired	futures	real.	By	working	together,	by	understanding	that	a	solution	that	fits	one	place	does	
not	necessarily	fit	another,	by	considering	local	situations	and	concerns,	and	by	using	Rodney’s	community	outcomes	as	a	
framework for action, we can deliver the future desired by Rodney’s communities. 

Collaboration needs to permeate whatever we do, to be part of our style, part of the way we achieve our outcomes.

An outcome monitoring framework to measure the progress towards the community outcomes, whether the contribution was 
made by the Council, a public sector organisation, a community group, a business or an individual, will be developed under the 
leadership of the Council and with input from partners and from the community. Interim reporting on progress towards achieving 
community outcomes will be included in Council’s future annual reports and the more comprehensive three-yearly report will be 
produced as a stand-alone publication and will be available on the Council’s website.
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Introduction

Working with Others
Vision Rodney will only be achieved through partnerships and 
joint commitment. The Council is committed to working with 
other key players to achieve the community outcomes.

The Council also works closely with central government and 
non-government agencies building on the work done during 
the Vision Rodney consultation. These relationships are 
crucial to the district’s future as these agencies often have 
resources that can not be matched by the Council. They also 
make decisions which affect Rodney’s people directly. 

Rodney District Council has established Memoranda of 
Understanding (MoU) with a range of organisations that 
contribute towards the achievement of the community 
outcomes described in Vision Rodney. These MoU enable 
both RDC and the partner organisations to more effectively 
make progress towards community outcomes by better 
understanding what we can do together and agreeing 
priorities for action. 

Our relationships with other territorial local authorities in the 
Auckland region are equally important. Many issues such as 
growth and development, and environmental protection for 
example are not restricted by territorial boundaries and what 
happens in one area often has an impact on another. 

Development of Maori capacity to 
contribute to decision-making processes
The Rodney District Council ‘Local Governance Statement’ 
updated on 28 February 2008 acknowledges and recognises 
Council obligations to establish and maintain processes to 
provide opportunities for Maori to contribute to its decision-
making processes.

The Council has three Memoranda of Understanding (MoUs) 
in place with iwi authorities.

These are between the Council and Ngati Whatua Nga Rima 
o Kaipara (8 July 2003) including supporting Statements of 
Position, the Te Uri o Hau Settlement Trust (23 July 2004), 
and the Manuhiri Omaha Kaitiakitanga Ora Charitable Trust 
(MOKO Trust) (6 September 2007).

Each of the MoUs are actively administered and are reviewed 
annually for performance. The MOKO Trust MoU was 
signed	during	the	2007/2008	year	and	is	a	confirmation	and	
formalisation of the existing relationship between the Council 
and Ngati Manuhiri, a hapu of Ngati Wai. Statements of the 
position supporting the MoU between Council and Ngati 
Whatua Nga Rima o Kaipara were formally appraised in a 
joint assessment and a positive report on outcomes was 
made to the Taumata in March 2008.

Each of the MoUs set out the engagement and decision-
making processes for the parties, Council and the iwi 
authority. In particular, a monthly Taumata (meeting) is held 
between the Rodney District Councillors and the Trustees 
of	Ngati	Whatua	Nga	Rima	o	Kaipara	(the	five	Marae	of	
Kaipara).	Provision	of	office	facilities	for	the	CEO	(Kaiarataki)	
of Ngati Whatua Nga Rima o Kaipara supports the Taumata 
and day to day engagement with the Council. Additionally, the 
MoUs provide for executive and governance level meetings 
as a context for the day to day operations of the Council and 
the engagement with Maori.

Maori engagement is not restricted to MoU holders and the 
Council has engaged and interacted with other groups and 
individuals throughout the reporting year. This has included 
Ngati Paoa, Te Kawerau a Maki and Te Taou. The Council 
also has a growing relationship with Te Herenga Waka based 
in Silverdale.

Throughout the year the Council has actively sought to build 
and consolidate relationships with Maori and their exercise 
of kaitiakitanga (guardianship) and manakitanga (caring for 
others) within their respective rohe (tribal jurisdiction).

Since March 2009, Rodney District Council has employed a 
full time Poutakawaenga / iwi liaison.

The	Poutakawaenga	is	manager	of	Maori	Relations	and	fulfils	
the Council’s Poutakawaenga (iwi liaison) role to ensure that 
the three MoUs are implemented and administered.  
This includes the governance level hui held and/or organised, 
Taumata effectively serviced, and completion of performance 
reviews by Ngati Whatua Nga Rima o Kaipara, and 
progressed for Ngati Manuhiri and Te Uri o Hau.

The Poutakawaenga maintains relationships and liaises with 
manawhenua iwi authorities who do not have MoUs with 
Council, and works to maintain and develop relationships  
with other groups including Te Herenga Waka o Orewa and  
Te Ruru Korero. 

The Poutakawaenga supports and advises the Mayor, Council 
and staff in Tikanga Maori, the provision of ceremony in the 
conduct of Council business.

Another function of the Poutakawaenga is to promote 
organisation-wide understanding of the MoUs, the principles 
of the Treaty of Waitangi, and Council’s related statutory 
obligations and provide training to the organisation in the  
area of Tikanga Maori.
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Reporting on Council’s activities
The Council reports on its functions under Groups of 
Activities. These were reorganised for the LTP 2006-16 
to	reflect	the	priorities	of	the	current	Council	and	central	
government thinking on the direction of local government.  
The Groups of Activities now reported on are:

Civic Leadership – relating to the Council’s  
Democratic Processes.

District and Environmental Planning – activities relating to 
Future Planning, Strategic Projects, Urban and Rural Design, 
Natural and Coastal Environment and District Plan.

Water Services – the operation and management of Water 
Supplies, Wastewater Disposal and Stormwater Control 
so that they are affordable, reliable and environmentally 
sustainable. 

Transportation – planning, maintaining and improving 
Transport Networks and Services, Roading and Streetscape.

Waste Management – management of Waste to protect 
public	health	and	the	environment,	Landfills.

Regulation – regulating certain activities to look after and 
improve the environment and ensure the well being of 
people through Resource Consents and Monitoring, Building 
Consents, Health and Licensing, Bylaws, Animal Control.

Economic Development – promotion of the economic 
wellbeing of our communities through Economic Planning, 
Economic Advocacy and Facilitation. 

Community Support – supporting and maintaining  
services to ensure that our communities are safe, active  
and caring. This includes Community Policy and Planning, 
Arts Facilitation, Community Grants and Levies, Safety,  
Fire and Emergencies. 

Community Facilities – providing facilities which allow for 
active and passive recreation, further learning, and the social 
and cultural needs of our communities including Public Open 
Space, Libraries, Leisure Centres, Holiday Parks,  
Community Assets.

Corporate Holdings – management of the Council’s  
assets including Quarries and Forests, Property, and 
Corporate Assets.

How We Check Progress
The Council has established performance measures for its 
Groups of Activities. The measures will help Rodney’s people 
judge how well the Council is meeting its commitments to 
them. The measures will also help to inform the Council’s 
future decision-making, for example when existing policies 
are not achieving the expected results and need amending. 

Use of Surveys in  
Reporting Service Performance
In the past, the measurement of residents’ satisfaction levels 
for services provided by the Council was primarily undertaken 
by telephone surveys carried out by external consultants.

For the 2009 Annual Residents Survey, a different approach 
was taken to provide a more cost-effective way of gaining 
residents’ feedback that would also allow more regular 
surveys to take place throughout the year.

This new approach involved the establishment of an email 
based Citizens’ Panel which was recruited by using a 
stratified	sample	of	the	property	database.	Younger	people	
and some ethnic communities were targeted to boost their 
level of participation.

By recruiting a panel, Council has the opportunity to carry 
out more in-depth research with panel members, for example 
through more detailed follow-up surveys or by inviting them to 
attend focus groups. It also allows Council to share the results 
and outcomes of surveys with participants to help improve 
understanding of the Council’s decision making process as 
well as to monitor satisfaction throughout the year as needed.

By the time of the survey being circulated in July, there were 
399 members of the panel. Panel members were sent an 
email with a link to the online survey and two reminder emails 
were sent to non-responders over the following two weeks to 
encourage response.

As the panel had not yet been recruited to its required level, 
a	further	stratified	sample	of	the	property	database	was	also	
posted a copy of the survey with a freepost return address but 
encouraged	to	fill	in	the	survey	online	and	join	the	panel	 
if they had internet access.

This approach used a simpler method of measuring 
satisfaction	based	on	the	scale	of	very	satisfied,	fairly	
satisfied,	neither	satisfied	nor	dissatisfied,	fairly	dissatisfied	
and	very	dissatisfied.	In	previous	years,	the	scale	used	was	
from 0-10. However, residents were also asked to rate the 
importance of services and facilities as well as to identify 
which were most in need of improvement which gives  
Council greater understanding of the results.

Throughout the activities that follow, where satisfaction 
with performance has been measured, the results will be 
presented as a 5 point scale as mentioned above with 
numbers representing satisfaction levels as follows:

1	=	very	dissatisfied,	2	=	fairly	dissatisfied,	3	=	neither	
satisfied	nor	dissatisfied,	4	=	fairly	satisfied,	and	 
5	=	very	satisfied.

Due to this change in methodology and change to the 
satisfaction scale, the results from the 2009 Annual Residents’ 
Survey can not be compared accurately with previous results.

302 responses were received from Citizens’ Panel members 
giving a response rate of 75%, while 359 responses were 
received back from the postal mailout – 17% of which were 
received online, and 83% by post.

(Sample size achieved for the Annual Residents Survey 
was 661 which gives a margin of error of +-3.8% for a 95% 
confidence	level).

Public satisfaction results from the 2008/09 year are based on 
the responses from the Citizen’s Panel and the postal mailout.
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Activities in this group:
w	 Governance and Democratic Processes 

Effective governance with strong and accountable political 
leadership is vital if Rodney is to thrive and if the outcomes 
that	the	community	has	identified	in	Vision Rodney are to 
be achieved. The Local Government Act 2002 has required 
a shift to a more holistic and sustainable approach focused 
on the social, cultural, economic and environmental 
needs of communities. The Act requires more community 
involvement, giving Rodney’s people more say in the kind 
of future they want for the district and on local matters.

The Council has overall responsibility and accountability  
for the proper direction and control of the Council’s 
activities. Its role also includes advocating for Rodney’s 
communities and working in partnership with other 
service providers and government agencies to deliver the 
outcomes of Vision Rodney.

The Council also works in partnership with iwi, in arrangements outlined in Memoranda of Understanding.

Contribution to Community Outcomes

Outcomes (as stated in the LTCCP 2006-16) How Civic Leadership contributes

Locally determined futures
w	 Working together and providing strong leadership.
w	 Being resolute about our direction.
w	 Speaking up for the people of Rodney.

By providing strong leadership and effective advocacy to help 
achieve the long-term goals of Vision Rodney.

By undertaking long-term planning, giving local communities a 
say in their own future and encouraging others to contribute.

Significant Negative Effects
No	significant	negative	effects	have	been	identified	for	this	group	of	activities.	The	potential	for	adverse	effects,	as	related	to	a	
specific	activity,	is	identified	within	that	activity.

HIBISCUS COAST RURAL & TOWNSHIPS TOTAL DISTRICT

2008 
Actual

2009 
Plan

2009 
Actual

2008 
Actual

2009 
Plan

2009 
Actual

2008 
Actual

2009 
Plan

2009 
Actual

Governance and Democratic Processes 1,608 1,683 1,563 2,131 2,231 2,073 3,739 3,914 3,636

Total Operating Expenditure 1,608 1,683 1,563 2,131 2,231 2,073 3,739 3,914 3,636

Operating Revenue:

Revenue & user charges 64 17 16 85 23 21 149 40 37
General rates 1,544 1,666 1,547 2,030 2,208 2,052 3,574 3,874 3,599

Total Operating Revenue 1,608 1,683 1,563 2,115 2,231 2,073 3,723 3,914 3,636

TOTAL OPERATING SURPLUS ( DEFICIT) – – – (16) – – (16) – –

Group of Activities: Civic Leadership

Share of Total Operating Expenditure

2% 
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Activity: Governance  
and Democratic Processes
The Council provides democratic representation and 
opportunities for citizens’ participation. Its governance role 
has three main components – representing the community, 
setting policy, and monitoring and reviewing the performance 
of the Council organisation. The Mayor and Councillors 
advocate for Rodney’s people on national and  
regional issues.

The Council’s strategic framework is provided by Vision 
Rodney, which describes the outcomes that Rodney’s 
people value and want for the district. Its own contribution 
to community outcomes is captured in its Long Term Plan. 
Part of the Council’s role, under the Local Government Act 
2002, is to report progress towards achieving the outcomes 
its	community	has	identified.	This	includes	reporting	the	
contribution of others such as central government agencies, 
community organisations and the private sector.

Rodney District is divided into four electoral wards 
represented by the Mayor and 12 Councillors all of whom 
represent the entire district with each ward represented as 
follows: three representatives from the Northern Ward, three 
in	the	Western	Ward,	one	in	the	Central	Ward	and	five	in	the	
Hibiscus Coast Ward.
Why we are involved
The framework that the Council operates within is 
determined by legislative requirements, including 
responsibility for ensuring the statutory processes of local 
government and public administration are carried out in an 
accountable and transparent manner. Governance is also 
about ‘speaking up for the people of Rodney’ and working 
nationally,	regionally	and	locally	to	achieve	the	most	benefit	
for the district and its people.

Key Focus:
Continue to work with the government, the  
Royal Commission on Auckland Governance and 
the other Councils in the greater Auckland area to 
establish and put in place an appropriate regional 
governance structure.
The Government has established the Auckland Transition 
Agency (ATA) to oversee transition to the new Auckland 
Council. Council approved and presented a submission to  
the Auckland Governance Legislation Select Committee  
to become a unitary authority.
Review Vision Rodney in consultation with 
Rodney’s communities in 2008/09.
The review has been completed; the Council having  
adopted revised Vision Rodney as a guiding document.  
We are using it to inform the Council’s work and the  
Council’s relationship with government departments and  
other agencies and organisations.
Develop an Integrated Outcome Monitoring 
Framework and report in 2008/09.
The monitoring framework is under development and will be 
used as the basis of information sharing with and reporting to 
the communities of Rodney and other interested parties.
Develop the 2009 – 2019 Long Term Council 
Community Plan.
Council’s Long Term Council Community Plan (LTCCP) 
was completed and adopted 29 June 2009 without any 
qualifications on its audit certificate.
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Group of Activities: Civic Leadership

How we monitor progress

Level of Service Measure Target Achievement
We will ensure and 
facilitate democratic 
processes. 

Democratic 
processes

No complaints relating 
to Council democratic 
processes are upheld by 
the	Office	of	the	Controller	
and Auditor General or the 
Ombudsmen.

No such complaints upheld.

We will maintain at least 
45% public satisfaction that 
they can make a difference 
in the democratic process 
by 2009.*

2008 result: CSI 43.1% 

5 4 3 2 1

1.9% 20.3% 37% 27.9% 13%

Due to the change in methodology and the rating 
scale used for this year’s Annual Residents’ Survey 
(as noted on page 19) it is not possible to compare 
previous year’s results directly. It is also not clear-cut 
to state if the targets have been achieved or  
not achieved.

This year’s results provide the opportunity to 
prioritise areas to focus effort for improvement over 
the coming year.

The Council will 
make decisions in a 
fair and transparent 
manner.

Decision 
making

We will have less than 15% 
of	all	official	Council	and	
committee agenda items 
dealt with whilst public 
excluded in any one  
financial	year.

17.7% 

Items all assessed carefully in terms of LGOIMA – 
the result reflects such things as number of appeals, 
property transactions dealt with during year.

At least 50% public 
satisfaction that the Council 
is open and honest in their 
dealings with residents is 
achieved annually.

5 4 3 2 1

1.4% 24.1% 33.6% 27.7% 13.3%

Due to the change in methodology and the rating 
scale used for this year’s Annual Residents’ Survey 
(as noted on page 19) it is not possible to compare 
previous year’s results directly. It is also not  
clear-cut to state if the targets have been  
achieved or not achieved.

This year’s results provide the opportunity to  
prioritise areas to focus effort for improvement  
over the coming year.

No complaints of Councillor 
conflict	of	interest	are	upheld	
by	the	Office	of	the	Controller	
and Auditor General or the 
Ombudsmen.

No such complaints upheld.

No complaints of Councillor 
pre-determination in decision 
making	upheld	by	the	Office	
of the Controller and Auditor 
General or the Ombudsmen.

No such complaints upheld.
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How we monitor progress

Level of Service Measure Target Achievement
We will advocate on 
behalf of Rodney 
District and its 
communities. 

Community 
partnering

We will monitor and report 
on the implementation of the 
Partnering Policy annually.

Monitoring and reporting on this long term 
programme takes place through initiatives such as 
the Social Wellbeing Advisory Group, reports to 
Council as required and the review and creation  
of new Memoranda of Understanding with external 
agencies. Three Memoranda of Understanding are 
being reviewed and two new ones are  
being negotiated.

We will develop community 
outcome measures and 
indicators relating to Vision 
Rodney. We will report on 
these every three years, 
starting in 2009.

First draft of indicators has been developed; the next 
steps are to work with partners, the community and 
staff to finalise these indicators.

A report on progress ‘Vision Rodney revisited: 
monitoring progress on the community outcomes’  
has been prepared and can be viewed on the 
Council’s website. 

* Source: Annual Residents Survey 2008/09 – refer to ‘Use of Surveys in Reporting Service Performance’ page 19 for explanation of rating scale.



24 GROUPS OF ACTIVIT IES

Share of Total Operating Expenditure

2% 

Activities in this group:
w	 Future Planning

w	 Strategic Projects

w	 Urban and Rural Design

w	 Natural and Coastal Environment

w	 District Plan

In recent years, Rodney District has experienced tremendous 
growth, which is expected to continue into the foreseeable 
future. This growth creates many pressures for Rodney’s 
communities, its natural resources and its infrastructure. 

District and environmental planning manages the pressures 
of growth through strategic and physical planning. Strategies, 
policies and plans are developed to set guidelines and 
parameters for future growth and development. The Council 
also works with others – government agencies, tangata whenua, the Auckland Regional Council, neighbouring Councils and 
business and environmental agencies, for example, to ensure that growth is managed holistically and that Rodney’s future is a 
sustainable one.

Contribution to Community Outcomes

Outcomes  
(as stated in the LTCCP 2006-16) How District and environmental planning contributes

Outcome: A country look and feel
w	 Developing systems and tools to keep 

Rodney’s open country feel 
w	 Using all means to keep greenbelts 

intact 
w	 Planning for appropriate infrastructure in 

rural areas
Outcome: Contained towns  
and villages 
w	 Keeping and building on every town’s 

identity
w	 Putting an edge around towns and 

villages
w	 Making all towns and villages viable
w	 Creating other settlements to 

accommodate growth
Outcome: Maintained lifestyles and 
environmental care
w	 Being involved in looking after this place
w	 Keeping the soil on the land
w	 Cleaning up our waters
w	 Planting more trees
w	 Keeping our outdoor lifestyle accessible 
Outcome: Jobs and opportunity  
in Rodney
w	 Placing special focus on new workplaces 
w	 Ensuring people have a choice in how 

they make their living
Outcome: Locally determined 
futures 
w	 Working together and providing strong 

leadership
w	 Speaking up for the people of Rodney

By developing strategies, policies and plans that encourage orderly and 
sustainable development, enable a sense of place, address accessibility as part 
of urban and rural design and encourage rural and urban buildings that respond 
to sustainable design principles.

By	establishing	sustainable	development	plans/structure	plans	for	defined	
areas that guide urban and rural development.

By	promoting	and	implementing	selected	green	field	and	nodal	development	
while respecting the character of existing towns and villages.

By encouraging new workplaces through strategic land purchase and 
encouraging mixed use development in urban areas.

By	providing	input	to	regional	strategies	that	influence	the	use	of	the	natural	
and physical environment in Rodney and the development of the district in 
relation to the Auckland and Northern regions.

By analysing population growth including community composition and 
demographics that enable strategies, policies and plans to have regard for the 
composition	and	the	specific	needs	of	different	segments	of	the	community.	

By establishing sets of objects, policies and rules on subdivision and land use, 
character of built form and retention of natural features that are developed 
through a process of community consultation and aim to:

w	 retain a country look and feel
w	 ensure the spatial arrangement of buildings, streets and public spaces 

contribute to safe and healthy communities
w	 enable jobs and economic activity to occur as part of the sustainable 

management of natural and physical resources 
w	 ensure the sustainable management of natural and physical resources

w	 ensure the containment of towns and retention of distinctive character.
By planning for the protection of distinctive natural, coastal values and 
biodiversity	(including	trees,	bush	wetlands,	significant	natural	areas	and	
landscapes, waterways, cycleways and bridleways) so that the environment is 
protected and an outdoor lifestyle is enjoyed by Rodney residents. 

By undertaking future planning that enables local communities to contribute to 
decisions that affect them.

By active advocacy of community values nationally, regionally and locally. 

Group of Activities: District & Environmental Planning
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Significant Negative Effects
Growth,	if	not	carefully	managed,	can	have	significant	negative	effects	on	the	district’s	community,	environment,	economy	and	
cultural well being. The aim is to manage growth and its impacts. If not well planned for, with the appropriate and timely release 
of land for development and the provision of infrastructure, growth may occur in inappropriate locations (e.g. sporadically in our 
rural areas) or in ways that cause future problems (e.g. residential development in our urban townships dependent on individual 
septic wastewater systems rather than connected to a public wastewater treatment system).

HIBISCUS COAST RURAL & TOWNSHIPS TOTAL DISTRICT

2008 
Actual

2009 
Plan

2009 
Actual

2008 
Actual

2009 
Plan

2009 
Actual

2008 
Actual

2009 
Plan

2009 
Actual

Future Planning 534 534 367 704 705 487 1,238 1,239 854
Strategic Projects 598 531 870 867 929 1,088 1,465 1,460 1,958
Urban and Rural Design 28 40 23 38 53 30 66 93 53
Natural and Coastal Environment 158 230 186 202 305 247 360 535 433
District Plan 833 489 959 1,084 649 1,271 1,917 1,138 2,230

Total Operating Expenditure 2,151 1,824 2,405 2,895 2,641 3,123 5,046 4,465 5,528

Operating Revenue:

Revenue & user charges 118 41 356 203 54 377 321 95 733
Targeted rates 1,298 1,804 1,879 2,470 2,233 2,235 3,768 4,037 4,114
General rates 695 117 67 264 355 513 959 472 580

Total Operating Revenue 2,111 1,962 2,302 2,937 2,642 3,125 5,048 4,604 5,427

TOTAL OPERATING SURPLUS ( DEFICIT) (40) 138 (103) 42 1 2 2 139 (101)

Capital Expenditure

New capital works 1 – 1 1 – 1 2 – 2
Renewal capital works – – – – – – – – –

Total Capital Expenditure 1 – 1 1 – 1 2 – 2

Other Funding Requirements

Transfers to general & restricted reserves – 137 – – – – – 137 –

Total Funding Requirement 1 137 1 1 – 1 2 137 2

Funds To Be Provided From:

Operating surplus (40) 138 (103) 42 1 2 2 139 (101)
Transfers from general & restricted reserves – – 105 – – – – – 105

Total Funds Provided (40) 138 2 42 1 2 2 139 4

FUNDING SURPLUS / ( DEFICIT) (41) 1 1 41 1 1 – 2 2
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Group of Activities: District & Environmental Planning

Activity: Future Planning
The Council develops policies and plans for managing 
Rodney’s natural, physical, social, cultural, and economic 
environment. It also provides input to the strategies, 
policies and plans of other agencies and Councils involved 
in environmental management, including Auckland 
Regional Council, Transit New Zealand, the Department of 
Conservation, the Historic Places Trust and neighbouring 
Councils. These strategies, policies and plans relate to 
matters such as: 

w	 regional growth
w	 funding of infrastructure
w	 the integration of land-use with transportation planning
w	 a district spatial strategy
w	 the natural, coastal and rural environments
w	 sustainable	development	plans/structure	plans	for	defined	

areas of the district
w	 walkways, cycleways and bridleways
w	 heritage, including buildings, structures and  

archaeological sites
w	 guidelines for residential/business development
w	 public open space (also see activity Public Open Space)
w	 energy policy (also see activity Economic Advocacy  

and Facilitation).
The Council also forecasts population growth and provides 
input to regional growth strategies, related sector agreements 
and regional policy documents. Activities also include giving 
input to reviews of environmental legalisation, reviewing 
planning documents from other agencies and Councils, 
providing statistical information and preparing general bylaws. 
Why we are involved
The Council delivers the future planning function to ensure 
that growth and development in Rodney is managed – rather 
than ad hoc – and that the end result is a healthy, beautiful, 
diverse, productive, vibrant and sustainable environment. 
More particularly, the Council aims to ensure that valued 
natural features are protected, that public open space is 
sufficient	and	well-planned,	that	urban	areas	are	well-planned	
and enjoyable places to live and work, that cultural heritage 
resources are protected, that risks to communities’ health and 
safety is minimised, and that there is a choice of lifestyles, 
work, recreation and transport modes available. 

Key Focus
Continue involvement in reviewing the Auckland 
Regional Growth Strategy and participation in 
other regional initiatives.
We continue to refine work on centres and corridors.  
The key area of focus is now on developing land use and 
future strategic transport options. This will assist with the 
review of the RPS and RLTS and any future ‘spatial plan’ 
required by the Auckland Council. This work is on hold 
pending direction from the Auckland Transition Agency (ATA). 
Draft RPS is delayed and may be released in  
November 2009 for comment.
Develop a strategy to apply the adopted  
Auckland Sustainability Framework to specific 
policy and projects.
Work is on hold pending a decision by the new Auckland 
Council as to whether they adopt the framework.
Prepare a rural sustainable development plan 
including a greenbelt strategy.
Rural Settlement Analysis, Development Capacity Analysis, 
Landscape Character Assessment, Rural Economy Study and 
Survey of Rural Lifestyle Preferences, background research 
is complete and a Background Issues Discussion Paper 
finalised. Focus group consultations continue.  
Several rural strategy issues in relation to the District Plan 
have been addressed through the resolution of appeals to the 
District Plan. 
Complete a district strategic spatial plan to assist 
prioritisation and alignment of planning  
and infrastructure.
Planning Rodney (Spatial Plan) was completed and adopted 
by Council in December 2008.
Continue to formulate policy and plans on regional 
growth issues, including providing input into the 
review of the Regional Growth Strategy, the sector 
agreements and any statutory changes  
resulting from this.
As mentioned earlier, we continue to refine the work on 
centres and corridors. Key areas of focus are now developing 
land use and future strategic transport options. This will assist 
with the review of the RPS and RLTS and any future ‘spatial 
plan’ required by the Auckland Council.
Continue to formulate policy and plans on 
transport, in particular walkways, cycleways and 
bridleways (also see Transport Planning).
Works scheduled for 2008/09 have been completed.
Continue to contribute to the development of the 
long term plan for a sustainable Auckland city 
region (contributed to by all Auckland territorial 
authorities and central government agencies).
One meeting has been held, on 17 April 2009.
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How we monitor progress

Level of Service Measure Target Achievement
We will have 
appropriate policies, 
strategies and 
plans to address 
the sustainable 
use of our natural 
and physical 
environment. 

Policies, 
strategies 
and plans 

At least 45% of the public 
feel that the Council is out 
and about in the Rodney 
community talking and 
listening to local residents 
annually

Not surveyed in 2008/09.

We will undertake an 
appropriate level of 
consultation for all policies, 
strategies and plans 
developed

Appropriate consultation has occurred for all 
policies, strategies and plans developed. All District 
Plan variations have complied with the RMA 
requirements in relation to consultation. All bylaws 
have complied with LGA 2002 requirements. All 
Structure Plan processes, e.g. Waimauku Structure 
Plan have utilised appropriate consultation methods, 
including using Council’s website. Additional 
levels of consultation have occurred such as the 
preparation of the Huapai South Urban Design Plan, 
which further develops the structure plan outcomes, 
prior to any District Plan Variation.

We will 
communicate with 
communities on 
environmental 
matters

Information 
sharing

We will ensure relevant 
data and information is 
accessible for the public

New population projections to 2051 based on 2006 
census results were completed and used as basis 
for the 2009-19 LTCCP. A new brochure utilising new 
projections was created and posted on Council’s 
website. The website pages relating to population 
and statistics were re-designed and updated 
including making a wider range of information 
available and better links to more detailed 
information.

Information	on	significant	
environmental policies is 
made available to the public 

All significant environmental policies are made 
available to the public. Most are available for 
purchase as well as being available for consideration 
and most are available electronically as well 
as in hardcopy via the Council website. The 
policies available include: The Proposed District 
Plan, Adopted Structure Plans, Adopted Coastal 
Compartment Plans, Adopted Strategies, e.g. 
Walkways, Transport, HBC Wastewater, Reserve 
Management Plans, Catchment Management Plans, 
and specific projects e.g. Orewa East Structure Plan.

Potential for Adverse effects

Adverse effect How we will manage adverse effects
If not carefully managed, growth 
can	have	significant	negative	
effects on the district’s community, 
environment, economy and cultural 
well-being.

We will develop strategies, policies and plans to manage growth to avoid adverse 
impacts on the supply of land for economic development, the spatial arrangement of 
towns and villages and other natural and physical resources.
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Group of Activities: District & Environmental Planning

Activity: Strategic Projects
Strategic projects involve a combination of planning, property 
acquisition, physical works and development. Strategic 
projects	are	generally	those	identified	to	allow	for	the	
prioritisation of planning and infrastructure. They may be 
centred around a whole township (e.g. Kumeu/Huapai and 
Omaha	Flats/Pt	Wells)	or	on	a	specific	work.	This	makes	
community initiatives a reality. 

A new Council Controlled Organisation (CCO) known as 
Rodney Properties Limited (RPL) has been created.  
This entity is charged with recommending the disposal of a 
portfolio	of	non-operational	properties	to	maximise	financial	
returns to the Council so that debt can be minimised whilst 
trying to achieve good urban design and strategic outcomes. 

Vision Rodney underpins all the Council’s strategic projects. 
Actively consulting with Rodney’s communities and the 
agencies affected by these projects is crucial to their success. 
Why we are involved
The Council is involved in strategic projects to make a 
positive difference to the quality of life in Rodney’s new 
greenfield	developments,	countryside	or	existing	towns	 
and villages. 

By planning, facilitating and delivering high-quality 
sustainable projects the Council addresses the social, 
economic, environmental and cultural well being of Rodney’s 
communities. These projects differ from the day-to-day 
activities of the Council in that they directly or indirectly help 
communities achieve their local vision. 

The Council often takes a leadership role to initiate and 
implement projects that would not otherwise be viable as 
private-sector projects. For example, there may not be a way 
of providing a community centre or establishing a sustainable 
new	greenfield	development	without	the	Council	controlling	
or funding the project. Other projects provide community 
benefits	that	would	not	otherwise	occur.	These	usually	create	
new assets, which are then operated and maintained by 
other areas of the Council’s business. The adoption of a 
formalised property strategy and appropriate governance 
model for the implementation of that strategy will enable some 
of	the	benefits	of	district	growth	to	be	captured	as	well	as	the	
reduction of debt associated with some of these assets.

Key Focus:
Implement, on a staged basis within funding  
limits, town or village plans for key growth areas.
We are presently working on structure plans for 
Kaukapakapa, Huapai and Puhoi.
Implement, on a staged basis within funding 
limits, town or village plans for key growth areas. 
(Warkworth Town Centre upgrade).
Construction has commenced and is due to be completed  
1 October 2009.
Develop transport initiatives such as park and ride 
options, identifying routes for bypasses, slip roads 
and internal connections within urban areas.
Park and Ride – Silverdale: discussions are ongoing with the 
land owner of the preferred site.

Warkworth Western Collector: finalising details of alignment 
between Mansel Drive and Falls Road. Negotiations are 
progressing with affected land owners.
Hold an Annual Rodney Leaders Forum – an event 
to meet with key influencers of changes in Rodney 
District to discuss progress during the past year 
and discuss issues facing us in the coming year.
Preliminary planning is underway.
Monitor Memorandum of Understanding – 
monitoring Councils work with key agencies 
through annual MoU schedules.
Some MoU have reached the stage of draft  
renewal documents.
Promote and deliver initiatives to revitalise 
nominated towns and villages.
Warkworth streetscape currently being constructed.  
The report on the Wellsford development plan, which included 
debate (and subsequent decision) on the location of the new 
Wellsford library (being Memorial Park) went to the Strategy 
and Community meeting of 22 October 2009.
Help create jobs by promoting and delivering 
specific job creation projects.
Variation 52, relating to the development of the Knowledge 
Economy Zone, has now been finalised and adopted.
Use the adopted property strategy to help capture 
some of the benefits of growth in the district.
RPL now incorporated and directors have been appointed. 
Meetings are held approximately every six weeks.  
A regular flow of recommendations from RPL is occurring.  
All transactions to date are in excess of valuations.
Deliver high-quality community outcomes  
through appropriate management of key  
Council landholdings.
Adopted RPL Statement of Intent (SoI) and terms of reference 
requires maximisation of financial returns whilst trying to 
achieve good urban design and strategic outcomes.
Facilitate new recreational facilities and prepare 
development plans for some of the Council’s major 
recreational landholdings.
Reserve Management Plans for Metro Park East and West 
were prepared, and publicly notified during the year.  
A number of reviews of Reserve Management Plans were 
completed during the year including those for Coatesville 
Reserve, Shoesmith Reserve, Wellsford Centennial Park and 
Riverhead Memorial Park.
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Continue to secure strategic landholdings  
for a range of projects.
Negotiations are underway.
Progress planning and consent procedures 
(especially Transit approvals) to enable the  
future release of industrial land on the  
‘Corry’ block in Wellsford.
The Council has undertaken economic feasibility work to see 
whether a rezoning would facilitate economic development in 
the township. However, results indicate that rezoning would 
not be prudent at this time due to there being a sufficient 
supply of vacant industrial land already, and high costs to 
develop the Corry Block. Further work is currently being 
undertaken by Rodney Economic Development Trust  
(REDT) to understand the industrial land needs of  
businesses in Wellsford.
Coordinate the implementation of the first stage of 
the Silverdale North development zone, including 
stakeholder and landowner liaison.
Some positive developments have occurred with the sale 
of the first batch of sites released onto the market. Of the 
82 released 50 were sold within three weeks of placing 
them on the market and with minimal marketing. This has 
provided a much needed boost in developer confidence for 
WFH Properties Ltd. Good progress has been made at the 
site of 54 Hibiscus Coast Highway where earthworks for 
the new hospital and swim facility are nearing completion. 
Construction of services will commence in the new 
earthworks season.
Progress civic components of the  
Whangaparaoa town centre.
A reference group met during the year to prioritise 
developments and to develop a budget for the  
2009-2019 LTCCP.
Complete the Huapai/Kumeu sustainable 
development plan including associated plans such 
as the central area plan and statutory variations 
to the District Plan.
The Kumeu Planning Forum was a success. A large number 
of people visited the three open days to view the likely 
planning/transport/infrastructural changes proposed for the 
area. Submissions from the Kumeu Planning Forum are now 
being evaluated for a report due to Council in July.
Continue planning for the Riverhead community.
There are appeals still outstanding which are being 
progressed by the Appellants’ Consultants and  
Council Officers.
Continue planning and design work for the 
Indicative Road in the Mill Road Industrial Zone.
The budget was approved in the LTCCP 2009-2019 for the 
first stage of this roading project beginning in 2011/12.
Initiate planning in Helensville towards 
revitalisation and further heritage protection.
Creek Lane toilets/arts concept plan was agreed by the 
community and adopted by the Council. The next stage is to 
formulate a brief for a detailed design stage.
Continue planning for Kumeu Town  
Centre enhancement.
A Private Plan Change request by Maddren Developments 
was lodged with the Council in June 2009. Further information 
is now being sought in order for the Council to decide whether 
to adopt, accept or reject the plan change.

Initiate statutory variations to implement 
the Matakana and Omaha Flats/Point Wells 
Sustainable Development Plans.
No further progress at this time.
Complete the Orewa Growth project initiative and 
any statutory variation that may be identified in 
the initiative.
The decision of the independent Commissioners on Variation 
101 was released in April 2009. Five appeals were received. 
The next stage will be to engage in open discussions with the 
appellants to determine any scope with regard to settling prior 
to formal Court proceedings.
Maintain the initiatives being taken with Directions 
Waimauku and continue the planning for the 
future of Waimauku.
The Waimauku Structure Plan was adopted in March 2009, 
completing an extensive period of public consultation on the 
project. The Structure Plan will be implemented through  
Plan Changes to the District Plan.
Continue structure planning work  
for Kaukapakapa.
Resource Management Solutions have prepared future 
growth options for Kaukapakapa. These are presently being 
reviewed by the Council. The next step is to share them with 
Kaukapakapa Area Residents and Ratepayers Association 
and the public via a community open day.
Continue structure planning work for Puhoi.
A Constraints and Opportunities Report has been completed.
Continue structure planning work for Waitoki.
A decision was made through the LTCCP process to take 
this project to completion of ‘‘vision stage’ only in the year 
commencing 1 July 2009. The task has been reassigned to a 
new staff member to achieve this in consultation with  
the community.
Complete the urban design review of  
Wellsford town centre.
Council resolved on 10 May 2009 to hold final confirmation 
of the review pending further information on the new library 
element of the Plan. An independent study is currently 
underway and will be reported to Council at the next available 
opportunity – tentatively scheduled for September 2009.
Lead in promoting appropriate housing and 
commercial development.
Work is ongoing in Huapai North in terms of the plan change. 
Further work is being carried out in Kumeu involving the 
provision of commercial and industrial land.
Give effect to good quality urban design outcomes 
as a key role and function of the Council.
Application of the Urban Design Guide and assessment of 
resource consent applications in terms of good quality urban 
design outcomes is continuing. Work has involved land 
development, subdivisions and commercial development.
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How we monitor progress

Level of Service Measure Target Achievement
We will prepare 
sustainable 
development plans 
for our villages/
towns/urban areas. 

Sustainable 
develop-
ment plans

Five sustainable 
development plans 
prioritised through the 
Spatial Plan process, 
completed and adopted by 
June 2009.

Not Achieved. The review of the Orewa West 
Structure Plan proceeded to the stage of revision 
of topical studies and urban design principles. 
Silverdale West and Puhoi were completed to 
constraints and opportunities identification phase. 
Waitoki Structure Plan was revised to vision 
statement only and draft vision completed to a stage 
for community consultation, with that consultation 
completed. Kaukapakapa was completed to stage 
of preparing the draft structure plan. The Waimauku 
Structure Plan was adopted in May 2009 and 
Riverhead adopted in July 2009.

District Plan 
live zonings

We will continue to work on 
areas around the district that 
require live zonings to be 
adopted within the District 
Plan.

1. Work to enable more business land in Kumeu/
Huapai was initiated through the Huapai South 
Urban Design Plan process.

2. Work to enable more residential land to be 
developed at Huapai – as per the structure plan – 
continued with public consultation and design as a 
precursor to initiating a District Plan Variation.

3. Work to finalise a District Plan Variation and 
request to shift Metropolitan Urban Limits (MULs) 
continued for the HBC Gateway area at Silverdale 
South. This area is intended to be developed for 
recreation and entertainment purposes.

4. Work to finalise a District Plan Variation and 
request to shift MULs continued for a small 
extension to the existing Industrial Zone area at 
Silverdale.

5. Preparatory work to enable the Business Park 
area identified in the Warkworth Structure Plan to 
be rezoned via a District Plan Variation continued.

We will use our 
influence	and	
resources to create 
opportunities or 
steer desired 
outcomes 
through strategic 
interventions and 
projects. 

Property 
Strategy 

We will start delivering on 
development projects arising 
from the property strategy

$7,880,000 of property sales contracted.

The Property Strategy objectives were changed 
during the year so that the primary objectives 
became:

w	 to maximise the financial returns from sale, and
w	 optimise the strategic outcomes via the sale 

process; from an agreed portfolio of property.

Planning for 
major new 
parks

We will complete a draft 
Management Plan for the 
future park land in Green 
Road Dairy Flat

Not Achieved. The Green Road project was put on 
hold by Council, pending the review of Auckland’s 
local governance structure.

Group of Activities: District & Environmental Planning
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Activity: Urban and Rural Design
The Council encourages the creation of quality, sustainable 
environments by promoting good urban and rural design.  
The	Council	works	with	people	who	influence	the	environment	
our communities live in, such as developers and other 
stakeholders, to achieve good outcomes for communities. 
The Resource Management Act 1991 requires the Council to 
prepare a District Plan which sets out environmental issues, 
objectives, policies and rules that control development in 
Rodney. A key component is urban and rural design, which is 
currently being incorporated into the District Plan. 

The Council is a signatory to the NZ Urban Design Protocol 
which aims to make our towns and cities more successful by 
using quality urban design.
Why we are involved
Communities have told us they seek places of character 
and quality that function well. The Local Government 
Act 2002 requires local authorities to take a sustainable 
development approach and to apply these principles across 
the social, economic, cultural and environmental well being 
of communities. The RMA also contains principles that refer 
to amenity values of urban and rural environments.  
The promotion of good urban and rural design will help 
create a high quality environment for the people of Rodney, 
creating value for communities, individuals, the economy and 
the environment. 

Key Focus:
Promote urban and rural design as a key 
component of integrated and sustainable 
development. The Council will continue to work 
closely with people who influence the physical 
environment, such as developers, to achieve good 
outcomes for communities.
This work is ongoing. Work has involved land development, 
subdivisions and commercial development.
Address District Plan gaps through  
submissions and also through new sustainable 
development plans.
This matter was also addressed when the Urban Design 
Guide was being prepared. For example there are instances 
where the District Plan was working against the design guide. 
These instances have been documented and are being 
reviewed by Council staff.
Advocate and promote appropriate design 
principles in Rodney.
This is achieved through ongoing internal staff liaison and 
advocacy, as well as advice on resource consent applications. 
Urban design training is to be provided for resource consent 
planners in August 09.
Formulate policies and plans to influence  
future development.
Future development is presently being influenced by the 
Council’s district wide design guide and structure plans, such 
as Kaukapakapa, Huapai North, Puhoi etc.
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How we monitor progress

Level of Service Measure Target Achievement
We will formulate 
policies and plans 
to	influence	future	
development. 

Using Urban 
Design 
Protocol 

We will continue to 
implement the activities 
within the Urban Design 
Action Plan annually

Activities arising from the Urban 

Design Action Plan have included:

w	 Seminar to NZ Planning Institute Young Planners 
Meeting in December 2008

w	 Urban Design and Climate Change presentation 
to Council in December 2008

w	 Completed internal audit of a sample of resource 
consents

w	 Input to audit of Rodney District Plan (in 
conjunction with MWH for Ministry for the 
Environment)

w	 Development and Design Guide published on 
internet in October 2008

w	 Review of action plan undertaken in May 2009

We will advocate 
and promote 
appropriate design 
principles for the 
District. 

Collabora-
tive ap-
proach

We will demonstrate a 
collaborative approach with 
community forums and 
groups to encourage the use 
of good design principles 
around the district

This action is ongoing.

The Council’s structure plan process has provided 
and continues to provide a platform to discuss urban 
design with various communities in the district.

Develop-
ment of 
promotional 
materials

We will issue promotional 
material to encourage good 
design principles around the 
district

The following promotional materials have been 
prepared over the past year:

1. A district wide design guide
2. A ‘before’ and ‘after’ case study booklet
3. A streetscape analysis booklet – used as a basis 

to Variation 10.

Regional 
Support Net-
work

We will participate in the 
Auckland Urban Design 
Officers	Group	

Note: This group no longer 
operates. In its place the 
Rodney Urban Design 
Manager set up AU DOG 
(Auckland Urban Design 
Officers	Group)	in	2007/08

This action is ongoing.

It is proposed to have five meetings this calendar 
year, three of which have already been undertaken 
in March, May & July 09.

We will contribute to 
developing an awareness of 
Crime Prevention through 
Environmental Design 
(CPTED) principles within 
Rodney district

Implementation of CPTED principles is ongoing 
through the resource consent process.

Potential for Adverse effects

Adverse effect How we will manage adverse effects
Urban and rural development that 
fails to recognise and celebrate 
Rodney’s unique characteristics.

Advocate, collaborate and regulate on behalf of communities.

Increase in poor quality development 
resulting in short building lifecycles 
rather than redevelopment or 
retrofitting.

Advocate, collaborate and regulate on behalf of communities.

Group of Activities: District & Environmental Planning
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Activity: Natural and Coastal Environment
The Council develops, contributes to and implements policies 
and plans to manage the environment, and participates in 
relevant natural and regional initiatives such as the Hauraki 
Gulf Forum. It takes a sustainable approach to its own 
activities and is an active advocate for the environment and 
the community to promote sustainable development and look 
after the environment. 

The Council undertakes monitoring and is a custodian and 
advocate for the natural and coastal ecosystem, habitats and 
biodiversity. It seeks to protect and enhance beaches and the 
coast, waterways, lakes and wetlands, native trees and bush, 
and native plant and animal populations and communities
Why we are involved
Effective environmental management and monitoring ensures 
that Rodney’s highly valued natural and coastal resources are 
sustainable, and the quality of our natural heritage is retained 
or enhanced. 

Key Focus:
Investigate options for community management 
of genetically modified organisms and adopt a 
precautionary approach to field trialing or use of 
genetically modified organisms.
The Community GMO survey has been developed and  
piloted and will be completed in August 2009. The High  
Court overturned an ERMA decision to process four 
Agresearch GMO applications for 18 domestic livestock and 
laboratory genera, including import, indoor GM development, 
contained outdoor GM development, field testing livestock in 
outdoor containment.
Review and establish environmental monitoring 
and state of the environment reporting.
An Environmental Monitoring Programme Statement is in 
preparation supported by a cross-corporate Steering Group. 
Completion is scheduled for September 2009.
Contribute to coordinated management of the 
Mahurangi and Kaipara harbours.
Continued support of IKHMG and in particular liaison 
with other participant Councils undertaken and Terms of 
Reference preparation and negotiation supported.  
The Mahurangi Action Plan (MAP) has reached the end 
of a five year pilot. A final report is being produced by the 
ARC and is due at the end of September 2009. The MAP 
is continuing with an integrated planning approach now in 
development, together with iwi and the local community.
Develop a strategic integrated approach to native 
biodiversity protection.
Regular joint biodiversity meetings are ongoing and the 
strategic mapping initiative progressed.
Establish ecological corridors.
Council continues to participate in the North West Wildlink.
Continue to formulate policy and plans on the 
natural and coastal environment including native 
trees, bush, wetlands and biodiversity.
The bushlot monitoring programme analysis has been 
completed and a communications plan developed. 
A Councillor workshop was held on 11 June 2009. 
Subsequently, on 30 July 2009,the Council Strategy and 
Community Committee determined that the communications 
plan be implemented supported by a bushlot monitoring 
programme provided for by the LTCCP 2009-19  
budget provision.
Continue to formulate policy and plans on 
the coastal environment including coastal 
compartment planning, aquaculture and marine 
protected areas, and the exercise of its jurisdiction 
under transfer of powers.
Attendance at Hauraki Gulf Forum and engagement with 
relevant policy processes. Transfer of powers unchanged.
Continue to formulate policy and plans on 
environmental issues such as land-based 
aquaculture, biosecurity and pest management, 
and the outdoor use of genetically  
modified organisms.
Precautionary status for outdoor trials and use of GMOs in the 
2009-2019 LTCCP confirmed.
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How we monitor progress

Level of Service Measure Target Achievement
We will have 
appropriate policies, 
strategies and 
plans to address 
natural and coastal 
environmental 
issues, including 
biodiversity. 

Policies and 
plans. 

We will continue to provide 
an integrated contribution to 
the Mahurangi Action Plan 
with the Auckland Regional 
Council.

The Council is acknowledged by both the ARC and 
the community for its contribution throughout the 
business year.

We will promote co-
ordinated interagency 
management of the Kaipara 
Harbour and its catchment.

Council has made a significant contribution and 
has assisted with Terms of Reference, member 
participation and outcome achievement as well as 
financial support.

Leader in 
biodiversity 
manage-
ment

We will continue to 
work on developing and 
implementing policies 
on	genetically	modified	
organisms, biosecurity, 
biodiversity, climate change, 
energy,	and	significant	
natural area protection 
incentives. 

Full active participant in Joint Inter-Council Working 
Party on GE, Chair Biodiversity Team, regional 
contribution on Climate Change, Mahurangi Action 
Plan, Whangateau Harbour and SNA work through 
bushlot programme. 

A Pest Management Plan was adopted by 
Council on 16 April 2008, with actions now being 
implemented through the Infrastructure teams.

Reporting We will complete a State of 
the Environment report for 
the district.

Not Achieved. A SOE Report has not been 
progressed due to local governance review. 

We will know, 
recognise and 
retain or enhance 
the special natural 
and coastal 
characteristics that 
define	Rodney	and	
its quality of life

Aligning and 
Coordinating

We will undertake 
appropriate monitoring of 
the environment, within 
budgetary parameters 
as per the monitoring 
programme.

Not Achieved. Project plan formulated and 
progressed by cross-corporate Steering Committee 
to produce an Environmental Monitoring Stock-take 
and Evaluation 2009 by September 2009.

We will provide ongoing 
monitoring of bushlots, 
within our resources.

Detailed analysis completed including pilot study 
and reporting. Councillor workshop completed on 11 
June 2009 including communications plan and final 
report on 30 July 2009. 

We will use our 
influence	and	
resources to create 
opportunities 
or seek desired 
outcomes 
through strategic 
interventions and 
advocacy. 

National 
legislation 
and policy 
develop-
ment.

We will contribute to national 
and regional policy initiatives 
such as Oceans Policy and 
aquaculture as they arise

Contributions have been made to Mangrove RPC 
provision, National Coastal Policy Statement, 
National Freshwater Policy Statement, Land-based 
Aquaculture Guidelines, Regional Climate Change 
Response and Energy streams.

We will contribute to the 
Marine Protected Areas 
review and establishment 
process as required.

MPA review is led by DOC and no further 
involvement has been sought from Council at this 
time.

Advocacy We will provide input to 
Restricted Coastal Activities 
and	other	significant	consent	
applications (such as in the 
Kaipara Harbour), on an 
ongoing basis.

RDC’s activity was restricted to contributions to the 
Kaipara Monitoring Group associated with sand 
mining. Full attendance and contributions were 
made. RDC’s role is that of advocacy due to not 
being the consenting authority.

Group of Activities: District & Environmental Planning
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Potential for Adverse effects

Adverse effect How we will manage adverse effects
Under	significant	development	
pressure, the natural and coastal 
environment and associated 
ecosystems are susceptible to 
cumulative and long term impacts 
that may be irreversible and/or 
difficult	to	detect.

We will develop policies and undertake advocacy to protect the environment and 
promote sustainable custodianship of the environment.

Monitoring and state of the environment reporting will assist proactive and 
responsive environmental management.

Activity: District Plan
The Rodney District Plan is a key regulatory tool used by the Council to manage growth and development, so that Rodney’s 
quality of life and the natural and built environment is sustainable and protected for present and future generations. The District 
Plan is developed in consultation with the community and sets out how the Council will manage the effects of land use and 
development, including subdivision, and how it will protect natural and physical resources. The District Plan also sets out a 
series of statutory rules which govern how natural and physical resources may be used. 
Why we are involved
The	Council	is	required	by	the	Resource	Management	Act	1991	to	have	a	District	Plan.	The	Act	gives	the	Council	specific	
functions, all of which aim to achieve its purpose of promoting sustainable management of natural and physical resources.  
Also, Rodney’s communities can use the District Plan to achieve the outcomes expressed in Vision Rodney in that local visions 
and sustainable development plans are expressed through District Plan rules.

Key Focus:
Making the proposed District Plan 2000 operative.
14 Chapters including the Residential Chapter were made operative 30 January 2009. Remaining appeals are continuing to be 
resolved. By the end of 2008/09 26 appeal topics had been resolved or withdrawn.

w	 Variation 11 – Decision released 5 February 2009 1 appeal
w	 Variation 22 – Plan Change 97 – LGAAA. 8 appeals
w	 Variation 51 – Gulf Harbour. 1 remaining appeal
w	 Variation 52 –Silverdale North – last appeal close to settlement
w	 Variation 58 – controls for medium and high intensity residential developments. Decision issued, 6 appeals lodged and 

subsequently withdrawn
w	 Variation 60 – introducing Township Policy area. Decision released 10 March 2009. No appeals
w	 Variation 61 – Inundation. Decision released 19 March 2009. 1 appeal 
w	 Variation 65 – Visitor Accommodation. Hearing report prepared
w	 Variation 101 – Orewa East – Decision released 21 April 2009. 5 appeals
w	 Variation 102 – Noise tables. Notified 20 November 2007. 8 Submissions. Final submissions close 21 August 2009
w	 Variation 117 – Boundary Relocation. Further submissions closed 26 Sept 2008. Hearing date set for 12 August 2009
w	 Variation 120 – Temporary signs. Further submissions closed 3 Nov 2008. No appeals
w	 Variation 124 – Point Wells. Further submissions closed 3 November 2008 – Hearing Date to be set
w	 Variation 125 – Plan Change 110 – Warkworth – Further submissions closed 16 Sept 2008. Hearing 11, 12, 13 May 2009. 

Decision pending
w	 Variation 126 – Road Frontage Notation – Further submissions closed 19 Sept 2008 .Hearing date set for 12 August 2009
w	 Proposed Private Plan Change 96 Rodney Highlands – on hold at applicant’s request
w	 Proposed Private Plan Change 105 – Te Arai – Further submissions closed 19 December 2007. Report being prepared. 

Hearings 2 March – 20 March 2009. Decision released, appeal period ends approx 7 August 2009
w	 Proposed Private Plan Change 106 – Waiwera. Decision issued 15 April 2008. Appeal period approx. 30 May 2008. 1 Appeal. 

Struck out 21 November 2008
w	 Proposed Private Plan Change 107 – Genesis Power Station. Notified 3 April 2008. Further Submissions 16 April 2008. 

Decision released. 2 appeals
w	 Proposed Private Plan Change 109 – Variation 121 – Kaipara Flats Aeropark. Notified 20 March 2008. Submissions closed  

24 April 2008. Hearing date 24 June 2009. Decision pending.
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Introduce a statutory variation for the  
Orewa West area.
Review of structure plan continuing. Network traffic modelling 
and the draft Integrated Traffic Assessment are now 
complete. Waste water options are being reviewed.  
Draft structure plan and variation have been prepared and 
these are also being reviewed.
Introduce a statutory variation for the Hibiscus 
Coast Gateway Area and seek a Metropolitan 
Urban Limit shift to the Regional Policy Statement.
Proposed variation to rezone HBC gateway area (including 
MUL shift) is being prepared. Draft rules package, MUL 
request and section 32 are now complete. Traffic modelling 
completed and to be reviewed with NZTA taking into account 
a proposed Park and Ride facility. Integrated Transport 
Assessment can now be completed.
Continue to work to make Proposed  
Variation 52 operative in some form.
Remaining appeal (Braithwaite) has progressed. Consent 
documents were prepared and lodged with the Environment 
Court. Now waiting for a Court decision.
Introduce plan changes relating to the further 
provision of business land, greenbelt and rural 
subdivision issues and the character and nature of 
residential settlement.
Public consultation on future extent and layout of industrial 
land in Kumeu-Huapai occurred with public open days held in 
May 2009 and the opportunity to place submissions until  
June 2009.
Implement changes to the district plan(s) to 
implement the Council’s policies on inundation.
One appeal lodged to Variation 61.The Environment Court 
timetable will dictate how this is to be dealt with.
Complete the statutory variation for the 
Warkworth Structure Plan.
Hearings on variation 125 were held on 11, 12 and 19  
May 2009. Commissioners are to deliberate on matter  
over June 2009.

Complete the statutory variation for the  
Muriwai Community Plan.
Work continued to refine approach. Liaison with the Muriwai 
Beach Progressive Association is also continuing.
Initiating work on a proposed new West Coast 
zone in the 1st quarter of 2009 with a likely public 
notification date for a variation at the end of  
June 2009.
West Coast Zone (an overlay) drafting has been completed 
and pre notification consultation under clause 3 of First 
Schedule RMA has occurred.
Introduce other plan changes/variations  
as appropriate.
Appeals to Variation 58 and 61 were received. Some appeals 
to Variation 58 were subsequently withdrawn. The timing 
on Variation 61 appeals are dependent on the Environment 
Court. Plan change 120 (temporary signs) was notified and 
submissions were heard. A decision was made in May 2009. 
Hearing of submissions on Variation 60 were heard in July 
2008. The decision was issued in April 2009. Variation 101 
(Orewa) decision was issued in April 2009 and appeals 
received. A hearing was held on variation 125 (Warkworth 
Town Centre) in May 2009. Private Plan Change 109 and 
Variation 121 Kaipara Flats Airfield hearings were held in 
June 2009.
The Council will issue decisions and deal with any 
subsequent appeals with the aim of making the 
proposed district plan operative, introduce plan 
changes and deal with any private plan change 
requests as appropriate.
149 appeal topics (as defined by the Environment Court)  
were resolved during the 2008/09 year. More detail is 
included in the table on page 37.

Group of Activities: District & Environmental Planning
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How we monitor progress

Level of Service Measure Target Achievement
We will always have 
a District Plan in 
place.

Operative 
District Plan 

We will make the ‘Proposed 
District Plan 2000’ operative 
by July 2009

Not Achieved. 14 chapters out of 23 made operative 
30/01/2009. The remaining chapters are subject 
to appeals preventing them from being made 
operative. The appeals to the Environment Court 
are split into topics. Of the 320 appeal topics, 245 
have been settled. This equates to 76.56% of 
appeals completed at 30 June 2009. The remaining 
appeals are progressing by way of negotiation or 
Environment Court hearings.

In terms of outstanding Plan Changes and 
Variations, the LGAAA Plan Change/ Variation has 
six appeals. These are either awaiting resolution 
of appeals to the Regional Policy Statement or 
progressing along with all the other appeals to other 
Councils’ plans. There are five Private Plan Change 
requests in various stages of the process, one on 
hold, three have had hearings, and two of those 
have had decisions released and are at the appeal 
stage. One request was rejected by Council and 
the applicant has appealed. In addition to the above 
there are 14 Variations at various stages of the 
process. Four are under appeal, four are due to be 
adopted in August 2009, One was heard in May and 
the decision is pending. Five are due for hearing in 
August /September of 2009.

District Plan 
achieving its 
objectives

Public 
satisfaction

Public satisfaction that the 
Council makes decisions 
in the best interests of the 
natural environment is 
greater than 55% annually.*

5 4 3 2 1

3.3% 37.4% 35% 18.9% 5.4%

Due to the change in methodology and the rating 
scale used for this year’s Annual Residents’ Survey 
(as noted on page 19) it is not possible to compare 
previous year’s results directly. It is also not  
clear-cut to state if the targets have been achieved 
or not achieved.

This year’s results provide the opportunity to 
prioritise areas to focus effort for improvement over 
the coming year.

* Source: Annual Residents Survey 2008/09 – refer to ‘Use of Surveys in Reporting Service Performance’ page 19 for explanation of rating scale

Achieved Capital Works

ACTUAL
$000’s

BUDGET 
$000’s

REASON FOR
VARIANCENew Capital Expenditure

Database for Wetlands and Bush Covenants 2 30 i

TOTAL CAPITAL EXPENDITURE 2 30  

To be completed in 2010/proposed carry forward a
Deferred pending further investigation/design work/strategy b
Delayed due to consent issues c
Project approved by Council during year/reallocation of funds d
Allocated to projects once priorities set for year e
Budget is the Annual Plan 2008/09 plus projects carried forward from the previous year. f
Project on hold/pending issues g
Project Savings h
Budget carried forward from previous years i
Budget is the Annual Plan 2008/09 plus projects carried forward from the previous year. j
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Activities in this group:
w	 Water Supply 

w	 Wastewater

w	 Stormwater

Rodney’s rapid growth, urbanisation of areas like the 
Hibiscus Coast, and the ongoing development of the district’s 
townships is putting pressure on the Council’s water services. 
Key issues for Rodney include its ability to maintain existing 
assets and service levels at the same time as providing 
adequate infrastructure, services and service levels to meet 
growth in demand. 

The Auckland Regional Council and Rodney’s communities 
are demanding higher quality and environmentally friendlier 
treatment and disposal of wastewater and stormwater. 
Development of new sources for water supply must also 
accommodate high standards of environmental protection. 

A major challenge for the Council is to optimise the operation and management of the three water systems (drinking, storm and 
waste) so that they are affordable, reliable and environmentally sustainable. 

The number of schemes required to service the widespread communities of the district provides a fundamental challenge.  
There are currently seven separate water supply systems and 11 wastewater systems. More are planned and some may be 
combined. In addition to upgrading and expanding the existing systems, new schemes will be required in areas that currently 
rely	on	individual	on-site	systems	where	significant	growth	is	expected	and/or	there	are	existing	environmental	and	public	 
health concerns. 

Any water-related engineering must consider the cultural values of Rodney’s tangata whenua. This encompasses holistic 
interaction between people, the water and the environment. Increasingly the values and the goals that come from the tangata 
whenua are shared by the wider Rodney community.

Contribution to Community Outcomes

Outcomes (as stated in the LTCCP 2006-16) How Water Services contributes
Outcome: A country look and feel
w	 Planning and developing appropriate infrastructure.
Outcome: Contained towns and villages 
w	 Making all towns and villages viable 
Outcome: Maintained lifestyles and  
environmental care 
w	 Keeping the soil on the land
w	 Cleaning up our waters 

By ensuring a reliable supply of safe drinking-quality water is 
available	to	all	residents	and	that	there	is	sufficient	water	for	
future development.

By ensuring adequate wastewater collection and treatment 
systems are available to all residents and that there is 
sufficient	capacity	within	the	wastewater	systems	for	future	
development.

By managing the rate of stormwater run-off and 
contaminants so that Rodney’s streams, rivers and beaches 
are able to sustain plant and animal life, and meet people’s 
recreational needs.

By planning stormwater systems that help to prevent any 
acceleration of the natural rate of erosion on land and in 
streams, ensuring land is available for productive use.

By	reducing	the	risk	of	flood	damage	to	homes	and	
businesses.

By providing adequate infrastructure as a key requirement 
for business.

Group of Activities: Water Services

Share of Total Expenditure

24% 
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Significant Negative Effects
Providing	water	services	can	have	significant	negative	effects	on	the	environment	if	not	carefully	managed.	There	may	also	be	
significant	negative	effects	on	the	district’s	community,	environment	and	economy	if	water	services	are	not	provided.	 
The	potential	for	adverse	effects,	as	related	to	a	specific	activity,	is	identified	within	that	activity.

HIBISCUS COAST RURAL & TOWNSHIPS TOTAL DISTRICT

2008 
Actual

2009 
Plan

2009 
Actual

2008 
Actual

2009 
Plan

2009 
Actual

2008 
Actual

2009 
Plan

2009 
Actual

Water Supply 5,598 5,427 5,323 5,036 4,920 5,156 10,634 10,347 10,479
Wastewater 11,661 12,490 11,334 5,994 7,060 6,263 17,655 19,550 17,597
Stormwater 3,068 3,651 3,294 2,358 2,972 2,830 5,426 6,623 6,124

Total Operating Expenditure 20,327 21,568 19,951 13,388 14,952 14,249 33,715 36,520 34,200

Operating Revenue:

Revenue & user charges 842 1,034 725 845 745 634 1,687 1,779 1,359
Grants and subsidies 129 127 183 436 168 1,259 565 295 1,442
Interest Income 43 – 34 68 – 40 111 – 74
Cash contributions 2,178 1,592 443 2,319 3,235 1,426 4,497 4,827 1,869
Vested asset contributions 238 1,090 0 1,381 549 968 1,619 1,639 968
Targeted rates 16,542 18,950 18,723 10,765 12,616 12,377 27,307 31,566 31,100
General rates – – – – 18 18 – 18 18
Other Income – – 907 6 – – 6 – 907
Gain (Loss) on sale of assets 6 – – – – 2 6 – 2

Total Operating Revenue 19,978 22,793 21,015 15,820 17,331 16,724 35,798 40,124 37,739

TOTAL OPERATING SURPLUS ( DEFICIT) (349) 1,225 1,064 2,432 2,379 2,475 2,083 3,604 3,539

Capital Expenditure

New capital works 14,015 5,067 3,550 9,721 6,450 13,568 23,736 11,517 17,118
Renewal capital works 1,647 3,683 3,770 3,243 2,869 3,429 4,890 6,552 7,199

Total Capital Expenditure 15,662 8,750 7,320 12,964 9,319 16,997 28,626 18,069 24,317

Other Funding Requirements

Loan repayments 6,170 1,098 1,098 2,662 995 995 8,832 2,093 2,093
Transfers to general & restricted reserves 10,220 909 10,755 2,307 337 882 12,527 1,246 11,637

Total Funding Requirement 32,052 10,757 19,173 17,933 10,651 18,874 49,985 21,408 38,047

Funds To Be Provided From:

Operating surplus (349) 1,225 1,064 2,432 2,379 2,475 2,083 3,604 3,539
Asset sales 6 – – – – – – – –
Loans raised 18,020 2,972 3,991 10,141 3,513 11,406 28,161 6,485 15,397
Transfers from general & restricted 
reserves 11,417 545 10,351 1,627 965 2,433 13,044 1,510 12,784

Non cash expenses 2,958 6,015 3,770 3,733 3,794 2,557 6,691 9,809 6,327

Total Funds Provided 32,052 10,757 19,176 17,933 10,651 18,871 49,985 21,408 38,047

FUNDING SURPLUS / ( DEFICIT) – – 3 – – (3) – – –
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Activity: Water Supply
The Council ensures that all households, businesses and 
industries in Rodney have access to adequate drinking-quality 
water either from a public supply or from privately owned and 
operated rainwater tanks, bores or springs. It also ensures 
that, in areas where there is a public water-supply network, 
there	is	adequate	water	available	for	fire	fighting	–	with	the	
exception of Muriwai which is only partly reticulated. 

The Council manages public water supply systems on the 
Hibiscus Coast, Warkworth, Wellsford, Snells Beach-Algies 
Bay, Helensville, Muriwai and a small portion of Waitakere 
township adjacent to the Waitakere City boundary. The 
operation of public water supply systems is undertaken 
through a partnership with Rodney Water.
Why we are involved
The Council is legally required to maintain the current 
public water supply systems. Also, Rodney’s residents and 
businesses require a reliable supply of safe  
drinking-quality water. 

All potable water provided from the public systems must meet 
the Drinking Water Standards New Zealand 2005.

Group of Activities: Water Services

Key Focus:
Ensure treatment plants and reticulation systems 
comply with the revised national drinking water 
quality standards.
All plants meet DWSNZ 2005 except Wellsford which 
meets the 2000 standards. Groundwater investigations are 
continuing at Wellsford.
Determine if any new supplies are to be developed 
e.g. Kumeu, Huapai, Riverhead.
Watercare have confirmed that supply can be available  
by 2013.
Maintain current systems, including renewing 
assets that no longer provide the required level 
of service. Council will implement a ‘planned 
maintenance programme’.
Planned renewals were carried out in 2008/09 based 
on a prioritised list of works identified through routine 
inspections (I&A – issues and awareness register). Other 
planned renewals such as water meters were carried out 
as per planned renewal programmes. Planned preventative 
inspection and maintenance repairs were carried out to 
minimise service disruptions.
Increase the extent and capacity of the systems to 
provide for growth and better levels of service.
Extensions and upgrades to the network were carried out as 
per Master Plans, to cater for growth.
Improve its knowledge about the systems’ 
condition and performance, and use this 
knowledge to improve asset management and 
capacity modelling.
Condition and Performance data have been captured both by 
the Job Management System of Rodney Water (uploaded into 
RDC Asset Management System) and by specific surveys 
such as CCTV inspections in targeted areas.
Ensure that systems operate to performance 
standards or have upgrade programmes in place 
to meet any deficiencies.
The LTCCP 2009-2019 and reviewed Asset Management 
Plan were adopted. Capital works programme for 2009/10 is 
in progress.
Have public health risk management plans in place 
for public water supplies at Wellsford, Snells/
Algies and on the Hibiscus Coast.
PHRMP for Wellsford has ‘implemented’ status. Snells-Algies 
plan is in preparation. Also, plans for small public supplies are 
being prepared.
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How we monitor progress

Level of Service Measure Target Achievement
We will ensure that 
we always have 
adequate water 
supply available in 
reticulated areas.

Meeting 
Engineering 
Standards 

We will meet Rodney 
District Council engineering 
standards for water 
pressure 94% of the time for 
reticulated systems by 2009.

Objectives were met, achieved 99.8% in HBC  
and 98.8% in R&T. Pressure and flow are the  
same thing.

We will meet Rodney 
District Council engineering 
standards for minimum 
flows	94%	of	the	time	for	
reticulated systems by 2009.

Objectives were met, achieved 99.8% in HBC  
and 98.8% in R&T. Pressure and flow are the  
same thing.

Water 
supply 
disruptions 

We will ensure continuity 
of water supply to every 
household connected in 
reticulated areas 97% of the 
time.

Objective was met. 99.97% 

Fire-fighting	
pressure 

88% of urban areas have 
adequate	fire	fighting	
pressure by 2009.

Objective achieved in HBC but not R&T. 98.9% in 
HBC and 86.3% in R&T.

We will work 
towards adequate 
Ministry of Health 
gradings.

Water 
quality 
grading

50% of rural and township 
supply areas within the 
district achieve a Ministry of 
Health ‘Bb’ grading for their 
water supply by 2009.

Achieved 60%. Three of the five R&T supplies 
met the target grade; Muriwai – Bb, Snells Beach/
Algies Bay – Bb, Warkworth – Bb, Wellsford – Bc, 
Helensville – Bc.

The Hibiscus Coast supply 
area maintains the Ministry 
of Health ‘Aa’ grading.

Not Achieved. HBC graded as Ab. 

Please refer to tables ‘Source and Treatment 
grading explained’ and Distribution grading 
explained’  (As further upgrade works are completed 
on the HBC system, RDC expects to achieve Aa for 
HBC, and the current stepped improvement plan 
aims for Ab in the 2008 Grading year).

Source and treatment grading explained
What the grades mean
This grading relates to the supply up to the point at which the water leaves the treatment plant, but before it enters the 
distribution system. It is concerned with the barriers guarding against contaminated water. Possible grades are:
A1 Completely satisfactory, negligible level of risk, demonstrably high quality
A  Completely satisfactory, extremely low level of risk
B Satisfactory, very low level of risk
C  Marginally satisfactory, low level of microbiological risk when water leaves the plant, but may not be satisfactory chemically
D Unsatisfactory level of risk
E Unacceptable level of risk
Each grade can be attained by a variety of factor combinations. However, some generalisations can be made:
w	 An ‘A1’ grade requires not only a high quality water and procedures, but also an internationally recognised audited quality 

assurance scheme.
w	 An ‘A1’ or ‘A’ grade will always have residual disinfection in place to safeguard against microbiological contamination.
w	 An ‘A1’ grade will always meet the Guideline Values for aesthetic determinants.
w	 A plant using secure groundwater that is not chlorinated can at best receive a ‘B’ grade, because of the possibility of 

contamination in the reticulation system. However, an ‘a’ grade for the distribution system can be achieved if monitoring is 
increased by 50 percent from DWSNZ 2000.

w	 A treatment plant that does not comply with the major requirements of DWSNZ 2000 cannot attain an ‘A’ or a ‘B’ grade.
w	 A ‘C’ grade for a plant means that the microbiological quality of the water delivered is satisfactory when the water leaves the 

plant, but the plant does not have an appropriate level of supervision and/or has one or more chemical determinants that exceed 
their MAV.

w	 A ‘D’ grade for a plant means that the supply is from a source with a low risk of contamination, but treatment is not adequate.
w	 An ‘E’ grade for a plant is likely to mean the water comes from a surface water source without adequate protection from animal or 

human contamination, and subsequent treatment, if any, is not adequate.
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Grading of Distribution
Grades are allocated on the following basis:

Sum of demerit points Grade Description

0-10 a1 Completely satisfactory, negligible level of risk; demonstrably high quality; 
meets Aesthetic Guidelines in Appendix B and has ISO 9001: 2000 
accreditation

0-10 a Completely satisfactory, extremely low level of risk

11-20 b Satisfactory, very low level of risk

21-30 c Marginally satisfactory, moderately low level of risk

31-45 d Unsatisfactory level of risk

46 or more e Unacceptable level of risk

While the combinations are obviously many, three important conclusions are:

w	 a zone without microbiological compliance cannot gain an ‘a’ or a ‘b’ grade
w	 a zone without chemical compliance cannot gain an ‘a’ grade, unless no demerit points are scored in all other questions
w	 inadequate	management	alone	can	have	a	significant	effect	on	the	grading.

Potential for adverse effects

Adverse effect How we will manage adverse effects
Taking of surface water in drought conditions Control the volume of water taken by consent conditions calculated to 

sustain aquatic life.

Damming of catchments Evaluate all water sources including bores, roof water and run-of-river having 
regard to environmental impacts.

Increased stormwater runoff if roof water is 
not captured

Evaluate integrated roof tanks and public supply systems.

Group of Activities: Water Services
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Activity: Wastewater
The Council ensures that all sanitary wastes generated in 
the	district	are	collected	and	disposed	of	in	an	efficient	and	
sustainable manner by public or private wastewater systems.

The Council manages public wastewater systems on the 
Hibiscus Coast (Army Bay, and Waiwera; Orewa was 
decommissioned in June 2009) and at Warkworth, Wellsford, 
Snells Beach/Algies Bay, Helensville, Matakana, Omaha, 
Denehurst Drive Waimauku, and part of Huapai.  
The operation and maintenance of public wastewater systems 
is undertaken under a partnership with Rodney Water.
Why we are involved
Legislation requires the Council to mitigate the effects of 
wastewater discharges on the environment and to protect 
public health by ensuring that standards are met, whether the 
wastewater system is a public or private one.

Key focus:
Finalise the Kumeu Huapai Riverhead and 
Waimauku wastewater servicing scheme.
Although a draft agreement has been prepared between 
Watercare and Council its status will be reviewed following 
the passing of the next statute setting up the Auckland 
Council. The detailed design of the rising main to connect to 
the Watercare System is 90% complete. The first area of low 
pressure reticulation is entering the detailed design phase.
Implement the Warkworth wastewater treatment 
plan stage one upgrade.
This is now substantially complete.
Develop a strategy for the future servicing of the 
Warkworth and Snells/Algies communities.
A report has shortlisted three options for consideration prior  
to development of the master plan.
Progress the Helensville future wastewater 
servicing strategy. 
The future servicing strategy is now complete.
Implement the public servicing of Martins Bay.
Jackson Crescent connected. Martins Bay – Algies Bay 
gravity line has been upsized.

Ensure treatment plants achieve appropriate  
ARC gradings.

Nine out of eleven plants achieved a minimum of ‘2A’ grading 
or better, with the remaining two being rated at ‘3’. Please 
refer to ‘Wastewater Treatment Plant gradings explained’, 
following the section ‘How we monitor progress’.
Lodge wastewater resource consents for  
Waiwera and Helensville.
Waiwera application was lodged. Helensville application now 
revised to reflect changes in strategy and to be lodged by  
31 July 09.

Determine how best to protect public health  
and the environment in the many small  
un-serviced communities.
The Water and Sanitary Services Assessment identifies 
existing areas under pressure. Policies and processes are 
under development.
Develop a sludge management strategy for  
Army Bay.
The recommendations of the SKM report have been 
accommodated in the Asset Management Plan.
Maintain current systems, including renewing 
assets that no longer provide the required  
level of service.
Renewals programme for next three years is under 
development. The first stage will be to deliver a capital works 
programme for 2009/10 by September 09.
Increase the extent and capacity of systems  
to provide for growth and today’s expectations  
of service.
Current year projects now completed. Comprehensive 
master plans are underway for primary growth areas in HBC, 
Warkworth and Helensville.
Improve its knowledge about the systems’ 
condition and performance, and use this 
knowledge to improve asset management and 
capacity modelling.
Current information has been reviewed and has been 
incorporated into the renewals strategy.
Ensure that systems operate to performance 
standards or have upgrade programmes in place 
to meet any deficiencies.
Improvement programme and upgrade requirements are 
included in the Asset Management Plan.

Pursue system efficiencies to reduce the operating 
costs of the network.

In developing improvements to optimise the water services 
network, master plans have included evaluation of operating 
costs including energy costs associated with pump stations.
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Group of Activities: Water Services

How we monitor progress

Level of Service Measure Target Achievement
We will ensure that 
all the district’s 
treatment plants 
achieve technical 
compliance 

Minimum 
grading 

At least 75% of the districts 
wastewater treatment plants 
will maintain an Auckland 
Regional Council rating 
2009

Objective met. 82%, 9 out of 11 treatment plants 
were rated 2 or better.

Helensville and Wellsford were rated 3 because 
of their continued noncompliance while they are 
awaiting upgrades/new consents. 

Refer below to view tables of achievements and 
grading explanations.

Response 
times to 
monitoring 
system 
alarms 

We will respond to 95% of 
alarms raised within two 
hours 

99%

We will maintain the 
number of sewer 
chokes, bursts, 
overflows	and	leaks	
within current levels 

Response 
times 

We will respond to 95% of 
customer	notifications	of	
sewer	overflows	within	two	
hours 

96%

We will identify suitable 
industry benchmarks to 
compare our performance 
against that of other 
Auckland wastewater 
systems by 2009

RDC contributes to the Auckland Water Industries 
Operators Report annually

Customer 
satisfaction

At least 67% of customers 
are	satisfied	with	the	
disposal and treatment 
of wastewater in Rodney 
annually*

5 4 3 2 1

9.8% 35.3% 40.7% 6.3% 7.8%

Due to the change in methodology and the rating 
scale used for this year’s Annual Residents’ Survey 
(as noted on page 19) it is not possible to compare 
previous year’s results directly. It is also not clear-cut 
to state if the targets have been achieved or not 
achieved.

This year’s results provide the opportunity to 
prioritise areas to focus effort for improvement over 
the coming year.

We will undertake 
appropriate planning 
to cater for future 
growth

Resource 
consents

We will achieve wastewater 
resource consent for 
Helensville and Wellsford by 
June 2009

Not Achieved. Lodged amended Helensville Consent 
in July 2009. This was delayed due to negotiations 
with Genesis and subsequent finalisation of the 
strategy. Wellsford due September 2009 (draft 
received).

* Source: Annual Residents Survey 2008/09 – refer to ‘Use of Surveys in Reporting Service Performance’ page 19 for explanation of rating scale
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Wastewater Treatment Plant gradings achieved

WwTP
Compliance Ranking

CommentWastewater 
Discharge Air Discharge

Army Bay 2A 1 Public Health Risk Assessment not completed.

Warkworth 2A 1 Slight exceedence NH4-N and Viral Monitoring Plan due  
for review.

Snells-Algies 2A 2 Pipeline upgrade incomplete and Impact Assessment  
Report overdue.

Omaha 1 2A DO falling below consented limit in aerated lagoon  
during summer.

Helensville 3 N/A TSS, BOD5 and summer discharge volume exceed  
consented limits

Wellsford 3 N/A TSS, BOD5 faecal coliforms and discharge volume exceeded 
consented limits.

Waiwera 1 N/A Fully compliant.

Huapai 2A N/A NH4-N and DO exceed consented limits.

Orewa 2A N/A TSS elevated due to pond dewatering. Only one pond now, 
which	is	used	for	flow	balancing.

Matakana 2A N/A TSS, BOD5 and maximum discharge volume exceed  
consented limits.

Denehurst 2A N/A Volume of discharge exceeds consented limit.

Wastewater Treatment Plant gradings explained:
The	following	table	identifies	the	ARC	criteria	associated	with	the	ranking	system

NI The resource consent condition was not assessed or inspected

NE The resource consent condition has not been exercised. The condition may refer to a future date or the 
activity the condition refers has yet to be undertaken

Category 1 The resource consent condition has been complied with. Where a condition refers to a provision in a 
Management Plan, then the Plan has been referred to in assessing consent compliance.

Category 2

The	resource	consent	condition	has	not	been	complied	with.	ARC	Officers	have	assessed	the	non-
compliance as technical in nature or having no more that minor actual or potential adverse effect.

Catergory 2 non compliance is further divided into the following categories:

2A – Self monitoring or one-off data is incomplete, outstanding or not compliant.

2B – The item has not been constructed, maintained or operated as required by the resource consent 
condition or relevant management plan.

2C – Combination of 2A and 2B.

Category 3

The	resource	consent	condition	has	not	been	complied	with.	ARC	Officers	have	assessed	the	non-
compliance as either resulting in an adverse effect on the environment or having the potential to result in 
adverse effect on the environment. Alternatively since the last audit there is evidence of repeat Category 
2	non-compliance	where	ARC	Officers	have	previously	requested	the	matter	be	addressed.

Category 4
The	resource	consent	condition	has	not	been	complied	with.	ARC	Officers	have	assessed	the	non-
compliance	as	resulting	in	significant	adverse	effects	on	the	environment	or	having	the	potential	to	result	
in	significant	adverse	effects	on	the	environment.
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Group of Activities: Water Services

Potential for adverse effects

Adverse effect How we will manage adverse effects
Treatment plants failing to provide adequate 
level of treatment

Ensure appropriate operating procedures and trained staff are employed and 
that plants are of adequate capacity to service the demand.

Maintain ongoing monitoring programmes.

System	overflows Model	systems	to	identify	capacity	issues,	implement	infiltration	and	inflow	
inspection programmes on a prioritised basis. Action remedial works. Monitor 
results.	Contingency	plans	in	place	to	minimise	potential	overflows	and	as	a	
clean-up response.

Pump	station	overflows Ensure pump stations have adequate capacity to service their catchment, 
appropriate emergency storage and/or generators.

Failure of private onsite systems Widely promote the requirement for regular maintenance and upgrading 
of systems. Monitor environmental and health effects in areas with private 
systems.

Development is held back due to inadequate 
future wastewater servicing

Ensure integrated planning processes are in place across Council to ensure 
sustainable growth of the district is promoted. Plan and invest in additional 
land requirements to provide for expansion and protect systems from 
encroaching development.

As the population of the district increases 
the wastewater systems will get larger which 
may lead to larger issues

Ensure that the systems are enlarged in a way that minimises negative 
effects.

Activity: Stormwater
The Council provides and maintains stormwater drainage 
infrastructure in most urban areas of Rodney. This consists of 
a network of pipes and open channels, and in some locations 
ponds or treatment devices, that convey stormwater to natural 
watercourses and the sea. In rural and undeveloped areas 
public stormwater drainage systems are usually limited to 
those provided alongside public roads. The Council develops 
Catchment Management Plans to help manage development 
and protect environmental resources. 

The Council allocates operating funding and assists with 
resource consents, and technical expertise for private rural 
drainage schemes at Te Arai, Tapora and Glorit. 

Why we are involved
Urban	stormwater	systems	provide	protection	from	flooding	
and help protect the environment. A breakdown in the 
stormwater system can have consequences ranging from 
nuisance	flooding	to	serious	property	damage,	environmental	
damage and safety risks. Due to the unpredictable nature 
of rainfall, coordination and maintenance of stormwater 
systems is essential. In the past stormwater management 
was	focused	on	flood	protection.	It	must	now	also	provide	for	
environmental protection by controlling scour and the transfer 
of silt and contaminants. 

The Water Services Strategy prepared in November 2004 
states the primary goals of the Council’s stormwater  
activity as: 

w	 to ensure that stormwater is controlled and, if necessary, 
treated and then disposed of in order to protect the health 
and safety of the people, land and property 

w	 to maintain the mauri (life supporting capacity) of water 
w	 to	have	efficient	and	effective	stormwater	infrastructure	
w	 to encourage the use of low-impact stormwater 

management practices where practicable. 
This activity also includes identifying risks, and appropriate 
responses to other water related risks such as tidal inundation 
and tsunami. 

Key Focus:
Hydraulic improvements to upper Kumeu River 
and channel clearing to lower Kaipara.
Some weed spraying of the lower Kaipara was completed last 
summer. Improvements to Taupaki Bridge and downstream, 
and constructing the floodway between the SH16 bridge and 
Maddrens in Kumeu has greatly improved river hydraulics and 
reduced the frequency of flooding in those areas.
Complete Integrated Catchment Management 
Plans for Silverdale, Hatfields Orewa west 
catchments and flood hazard maps for the 
Kaukapakapa and Rangitopuni catchments.
Draft CMPs for Silverdale and Hatfields are complete. The 
Orewa West CMP is expected by August 2009. Draft flood 
hazard maps for Kaukapakapa, the Rangitopuni and several 
other areas have been completed.
Implement drainage upgrades, minor works and 
reticulation extensions in township areas on a 
prioritised basis.
A variety of upgrades and extensions have been completed to 
programme.
Improve system performance through improved 
inlets/outlets, erosion protection and urban open 
drain management.
A variety of inlet and open drain clearing works have been 
completed in urban areas.
Cliff outfall and channel erosion monitoring and 
remediation.
The condition of stormwater outfalls on Whangaparaoa and 
Hatfields cliffs has been surveyed and recommendations to 
minimise risk are being programmed. 
Begin construction of the Kumeu floodway.
Stage one of the Kumeu Floodway from the SH16 bridge to 
Maddrens has been completed with footbridge construction 
and additional planting to be carried out in spring 2009.
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How we monitor progress

Level of Service Measure Target Achievement
We will effectively 
discharge and 
manage the 
adverse effects of 
stormwater

Integrated 
Catchment 
Manage-
ment Plans 

We will have collected 
appropriate information 
for all district catchments 
that require a Catchment 
Management Plan by 2009

Ongoing.

We have collected urban and greenfields 
information, but rural information collection has been 
rationalised and aligned to rural development areas 
such as Kaukapakapa and Dairy Flat/Rangitopuni 
catchments.

Flood risk 
improve-
ments

We will monitor selected 
waterways and streams to 
gauge environmental quality 
and organism numbers on a 
two yearly cycle

A third round of freshwater stream sampling was 
completed for 17 sites. Generally, results were 
the same or slightly better than the 2007 round, 
although certain constituents are slightly above 
target guidelines. A copy of the report is available on 
request.

We will not have new 
houses built in the district 
which will be below known 
flood	plain	levels

Ongoing.

Flood plain and inundation information is included 
in Catchment Management Plans and webmap and 
can be accessed by consent processing officers and 
through Land Information Memorandum (LIMs).

We will ensure 
stormwater solutions 
are appropriate to 
their location 

Stormwater 
engineering 
standards 
and guide-
lines

We will review stormwater 
engineering standards and 
guidelines for the District 
to ensure controls are 
maintained on an annual 
basis

The Standards for Engineering Design and 
Construction, incorporating stormwater standards, 
have been reviewed and were approved at the 
Infrastructure and Environment Committee Meeting 
23 April 2009. These are available on the RDC 
website.

http://www.rodney.govt.nz/ 

DistrictTownPlanning/infrastructure/

Pages/StandardsforEngineeringDesign and.aspx

Customer 
satisfaction

We will increase or at 
minimum maintain the level 
of customer satisfaction 
with disposal of storm water 
from streets, public areas 
and residents’ homes. 2008 
result: CSI 61.4%*

5 4 3 2 1

10.1% 36.4% 37.5% 9.7% 6.3%

Due to the change in methodology and the rating 
scale used for this year’s Annual Residents’ Survey 
(as noted on page 19) it is not possible to compare 
previous year’s results directly. It is also not clear-cut 
to state if the targets have been achieved or not 
achieved.

This year’s results provide the opportunity to 
prioritise areas to focus effort for improvement over 
the coming year.

* Source: Annual Residents Survey 2008/09 – refer to ‘Use of Surveys in Reporting Service Performance’ page 19 for explanation of rating scale

Potential for adverse effects

Adverse effect How we will manage adverse effects
Storm or other natural disaster Post-storm	maintenance	regime;	protection	of	overland	flow	paths,	

incorporate design features that are low risk with respect to blockages

Unplanned cost increases Retain open channels to extent possible, conduct robust planning

Sea level rise and climate change Incorporate sensible level of risk into planning

Changing land use Ongoing review of planning and design; identify development related 
projects for contributions
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Achieved Capital Works
WATER SERVICES – WATER SUPPLY
CAPEX Statement for 12 Months to June 2009

ACTUAL BUDGET Reason

$000 $000 Code

DISTRICTWIDE

New Capital Work

Water Supply
Water Modelling 14 8 i
Districtwide Data Project 2 2
Energy	Efficiency	Upgrades 19 19

Total New Capital Work 35 29

TOTAL DISTRICTWIDE 35 29

HIBISCUS COAST

New Capital Work

Water Supply
Reticulation extensions water supply 750 740 i
WS HBC Fire Mains Extensions 16 10 i
Silverdale North to Maire Road reservoir J route – 722 a i
WS Silverdale South Reticulation 36 36 i
Pressure & system loss management water supply 85 85 i
WS HBC Bores /Demand Management 41 28 i
WS Waiwera Pump Station Upgrade & Duplication of Water main 107 108 i
New connections self funded water supply 114 300 a

Total New Capital Work 1,148 2,030

Renewal Capital Work

Water Supply
WS Renewal HBC Headworks 8 9
WS Renewal HBC Pump Stations 4 17
WS Renewal HBC Reservoirs 1 17
WS Renewal HBC Reticulation 411 405
WS Renewal HBC Bulk Meters – –
Meters & connections renewal water supply 151 173

Total Renewal Capital Work 576 620

TOTAL HIBISCUS COAST 1,723 2,650

Group of Activities: Water Services



49RDC making a positive difference

ACTUAL BUDGET Reason

$000 $000 Code

RURAL AND TOWNSHIPS

New Capital Work

Water Supply
WS Project North (Wk portion) – Warkworth/Snells Future Supp 282 279 i
WS Helensville Dams Upgrade 25 29 i
Helensville water supply future supply – project west 340 311 i
WS Helensville WTP Resource Consents 91 54 i
Snells Algies new reservoir 3 3 i
Snells/Algies water supply reticulation upgrades/extensions 203 180 i
WS Snells Algies WTP Resource Consent 33 21 i
WS Warkworth WTP Upgrade 63 52
Warkworth water supply reticulation upgrades / extensions 183 183 i
WS Warkworth WTP Resource Consent 78 69 i
WS Wellsford WTP Resource Consents 42 40 i
Wellsford water supply reticulation upgrades / extensions – 34
New connections water supply 35 79
Hamilton Road WTP Upgrade 16 15 i
WS	RATAC	Backflow	Prevention 19 43 i
Pressure & system loss management water supply 25 43 i
Helensville Chemical Building 38 24 i
Wellsford future water supply 143 143 i
Helensville water supply reticulation upgrades / extensions 21 14
Public Health Risk management Plans 96 50
Water main loop Warkworth 925 1,300 a
Muncaster Rd Water Supply 414 –

Total New Capital Work 3,077 2,966
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Group of Activities: Water Services

ACTUAL BUDGET Reason

$000 $000 Code

Renewal Capital Work

Water Supply
WS Renewal Helensville Treatment Plants 93 65
WS Renewal Helensville Headworks 34 26
WS Renewal Helensville Reticulation 70 72
WS Renewal Helensville Meters & Connections – –
WS Renewal Muriwai Headworks 5 13
WS Renewal Muriwai Treatment Plants 23 13
WS Renewal Muriwai Reservoirs – 1
WS Renewal Muriwai Reticulation 5 7
WS Renewal Muriwai Bulk Meters – 1
WS Renewal Snells/Algies Treatment Plants 7 13
WS Renewal Snells/Algies Reservoirs – –
WS Renewal Snells/Algies Reticulation 78 80
WS Renewal Snells/Algies Bulk Meters – 13
WS Renewal Warkworth Headworks – 3
WS Renewal Warkworth Treatment Plants 49 44
WS Renewal Warkworth Reticulation 72 45
WS Renewal Warkworth Meters & Connections 97 97
WS Renewal Wellsford Headworks 5 2
WS Renewal Wellsford Treatment Plants 110 72
WS Renewal Wellsford Reticulation 82 49
WS Renewal Wellsford Bulk Meters 5 5
WS Renewal Wellsford Meters & Connections 1 1

Total Renewal Capital Work 735 623

TOTAL RURAL AND TOWNSHIPS 3,812 3,589

TOTAL CAPITAL EXPENDITURE 5,570 6,267
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Achieved Capital Works
WATER SERVICES – WASTEWATER
CAPEX Statement for 12 Months to June 2009

ACTUAL BUDGET Reason

$000 $000 Code

DISTRICTWIDE

New Capital Work

Wastewater
District-wide Septage land purchase/implmnt 38 68 i
District-wide wastewater modelling 283 250 i
District-wide wastewater network discharge consents 87 100 a
District-wide	infiltration	inflow	investigations 18 43 a i
District-wide	inflow	modelling	measuring	devices 81 100 i
District-wide asset management plan 12 0

Total New Capital Work 518 561

Renewal Capital Work

Wastewater
District-wide	infiltration	inflow	strategy	implementation 217 245 i
District-wide Waveband Renewal 30 30

Total Renewal Capital Work 247 275

TOTAL DISTRICTWIDE 766 836

HIBISCUS COAST

New Capital Work

Wastewater
Waiwera wastewater treatment plant upgrade 5 0 i
Silverdale, Orewa and Whangaparaoa wastewater reticulation u 58 57 i
Red Beach to Poplar Road Stanmore Bay pipeline wastewater 114 108
Army Bay sludge management consent/land purchase 92 92 i
Army Bay Wstwtr Trment Plnt Rsrce Cnsnt 32 32
Orewa Oxidation Ponds 1 0
Stanmore Bay Gravity Trunk Sewer 64 0

Total New Capital Work 365 290
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Group of Activities: Water Services

ACTUAL BUDGET Reason

$000 $000 Code

Renewal Capital Work

Wastewater
Waiwera wastewater pumping station reactive renewals 10 25
Pumping station reactive renewals wastewater 117 150
Waiwera wastewater reticulation reactive renewals 1 23
Waiwera wastewater treatment plant reactive renewals – 23
Outfall cathodic protection reactive renewal 71 23
Reticulation reactive renewals wastewater 184 140
Army Bay wastewater treatment plant reactive renewals 116 120
HBC Sundown Ave Reticulation Renewal 8 15 i
Waiwera wastewater planned renewals 64 95
Pumping station planned renewals wastewater 599 599
Reticulation planned renewals / upgrades wastewater 426 421
Army Bay wastewater treatment plant planned renewals / upgrade 1,248 980
Waiwera	wastewater	effluent	system	reactive	renewals – 5

Total Renewal Capital Work 2,844 2,620

TOTAL HIBISCUS COAST 3,209 2,910

RURAL AND TOWNSHIPS

New Capital Work

Wastewater
Matakana wastewater treatment plant decommissioning 106 106 i
Matakana Wastewater Treatment Plant Resource Consents 11 11 i
Omaha wastewater treatment plant upgrade 83 83 i
Snells/Algies wastewater strategic review / investigation 55 50 i
Martins Bay wastewater pump station storage 525 360 i
Warkworth wastewater treatment plant upgrade 2,415 2,645 a i
Warkworth/McKinney Valley Strategic Review 35 35
McKinney Valley/Woodcocks LPS trunk 560 546 i
Warkworth Pulham Rd Gravity Wastewater Main Upgrade 106 106 i
Wellsford wastewater treatment plant upgrade Phase 2 2 3 i
Muriwai Wastewater TP Replacement 146 163
Huapai wastewater treatment plant decommissioning 585 646 i
Helensville wastewater treatment plant upgrade 212 212
Helensville Wastewater Treatment Plant Resource Consents 41 41 i
Helensville Wastewater Strategic Review 72 73 i
Snells/Algies Wastewater Treatment Plant Resource Consent 39 43
Point Wells / Matakana Wastewater Scheme 255 255 i
Snells/Algies wastewater treatment plant upgrade 46 47
Warkworth Wastewater Treatment Plant Resource Consents 11 11
Upper Alnwick Street Step System 154 200
Muncaster Rd Wastewater 20 –
Jackson Crescent Wastewater Upgrade 350 350

Total New Capital Work 5,828 5,986
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ACTUAL BUDGET Reason

$000 $000 Code

Renewal Capital Work

Wastewater
Snells Desludging renewal 10 10 i
Snells Outfall Planned Renewals 135 222 a i
CCTV Investigation Helensville 37 75 i
Helensville pumping station reactive renewals 10 25
Matakana pumping station reactive renewals 17 11
Omaha wastewater pumping station reactive renewals 5 12
Snells/Algies wastewater pumping station reactive renewals 18 12
Warkworth pumping station reactive renewals 21 25
Helensville wastewater reticulation reactive renewals 2 6
Helensville wastewater treatment plant reactive renewals 21 10
Huapai wastewater pumping station reactive renewals 2 12
Huapai wastewater reticulation reactive renewals 2 12
Huapai wastewater treatment plant reactive renewals 16 10
Matakana wastewater reticulation reactive renewals 4 12
Omaha wastewater reticulation reactive renewals – 12
Omaha wastewater treatment plant reactive renewals 17 8
Snells/Algies wastewater treatment plant reactive renewals 12 14
Snells/Algies wastewater reticulation reactive renewals 20 18
Warkworth wastewater treatment plant reactive renewals 26 25
Warkworth wastewater reticulation reactive renewals 12 15
Wellsford wastewater treatment plant reactive renewals 8 12
Wellsford wastewater pumping station reactive renewals 17 20
Wellsford wastewater reticulation reactive renewals 3 12
HVL Awaroa Pipe Bridge Replacement 121 119
Snells Cornell Circle PS Renewals 17 89
Wellsford Harrison Street Pipeline Renewal 274 274
Huapai wastewater reticulation / grinders renewals 172 222
Helensville Pumping Station Planned Renewals 87 55
Helensville Reticulation Planned Renewals 8 16
Huapai Treatment Plant Planned Renewals 16 29
Denehurst wastewater treatment plant reactive renewals 3 2
Matakana wastewater treatment plant reactive renewals 51 5
Point Wells wastewater reticulation reactive renewals 1 10
Omaha wastewater treatment plant planned renewals 311 323
Omaha wastewater treatment irrigation reactive renewals 2 10
Snells/Algies wastewater treatment plant planned renewals 90 86
Snells/Algies wastewater reticulation planned renewals 28 20
Snells/Algies	effluent	disposal	reactive	renewals 51 12
Warkworth wastewater treatment plant planned renewals 131 131
Warkworth wastewater reticulation planned renewals / upgrade 575 468
Wellsford wastewater treatment plant planned renewals 26 28

Total Renewal Capital Work 2,379 2,487

TOTAL RURAL AND TOWNSHIPS 8,207 8,473

TOTAL CAPITAL EXPENDITURE 12,692 12,654
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Group of Activities: Water Services

Achieved Capital Works
WATER SERVICES – STORMWATER
CAPEX Statement for 12 Months to June 2009

ACTUAL BUDGET Reason

$000 $000 Code

HIBISCUS COAST

New Capital Work

Stormwater
Stormwater minor capital works 241 240 i
SW Self Help – HBC 16 30 i
SW Cliff Outfalls – HBC 3 3 i
Stormwater reticulation extensions 13 21 i
Stormwater treatment facilities 193 198 i
SW Open Drains Safety – HBC 2 2
SW Erosion Protection – HBC 46 83 i
SW Orewa STM Treatment CBD Sand Filters 14 14 i
SW Orewa Doment Channel Clearing 154 155 i
SW Stanmore Doyly-Brightside drainage upgrades 19 27 i
Stormwater Stanmore Bay wetland 1 27 i
SW Manly Reserve and local Area HBC drainage 52 104 i
Orewa stormwater CBD upgrades (9) –
Silverdale area stormwater improvements 2 2
Red Beach Peninsula Golf Course lakes 8 8
Red	Beach	stormwater	flood	storage	&	networks	improvements 70 68 i
Stanmore Bay Stormwater Upgrade 198 184 i
Riverside Road Stormwater Diversion 28 61 a i
Silverdale North Stormwater Pond A5 land 226 350 a
Silverdale North Stormwater Pond A5 521 1,400 a

Total New Capital Work 1,800 2,975

Renewal Capital Work

Stormwater
SW Ponds Major Rehab – HBC 35 88
Stormwater renewals 209 325 a

Total Renewal Capital Work 244 413

TOTAL HIBISCUS COAST 2,044 3,389
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ACTUAL BUDGET Reason

$000 $000 Code

RURAL AND TOWNSHIPS

New Capital Work

Stormwater
Stormwater minor capital works 205 346 i
SW R&T Self Help 29 30
SW R&T Open Drains Safety Improvement – 1
Erosion protection 7 8
Stream works 68 69 i
Stormwater treatment facilities 29 21 i
SW Kaipara/Awaroa riverbank stabilisation 10 23 i
Kumeu River protection scheme 1,521 1,657 i
SW Omaha System Upgrade – –
Muriwai stormwater disposal 20 38 i
Parakai Stopbanks and Reticulation 64 64 i
Kawau Views Snells Beach SW Upgrade 23 23 i
Warkworth stormwater upgrade 101 162 i
Taupaki stream improvements 645 682 a i
Oraha Road Stormwater Retic- Huapai 129 129 i
Stormwater reticulation extensions 89 100
Wellsford township stormwater upgrades: 42 42
Muncaster Rd Stormwater 22 –
SW Warkworth McKinney Valley 200 200
Replacement of Glorit Floodgate 175 243 a

Total New Capital Work 3,379 3,836

Renewal Capital Work

Stormwater
Stormwater renewals 174 300 a

Total Renewal Capital Work 174 300

TOTAL RURAL AND TOWNSHIPS 3,554 4,136

TOTAL CAPITAL EXPENDITURE STORMWATER 6,498 8,270

TOTAL CAPITAL EXPENDITURE WATER SERVICES 23,349 26,012

To be completed in 2010/proposed carry forward a
Deferred pending further investigation/design work/strategy b
Delayed due to consent issues c
Project approved by Council during year/reallocation of funds d
Allocated to projects once priorities set for year e
Budget is the Annual Plan 2008/09 plus projects carried forward from the previous year. f
Project on hold/pending issues g
Project Savings h
Budget carried forward from previous years i
Budget is the Annual Plan 2008/09 plus projects carried forward from the previous year. j
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Group of Activities: Transportation

Share of Total Expenditure

35% 

Activities in this group:
w	 Transport Planning 

w	 Roading and Streetscape

An	efficient	and	safe	transport	system	facilitates	movement	of	
goods and services and also provides Rodney’s people with 
access to jobs, markets, services and recreation.  
Such a system is essential to Rodney’s economic growth. 

Rodney	is	experiencing	significant	increases	in	volumes	
and	densities	of	traffic.	This	is	driven	in	part	by	the	district’s	
proximity to metropolitan Auckland, resulting in growth in 
recreational	and	commuter	traffic.	Additional	traffic	is	also	
passing through the district on State Highway 1 and 16. 

A key issue for Rodney is that its roading system is 
experiencing	traffic	growth	that	exceeds	the	rate	of	population	
growth.	Without	significant	investment	by	Council	and	the	
New Zealand Transport Agent (NZTA),formerly Transit NZ, this will result in a gradually declining level of service across  
the district.

Contribution to Community Outcomes

Outcomes (as stated in the LTCCP 2006-16) How Transportation contributes

Outcome: A country look and feel
w	 Planning for appropriate infrastructure
Outcome: Contained towns and villages 
w	 Keeping and building on every town’s identity
Outcome: Maintained lifestyles and  
environmental care 
w	 Keeping our outdoor lifestyle accessible
Outcome: Safe and health communities
w	 Ensuring we have good connectivity throughout the district
Outcome: Jobs and opportunity in Rodney 
w	 Developing community transport within and between 

centres and workplaces
Outcome: Locally determined futures 
w	 Speaking up for the people of Rodney

By planning for the provision of a reliable transport network 
to meet business and social needs including alternatives to 
private car use, public transport, walking and cycling.

By providing a reliable roading network to meet needs and 
alternatives as above. 

By providing quality new infrastructure and the proper 
maintenance of existing infrastructure ensuring that assets 
are not consumed faster than they are renewed. 

By protecting, and where possible enhancing the 
environment when carrying out roading work

By	providing	efficient	transportation,	critical	for	 
business development. 

By seeking solutions to Rodney’s transport problems, even  
if they are beyond the Council’s control. 
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Significant Negative Effects
Providing	transportation	services	can	have	significant	negative	effects	on	the	environment	if	not	carefully	managed.	However,	
there	may	also	be	significant	negative	effects	on	the	district’s	community,	environment	and	economy	if	transportation	services	
are	not	provided.	The	potential	for	adverse	effects,	as	related	to	a	specific	activity,	is	identified	within	that	activity.

HIBISCUS COAST RURAL & TOWNSHIPS TOTAL DISTRICT

2008 
Actual

2009 
Plan

2009 
Actual

2008 
Actual

2009 
Plan

2009 
Actual

2008 
Actual

2009 
Plan

2009 
Actual

Transport planning 5 – – 5 – – 10 – –
Roading and Streetscape 13,268 13,868 13,908 27,464 29,983 29,667 40,732 43,851 43,575

Total Operating Expenditure 13,273 13,868 13,908 27,469 29,983 29,667 40,742 43,851 43,575

Operating Revenue:

Revenue & user charges 377 228 355 441 379 423 818 607 778
Grants and subsidies – – – – – 409 – – 409
Petrol Tax 307 396 296 409 387 395 716 783 691
NZ Transport Agency Subsidies 
Operational 1,589 1,501 2,641 4,446 4,415 5,161 6,035 5,916 7,802

NZ Transport Agency Subsidies Capital 3,313 4,562 3,911 12,027 12,606 11,682 15,340 17,168 15,593
Interest Income (3,001) – (2,125) – – – (3,001) – (2,125)
Cash contributions 1,204 1,270 169 2,076 1,193 1,357 3,280 2,463 1,526
Vested asset contributions 1,131 2,895 – 1,142 1,406 1,902 2,273 4,301 1,902
Targeted rates 5,856 7,321 7,317 14,867 18,337 18,358 20,723 25,658 25,675
Gain (Loss) on sale of assets – – 9 20 – 29 20 – 38
Total Operating Revenue 10,776 18,173 12,573 35,428 38,723 39,716 46,204 56,896 52,289

TOTAL OPERATING SURPLUS ( DEFICIT) (2,497) 4,305 (1,335) 7,959 8,740 10,049 5,462 13,045 8,714

Capital Expenditure

New capital works 7,678 10,715 7,640 12,453 12,412 14,354 20,131 23,127 21,994
Renewal capital works 4,321 5,504 5,055 14,313 15,598 14,924 18,634 21,102 19,979

Total Capital Expenditure 11,999 16,219 12,695 26,766 28,010 29,278 38,765 44,229 41,973

Other Funding Requirements

Loan repayments 4,478 622 622 4,858 1,113 1,113 9,336 1,735 1,735
Transfers to general & restricted reserves 752 80 2,017 956 890 – 1,708 970 2,017

Total Funding Requirement 17,229 16,921 15,334 32,580 30,013 30,391 49,809 46,934 45,725

Funds To Be Provided From:

Operating surplus (2,497) 4,305 (1,335) 7,959 8,740 10,049 5,462 13,045 8,714
Asset sales – – – 20 – – 20 – –
Loans raised 9,026 5,065 6,738 10,333 7,513 6,705 19,359 12,578 13,443
Transfers from general & restricted 
reserves 5,400 1,650 4,165 1,980 – 33 7,380 1,650 4,198

Non cash expenses 5,273 5,900 5,765 12,316 13,760 13,602 17,589 19,660 19,367

Total Funds Provided 17,202 16,920 15,333 32,608 30,013 30,389 49,810 46,933 45,722

FUNDING SURPLUS / ( DEFICIT) (27) (1) (1) 28 – (2) 1 (1) (3)
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Activity: Transport Planning
The Council carries out a programme of planning, advocacy 
and negotiation to Council: 

w	 identifies	the	future	mobility	and	transport	needs	of	
Rodney’s communities and predicts the ability of existing 
and planned infrastructure to meet them 

w	 plans for future development of transport network 
infrastructure and services to meet the communities’ needs 

w	 ensures that the capacity and serviceability of the transport 
network are aligned with its plans for development  
and growth 

w	 anticipates	and	acts	to	reduce	the	adverse	effects	of	traffic	
and other transport activities on communities 

w	 advocates for a state highway network which serves the 
mobility and transport needs of Rodney’s communities 
while minimising any adverse effects 

w	 represents the interests of the district in the development of 
national and regional policies for transport and  
transport funding 

w	 ensures that it receives appropriate external funding for 
major new capital projects 

w	 facilitates the provision of public transport services 
w	 promotes initiatives to reduce the overall use of cars for 

personal transport 
w	 maintains portfolios of multiple project options to address 
specific	situations	where	a	‘preferred	option’	is	not	apparent	
or	if	there	is	significant	uncertainty	about	funding.

Why we are involved
The reasons the Council is involved in transport planning are: 

w	 as the provider of a road network (a road controlling 
authority under the Local Government Act 1974), it needs 
to proactively anticipate future needs for development of 
the network and identify appropriate ways of meeting  
those needs 

w	 it is required under the Land Transport Management Act 
2003 to demonstrate that it can show how its infrastructure 
and activities improve access and mobility, assist economic 
development, assist safety and ensure the environmental 
sustainability of communities and therefore needs to 
understand and plan to provide for the district’s needs  
in these areas 

w	 because of the high rates of population growth and land 
development	in	Rodney,	traffic	demand	in	many	parts	of	
the road network is approaching or exceeding the level 
at which levels of service are able to meet community 
expectations. A ‘hands-on’ approach is required to  
manage the balance between demand, capacity  
and community expectations 

w	 it needs to represent the interests of Rodney’s communities 
by	influencing	Transit	New	Zealand	in	the	development	
and management of the state highway network, which can 
be either a cause of, enabler of, or an impediment to local 
growth, or a source of adverse effects on communities 

w	 major transport infrastructure projects typically have a 
long lead-time due to the time required to gain resource 
consents, zoning approvals and funding, purchase property 
and construct the project. It is important that planning for 
such projects is done well ahead of the time at which the 
commissioning of the project becomes critical 

w	 Land	Transport	New	Zealand	(LTNZ)	makes	significant	
subsidy funding available for new capital projects, but 
competition for this funding among competing projects 
and authorities means Rodney needs to maintain a high 
profile	with	the	Auckland	Regional	Transport	Authority	
(ARTA), LTNZ and central government to ensure that the 
importance of its projects is understood and to support the 
success of funding applications 

w	 transportation planning now requires a multi-modal 
approach including roads, walkways, cycleways, rail and 
ferry, together with utilisation of public transport (PT) and 
travel demand management (TDM). Appropriate solutions 
need to be integrated into community planning. 

Group of Activities: Transportation
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Key Focus:
Advance the Penlink project – a proposed 
major arterial roading project directly linking 
Whangaparaoa Peninsula to the Northern 
Motorway at Redvale. Penlink involves three 
elements: 
w	 the 7.4 km Weiti Toll Road between Whangaparaoa Road 

and East Coast Road; 
w	 local access improvements at each end of the Toll Road, 

including a roundabout and widening at Whangaparaoa 
Road, and a second roundabout and realignment with  
East Coast Road; and, 

w	 a new interchange with the Motorway at Redvale.
There are also plans for a walk and cycleway 
between Whangaparaoa and Stillwater.
The	project	has	three	financing	sources:

w	 Government subsidies in the form of potential regional fuel 
tax contributions to be applied to all three elements  
of Penlink

w	 additional	Council	and	developer	financial	contributions	
for the local access improvements and the Redvale 
Interchange

w	 additional private investment for the Weiti Toll Road, 
through contributions by a public private partnership.  
The Toll Road is to be delivered at no cost and minimal risk 
to ratepayers.

Enabling legislation for a Regional Fuel Tax is 
currently before Parliament. With its passage and 
a funding allocation to Penlink, construction could 
start as early as 2009 with a successful public 
private partnership tender.
Category 1 status for the Penlink project has been agreed by 
the Auckland Regional Transport Authority. A value for money 
analysis and capex smoothing programme review has been 
requested by NZTA. The review is to be presented to the 
Board of NZTA in the second quarter 2009/10.
Develop a solution with Transit New Zealand 
to relieve congestion at the State Highway 1 
intersection with Hill Street at Warkworth.
The first stage (Woodcocks and Whitaker Roads) of 
intersection upgrades construction is in progress. ‘Notices 
of Requirement’ for Hill Street intersection have now been 
lodged and those for Hudson Road will follow soon.
Manage the Hibiscus Coast Highway traffic 
corridor once Alpurt B2 is opened.
Construction continues. The job is approximately  
60% complete.

Develop a solution with Transit New Zealand to 
enable the Silverdale North Structure Plan to 
proceed with efficient access to the motorway 
and/or the Hibiscus Coast Highway.
Development work continues, but as noted previously at a 
slower rate than was earlier anticipated.
Extend the school travel planning programme to 
additional schools.
Four schools have worked through the school travel planning 
process. The resulting associated infrastructure and 
education required for 2009/10 has been identified and will be 
implemented during the coming year.
Review the system for financial/development 
contributions including identifying the most 
effective regime to enable the Council to 
recover from developers the costs of providing 
infrastructure capacity which meets increasing 
demand arising from development.
Pre consultation topics were highlighted within the LTCCP 
consultation process and a number of submissions were 
received and considered as part of this process. The Council 
undertook deliberations on submissions and requested a 
number of changes to the policy. The Council adopted the 
amended version as part of the LTCCP 2009-2019.  
The Council also requested that further consultation occur 
with the development community to ensure an ongoing 
relationship is maintained and concerns are able to be raised 
following adoption.
Grand Drive Update and Heavy Vehicle  
Bylaw Review
A decision has been reached by independent Commissioners 
that heavy vehicles are to be allowed to use Grand Drive 
between 7am and 7pm daily, and the designation for the road 
will be amended accordingly once the appeal period for the 
decision has closed. Council will correspondingly amend its 
Bylaw restricting heavy vehicle use on Grand Drive.
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How we monitor progress

Level of Service Measure Target Achievement

We will undertake 
and integrate 
transport and 
land-use planning 
to ensure mobility 
throughout the 
district 

Transport 
models

We will have developed 
transport models for the 
district by June 2009

The model is operative but continues to be updated 
as further information comes to hand or there is 
a need to analyse some specific proposition. The 
model will be continuously updated and improved.

Maximum 
Funding 
Potential 

We will submit applications 
which are eligible for 
funding under the Auckland 
Regional Transport Authority 
programme by due date 

Application for funding the list of projects eligible 
was submitted within timeframes and $22.389 million 
was received.

We will encourage 
alternatives to 
private car use 

Strategies 
and plans

We will adopt the cycleway 
and walkway strategies by 
December 2009

The Walking and Cycling for Sustainable Transport 
Strategy was adopted in September 2007. This 
included an action plan. 

During the 2008/09 year the Orewa West walkway/
cycleway (1.6km), Shelly Beach Road cycleway 
(0.6km), and Oaia Road footpath were implemented. 
Progress has been slow due to funding constraints.

Travel plans At least four more schools 
in Rodney are implementing 
travel plans each year to 
contribute	to	traffic	safety	
around schools

School Travel Plans were developed for five schools 
in the Rodney District between July 2008 and June 
2009.

These schools were Matakana Primary School, 
Snells Beach Primary School, Huapai District 
School, Warkworth Primary School and Mahurangi 
College.

Public trans-
port

We will work with others 
to identify public transport 
options around the district

Liaison with ARTA and NZTA continued on various 
issues including the potential designation of a bus 
lane corridor from Albany to Silverdale. 

Prime responsibility for public transport rests with 
ARTA.

Travel by 
sea

We will continue to pursue 
and advocate for options 
regarding public transport 
travel by sea

A continuous process but no changes to status quo 
during 2008/09.

We will gather data 
to better understand 
and inform transport 
planning 

Congestion 
studies 

We will undertake 
congestion studies for 
identified	areas

Some physical works implemented and designs 
advanced for improvements to intersections at 
Warkworth in association with NZTA. Analysis of 
potential pressure points in the Kumeu/Huapai area 
under analysis.

Group of Activities: Transportation
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Activity: Roading and Streetscape
The Council plans for, provides, maintains and improves the 
local road network, including bridges, footpaths, bus shelters, 
streetlights, and associated items such as signs, markings, 
traffic	islands,	traffic	lights	and	guard	rails.	Road	safety	
education is included under ‘Safety’. 
Why we are involved
The Council aims to provide an integrated, safe, responsive 
and sustainable land transport system as a fundamental 
requirement for the district. As the road controlling authority 
under the Local Government Act 1974 the Council is 
responsible for all local roads in Rodney. 

The road and associated features are also a very visible 
aspect of the landscape and public amenity, particularly 
around shopping areas.

Key Focus:
6.5 km of seal extensions to rural roads (assuming 
subsidies are received).
Seal extensions to Whakapirau Road, Pakiri Road, Matakana 
Valley Road, Run Road, Wellsford Valley Road, and Weranui 
Road have been completed.
Pavement strengthening highly trafficked unsealed 
roads by additional aggregate.
Armouring treatment to strengthen road surfaces through 
applying additional aggregate have been completed 
throughtout the district on 25km of our unsealed network.  
This includes Hunter Road, Horseshoe Bush Road, 
McLachlan Road, Ararimu Valley Road, Wilson Road South 
Head, Haruru Road, Makarau Road, Tahekaroa Road,  
Kanohi Road, Muriwai Valley Road, Ngarewa Road  
and Worker Road.
Improvement of road alignment, intersections, 
pedestrian crossings, signs, streetlights and 
delineation to improve safety. 
Ongoing low cost safety improvement schemes are continuing 
throughout the year, including these key focus projects.  
Crash Reduction Study currently being undertaken district 
wide which will formulate a programme of works for 2009/10.
Safety improvements to  
Coatesville-Riverhead Highway. 
Resurfacing between Mahoenui Valley Road and  
Sunnyside Road to improve surface texture has been 
completed. The felling of pine trees on the bend west of 
Sunnyside is due for 2009/10. A vehicle activated bend 
warning sign was installed February 09 on same bend 
eastbound. Riverhead gateway treatment now completed, 
although awaiting planting. 2009/10 major surfacing scheme 
is in the design phase.
Replacing three bridges at Anderson,  
Dyers and Pearmans.
Completed.
Amenity improvements at Mahurangi East Rd.
Completed.
Construction of a roundabout at  
Silverdale St/ Wainui Rd intersection.
Work has been postponed until at least 2012.
Establish the location, obtain funding from ARTA 
and secure land for stage one of a Park and Ride 
at Silverdale.
The Report on Park and Ride – HBC and Western Rodney 
Study has been adopted by the Council. Some $12 million 
has been provided in the LTCCP 2009-2019 for the purchase 
of land and the construction of a Park and Ride at Silverdale. 
An application for financial assistance for construction of 
the Park and Ride has been submitted to ARTA/NZTA. 
Negotiations with the vendors for purchase of the property at 
the highest ranked option location are in progress.
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Group of Activities: Transportation

How we monitor progress

Level of Service Measure Target Achievement
We will manage and 
maintain existing 
roading assets 
within budgetary 
restraints 

Existing as-
set quality 

We will ensure that the 
average roughness of all 
sealed roads is beneath 107 
annually, as per the National 
Australian Association of 
State Road Authorities 
standard 

98.7

NAASRA = National Australian of State Road 
Authorities. Count indicators are: up to 80 = Good, 
81-120 = Fair, over 120 = Poor.

At least 60% of Rodney 
residents	are	satisfied	with	
roads in the district annually 

The Annual Residents Survey asked only about 
overall road maintenance (see results below).

We will plan and 
implement roading 
infrastructure 
within sustainable 
budgetary limits

Quality of 
new infra-
structure 

We will ensure that all 
new roading infrastructure 
built complies completely 
with adopted engineering 
standards 

As built checking system in place to ensure that 
asset data is correct at the time it is passed into 
Council’s GIS system.

At least 50% public 
satisfaction with the 
maintenance of road 
surfaces around the district 
each year* 

5 4 3 2 1

4.3% 39.7% 24.6% 21.9% 9.5%

Due to the change in methodology and the rating 
scale used for this year’s Annual Residents’ Survey 
(as noted on page 19) it is not possible to compare 
previous year’s results directly. It is also not clear-cut 
to state if the targets have been achieved or not 
achieved.

This year’s results provide the opportunity to 
prioritise areas to focus effort for improvement over 
the coming year.

We will improve the 
safety of the road 
network 

Safety pro-
grammes

There will be less than 44 
crashes per 100 million 
vehicle kilometres travelled 
(vkt) on local roads annually 

28.6

This calculation includes the total number of crashes 
on RDC local roads for the 2008 calendar year. 

Calculation: 166 (injury crashes) divided by 5.81 
(100 million vkt).

We will work towards 
implementing the safety 
management system 
annually

SMS is being rewritten rather than being reviewed. 
 A report is due back September 2009.

* Source: Annual Residents Survey 2008/09 – refer to ‘Use of Surveys in Reporting Service Performance’ page 19 for explanation of rating scale
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Potential for adverse effects

Adverse effect How we will manage adverse effects
Death or injury of road users w	 Ensure road geometry, condition, speed limits and signage are appropriate

w	 Work closely with the NZ Police re enforcement

Excessive noise in neighbouring properties w	 Install noise barriers where appropriate
w	 Limit the use of exhaust brakes
w	 Restrict	the	access	of	heavy	vehicles	to	specified	roads	during	specified	

times  
of the day

w	 Use asphaltic concrete hot-mix on busy roads in residential areas

Dust from unsealed roads w	 Grading, compaction and application of surface binders to reduce dust  
where practical

Contamination of stormwater discharged 
from road surfaces

w	 Use	of	riparian	filters	and	settlement	ponds	for	run-off	from	roads
w	 Limit the lime and clay content of aggregate applied to unsealed roads

Economic cost of road congestion w	 Monitor and predict congestion planning to alleviate it where appropriate, 
through increasing capacity, adding new assets or reducing demand

Dissection of communities by road corridors w	 Carry out consultation for upgrading projects relating to existing or new  
arterial routes

w	 Pay	attention	to	traffic	calming	and	to	environmental	design	possibilities

Air pollution from vehicle emissions w	 Minimise congestion on road network through asset provision and 
upgrades, and maintenance work

Global warming potential of  
vehicle emissions

w	 Ensure	that	an	emission	cost	is	included	in	fuel	cost	used	for	benefit-cost	
analysis for new projects

Environmental degradation from road 
construction or upgrading works

w	 Minimise degradation / seek enhancement of the environment from road 
upgrading and construction works

Travel delays caused by road construction 
or upgrading works

w	 Develop	and	implement	effective	traffic	management	plans

The amount of fossil fuels consumed by the 
vehicles that use the roads

w	 Provide and promote the use of infrastructure for alternative modes of 
transport: buses, trains, ferries, walking and cycling

w	 Limit public parking facilities in town centres and offset by increased and 
improved public transport services and facilities

w	 School and other travel planning

The impacts of forest harvesting or of 
excessive heavy vehicle use on local roads

w	 Enter into individual agreements with the larger forestry companies re 
road use

w	 Require forestry companies to pay for excessive damage
w	 Levying the property rates on a differential basis having regard to the 

comparative impact of the various types of land use on the roads
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Achieved Capital Works
TRANSPORTATION SERVICES
CAPEX Statement for 12 Months to June 2009

ACTUAL BUDGET Reason

$000 $000 Code

DISTRICTWIDE

New Capital Work

Roading and Streetscape

Network and asset management
DW Asset Management 722 330
Forward Planning & design 735 384
DW Transportation Studies 173 188

Non Subsidised
Roading Plans-In-Drawer (52) – i

Total New Capital Work 1,578 903

Renewal Capital Work

Total Renewal Capital Work – –

TOTAL DISTRICTWIDE 1,578 903

HIBISCUS COAST

New Capital Work

Roading and Streetscape

Bus and ferry infrastructure
Park and ride Silverdale 109 2,381 a

Drainage renewals
Road outlet environmental discharge 21 22
Swann Beach Road kerb & channel 65 65

Minor improvements
Minor safety projects 405 390
Crash reduction implementation 270 279
Minor safety – enabling 245 248
Intersection Improvements and Widening projects 237 269 i
Minor safety Projects – To be allocated from results of CRS 2 –

Network and asset management
Strategy studies general 55 33
Forward planning & design general 8 –

Non Subsidised
Penlink – Whangaparaoa Rd Widening Inv & Design 197 177 i
Urban Upgrade – Fairhaven Walk 312 –
Local	area	traffic	management	projects 33 50
TMU’s Variable Message Strategy HBC share 315 227 i
Consultants and Consents costs 59 29
Bus shelter cnstrctn/upgrade HBC 61 50
Leigh Road upgrade 185 185
Whangaparaoa Town Centre upgrade 205 250

Group of Activities: Transportation
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ACTUAL BUDGET Reason

$000 $000 Code

Other Projects
Silverdale Parkway Stage 4 9 – i
Whangaparaoa Access – General 420 2,000 a i
Peninsula Access Studies local share 145 139 i
Penlink Property Purchases 100 – i
Penlink – Tender Marketing and Research 171 582 a i
Vector 33kv east and west undergrounding 130 146 h
Traffic	counts	–	upgrade	projects 34 50
Alpurt B2 – Orewa calming 2,494 1,835
Duck Creek footpath 163 134
Transport Node Land Purchases – HBC 35 –

Pedestrian facilities
School travel plan infrastructure 435 315
Bus Shelter Silverdale 30 46
Footpath Opposite Silverdale Rugby Club – 53

Preventive works
Slip Repair Wainui Road 93 80
Slip Repair Whangaparaoa Road, Hobbs Bay 286 295

Road reconstruction
Wainui Rd Silverdale street Intersection 124 260

Road studies
Traffic	corridor	planning 142 241 a i
Crash reduction study 19 15

Strategy studies
Penlink (SH1 Redvale Interchange) investigation 94 199 a i

Total New Capital Work 7,708 11,045
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ACTUAL BUDGET Reason

$000 $000 Code

Renewal Capital Work

Roading and Streetscape

Non Subsidised
General vehicle crossings 24 23
General footpath renewals 323 309

Other Projects
Area-wide pavement treatment programme 117 500 a
PT Infrastructure Upgrade HBC Highway 102 100
Orewa Boulevard Pavement 400 400

Pavement rehabilitation
Area-wide pavement treatment unsealed renewals 337 279
Area-wide pavement treatment sealed renewals 1,263 1,197

Preventive works
General slip repairs 93 299 i

Road reconstruction
Pavement Smoothing Renewal HBC 650 400 i

Sealed pavement maintenance
General pre-seal repairs 339 324

Sealed road resurfacing
General maintenance chip seal 752 762
General hotmix asphaltic concrete 538 578

Traffic services maintenance
Streetlight renewals 56 50

Traffic services renewals
General street furniture renewals 61 57

Total Renewal Capital Work 5,055 5,279

TOTAL HIBISCUS COAST 12,764 16,324

Group of Activities: Transportation
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ACTUAL BUDGET Reason

$000 $000 Code

RURAL AND TOWNSHIPS

New Capital Work

Roading and Streetscape

Bridge Renewals
Bridge Upgrade Waitakere No 1 (Waitakere Rd) 11 252 a i
Bridge replacement – Anderson’s No 2 330 300
Bridge replacement – Dyers 183 200
Bridge replacement – Pearmans 406 450

Drainage renewals
RT Road Outlet Enviro Discharge 77 77

Minor improvements
Minor safety projects 81 72
Crash reduction implementation 780 703
Minor safety – enabling 536 523
Kerbside Safety ramps (to be allocated) 5 –
Minor Safety – Enabling 1 –

Network and asset management
WW Western Collector Strategy Study 23 380 a i
RT Strategy studies general 53 11 j
Matakana	Road	traffic	strategy 35 50

Non Subsidised
Local	area	traffic	management	projects 94 86 j
TMU’s Variable Message Strategy R&T share 78 97 j
RT Travel plans 2 –
Woodcocks Road Widening & Urban Upgrade (1 km) 700 700
Bus shelter construction / upgrade 10-year programme 69 50

Other Projects
Kumeu-Huapai Mainstreet Streetscape 4 – j
Matakana Rdbt Land Purchase 1 –
R&T Warkworth Land Use & Travel Demand S – 6 j
Road land purchases 31 100
Traffic	counts	–	upgrade	projects 12 55
Matua	Road/SH16	traffic	signals – 200
Creek Lane Helensville 128 135
Matakana Village Upgrade Design and Consultation 10 100 a 
Foster Road Culvert – 250
Oaia Road walkway / cycleway 99 100
Warin Place upgrade 45 45
Coatesville Riverhead footpath 15 20
Dawson Road upgrade 396 409
Muncaster Rd/Mahurangi East Rd upgrade 138 –

Pedestrian facilities
School travel plan infrastructure 373 428 i
Walkway Waitoki School 21 21
Walkway – Shelly Beach Road 267 267
Walkway – Matakana 8 40
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ACTUAL BUDGET Reason

$000 $000 Code

Preventive works
Blackbridge Road Slip Repair – preventative mtce 245 189
Preventative Maintenance Forestry Road Slip 43 50
Run Road Slip 195 195
Puhoi Road Slip 165 166

Road reconstruction
Sandspit Road Safety Improvements 2 – i
Warkworth SH1 Intersection Improvements 1,378 1,285 i
Coatesville-Riverhead Highway improvement / realignment 427 535
Mahurangi East Safety Improvements 519 500

Road studies
Crash reduction study 46 35

Seal extension
Seal Extension Pakiri Rd 506 486
Seal Extension Matakana Valley Road 351 351
Whakpirau Rd* 557 581
Run Road (5447-6980) 566 520
Wellsford Valley Road (150 – 1160) 391 394
Weranui Road (12850-13850) 384 365

Structures component replacements
RT Bridge Heavy Maintenance Upgrade 534 520

System Use Studies
Nrthn/Wstn Ward Transportation Plan Model – 25 i

Traffic management
Stock	Effluent	Disposal	Facility	Wellsford 233 250

Total New Capital Work 11,553 12,574

Renewal Capital Work

Roading and Streetscape

Non Subsidised
General vehicle crossings 24 23
General footpath renewals 217 229

Pavement rehabilitation
General bridge approaches 211 223
General unsealed smoothing 782 780
Area-wide pavement treatment general 7,077 6,780
General maintenance seal 1,025 1,114
Forestry roads – to be assigned from annual programme 493 557

Preventive works
General slip repairs 197 65 i
Sandspit Road Slip 322 295
Puhoi/Wayby Slip Repair 188 195

Road reconstruction
Pavement Smoothing – R&T -To be allocated 79 634 i

Group of Activities: Transportation
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ACTUAL BUDGET Reason

$000 $000 Code

Sealed pavement maintenance
General pre-seal repairs 1,107 1,082

Sealed road resurfacing
General maintenance chip seal 1,774 1,703
General hotmix asphaltic concrete 238 216

Traffic services maintenance
Streetlight renewals 29 50

Traffic services renewals
General street furniture renewals 30 33

Unsealed road metalling
General heavy metal armouring 1,132 1,144

Total Renewal Capital Work 18,446 18,615

TOTAL RURAL AND TOWNSHIPS 28,223 29,469

TOTAL CAPITAL EXPENDITURE 40,818 44,923

To be completed in 2010/proposed carry forward a
Deferred pending further investigation/design work/strategy b
Delayed due to consent issues c
Project approved by Council during year/reallocation of funds d
Allocated to projects once priorities set for year e
Budget is the Annual Plan 2008/09 plus projects carried forward from the previous year. f
Project on hold/pending issues g
Project Savings h
Budget carried forward from previous years i
Budget is the Annual Plan 2008/09 plus projects carried forward from the previous year. j
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Group of Activities: Waste Management

Share of Total Expenditure

3% 

Activities in this group:
w	 Waste Management

w	 Landfills

The protection of public health and the environment are 
key objectives of this group of activities and are statutory 
obligations	that	the	Council	must	fulfill.	The	Council’s	Zero	
Waste Plan provides a systematic approach to how these 
objectives can be achieved. 

Contribution to Community Outcomes

Outcomes (as stated in the LTCCP 2006-16) How Waste Management contributes

Outcome: Maintained lifestyles and  
environmental care 
w	 Being involved in looking after this place
Outcome: Safe and healthy communities 
w	 Keeping Rodney safe

By	providing	efficient	waste	management	that	protects	public	
health and the environment. 

By	ensuring	that	landfill	management	and	after	care	
minimises the potential for adverse environmental effects 
from	landfills.
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Significant Negative Effects
Failure	to	comply	with	regulatory	requirements	could	lead	to	prosecution.	If	the	Council	does	not	manage	landfills	there	are	
potential negative environmental effects from uncontrolled leachate escaping into the surrounding environment and from 
exposed refuse creating a hazard to people and leading to a loss of amenity. The potential for adverse effects, as related to a 
specific	activity,	is	identified	within	that	activity.

HIBISCUS COAST RURAL & TOWNSHIPS TOTAL DISTRICT

2008 
Actual

2009 
Plan

2009 
Actual

2008 
Actual

2009 
Plan

2009 
Actual

2008 
Actual

2009 
Plan

2009 
Actual

Waste Management 1,060 1,141 1,127 1,418 1,489 1,492 2,478 2,630 2,619
Landfills 59 43 1,511 92 96 2,015 151 139 3,526

Total Operating Expenditure 1,119 1,184 2,638 1,510 1,585 3,507 2,629 2,769 6,145

Operating Revenue:
Revenue & user charges 67 14 17 81 14 18 148 28 35
Interest Income – – – 8 – 5 8 – 5
General rates 1,042 1,171 1,138 1,429 1,570 1,522 2,471 2,741 2,660

Total Operating Revenue 1,109 1,185 1,155 1,518 1,584 1,545 2,627 2,769 2,700

TOTAL OPERATING SURPLUS ( DEFICIT) (10) 1 (1,483) 8 (1) (1,962) (2) – (3,445)

Capital Expenditure
New capital works 23 26 36 27 62 42 50 88 78
Renewal capital works 25 27 27 32 40 40 57 67 67

Total Capital Expenditure 48 53 63 59 102 82 107 155 145

Other Funding Requirements
Loan repayments 6 – 1 15 – 2 21 – 3
Transfers to general & restricted reserves 1 2 16 11 8 39 12 10 55

Total Funding Requirement 55 55 80 85 110 123 140 165 203

Funds To Be Provided From:
Operating surplus (10) 1 (1,483) 8 (1) (1,962) (2) – (3,445)
Loans raised 27 28 36 40 78 42 67 106 78
Transfers from general & restricted 
reserves 12 – 1,483 2 – 1,967 14 – 3,450

Non cash expenses 26 28 21 35 34 29 61 62 50

Total Funds Provided 55 57 57 85 111 76 140 168 133

FUNDING SURPLUS / ( DEFICIT) – 2 (23) – 1 (47) – 3 (70)
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Activity: Waste Management
The Local Government Act 2002 requires every local authority 
to adopt a waste management plan, covering: 

w	 collecting and disposing of household and commercial 
waste	to	controlled	landfill	

w	 reducing	the	volume	of	material	disposed	of	to	landfill.
Under the waste management plan, the Council primarily 
performs a regulatory function, requiring licenses for private 
refuse operators who provide a collection service to individual 
households. This collection service is based on the household 
purchase of branded rubbish bags or contracted servicing of 
wheelie bins. Council also monitors waste collections from 
a public health perspective. Waste operators must also, as 
a requirement of their licences, report to the Council on the 
quantities of waste they handle. 

Research shows that the majority of Rodney’s residents 
support recycling. The Council therefore adopted a Zero 
Waste Plan in 2002. Kerbside recycling was started in August 
2003, and since then the community has diverted more than 
67,000	tonnes	of	waste	from	landfill	to	recycling.	The	Council	
also supports various recycling facilities, some of which are 
run by community organisations.
Why we are involved
The Council carries out its waste management function to 
protect public health and the environment. The Council is 
committed	to	reducing	the	amount	of	waste	going	to	landfill,	
and considers this to be a key environmental objective. 
Details of the activities the Council is involved in are 
contained in its Zero Waste Plan. 

The Council also has statutory responsibilities under the 
Local Government Act 2002 and Health Act 1956 , and is 
responsible for administering the Litter Act 1979 in the district.

Key Focus:
Continue composting and worm farm education.
“Create your Own Eden” workshops were held in Coatesville 
(with a focus on Bokashi), Mahurangi Community Centre, 
Warkworth Masonic Hall and two at the Orewa Community 
Centre. “Create Your Own Eden” Drop in Advice Centres” 
were held at The Warehouse in Snells Beach and Mitre 10 
Warkworth. In total approx 970 people have attended 13 
workshops/advice centres this year. Council’s Environmental 
Education Officer also visited Orewa North Primary School to 
talk about and provide funding for a worm farm.
Continue reporting of waste tonnage by waste 
operators.
Reporting on waste tonnages collected, transported and 
disposed of in Rodney is being undertaken by waste 
operators through Waste Licensing.
Enhance the internal council waste minimisation 
programme.
No further progress.
Investigate kerbside recycling of  
organic (food) waste.
An “Organic Waste Working Group” has been formed by 
the Councils of the Auckland region. RDC are contributing 
towards a report investigating options for the recycling of food 
waste in the Auckland region. A report is at final draft stage.
Continue to implement the actions proposed by 
the Zero Waste Plan.
This work is ongoing. A review of the Plan in conjunction with 
the creation of an Activity/Asset Management Plan to be done 
2009/10.
Continue education programmes as a long-term 
solution to waste minimisation and management.
Initiatives included:

w	 a visit to Stella Maris School to talk to classes about waste 
minimisation and recycling

w	 waste minimisation and recycling teaching and learning 
resources have been provided to Orewa North Primary 
School and Snells Beach School

w	 a visit to Coatesville School years 5 and 6 classes with 
presentations about sustainability issues 

w	 WasteWise Schools presentations made to staff at 
Stanmore Bay School and Kingsway School

w	 assisted with the establishment of student enviro-groups 
focusing on waste at Stanmore Bay School and  
Kingsway School

w	 anti fishing-litter stickers were created and distributed
w	 “Be a Tidy Kiwi” campaign (aimed at visitors) promoted via 

Lake Tomarata Community Group
w	 a ‘litter-less lunch’ article was written for the WasteWise 

Schools Newsletter.

Group of Activities: Waste Management
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How we monitor progress

Level of Service Measure Target Achievement
We will ensure 
regular and 
consistent refuse 
removal throughout 
the district

Coverage All areas of the district will 
have regular domestic 
rubbish removal services 
organised

All areas of the district have regular domestic 
rubbish removal services organised. This is provided 
by licensed private waste operators.

Manage-
ment and 
monitoring 
of waste 
operator 
licence 

Complaints concerning 
domestic rubbish collection 
will be responded to within 
48 hours by contractor 

Unable to measure. All complaints received by 
Council concerning rubbish collection are passed 
onto the relevant waste operator promptly for action. 
Council continues to work with the waste operators 
to ensure an efficient and effective service is 
provided and that Waste Licence conditions are met.

We will work 
towards reducing 
waste with the aim 
of zero waste to 
landfills	

Effective 
recycling

We will promote at least 
two initiatives per year that 
encourage the community to 
recycle 

Achieved. A wider range of plastic items can now be 
collected in the blue residential recycle bins. A list of 
eligible items is promoted through the RDC website, 
along with leaflets distributed through service 
centres and to new residents.

A survey was undertaken to gauge opinion on the 
possible introduction of wheelie bins for recycling, 
however this will not go ahead due to the cost as 
well as some concerns as to the suitability for  
rural residents.

As mentioned under “Public education”, 13 “Create 
your own Eden” workshops which cover composting 
and worm farming were held across the district.

At least 25% of waste in 
the district is diverted from 
landfill	through	recycling	
annually

Unable to measure. Inconsistent reporting from 
Waste Operators has meant incomplete data on 
Rodney’s total tonnages to landfill. Recycling 
tonnages for the year were 13,000 tonnes.

Public edu-
cation 

We will hold at least 10 free 
public courses on waste 
minimisation annually

“13 Create Your Own Eden” workshops were held on 
composting and worm farming across the district. 

This year the style of the workshops was broadened 
to include stalls at the A&P shows. 

In total approximately 970 people attended the 
workshops.

We will work with the 
Auckland Regional Council 
on initiatives to educate the 
public on waste reduction

We have continued to work with the ARC sharing 
and producing educational resources as part of  
the “Waste Education Across the Auckland  
Region” forum. 

Two schools have joined the WasteWise Schools 
programme this year; Stanmore Bay and  
Kingsway Schools.

A 2% decrease in the 
amount of waste per capita 
generated will be achieved 
by 2009, from the baseline 
levels established in 2007

Unable to measure. As mentioned above, 
inconsistent reporting from Waste Operators has 
meant accurate figures on Rodney’s total tonnages 
are not available.

Zero Waste 
Plan Imple-
mentation

We will work with three 
businesses to implement the 
Enviro-Smart programme 

Not achieved. No Rodney businesses participated 
this year, due to this national programme being 
under review.

A new regional programme is to be implemented 
next year and will be available for Rodney 
businesses to participate.



74 GROUPS OF ACTIVIT IES

Potential for adverse effects

Adverse effect How we will manage adverse effects
Recycling collectors leaving refuse on the 
streets, causing loss of amenity and safety 
issues e.g. smashed glass.

The Council ensures contractors collect all waste and undertakes regular 
performance audits.

Inappropriate funding policy spreads the 
cost of the activity across properties as 
opposed to a ‘user pays’ system.

The Council is pursuing user pays systems such as the trade waste levy, but 
it	recognizes	this	is	extremely	difficult	for	kerbside	recycling.

Activity: Landfills
The	Council	looks	after	21	of	the	29	closed	landfills	on	Rodney’s	closed	landfill	register.	The	remaining	eight	closed	landfills	are	
not owned by RDC and the management responsibility of these does not lie with the Council. 

The	Council	manages	closed	landfills	to	comply	with	regulatory	requirements,	for	example,	by	ensuring	that	appropriate	
resource consents are obtained, and all required environmental monitoring and maintenance is carried out. By doing this, the 
Council	aims	to	minimise	the	potential	for	adverse	environmental	effects	from	closed	landfills.	

The	Council	does	not	own	any	operational	sanitary	landfills	within	the	district.	However,	a	major	commercial	landfill	is	 
located at Redvale.

Why we are involved
The	Council	is	required	by	legislation	to	ensure	that	the	landfills	in	its	control	have	all	necessary	resource	consents	and	that	any	
leachate or other discharges are effectively managed.

Key Focus:
Installing monitoring bores at the Whangaparaoa landfill site.
Probable location identified, now awaiting budget availability.
Obtain resource consents for unconsented landfills.
There has been one consent obtained. Further applications are pending available budget.

How we monitor progress

Level of Service Measure Target Achievement
We will manage and 
monitor	landfills	to	
minimise adverse 
environmental 
effects 

Landfill	
Manage-
ment 

We will prepare strategies 
to implement options for 
remedial	landfill	sites

No changes in current landuse. An option 
was investigated for using the remainder of a 
Whangaparaoa Rd site for commercial/business and 
this was deemed acceptable.

We	will	complete	the	landfill	
monitoring report required 
by Auckland Regional 
Council every six-months 

Achieved. Reports provided to ARC January 2009, 
pending for August 2009.

We will undertake an annual 
inspection of all closed 
landfills	with	“Permitted	
Activity” status

95% achieved. All closed landfill sites investigated 
except Kawau Island. 

Potential for adverse effects

Adverse effect How we will manage adverse effects
Potential environmental effects from 
uncontrolled leachate escaping into the 
environment and from exposed refuse 
creating a hazard to people and leading to 
loss of amenity.

Managing	closed	landfills	to	comply	with	regulatory	requirements,	including	
ensuring that appropriate resource consents are obtained and all required 
environmental monitoring and maintenance is carried out.

Group of Activities: Waste Management
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Achieved Capital Works
WASTE MANAGEMENT
CAPEX Statement for 12 Months to June 2009

ACTUAL BUDGET Reason

$000 $000 Code

HIBISCUS COAST

New Capital Work

Waste Management
Kerbside recycling bins – new 11 11
Public litter bins – new 25 26

Total New Capital Work 36 37

Renewal Capital Work

Waste Management
Kerbside recycling bins – replacement 9 9
Public litter bins – replacement 18 18

Total Renewal Capital Work 27 27

TOTAL HIBISCUS COAST 63 63

RURAL AND TOWNSHIPS

New Capital Work

Waste Management
Kerbside recycling bins – new 9 9
Kerbside recycling bins – new 9 9
Public litter bins – new 15 15
Public litter bins – new 9 9
Landfills – 20 a

Total New Capital Work 42 62

Renewal Capital Work

Waste Management
Kerbside recycling bins – replacement 7 7
Kerbside recycling bins – replacement 7 7
Public litter bins – replacement 18 18
Public litter bins – replacement 8 8

Total Renewal Capital Work 40 40

TOTAL RURAL AND TOWNSHIPS 81 101

TOTAL CAPITAL EXPENDITURE 144 165

To be completed in 2010/proposed carry forward a
Deferred pending further investigation/design work/strategy b
Delayed due to consent issues c
Project approved by Council during year/reallocation of funds d
Allocated to projects once priorities set for year e
Budget is the Annual Plan 2008/09 plus projects carried forward from the previous year. f
Project on hold/pending issues g
Project Savings h
Budget carried forward from previous years i
Budget is the Annual Plan 2008/09 plus projects carried forward from the previous year. j
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Group of Activities: Regulation

Share of Total Expenditure

8% 

Activities in this group:
w	 Resource Consents and Monitoring

w	 Building Consents

w	 Health and Licensing

w	 Bylaws

w	 Animal Control

Rodney’s environment, whether natural or built, is a key 
reason that people like living in the district. It is part of the 
lifestyle that Rodney’s people choose. Also, people have said 
through Vision Rodney that they want the Council to look after 
and improve the environment and ensure the well-being of 
people. Regulating certain activities and upholding standards 
is one way the Council goes about environmental care. 

Contribution to Community Outcomes

Outcomes (as stated in the LTCCP 2006-16) How Regulation contributes

Outcome: A country look and feel
w	 Developing systems and tools to keep Rodney’s open 

country feel
Outcome: Maintained lifestyles and  
environmental care 
w	 Being involved in looking after this place
Outcome: Safe and healthy communities 
w	 Keeping Rodney safe

By regulating the sustainable and orderly development in 
the district so that adverse effects on the environment are 
mitigated and the natural environment protected. 

By ensuring property owners have certainty about the type 
of development they can expect in their neighbourhood. 

By managing a regulatory checking and monitoring regime 
so that buildings are safe and meet minimum standards 
expected by legislation, regulations and the community. 

By preventing air and noise pollution, monitoring the quality 
of recreational waters, monitoring public water supplies, and 
monitoring the health and safety standards of premises that 
sell food and liquor. 

By developing bylaws that enable the Council to respond 
to or mitigate the impact of nuisances that adversely affect 
Rodney’s	lifestyles,	including	litter	and	graffiti.	

By ensuring public places are able to be used safely by: 

w	 providing beach patrols that help manage beach activities 
for	the	benefit	of	recreational	users.

w	 ensuring prompt attention to abandoned cars and  
fire	hazards.

w	 responding to incidents involving wandering dogs  
and stock.

w	 ensuring owners are encouraged to care for and  
properly control their dogs. 
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Significant negative effects

Adverse effect How we will manage adverse effects
Weather tightness buildings defects Monitor building consents and inspect new dwellings to ensure that buildings 

meet standards to protect public health and safety and, in relation to new 
dwellings, to protect the investment that individuals and families make  
in their homes.

HIBISCUS COAST RURAL & TOWNSHIPS TOTAL DISTRICT

2008 
Actual

2009 
Plan

2009 
Actual

2008 
Actual

2009 
Plan

2009 
Actual

2008 
Actual

2009 
Plan

2009 
Actual

Resource Consents and Monitoring 3,029 2,809 3,073 4,056 3,723 4,074 7,085 6,532 7,147
Building Consents 3,204 3,182 3,286 4,252 4,218 4,355 7,456 7,400 7,641
Health and Licensing 390 408 489 520 541 648 910 949 1,137
Bylaws 297 300 334 396 398 442 693 698 776
Animal Control 435 468 439 580 621 582 1,015 1,089 1,021

Total Operating Expenditure 7,355 7,167 7,621 9,804 9,501 10,101 17,159 16,668 17,722

Operating Revenue:
Revenue & user charges 5,145 5,817 5,168 6,820 7,710 6,851 11,965 13,527 12,019
Grants and subsidies – – 26 – – 34 – – 60
Interest Income 9 – 12 12 – 16 21 – 28
General rates 2,466 1,393 2,483 3,272 1,847 3,236 5,738 3,240 5,719

Total Operating Revenue 7,620 7,210 7,689 10,104 9,557 10,137 17,724 16,767 17,826

TOTAL OPERATING SURPLUS ( DEFICIT) 265 43 68 300 56 36 565 99 104

Capital Expenditure
New capital works 46 – 520 61 – 690 107 – 1,210
Renewal capital works 29 23 17 39 30 22 68 53 39

Total Capital Expenditure 75 23 537 100 30 712 175 53 1,249

Other Funding Requirements
Transfers to general & restricted reserves 213 45 12 284 58 16 497 103 28

Total Funding Requirement 288 68 549 384 88 728 672 156 1,277

Funds To Be Provided From:
Operating	surplus	/	(deficit) 265 43 68 300 56 36 565 99 104
Loans raised 45 23 376 61 31 499 106 54 875
Transfers from general & restricted reserves – – 85 – – 113 – – 198

Total Funds Provided 310 66 529 361 87 648 671 153 1,177

FUNDING SURPLUS / ( DEFICIT) 22 (2) (20) (23) (1) (80) (1) (3) (100)



78 GROUPS OF ACTIVIT IES

Activity: Resource Consents and 
Monitoring
The Council controls the effects of land and coastal 
development by assessing resource consents to ensure that 
activities are consistent with the District Plan. Development is 
monitored for compliance. 

The Council also issues some coastal and air discharge 
permits under a transfer of powers from the Auckland 
Regional Council.
Why we are involved
The Council is responsible for safeguarding Rodney’s natural 
resources, the health and safety of the community, and 
the quality of places where people live and work. This is a 
statutory responsibility under the Resource Management Act 
1991. The consenting process is also a tool that the Council 
uses to achieve desirable outcomes for communities in 
terms of not only environmental, but also social, cultural and 
economic well being.

Group of Activities: Regulation

Key Focus:
Work closely with customers, through the case 
management of applications, to find collaborative 
solutions to developments and achieve high  
quality outcomes.
Case Management has successfully been promoted as an 
integrated process with Building Consents, particularly within 
the “Yellow Tree House project”.
Audit the quality of resource consent assessments 
and monitoring.
Next audit is due to commence at the end of July 2009.
Continue to measure customer satisfaction with 
the resource consent service and act on feedback.
Value proposition work is underway in order to improve 
processes and efficiencies following customer  
feedback survey.
Ensure that development is of a high quality 
consistent with environmental outcomes set out in 
the District Plan.
696 consents were monitored for the months of April, May 
and June 2009.
Case manage and integrate council advice  
during the assessment of significant resource 
consent applications and pro-actively monitor  
their implementation.
Case management successfully introduced into  
Building Consents.
Communicate regularly with key customers.
Valued Client evenings were held for Consents customers in 
March and April 2009.
Endeavour to ensure that the decisions of our 
hearings panels are upheld by the Environment 
Court and, where appropriate, seek resolution  
by mediation.
The majority of appeals continue to be resolved by mediation.
Continue to streamline processes to meet  
service levels.
A fast track minor consents process has been introduced to 
Building Consents. Work is now underway investigating the 
potential to fast track certain restricted discretionary consents.
Continue to integrate and measure the 
effectiveness of district plan rules, resource 
consent assessments and compliance.
Regular meetings set up between Policy and Consents 
Departments including a revised format for the integrated 
planning meeting to concentrate on District Plan and 
consenting issues. A buddy system is also to be introduced 
pairing resource consent planners and policy planners.
Deal efficiently with resource consent applications 
for development growth.
92.8% of applications completed within time. The average 
time to grant being 19 days.
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How we monitor progress

Level of Service Measure Target Achievement
We will provide 
knowledgeable, 
informed, and 
consistent 
information and 
advice

Customer 
satisfaction 
with qual-
ity of advice 
given 

10% increase in public 
satisfaction with resource 
consents advice received 
from initial baseline 
established in 2007 to be 
achieved by June 2009

Not possible to evaluate measure since an 
alternative survey was undertaken by Incisive  
as part of the Customer Service Value  
Proposition exercise. 

An improvement programme is in progress as a 
result of the report.

Pro-active 
communica-
tion with 
customer 
segments 
and other 
role players 

Information to assist our 
regular customers will be 
communicated to them at 
least twice per year 

Valued Client evenings were held on 17 March  
and 30 April 2009 during which process 
improvements were outlined. 

We will ensure that 
all applications 
are	efficiently	and	
professionally 
processed 

Statutory 
processing 
require-
ments

We will meet all statutory 
requirements regarding 
the processing of resource 
consent applications 100% 
of the time 

Not Achieved. 92.8% of applications were 
processed within their statutory timeframes. This is a 
considerable improvement on previous years.

2008 84%

2007 79%

Targeted 
auditing of 
resource 
consents 
quality 

2% of current resource 
consents issued will be 
audited annually, with at 
least 95% meeting quality 
standards 

Not Achieved. 89% (17 out of 19 audited met quality 
standards)

2008 73%

2007 70%

We will proactively 
collaborate with 
developers and 
others towards 
achieving 
environmental 
outcomes

Developer 
commitment 
to outcomes 

We will work with developers 
to encourage appropriate 
outcomes across the district. 

New process implemented of Building Consent/
Resource Consent Case Management, to integrate 
Council’s services.

Activity: Building Consents
The	Council	provides	land	and	project	information	relating	to	building	requirements	and	issues	building	consents	and	certificates	
stating that buildings comply with consents and the New Zealand Building Code. 

The	Council	also	checks	that	certain	buildings	have	a	current	warrant	of	fitness	certificate,	that	dangerous	or	unsanitary	
buildings are brought up to standard, and that swimming pools are appropriately fenced. 

The Council maintains land information records and makes land information memorandums (LIMs) available when clients want 
information about a property, usually when they wish to purchase it.
Why we are involved
The Council is required by the Building Act 2004 and the Local Government Act 2002 to carry out its building consent and 
monitoring activities. It must ensure that buildings meet minimum standards to protect public health and safety and, in relation 
to new dwellings, to protect the investment that individuals and families make in their homes. The Building Act and the Local 
Government	Official	Information	and	Meetings	Act	1987	also	require	the	Council	to	maintain	building	and	land	information	
records. The Council must provide all relevant information relating to proposed building projects, or the land,  
upon request or application.

Key Focus:
Continue to train staff to maintain accreditation as a building consent authority under the  
Building Act 2004.
Council is participating in a trial to assess the competency of a staff member in relation to a diploma developed by  
Otago Polytech and Local Government New Zealand (LGNZ).
All building consent processes meet the statutory requirements with focus now on business  
excellence objectives.
The Building Consents team are in the process of implementing required process improvements identified in the April 2009 audit 
carried out by International Accreditation New Zealand (IANZ).
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How we monitor progress

Level of Service Measure Target Achievement
We will provide 
knowledgeable, 
informed and 
consistent 
information

Customer 
satisfaction 
with qual-
ity of advice 
given

10% increase in customer 
satisfaction with building 
(development) control 
advice received from initial 
baseline established in 
2006, to be achieved by 
2009.

Achieved an 18.6% increase.

CSI 68.6%

Source: Building Consents Service Customer Survey 
2008/09 undertaken by International Research 
Consultants.

Care should be taken in interpretation of results due 
to small sample size (n=79)

2007/08 CSI 50%

We will ensure that 
all applications 
are	efficiently	and	
professionally 
processed

Statutory 
processing 
require-
ments 

We will meet all statutory 
requirements regarding 
the processing of building 
consent applications 100% 
of the time

Not Achieved.

98%

2008 96%

2007 90%

We will undertake 
rigorous monitoring 
of building consents 
and take appropriate 
action as needed 

Code Com-
pliance 

We will have 100% of Code 
of	Compliance	certificates	
for Bldg Consents which 
have been issued prior to 
31 March 2004 signed off by 
October 2009

This has not been possible as Council can not 
demand that consent holders apply for a Code of 
Compliance Certificate.

Code Compliance 
Certificates	issued	after	31	
March 2004 will be dealt 
with in compliance with the 
time limits in the Building 
Act 2004 

Achieved 85% within 20 working days (statutory time 
limit).

We will ensure 
buildings remain 
safe and sanitary 
for the public and 
home owners to the 
extent required by 
the Building Act

Building 
Warrant 
of Fitness 
(WOF)

We will audit (on site) at 
least 15% of all building 
Warrant of Fitness 
certificates	awarded	in	a	
year annually

Achieved 16%

Number of Building WOF Certificates as at 1st July 
2008: 609 (plus 14 ‘on hold’), total 623. 

100 on-site audits were carried out.

Policy on 
earthquake 
risk 

We will implement the policy 
on earthquake risk buildings 

The policy for Earthquake-Prone, Dangerous and 
Insanitary Buildings 2006-2011 is being implemented 
as stated in section 1.12 “Priorities” of that policy.

Activity: Health and Licensing
The	Council	promotes	and	protects	community	health.	Specific	activities	include:	

w	 licensing all commercial food premises and inspecting them to make sure they comply with food hygiene standards 
w	 licensing and inspecting all premises where liquor is sold, and certifying all managers of such premises 
w	 responding to customer complaints about food and liquor premises 
w	 testing public water supplies to ensure they comply with standards for drinking water 
w	 testing water quality at beaches, lakes and public pool facilities to ensure there is no health risk to recreational users 
w	 controlling noise and air quality.
Why we are involved
The Council is required to promote and protect community health by legislation including the Health Act 1956, Sale of Liquor Act 
1989, Food Hygiene Regulations 1974, the Resource Management Act 1991 and Rodney District Council General Bylaw 1998.

Key Focus:
Work towards increasing the percentage of food premises with an “A” grade.
Currently 84% of food premises in the district hold an “A” grade. This is well in excess of the Annual Plan target of 60%.
Promote responsible use of alcohol.
The education of licensees and managers during inspections is ongoing. Two “Controlled Purchase” Operations involving 14 
premises were carried out in conjunction with the Police, which resulted in two illegal sales.

Group of Activities: Regulation
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Monitor public water supplies.
Raw water at the source is sampled and tested throughout the year as required to meet NZ Drinking Water Standards 
(DWSNZ) and to allow any significant changes to be made to the treatment process as necessary. Key quality parameters are 
continuously monitored as water enters the Treatment Plants that will automatically control the process, and shut the plant down 
if required.

Treated water leaving the plant is continuously monitored and tested as per DWSNZ with key quality parameters monitored 
and alarmed twenty four hours, seven days a week. Any significant deviations will shut the plant down. Daily reports are 
automatically generated and emailed to relevant RDC staff summarising all key water quality parameters over past 24 hour 
production period at individual treatment plants.

Programmed sampling and testing is carried out throughout the various water distribution systems as required to meet DWSNZ. 
This totals 21 Auckland District Health Board (ADHB) approved distribution sample sites district wide.

How we monitor progress

Level of Service Measure Target Achievement
We will protect 
public health within 
the parameters 
of our statutory 
responsibilities 

Licensing 
and inspec-
tion

We will maintain annual 
customer satisfaction with 
the licensing and inspection 
service of at least 80% 

Not available

Satisfaction survey to be undertaken October 2009 
with results expected to be available December 
2009.

2007/08 CSI 83.9%

60% of food premises at 
June	2009	will	have	an	“A”	
grade	certificate

84%

2008 79%

2007 69% 

Response to 
complaints 

90% of environmental 
health complaints will be 
responded to within 3 
working days

Not Achieved. 

84%

Notice by the contractor that they could no longer 
provide a telephone answering service for after 
hours service from 31 July 2008 meant that an 
alternative solution had to be found in August 2008. 
The use of two separate contractors has caused 
delays in response times which have proved to be 
unsatisfactory.  RDC are moving to a new single 
point of service contract from 3 November 09 and 
expect this will have a positive impact on service and 
response times.

2008 97%

2007 98%

We will ensure an ‘after 
hours’ noise control service 
is available from 5pm to 
8am during the working 
week and at all times during 
weekends

After hours noise control service contracted out to 
Metropolitan Security.

Contractor performed satisfactorily – no penalties 
imposed.

5% increase in user 
satisfaction with the 
after hours noise control 
response from the initial 
baseline established in 2007 
to be achieved by 2009

Not available

Satisfaction survey to be undertaken October 2009 
with results expected to be available December 
2009.

2007 CSI 65.2%

Beach water 
quality 

We will monitor beach water 
quality during the summer 
season in compliance 
with the Microbiological 
Water Quality Guidelines 
for Marine, Freshwater 
and Recreational Areas, at 
selected Rodney beaches

Several years of testing have shown that Rodney’s 
beaches are free from pollution and the public can 
be confident that they are safe for swimming. The 
Council decided there is no need to continue the 
SafeSwim testing programme.
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Level of Service Measure Target Achievement
We will promote 
public health to 
achieve desirable 
health outcomes

Health edu-
cation and 
promotion 

We will publish annual 
newsletters to promote 
health education amongst 
food premise and sale of 
liquor operators within the 
district 

Quarterly newsletters distributed to food premise 
operators in conjunction with the NZ Food Safety 
Authority and the Auckland Regional Public Health 
Service.

A newsletter was sent to Liquor Licensees in 
December 2008 reminding operators of their trading 
requirements and host responsibilities over the 
festive season.

Health grad-
ing 

Up to date information on 
food premise gradings will 
be available through the 
website 

Gradings updated monthly and available on RDC 
Website at www.rodney.govt.nz

Public 
service and 
advice 

We will undertake two health 
promotions each year on 
good public health practices 

The New Zealand Food Safety Authority (NZFSA) 
has initiated a Voluntary Implementation Programme 
(VIP) of Off-The-Peg Food Control Plans (OTP-FCP) 
for the food service sector which includes premises 
that prepare and serve food such as restaurants and 
takeaways. It is anticipated that over the next five 
years all food premises will be required to have a 
food control plan as part of the proposed Food Bill.

Food operators who register their Food Control 
Plan with their council are exempt from the Food 
Hygiene Regulations 1974 as their Food Control 
Plan sets the rules for their business. Local 
council environmental health officers (EHO’s) are 
responsible for ensuring the operator’s Food Control 
Plan is appropriate for their business and that it is 
being followed.

Autumn and Winter NZFSA Newsletters forwarded 
to operators.

Activity: Bylaws
The Council uses bylaws and relevant legislation to protect 
the community from the adverse effects of nuisances and 
activities in public and private places. It has more than 20 
bylaws managed across a number of departments. A 24-
hour service operates to respond to emergency and safety 
situations.
Bylaws	deal	specifically	with:	
w	 abandoned vehicles
w	 graffiti	
w	 fire	hazards	
w	 stock control 
w	 parking
w	 trade waste 
w	 water supply
w	 dog control 
w	 litter 
w	 general bylaws (e.g. use of public places, parking on 

roadsides).
Why we are involved
The Council is required by legislation to protect the quality 
of the environment – the natural environment as well as the 
circumstances and surroundings in which people go about 
their daily lives. This is achieved through the application of the 
Rodney	District	General	Bylaw	1998	and	specific	legislation	
such as the Litter Act 1979, Resource Management Act 1991, 
Forest and Rural Fires Act 1977, Local Government Act 2002, 
Transport Act 1962 and Land Transport Act 1998.

Key Focus:
The Council completed a review of its bylaws 
through 2006-2008. It will however continue 
to monitor issues and be responsive to the 
community should bylaws prove to be required to 
address issues.
Wider traffic control (including Pay and Display) bylaw 
consulted on under provisions of LGA 2002. Hearings held 
and final decision on bylaw made.

Group of Activities: Regulation
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How we monitor progress

Level of Service Measure Target Achievement
We will manage 
undesirable effects 
on communities 
through effective 
bylaws and their 
enforcement 

Bylaw devel-
opment 

We will work with other 
councils to coordinate bylaw 
development across the 
Auckland Region 

A Bylaw Steering Group is in existence but meetings 
are not regular or frequent. Generally, as bylaw 
reviews have progressed, each TLA has developed 
in-house expertise and the group only meet as 
required.

Enforcement 
of general 
bylaws 

We will achieve customer 
satisfaction of at least 90% 
with enforcement of bylaws, 
by those who initiate a bylaw 
service request

Not available. A survey will be completed in- house 
in the 2008/09 financial year.

2007 75%

Surveys conducted every 2 years

We will respond to 95% 
of bylaw customer service 
requests within 2 working 
days 

96%

2008 99%

2007 97%

Activity: Animal Control
The Council ensures that dogs do not become a danger or nuisance in the community, and provides for the recreational needs 
of dogs and their owners. It also keeps roads and public places free of wandering stock and provides a pound to hold stock.
Why we are involved
The Council has statutory responsibilities under the Dog Control Act 1996 and the Impounding Act 1955. It operates a 24-hour 
service to deal with emergency situations.

Key Focus:
Developing a purpose built animal pound, possibly with provision also for a stock pound.
The new Northern Animal Shelter at Silverdale has been completed and was opened for use 20 July 2009. This project is a joint 
venture with the North Shore City Council.
Pursuing further opportunities for general education of both dog owners and non-owners.
We have experienced a small delay in the completion of the programme, however it should be operational by October 2009.
We will ensure that dogs in Rodney are well cared for and do not cause a nuisance to the public.  
We will continue current levels of service.
Current level of service maintained.
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How we monitor progress

Level of Service Measure Target Achievement
We will provide 
timely dog and stock 
control services 
across the district

Response to 
requests for 
service 

We will ensure a 24 hour 
service is available to 
respond to dog and stock 
control concerns around the 
district 

Service available 24 hours, seven days a week to 
deal with urgent requests for service.

We will respond to 95% 
of dog and stock related 
customer service requests 
within two days 

96%

2008 95% 

2007 93%

A satisfaction level of at 
least 75% with service 
received is maintained 
with customers who initiate 
service requests 

Not available. A survey will be undertaken in the 
2009/10 financial year.

2008 CSI 71%

We will promote 
responsible dog 
ownership 

Dog owner 
education

At least 25% of dogs owners 
have	“Selected	Dog	Owner”	
status annually 

36%

2008 35%

2007 34%

We will promote the 
benefits	of	responsible	dog	
ownership via an annual 
newsletter to dog owners 

The annual “Doggy Days” newsletter to dog owners 
was published and distributed June 2009.

100% of other dog owners 
(non-Selected Dog Owner) 
visited annually 

Prior to April 2008 officers would visit all known 
dog owners in the district as part of our property 
visit programme. From April 2008 this changed to 
a programme of targeted property visits, visiting 
properties and areas where we had dog issues.  
The three parts to this programme were;

1. sending dog packs to all new dog owners (and 
asking if they wished to have a visit from an 
animal control officer to cover such things as care 
and control of their dog) 

2. monitoring specific customer requests from the 
previous month, e.g. officers visited all properties 
where dogs had been reported wandering, being 
aggressive etc and 

3. officers would visit areas in the district (where 
there were specific problems) in a series of 
random property visits.

These were designed to focus on poor dog 
ownership or areas where officers had experienced 
specific problems.

Enforcement 95% of dog or stock 
prosecutions successful or 
mediated annually 

100%

Group of Activities: Regulation
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Achieved Capital Works
REGULATORY SERVICES
CAPEX Statement for 12 Months to June 2009

ACTUAL BUDGET Reason

$000 $000 Code

DISTRICTWIDE

New Capital Work

Animal Control
Northern Animal shelter 1,210 1,293 i

Total New Capital Work 1,210 1,293

Renewal Capital Work

Resource Consents and Monitoring
Digital data capture 36 60 h

Environmental health equipment replacement 3 13

Total Renewal Capital Work 39 73

TOTAL DISTRICTWIDE 1,249 1,365

TOTAL CAPITAL EXPENDITURE 1,249 1,365

To be completed in 2010/proposed carry forward a
Deferred pending further investigation/design work/strategy b
Delayed due to consent issues c
Project approved by Council during year/reallocation of funds d
Allocated to projects once priorities set for year e
Budget is the Annual Plan 2008/09 plus projects carried forward from the previous year. f
Project on hold/pending issues g
Project Savings h
Budget carried forward from previous years i
Budget is the Annual Plan 2008/09 plus projects carried forward from the previous year. j
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Group of Activities: Economic Development

Share of Total Expenditure

1% 

Activities in this group:
w	 Economic Planning

w	 Economic Advocacy and Facilitation

The Council promotes the economic wellbeing of communities 
and	this	specifically	includes	promoting	opportunities	to	
increase the number of local jobs for local people.  
It therefore aims to have an understanding of economies 
and the dynamics of the market place that underpin its 
strategic activities and planning. The Council also works with 
the business sector to understand its needs, and aims to 
accommodate these needs in a sustainable manner.  
The Council works with central and regional government 
agencies to promote Rodney’s economic interests. 

Contribution to Community Outcomes

Outcomes (as stated in the LTCCP 2006-16) How Economic Development contributes

Outcome: Jobs and opportunity in Rodney
w	 Providing a well developed education framework 
w	 Placing special emphasis on new workplaces 
w	 Developing community transport within and between 

centres and work places 
w	 Creating opportunities for skill development 
w	 Ensuring that people have a choice in how they  

make their living

By planning for the economic development of the district 
to help make Rodney’s towns and villages viable and 
contribute to business growth and development so that 
people are able to make their living in Rodney.

By encouraging appropriate investment and economic 
development that helps to retain and enhance the ‘points of 
difference’ of Rodney’s distinctive and contained towns and 
villages in the context of the district and the Auckland region.

By facilitating and advocating for the district’s needs for 
appropriate and sustainable economic development in local, 
regional and national economic forums.

By monitoring and reviewing economic development  
in the district. 
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Significant negative effects
No	significant	negative	effects	have	been	identified	for	economic	development	activities	providing	they	are	aligned	to	other	
strategic directions such as Vision Rodney.

HIBISCUS COAST RURAL & TOWNSHIPS TOTAL DISTRICT

2008 
Actual

2009 
Plan

2009 
Actual

2008 
Actual

2009 
Plan

2009 
Actual

2008 
Actual

2009 
Plan

2009 
Actual

Economic Planning 25 13 21 33 17 28 58 30 49
Economic Advocacy and Facilitation 663 743 736 667 644 733 1,330 1,387 1,469

Total Operating Expenditure 688 756 757 700 661 761 1,388 1,417 1,518

Operating Revenue:
Revenue & user charges 53 23 17 70 31 24 123 54 41
Targeted rates 135 139 138 – – – 135 139 138
General rates 393 486 495 487 487 595 880 973 1,090

Total Operating Revenue 581 648 650 557 518 619 1,138 1,166 1,269

TOTAL OPERATING SURPLUS ( DEFICIT) (107) (108) (107) (143) (143) (142) (250) (251) (249)

Capital Expenditure
New capital works 19 9 – 26 11 – 45 20 –
Renewal capital works 1 – 4 2 – 5 3 – 9

Total Capital Expenditure 20 9 4 28 11 5 48 20 9

Total Funding Requirement 20 9 4 28 11 5 48 20 9

Funds To Be Provided From:
Operating	surplus	/	(deficit) (107) (108) (107) (143) (143) (142) (250) (251) (249)
Loans raised 18 9 – 25 11 – 43 20 –
Transfers from general & restricted 
reserves 107 108 107 143 142 143 250 250 250

Non cash expenses 1 – 4 2 – 5 3 – 9

Total Funds Provided 19 9 4 27 10 6 46 19 10

FUNDING SURPLUS / ( DEFICIT) (1) – – (1) (1) 1 (2) (1) 1
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Activity: Economic Planning
The Council’s strategic activities and planning are based on 
an understanding of local, regional and national economies 
and the dynamics and workings of the marketplace. This 
includes understanding business needs, motivations and 
issues. To this end the Council undertakes: 

w	 an annual survey of business land use trends and business 
types, including business activities in rural areas in Rodney 

w	 research to understand what drives Rodney’s economy 
and analysis of town centre development and Rodney’s 
employment and skill needs 

w	 strategic planning around issues that have a long term 
impact on the local economy such as energy and future 
energy sources 

w	 dialogue with the business sector.
Why we are involved
Promoting sustainable development which includes the 
economic wellbeing of communities is a requirement of the 
Local Government Act 2002. Also, Rodney’s communities 
have told the Council through Vision Rodney that they want to 
be able to work in the district.

Adequate planning for business growth, understanding 
business needs and facilitating business growth are 
needed to make this happen. Having a sound and up-to-
date knowledge of businesses’ needs and issues and an 
understanding	of	the	micro	and	macro	markets	influencing	
Rodney’s development are also needed by the Council for its 
strategic, regulatory and expenditure/investment activities.

Key Focus:
Contribute to and assist with necessary district 
plan changes to ensure an adequate supply of 
business/industrial land. This includes ensuring 
that an appropriate regional policy and regulatory 
framework exists to allow supply of business/
industrial land as soon as possible.
Work on the Silverdale West Structure Plan continued, with 
comments received on the “Constraints and Opportunities 
report”. Work on two options has progressed including 
economic assessment of the likely options.
Work with the ARC and neighbouring councils to 
ensure an adequate supply of industrial/business 
land in the district.
RDC involvement in Regional Business Land  
Strategy continued.
Collect and publish economic and labour market 
trends for the district.
In June 2009, two economic reports were commissioned and 
published for the Rodney District: “Profile of Rodney District 
and Key Sectors”; and “Rodney District Geospatial Analysis”.
Participate in regional initiatives such as those 
associated with the Auckland Regional Economic 
Development Forum.
Regular attendance at regional forums continued throughout 
2009. Active member of regional projects associated 
with Rugby World Cup 2011, Broadband, Creative and 
Aquaculture Industries.
Host business forums that draw the business 
sector to Rodney to help share and develop 
opportunities for economic development.
Rodney Economic Development Trust (REDT) developed a 
detailed “recession response plan”. This includes increased 
business training and networking sessions. Rodney and  
North Shore Business Mentors networking evenings were 
held twice in 2009.

Group of Activities: Economic Development
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How we monitor progress

Level of Service Measure Target Achievement
We will undertake 
research and 
monitoring to 
enable us to 
make appropriate 
decisions about 
local economic 
development

Economic 
Research 
Programme 

We will undertake an annual 
programme of economic 
research about the district, 
including a business land-
use survey 

Two economic research reports were published 
in June 2009: Profile of Rodney District and Key 
Sectors; and Rodney District Geospatial Analysis. 

Rodney District Council also contributed to the 
production of an Auckland Region economic study 
that produced the report “Economic Futures for the 
Auckland Region”.

Site specific business land reporting was undertaken 
including Kumeu, Silverdale, Wellsford and 
Warkworth.

Information 
is available 

We will produce in 
consultation with the REDT 
the ‘Rodney Business and 
Economy’ newsletter twice 
a year and make it available 
via the website 

Public communication relating to economic and 
business issues, has been undertaken on a project 
by project basis, rather than the proposed twice 
yearly option.

The REDT and the Council have regularly 
contributed to the Rodney Times, Hibiscus and 
Northern Matters and Times FM.

Key areas of information include: Rugby World Cup 
(RWC) 2011; Broadband; Recession Response and 
Business Support; Tourism and Aquaculture.

We will ensure publication 
of the annual business land-
use survey 

The Council invested in a dedicated Planner 
resource to focus on business land issues. This has 
resulted in greater understanding of the business 
land capacity, needs and future provision strategy. 

Site specific business land reporting was undertaken 
including Kumeu, Silverdale, Wellsford and 
Warkworth.

We will enable an annual 
business sector event 
to discuss the business 
information needs of the 
district.

Rodney Economic Development Trust and 
Enterprise North Shore held two Business Mentors 
recognition evenings.

The Council along with other partners facilitated a 
Community Hui in Wellsford to discuss a response to 
the closure of Irwin Industries’ factory. 

Sector meetings have been held for Tourism, 
Creative and Aquaculture industry clusters.
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Activity:  
Economic Advocacy and Facilitation
A robust and sustainable local economy underpins Rodney’s 
quality of life. While the Council is just one of many players 
in Rodney’s economy, it enables economic development and 
growth by: 

w	 providing political leadership 
w	 developing or facilitating physical and social infrastructure, 

which enables economic development 
w	 advocating in local, regional and national fora to ensure 

economic opportunities for Rodney are recognised 
w	 facilitating economic development opportunities, or 

identifying funding sources to assist economic development 
w	 promoting and marketing the district, its economic 

opportunities and the goals of its communities 
w	 providing Rodney based economic research and analysis 
w	 understanding the relationship between employment, 

transport, residential growth and educational opportunities.
In 2002, the Council completed a strategy for the future 
direction and development of Rodney’s local economy, and 
has been working with the Rodney Economic Development 
Trust and others to implement it. 

The Council has established a service contract with the 
Rodney Economic Development Trust. The Trust’s role is 
to facilitate economic development in Rodney. The service 
contract, which is designed to help deliver the district’s 
economy strategy and other economic development 
initiatives, highlights the need for mutual effort and co-
operation between all parties to maximise economic 
development opportunities in Rodney. The substance of this 
relationship	is	defined	in	more	detail	in	the	Council’s	contract	
with the Trust. 

The Council intends to continue its contractual arrangements 
with the Trust in the foreseeable future and the Trust’s 
performance will be regularly monitored.
Why we are involved
Promoting sustainable development which includes 
the economic wellbeing of communities is one of the 
requirements of local government. A robust and sustainable 
local economy is an important element of Rodney people’s 
quality of life. Communities have also told the Council, 
through Vision Rodney, that they wish to be able to work 
within the district and they want a range of employment 
opportunities to meet the needs of local people. By increasing 
the opportunities for people to both live and work in the 
district, the Council aims to decrease the likelihood of the 
district becoming a dormitory suburb of Auckland.  
This will also decrease negative impacts on the region’s 
transport network.

Key Focus:
Assist in gaining funding for development 
initiatives.
REDT and RDC received $80,000 funding from Ministry for 
the Environment to lead an Aquaculture assessment project 
for the Auckland Region.
Support access to funding opportunities for the 
development of the Concept Entry Rodney project.
Concept Entry Rodney proposal refinement and presentation 
advanced according to project brief and animation  
nearing completion.

Support the co-ordination of tourism development 
in the district.
New tourism and event activities are coordinated by RDC’s 
Marketing and Major Events Advisor. This includes Hospitality 
Awards and RWC 2011 engagement.
Develop and maintain a business land-use analysis 
package, with up to date information on available 
business land and matters that influence the 
business operating environment in the district.
A draft Business Land Strategy is being prepared to collate 
business land information into a single source.
Initiate a Rodney district brand management and 
marketing strategy.
There has been successful development and implementation 
of a new Helensville brand. Other marketing initiatives are 
underway, including partnering with Tourism Auckland to 
achieve wider promotional exposure.
Review and continuation of the implementation 
of the Rodney Employment and Employability 
Strategy.
A review of the Employment Strategy was completed in 
January 2009. We are now awaiting new funding streams to 
continue with programme implementation.
Support development of a competitive district-wide 
broadband infrastructure, including provision of 
the widest possible range of broadband services to 
Rodney communities.
In November 2008 the Government announced a proposal 
to centrally fund a national broadband initiative. Rodney 
District is expected to benefit from this investment and RDC is 
working with partners and government to clarify the details.

High level review of the Living Vision for 
Rodney’s Economy – Rodney District 
Economic Development Strategy.
A three year Economic Development and Implementation 
Plan was published in June 2009.
Attract businesses and economic activity that 
contribute to sustainable development.
RDC focused on creating suitable business land to 
accommodate new businesses. Rodney Economic 
Development Trust focused on supporting existing businesses 
in the slower economic period.
Improve processes and procedures and remove 
avoidable obstacles to business.
Streamlining of processes is underway.
Whenuapai Airport – support development of 
a commercial airport operation at Whenuapai 
airbase through continued advocacy – investigate 
preparation of an integrated land use and 
transportation strategy to capture/retain 
business land benefits and economic  
development opportunities for Rodney  
from the airport development.
The Government has announced a White Paper Review of 
its Defence operations, including the use of public private 
partnerships as a funding source for development of airport 
operations. Council is working with Infratil Ltd., its partner 
in Northwest Auckland Airport Ltd., to develop a proposal to 
provide airport services through the Whenuapai airbase.  
The services would be provided solely to the Air Force in 
the short to medium term, but do provide an opportunity for 
economic growth for Western Rodney.

Group of Activities: Economic Development
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How we monitor progress

Level of Service Measure Target Achievement
We will advocate 
and facilitate to 
achieve appropriate 
economic 
development for the 
district 

Achieve-
ment of 
projects 

We will continue to improve 
processes and increase 
measured public satisfaction 
levels

Not surveyed in 2008/09

We will seek out 
and work with 
others to achieve 
and maintain 
positive economic 
development

Service lev-
els agree-
ments

We will have a contractual 
relationship with a service 
delivery agency that 
specifically	contributes	
to the districts’ economic 
development 

The Council and the Rodney Economic 
Development Trust signed a new partnership 
agreement in August 2008. 

A three year Funding and Service level agreement 
was also agreed between the parties in August 
2008. 

The Trust’s annual performance review was 
completed in April 2009 and the Council renewed 
the contract terms which provide security of service 
and funding until 30 June 2011.

Achieved Capital Works
ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT
CAPEX Statement for 12 Months to June 2009

ACTUAL BUDGET Reason

$000 $000 Code

DISTRICTWIDE

New Capital Work

Economic Advocacy and Facilitation

Broadband Pilot Projects – 20 a

Total New Capital Work – 20

Renewal Capital Work

Economic Advocacy and Facilitation

Maintenance, Health & Safety Orewa VIC 9 –

Total Renewal Capital Work 9 –

TOTAL CAPITAL EXPENDITURE 9 20

To be completed in 2010/proposed carry forward a
Deferred pending further investigation/design work/strategy b
Delayed due to consent issues c
Project approved by Council during year/reallocation of funds d
Allocated to projects once priorities set for year e
Budget is the Annual Plan 2008/09 plus projects carried forward from the previous year. f
Project on hold/pending issues g
Project Savings h
Budget carried forward from previous years i
Budget is the Annual Plan 2008/09 plus projects carried forward from the previous year. j
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Group of Activities: Community Support

Activities in this group:
w	 Community Policy and Planning

w	 Arts Facilitation

w	 Community Grants and Levies

w	 Safety

w	 Fire and Emergencies

People have told the Council through Vision Rodney how 
important it is to them to belong to safe, active and caring 
communities. It is a characteristic of life in Rodney that is 
highly valued and that people want the Council to support. 

The Council’s community support activities create and 
maintain community wellbeing by providing for the social and 
cultural needs of communities. 

Contribution to Community Outcomes

Outcomes (as stated in the LTCCP 2006-16) How Community Support contributes

Outcome: Contained towns and villages 
w	 Keeping and building on every town’s identity
Outcome: Maintained lifestyles and environmental 
care 
w	 Keeping our outdoor lifestyle accessible
Outcome: Safe and healthy communities 
w	 Keeping the Rodney volunteer spirit alive 
w	 Keeping Rodney safe 
w	 Developing top class emergency services 
w	 Developing dedicated health and social services 

By developing policies and strategies (including research, 
monitoring and reviewing) that help to improve people’s 
access to advice and information that enhances the 
wellbeing of individuals and communities. 

By working with government and health agencies to reduce 
crime and injury in the community and to ensure Rodney’s 
communities have access to good quality emergency, health 
and social services. 

By developing strategies and programmes that enable 
creative people to live and work in their own communities. 

By encouraging the provision of a range of creative 
opportunities (including public art), that increases a sense of 
community and helps create safe and positive environments. 

By providing grants that: 

w	 subsidise	fencing	of	significant	areas	of	native	bush	and	
the protection and restoration of heritage artefacts 

w	 help keep Rodney’s volunteer spirit alive and assist 
organisations to provide social and community services. 

By working with the community, statutory agencies,  
schools and other organisations to prevent crime and injury 
in Rodney. 

By providing services and training that help communities 
prepare	for	fires	and	emergencies.	

Share of Total Expenditure

3% 
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Significant Negative Effects
No	significant	negative	effects	are	identified	for	the	Council’s	community	support	activities.	The	potential	for	adverse	effects,	as	
related	to	a	specific	activity,	is	identified	within	that	activity.

HIBISCUS COAST RURAL & TOWNSHIPS TOTAL DISTRICT

2008 
Actual

2009 
Plan

2009 
Actual

2008 
Actual

2009 
Plan

2009 
Actual

2008 
Actual

2009 
Plan

2009 
Actual

Community Policy, Planning and Action 59 124 91 83 164 120 142 288 211
Arts Facilitation 85 96 152 120 131 195 205 227 347
Community Grants and Levies 913 1,003 915 1,082 1,246 1,152 1,995 2,249 2,067
Safety 484 515 603 647 683 800 1,131 1,198 1,403
Fire and Emergencies 341 244 277 1,065 1,020 1,058 1,406 1,264 1,335

Total Operating Expenditure 1,882 1,982 2,038 2,997 3,244 3,325 4,879 5,226 5,363

Operating Revenue:
Revenue & user charges 47 25 19 114 133 87 161 158 106
Grants and subsidies 84 56 79 111 74 96 195 130 175
Interest Income 31 – 20 41 – 27 72 – 47
General rates 1,776 1,887 1,940 2,896 3,013 3,135 4,672 4,900 5,075
Other Income – – – – – 8 – – 8

Total Operating Revenue 1,938 1,968 2,058 3,162 3,220 3,353 5,100 5,188 5,411

TOTAL OPERATING SURPLUS ( DEFICIT) 56 (14) 20 165 (24) 28 221 (38) 48

Capital Expenditure
New capital works 58 112 174 259 207 315 317 319 489
Renewal capital works 13 15 14 153 369 414 166 384 428

Total Capital Expenditure 71 127 188 412 576 729 483 703 917

Other Funding Requirements
Transfers to general & restricted reserves 33 22 20 46 41 27 79 63 47

Total Funding Requirement 104 149 208 458 617 756 562 766 964

Funds To Be Provided From:
Operating	surplus	/	(deficit) 56 (14) 20 165 (24) 28 221 (38) 48
Loans raised 51 138 163 231 554 294 282 692 457
Transfers from general & restricted 
reserves – 17 65 – 23 67 – 40 132

Non cash expenses 10 11 11 47 62 48 57 73 59

Total Funds Provided 117 152 259 443 615 437 560 767 696

FUNDING SURPLUS / ( DEFICIT) 13 3 51 (15) (2) (319) (2) 1 (268)
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Group of Activities: Community Support

Activity: Community Policy and Planning
The Council works with communities and government 
agencies to enhance the social and cultural wellbeing of 
Rodney’s people. It has a youth policy that sets out how it 
will respond to the needs of young people and facilitate youth 
development. The Council has also co-facilitated a social 
wellbeing advisory group that enables the Council to work 
with government agencies, such as the Ministry of Social 
Development, Waitemata District Health Board, New Zealand 
Police, Child Youth and Family Service and the Department of 
Internal Affairs to achieve social-cultural outcomes.
Why we are involved
The Local Government Act 2002 requires the Council to 
promote the social and cultural wellbeing of communities and 
to consider the views of all of its communities. The 2004-2014 
Long Term Council Community Plan committed the Council 
to establishing strategies and policies for its involvement in 
community development.

Key Focus:
Establish an annual Rodney youth forum. 
The Council’s Youth Development Officer supports and 
facilitates the two youth forums currently active in Rodney.  
A third forum will be created in North Rodney in the near 
future. Once this is active it is intended that a Rodney Youth 
Forum will be held in May 2010.
Improve the provision of advice and information in 
collaboration with the Citizens Advice Bureau.
Rodney District Council continues to provide financial support 
to all three CAB’s within Rodney by way of grants through 
the Annual Plan and through subsidised rents. The Council 
also provides financial and practical support for the Visitor 
Information Centres and i-Sites and is partnering with the 
Aotearoa Peoples Network to provide free internet access 
through our libraries in 2009.

Continue to collaborate with iwi to deliver 
Community Development Projects.
LTCCP consultation was held with three MoU holders. 
Consultation also held with officers and iwi, namely with 
water services and Ngati Whatua Nga Rima o Kaipara. 
Taumata resolutions met and projects advanced, for example, 
Commissioning of Pou Kaitiaki o Orewa, Puatahi Uru Pa 
Access, and solution investigations for Tarawera Road. 
Successful “Welcome to our World” powhiri undertaken. 
Council’s Poutakawaenga (Iwi Liaison Officer) continues to 
provide advice to staff on protocol and iwi engagement.
Adopt and implement a community development 
strategy to define its role in relation to social and 
cultural wellbeing.
The Rodney District Council Community Development 
Framework was adopted by Council on 5 October 2006. 
This work has been progressing through government and 
community agencies with the adoption of the Rodney 
Social Wellbeing Strategy in June 2008. The ongoing 
implementation and review of the Social Wellbeing Strategy 
is facilitated by the Council through the Social Wellbeing 
Advisory Group’s monthly meetings.
Continue to implement the youth strategy.
Consultation with youth in regards to the “4uth” strategy has 
been undertaken with 31 full submissions and 25 in other 
forms from youth being received. The strategy was finalised 
and an implementation plan is being developed. The Youth 
Development Officer is undertaking projects in line with the 
“4uth” strategy.
Adopt and implement a physical activity strategy 
as part of a wider North Harbour initiative.
The North Harbour Physical Activity Strategy (NHPAS) is 
currently under review, with the most likely outcome being 
an extension of this strategy for an additional 12 months. 
The future of the Rodney Physical Activity Strategy is directly 
linked to the review of the NHPAS and also to the regional 
governance reforms; a decision about the future of this 
Strategy will be made in September 2009.
Facilitate a comprehensive and accessible 
database of community organisations  
and services.
Rodney District Council part funds Raeburn House to produce 
the Rodney Directory of Support Services. Council also 
provides access to the Fundview database through the public 
libraries and supports and promotes the WebHealth website, 
the Family and Community Services National Directory and 
the local CAB’s as easily accessible sources of information 
about local community organisations and services.
Develop an affordable housing strategy.
A Housing Needs Assessment for Rodney was completed 
and funding has been approved to advance stage two of this 
project, (the development of an Affordable Housing Strategy). 
Preliminary discussions have also been had with the NZ 
Housing Foundation and they have expressed a willingness 
to support Council in the development of a strategy and as a 
potential partner in the delivery of social housing outcomes  
for Rodney.
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How we monitor progress

Level of Service Measure Target Achievement
We will advocate 
on behalf of and 
support communities 
to get the best 
possible social 
service delivery in 
the district. 

Partner-
ships with 
government 
agencies

We will work towards 
implementation of three 
objectives of the Social 
Wellbeing Advisory Group.

Social Wellbeing Advisory Group continues to meet 
monthly and is strongly supported by Government 
agencies. The group continues to explore avenues 
for maximising the social wellbeing outcomes for 
Rodney.

Voluntary 
community 
activity

We will maintain an accurate 
database of local community 
organisations.

A Community Database has been designed and 
populated utilising the Microsoft Outlook system. 
This database enables cross referencing of 
community groups and records of contacts with 
community development team members, and is 
administered by the Community Development 
Administrator. The production of a mini guide has 
enabled staff to fully utilise the system. It is planned 
to make the system more widely available to Council 
staff in 2010.

We will undertake 
strategic projects to 
target	specific	areas	
of need

Youth Strat-
egy

We will work with Youth 
Fora in order to sustain 
their growth and to respond 
to youth issues within the 
district.

A Youth Development Officer was employed this 
year. This role includes a focus on supporting and 
developing local youth fora. The Review of the 
Youth Strategy was also completed this year and 
approved 18 June 2009. A copy is available on the 
RDC website.

Potential for adverse effects

Adverse effect How we will manage adverse effects
Organisations providing social 
services in the community may 
not have the capacity to access 
government and other funding 
opportunities.

Support from council and/or collaboration with other organizations to build capacity.
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Activity: Arts Facilitation
The Council supports the cultural wellbeing of Rodney 
communities by supporting the creative endeavours of local 
people. It does this by developing and implementing the arts 
strategy, by commissioning and purchasing public art works, 
by administering the ‘creative communities’ grant scheme and 
by providing administrative support for local arts councils and 
arts related community groups.
Why we are involved
The arts are important to the way we see ourselves as people 
and as communities. Providing opportunities for participation 
in, and enjoyment of, all art forms enhances our sense of 
wellbeing. The Council is committed to supporting creative 
endeavours that generate a sense of community identity 
throughout the district. It supports communities to make their 
environments attractive, vibrant and something to be proud 
of. It also enables artists to live and work in their communities, 
and supports the development of Rodney as a unique and 
exciting visitor destination. The creative industries are also 
seen to contribute to fostering local employment opportunities 
in the district.

Key Focus:
Promote arts opportunities in reserve 
management plans.
Through working alongside the Poutakawaenga (Iwi 
Liaison Officer), a brief was developed by Ngati Whatua 
representatives for the Pou Whenua for Orewa. Funds were 
secured and a contract was drafted and signed with Te Hana 
te Ao Marama for the carving of the Pou. It is anticipated that 
the Pou will be completed, permitted and sited before the end 
of 2009.
Administer arts funding.
Annual reporting to Creative New Zealand has been 
completed. A further $58,000 has been secured for the  
2009-2010 year. Improvements have been made to the 
application process, enabling faster payment and clearer 
reporting systems. Creative Communities “small grants” 
continue monthly, and “large grants” twice yearly. DANZ have 
been allocated funding to support Atamira dance performance 
at Centrestage, served with free buses from Wellsford and 
Helensville. The Arts Advisor is currently reviewing the  
ARST fund, to establish clear parameters around this 
significant fund.

Facilitate the inclusion of art in capital 
development projects.
Arts programming is being integrated into major capital works 
in Warkworth in collaboration with OPUS and Council officers. 
This project is in its early discussion stages. Artists from 
the district are being sought for collaboration in this project. 
Ceramic art works will be integrated into the Stanmore Bay 
toilets, working alongside Council’s Parks and Coastal Capital 
Works Engineer and a local artist. This project is in its early 
stages, to be completed in 2009. The Arts Advisor is working 
closely with the Urban Design team to enhance awareness 
and opportunities for incorporating artistic elements in capital 
projects.
Support art awards.
The Arts Advisor is working with South Kaipara Community 
Arts Council in support of the 2009 Rodney Art Awards, 
to be held in September 2009. Support arrangements are 
being looked at for the Rodney Youth Art Awards, the first of 
which is to be held in November 2009, including funding and 
supporting collaboration across the two Awards events.

A fortnightly arts e-newsletter promoting public, private and 
temporary exhibition space and exhibitions and other arts 
events is being distributed across the district. Discussions 
have been entered into with Kumeu Arts Centre, advising 
on the process leading to their potential secondary role as 
exhibition space. The Arts Advisor is in discussions on ways 
of supporting ad-hoc exhibition spaces (such as Muriwai 
Arts Trail and Toi Kaipara annual exhibition at Helensville) 
in response to community needs, and provision of shared 
resources for itinerant exhibitions is being explored.
Develop a literary-focused programme of support 
(with libraries).
Participation in early meetings with library groups regarding 
Rodney Writes 2009. To be developed further in 2009/10.
Progress funding and consent issues towards 
development of the Warkworth Community 
Centre.
As reported in July 2009, Council supported the revised 
Trust objectives. Design work is proceeding and consent 
applications are being prepared in anticipation of Lotteries 
Board support.
Complete the collaborative development of an art 
centre on Western Reserve, Orewa.
Discussions continue with Estuary Arts Centre regarding 
the provision of designated art workshop space to support 
the education requirements of the Arts Centre lease. RDC 
representation has been removed from the lease conditions.
Progress the development an art centre in Huapai.
The Kumeu Art Centre refurbishment project is near 
completion. Art workshops continue on a regular basis, 
supported by Creative Communities funding. Discussions are 
progressing on activating the space with more function;  
ideas include artist in residency space, music events and 
exhibition space.

Group of Activities: Community Support
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How we monitor progress

Level of Service Measure Target Achievement
We will facilitate, 
support and 
promote arts in the 
community 

Arts support 
and promo-
tion 

At least 70% of art work 
commissioned by council will 
be provided by local artists 

All commissions and purchases of art work were in 
support of local artists. In 2008/09 one work by John 
Oxborough was purchased for the Rodney District 
Council collection. This work hangs within the 
Rodney District Council Orewa offices.

We will work with local Maori 
in support of arts initiatives 

We have worked closely in support of Ngati Whatua 
nga Rima in the design, construction and erection 
of a Pou Whenua for Orewa. This will be sited 
adjacent to the Orewa estuary, near the southern 
entry to Orewa. Artists from Te Hana te Ao Marama 
are engaged in carving this work. Toi Kaipara were 
supported with an annual exhibition of work (Te 
Taura Tumai), and Kahurangi Ki Kaipara Kapahaka 
Roopu were supported in touring their work. The 
RDC Arts Advisor is working in closely with Council’s 
Poutakawaenga (iwi liaison officer) to ensure this 
work with iwi of our District is strengthened.

We will sponsor a district art 
award annually 

We have supported two awards within the district: 
The annual Rodney District Art Awards were held 
in partnership with the Rodney Community Arts 
Council, with great success. These awards circulate 
through the district, with the 08/09 Awards held at 
Ascension Vineyard in Warkworth. First prizes were 
won by Ema Cox with her work “Cardiac Panacea”, 
and Joy Bell with “Harvest Queen”. 

The “Rodney Writes” Short Story Competition 
was supported in partnership with Rodney District 
Libraries. Rodney Writes Winners include;

Premier Winner – John MacKinven, Premier Runner-
up – Beatrice Hale, Novice Winner – Kayleen 
Hazlehurst, Novice Runner-up – Catherine Bell, 
Young Writers Winner – Eve Bain, Young Writers 
Runner-up – Amy Jackson. 

Booklets containing the stories of all winners and 
runners-up are available at Rodney District Library, 
or can be purchased through the Council.

Art in public 
spaces 

At least two arts features 
will be incorporated 
into infrastructural work 
undertaken by Rodney 
District Council around the 
district	during	each	financial	
year 

Several murals on transformers were completed 
within this period. Further to this, arts programming 
is being integrated into major capital works in 
Warkworth in collaboration with OPUS, Council’s 
Open Space Planner and Council’s Project Manager 
for the Northern Sector. This project is in its early 
discussion stages. Artists from the district are being 
sought for collaboration in this project. 

Ceramic art works will be integrated into the 
Stanmore Bay toilets, working alongside Council’s 
Senior Parks and Coastal Capital Works Engineer 
and a local artist. This project is in its early stages, 
and is scheduled for completion in the 2009/10 
period. Further collaboration is happening around 
the Helensville Toilets project, also scheduled for 
completion in the 2009/10 period. 

The Arts Advisor is working closely with the 
Urban Design team to enhance awareness and 
opportunities to incorporate arts features in  
capital projects.
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Group of Activities: Community Support

Level of Service Measure Target Achievement
Customer 
perception 
of the arts 

At least 50% public 
satisfaction that the amount 
of culture and arts in their 
community is ‘about right’ or 
‘above’* 

5 4 3 2 1

8.4% 39.5% 43.4% 6.2% 2.6%

Due to the change in methodology and the rating 
scale used for this year’s Annual Residents’ Survey 
(as noted on page 19) it is not possible to compare 
previous year’s results directly. It is also not clear-cut 
to state if the targets have been achieved or not 
achieved.

This year’s results provide the opportunity to 
prioritise areas to focus effort for improvement over 
the coming year.

We will work with 
others to provide 
opportunities 
for creative arts 
development

Sponsorship 
opportuni-
ties 

We will seek external 
funding opportunities for 
the development of arts and 
culture within the district

The Rodney District Council provides strong 
administrative support for Creative New Zealand’s 
Creative Communities Scheme. In 2008/09 
this partnership secured $50,709 for funding 
the scheme. This has gone directly into our 
communities, in support of greater participation in 
the arts. 

Annual reporting to Creative New Zealand has been 
completed. A further $58,735 has been secured for 
the 2009/10 year. 

Creative Communities “Small Grants” continue 
monthly, and “Large Grants” twice yearly. 

The Auckland Regional Services Trust (ARST) 
fund was established in 1998. ARST funds have 
been held by Rodney District Council in an interest 
bearing account, with the income allocated annually 
for “projects of significance to the region in the 
areas of arts and culture”. In 2008/09 $132,560 
was allocated from the ARST fund in support of two 
significant projects in the region.

National and 
regional arts 
initiatives 

We will work with the 
Regional Arts Network 
Group to ensure that 
Rodney District is 
adequately represented 

A Regional Arts Initiative has been established, as 
of May 2009. Rodney District is being represented 
by the RDC Arts Advisor. This is developing into 
a strong connection between groups, where the 
needs of each district are being identified and 
strengthened. Being part of the Regional Arts 
Initiative enhances understanding of practices 
across the region, and will support and protect the 
arts interests of the Rodney District within any future 
changes in regional governance structures. 

* Source: Annual Residents Survey 2008/09 – refer to ‘Use of Surveys in Reporting Service Performance’ page 19 for explanation of rating scale
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Activity: Community Grants and Levies
Every year the Council invites applications for funding to 
support and promote local social service, recreation and 
community organisations. This community grants scheme is 
funded by ward on a per capita basis. 

The Council also makes annual grants to both local 
organisations, such as Citizens Advice Bureaux, and regional 
organisations such as Auckland Zoo. 

Community grants also include Councillors’ discretionary 
grants ($1,000 per Councillor per annum), Council 
Scholarships, heritage assistance and $50,000 each year to 
subsidise	the	cost	to	private	landowners	of	fencing	significant	
areas of native bush. Also included is the Council’s annual 
subscription to Local Government New Zealand. 

Along with all of the councils in the Auckland region, the 
Council pays levies to support the Auckland War Memorial 
Museum and the Museum of Transport and Technology 
(MOTAT).
Why we are involved
Grants enhance the quality of life of Rodney’s communities 
by enabling groups to be more effective and by nurturing 
a positive sense of community. Vision Rodney states that 
Rodney’s volunteer spirit must be kept alive. Volunteers form 
the cornerstone of the valuable work done by community 
groups that are, in turn, a key element of community building. 

The Council also makes grants to a small number of regional 
organisations where there is a convincing case for support 
across the region. 

Our subsidies for fencing to protect native bush and the 
assistance to restore heritage sites help preserve the unique 
identity of the district. 

The Council is required by legislation to pay levies towards 
the running costs of the Auckland War Memorial Museum and 
MOTAT.

Key Focus:
The Council will continue its community grants 
scheme, and will continue to contribute to the 
costs of operating the regional museum while 
current legislation requires this. It is important 
that grants provided are strategically, and within 
the constraints of funds available, contribute to 
positive results and achieve value for money.  
The Council will therefore review its grants policy 
to ensure that the scheme is widely understood, 
focused on community outcomes, and ensuring 
that the allocation of community grants is 
equitable across the diverse communities of 
the district. The Council will continue to resist 
attempts to have it compulsory fund  
(by legislation) a range of regional,  
cultural and other facilities.
The Community Grants Sub-Committee distributed total 
funding of $143,299 in 2008/09. The Community Grants 
Scheme was part of a comprehensive review of the ways 
Council provides support to community groups across the 
district. 18 recommendations for changes to policies and 
administrative procedures were approved by Council on 26 
March 2009 and these will be progressively implemented 
through 2009-10.

How we monitor progress

Level of Service Measure Target Achievement
We will provide 
financial	grants	to	
support community 
based organisations 
providing social, 
recreational and 
other services.

Equitable 
funding 
support – 
assuming 
only council 
supplied 
funding 

We will provide funding to 
community organisations 
through	the	“Community	
Grants Scheme” 
proportional to $1.50 
per head of the district 
population annually.

Now $1.60 per head of population due to inflation.

Reporting 
obligations

100%	of	“Community	Grants	
Scheme” recipients have 
met reporting obligations 
by the end of the current 
financial	year.

Not Achieved. 35% (21 returned from 60 successful 
applicants by 30 June 2009).

Note however that accountability reports are not 
called for until either the money is spent or the start 
of the next funding round, therefore returns continue 
to arrive daily and 90% (56 out of 62) have been 
returned at 5 October 2009.

2008 81% (51 out of 63).

Application forms state that accountability 
documentation must be returned in order to be 
eligible for consideration of further grants.
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Group of Activities: Community Support

Activity: Safety
The Council delivers community safety projects aimed at 
reducing crime and injury, as outlined in its community crime 
reduction plan and the Rodney Road Safety Action Plan.  
We also work on road safety initiatives with Land Transport 
New Zealand. Education initiatives will continue to focus on 
the issues listed as most serious for the district in their annual 
road safety issues report. 

We work with the New Zealand Police and Accident 
Compensation	Corporation	in	the	fields	of	crime	and	injury	
prevention, and have a Memorandum of Understanding  
with both. 

The Council’s agreement with the Ministry of Justice’s crime 
prevention unit focuses mainly on young people and includes 
truancy, youth access to alcohol and neighbourhood support.
Why we are involved
Our communities value belonging to safe and caring 
communities, and want Rodney to be safe for everyone. 
The Council recognises that safe communities rely on active 
participation by the people within those communities.  
This means supporting ‘people helping people’ through 
groups that work with individuals, with other groups and with 
agencies to develop self-reliance and strength. We respond to 
and aim to prevent increasing crime and injury risks that come 
with population growth and urbanisation. 

Key Focus:
Work with main agencies involved to reduce the 
speed on roads.
Surveys for current year’s speed limit amendments 
completed. Some detailed works to be undertaken on some 
routes (speed checks etc). Consultation expected to be 
undertaken in the second quarter of 2009.
Continue involvement with the Students Against 
Driving Drunk network to prevent young people 
drinking and driving. Every year projects evolve 
from the SADD partnerships.
The Council, in collaboration with four Rodney Colleges and 
SADD students, commenced the “School Ball Road Show” in 
June and continued this through until August 2009.
Continue to undertake local community awareness 
campaigns on speed, seatbelt use and pedestrian 
and cyclist awareness.
Campaigns to raise awareness about speed (Grenade Slow 
Down Exhibition 09), safety belts (Frames), bends (Crashes 
on Bends), cycle safety (Ride of Silence) and pedestrians 
(Safe walking Muriwai Beach) were completed April, May and 
June 2009.
Promote host responsibility principles including 
‘designated drivers’ and driving sober.
Host responsibility messages have been promoted on the 
local radio station since the beginning of June 2009 and will 
end August 2009. This campaign supports the “School Ball 
Road Show”.
Establish a Safer Rodney Community Forum 
to promote a collaborative approach to crime 
reduction.
The Safer Community Team Leader has continued to 
facilitate meetings between Police and other key community 
stakeholders to address crime and safety issues. Recently a 
working group has been created to assist in the Helensville 
area. This group consists of councillors, council staff, police 
and community stakeholders.

Lead the delivery of the Rodney  
Road Safety Action Plan.
The Council has an excellent relationship with its key road 
safety partners and the Rodney Road Safety Action Plan 
2009/10 has been drafted.
Introduce a plan to increase and sustain the 
membership of Neighbourhood Support in Rodney.
There are currently 291 Neighbourhood Support groups 
in Rodney and 11 supporting businesses. The Council is 
supporting the coordinator in the “Recruit, Retain and Sustain” 
programme with external funding sourced from the  
Ministry of Justice.
Introduce new initiatives to reduce truancy  
and graffiti.
As stated the Council has supported the Coast Youth 
Community Trust who administers the Truancy Contract.  
The Graffiti Project Officer has been employed and is 
undertaking the “Respect Rodney” project involving the 
enrolment of volunteers to assist with the eradication  
of graffiti.
Maintain existing relationships with organisations 
to address matters such as truancy, family 
violence, and injury prevention.
The final report for the Ministry of Justice funded Virtual 1 
on 1 project which was aimed at reducing family violence 
was completed in the last quarter of 2008/09. The “Resolve-
Clearing Anger” programme was completed in conjunction 
with two community groups and reported back to the Ministry 
of Justice in August 2009.
Encourage communities to look after each  
other by promoting neighbourhood support 
schemes throughout the district and through  
local safety groups.
Neighbourhood Support and the four Community Patrols 
continue to be supported by the Rodney District Council.  
A patrol in the Wellsford area is being considered and 
assessed for viability.
Foster collaborative relationships with schools, 
community organisations and business to reduce 
crime, anti social behaviour and road trauma.
Collaborative relationships have been fostered with South 
Kaipara Community Patrol to reduce local crime and increase 
community safety. The Council has been supporting Mauri 
Ora Ki Ngati Whatua Charitable Trust, Eduk 8 and the 
HBC Community House in the delivery of their road safety 
programmes. These programmes have included projects that 
increase car seat use for children, drink driving awareness for 
youth and the Maori Community.
Achieve the objectives of our agreements with 
New Zealand Police, Ministry of Justice and 
Accident Compensation Corporation.
MOU’s with the New Zealand Police and ACC are currently 
under review however, relationships are being positively 
continued. Council continues to deliver the Rodney Guardians 
and the Respect Rodney Projects funded by the  
Ministry of Justice.
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How we monitor progress

Level of Service Measure Target Achievement
Increase Road 
Safety 

Ability to 
recall road 
safety mes-
sage 

At least 15% of the targeted 
audience are able to recall 
road safety messages from 
campaigns in 2008

Unable to define measurable result. 

An in-depth process evaluation was conducted for 
the “Grenade 09 Slow Down” Project and a survey 
was completed at the “Grenade” Exhibition.

From this we learnt that 27% of the audience felt that 
speed kills and another 33% said that after seeing 
the exhibition they should slow down. A further 8% 
felt that the exhibition had a huge impact on them.

Evaluation/
result of 
road safety 
initiatives 

We will achieve a 80% 
success rate for road 
safety campaigns initiatives 
annually 

Unable to define measurable result.

All of the road safety campaigns for the 2008/09 
were implemented as per our application to NZTA. 

The “Grenade” Campaign generated significant 
media attention and this initiative went on to win a 
Cannes Advertising award, as did our “Ghost Girl” 
campaign. 

Both of these projects were aimed at speedsters.

Reduction 
in the level 
of alcohol 
related 
youth driving 
offences

At least 65 college students 
from around the district are 
involved in the Students 
Against Drink Driving 
initiative by 2008 

40 students from five Rodney District Colleges 
attended the SADD workshop in March 2009. Two 
students went on to the SADD Conference. 

Each of the five Colleges have formed a SADD 
Committee and the membership varies between two 
and 10. 

Orewa College has been very proactive in SADD 
led events. During the 2008/09 year students 
organised events targeting years 9, 10,11,12 & 13 
that demonstrated to their fellow students the “loss 
of life” impact of one student being involved in an 
alcohol-related fatal car crash. This was done by 
drawing “body outlines” around various locations 
in the school grounds which served as a visual 
reminder of the loss.

Council also supported a “Booze Bus” demonstration 
towards the end of the 2008 school year at 
Whangaparaoa College. This was in collaboration 
with the school and the Police Education Officer. 

Four of the five Colleges that attended our SADD 
workshop were also part of the “School Ball Road 
Show” aimed at students attending their school ball 
and the pre and post events.
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Level of Service Measure Target Achievement
Implementing the 
Rodney Crime 
Prevention Plan

Reduction 
in levels of 
truancy

By 2008 there will be a 
reduction in the levels of 
reported truancy around the 
districts colleges from 2006 
levels

Unable to measure.

Council awaits further information from the Ministry 
of Education regarding their plans to create a District 
Truancy Service. Council is not the lead agency in 
the reduction of Truancy activities. Truancy (school 
non-attendance) activities are the responsibility of 
local schools and colleges and are dependent on 
funding being available to deliver services. Where 
local providers have requested support for truancy 
services Council has provided some financial 
support where resources have allowed.

Neigh-
bourhood 
Support Net-
works

We will increase the number 
of Neighbourhood Support 
network groups in the 
Rodney district by 2008, 
from the number operating 
as at 2006

As at May 2008, there were 286 Neighbourhood 
Support groups operating in the Rodney District 
compared to 100 groups in May 2006.

Youth 
access to 
alcohol 

We will undertake at least 
two controlled purchase 
operations aimed at 
reducing supply of alcohol 
to youth within the district 
annually

Three Controlled Purchase operations have been 
undertaken with Police as the lead agency and 
support from Council’s Liquor Licensing Inspector. 
These operations targeted 23 separate liquor stores. 
As a result, two premises were found to be in breach 
of the Act and subsequently four prosecutions are 
being pursued at present.

We will undertake at least 
one educational campaign 
targeting potential suppliers 
of alcohol to youth in the 
district every year 

In 2008/09 RDC promoted a “School Ball Road 
Show” that was aimed at young people attending 
their School Ball and pre & post ball functions. A 
radio advertising initiative supported this project, 
using informative advertisements that suggested 
ideas for students on how to plan a safe party, and 
of their host responsibility requirements. Alcohol 
Advisory Council (ALAC) adverts about supplying 
alcohol to minors were also run to coincide with the 
School Ball season.

One of the key messages was to focus on the 
primary supplier of alcohol to young people, parents. 

Flyers were distributed by Police at drink/drive road 
checks and were distributed widely through colleges, 
youth clubs, CAB’s , police stations, council offices, 
service centres and libraries. In addition Deputy 
Mayor John Kirikiri recorded three separate radio 
ads that were broadcast throughout the duration of 
the operation to promote the key messages.

Group of Activities: Community Support
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Level of Service Measure Target Achievement
WHO Safe 
Communi-
ties Founda-
tion NZ

We will be an accredited 
member of the World 
Health Organisation Safe 
Communities Foundation of 
NZ by 2009

Not Achieved.

Staff priorities / resources have been focused on 
direct project based activities with safe community 
outcomes as opposed to the process of receiving 
recognition for these activities taking place.

Prevent 
and reduce 
graffiti

There will be a reduction 
in the number of reported 
occurrences	of	graffiti	over	
time, from a 2006 baseline 
level, by 2009

Complaints and reports received by Council in 
relation to graffiti on public property totalled:

2008 – 452.

2007 – 502

2006 – 445

Following the increase in 2007, the 2008/09 year 
has seen a greater co-ordinated effort to tackle 
the graffiti issues in Rodney. This includes the 
introduction of the “Respect Rodney” Graffiti 
Eradication Project funded by the Ministry of Justice.

Promote Safe and 
Caring Communities

Safer 
Rodney 
Community 
Forum 

We will continue to work 
with the Safer Rodney 
Community Forum to reduce 
community crime and 
increase safety

The diversity of needs across the district has 
been acknowledged and this has resulted in the 
establishment of localised Crime and Safety forums 
to be facilitated by Council in order to address 
specific and local issues.

The first of these has been established in the 
Western Ward as the Helensville Working group. 
This group consists of representatives from Rodney 
District Council, Rodney Area Police, Helensville 
Parakai Ratepayers Association, Heartlands, Ngati 
Whatua Nga Rima o Kaipara Trust, and Kaipara 
College.

Reduction 
in Family 
Violence 

We will actively participate in 
the Te Rito Family Violence 
Prevention Strategy

Active participation demonstrated through 
membership of the Rodney Te Rito management 
committee and support for Family Violence initiatives 
developed by Rodney Te Rito including:

White Ribbon Day held in November 2008. Five 
events were supported across the district at 
Wellsford, Warkworth, Whangaparaoa, Helensville 
and Orewa. These events were delivered by Rodney 
Te Rito with support from community workers and 
staff from statutory agencies. White Ribbon Day is 
an international day where men speak out against 
family violence

Virtual 1 on 1, a project which was funded by the 
Ministry of Justice aimed at reducing the number 
of victims of family and relationship violence with a 
focus on 13-18 year olds. The project ran between 
July 2008 and March 2009.
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Activity: Fire and Emergencies
The Council ensures that people in the district are prepared 
to deal with any situation that cannot be dealt with by the 
normal	emergency	services	or	which	require	a	significant	and	
coordinated response under the Civil Defence Emergency 
Management Act 2002. In partnership with local agencies, 
the Council’s civil defence and emergency management work 
supports strong communities that are aware of local hazards 
and take steps to reduce risk. 

Rodney	District	has	six	volunteer	rural	fire	forces	to	ensure	
that	fires	and	other	emergencies	outside	the	urban	areas	
are responded to and handled in a timely and professional 
manner. The volunteers are trained to respond to medical 
emergencies, hazardous substance spills, motor vehicle 
accidents,	as	well	as	property	and	vegetation	fires.	

Kawau	Island	also	has	a	volunteer	rural	fire	force	managed	
jointly by the Council and the Department of Conservation. 
Why we are involved
The Council is required by the Civil Defence Emergency 
Management Act 2002 to plan and provide for civil defence 
emergency management in Rodney. This includes identifying 
and implementing cost effective risk reduction and ensuring 
there are trained and competent people, including volunteers, 
to cope with an emergency. 

The	Council	is	responsible	under	the	Forest	&	Rural	fires	
Act 1977 and Forest and Rural Fires Regulations 2005 for 
preventing	and	controlling	fires	in	areas	not	included	in	urban	
fire	districts,	and	for	ensuring	that	land	owners	clear	rank	
vegetation	to	reduce	fire	risk	on	unoccupied	urban	land.

Key Focus:
The Council will complete construction of a 
dedicated Emergency Operations Centre where 
control of future emergency events will be based 
and community training programmes run. 
In 2006 the Council acquired land in order to relocate a 
“modcom” building for use as an Emergency Operations 
Centre (EOC). Due to extra costs being encountered to bring 
the modcom building up to earthquake standard for an EOC, 
the project has been reviewed and other options explored.

It was subsequently agreed by Council at the Infrastructure 
and Environment Committee meeting held in April 2009 to 
relocate the EOC to the first floor of the Tasman Building 
(RDC Orewa Office campus).
Regular skill training and operational exercises will 
continue, to maintain and test readiness domains.
Ongoing exercises and training with both Rural Fire and 
Civil Defence on a weekly basis. Regular courses are also 
conducted through the New Zealand Fire Service (NZFS) and 
other external providers.

Group of Activities: Community Support

The district’s emergency communications  
network will be further developed, to provide 
strong links into all areas of Rodney to ensure 
it is integrated with local schools as community 
emergency centres.
Ongoing radio communications units are being installed in 
new schools to ensure communications through the Civil 
Defence Reporting and Welfare Centres.
The Council is working towards implementation of 
an effective warning system.
Tsunami Warning Systems installed at Whangateau, Point 
Wells and Omaha. We are currently negotiating with property 
owners for consent to install repeater sites to establish 
effective communication to the sirens.
Community education will continue, to promote 
community resilience and awareness. Education 
will also be provided to schools in conjunction 
with the Ministry of Civil Defence and Emergency 
Management.
Civil Defence public education is being delivered. The district 
wide “You Against the Storm” campaign is being promoted 
through local papers and radio station.
The Council will continue to replace ageing 
vehicles and equipment and to provide basic and 
specialised training for volunteers.
A new Muriwai Smoke Chaser has been delivered to Muriwai 
Fire Station. This replaces the aging appliance that was 
originally on site.
Rural fire stations will be equipped with generator 
connection points.
All rural fire stations that were allocated a budget have been 
fitted with generator connection points. A number of rural 
stations have received grants through charity organisations 
and have installed large fixed generators to the stations 
allowing them to continue to operate efficiently through a 
power outage. 
Civil defence will be working towards  
developing volunteers.
Nine external and six more internal RDC volunteers have 
expressed interest in joining Civil Defence. A Civil Defence 
training programme is being developed for volunteers, with an 
exercise planned as an introduction to the new Emergency 
Operations Centre.
The Council will continue to develop close working 
relationships with emergency services. 
Ongoing regional meetings, local meetings and joint training 
with emergency service groups is maintained.
Volunteers will be encouraged to join rural  
fire forces.
Ongoing interest and volunteerism at rural fire forces  
is maintained.
Business continuity plans will be developed by 
departments to provide a predetermined response 
to adverse events that affect the delivery of 
services and other functions of the council.
These have been reviewed by the Executive Team and a 
future programme has been outlined.
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How we monitor progress

Level of Service Measure Target Achievement
We will facilitate the 
provision of rural 
fire	and	emergency	
services in areas not 
served by NZ Fire 
Rescue Services.

Education 
and training

We will develop a 
community Rural Fire 
educational programme by 
30 June each year, for the 
following	financial	year.

Public education component is delivered through 
media releases of fire season status and media 
reports. All other types of fire education such as fires 
in rural homes are given by the NZFS at schools as 
this a NZFS initiative.

We will implement the 
actions outlined in the 
annual Rural Fire education 
programme for the current 
financial	year.

Liaison with key stakeholders and agencies ongoing. 
Public education component is educated through 
media releases of fire season status, media reports 
and public events. School education is provided 
through a NZFS programme.

At least 80 trained Rural 
Fire volunteers are available 
throughout the Rodney 
district each year. 

Currently 102 volunteers for six fire forces.

No health and safety 
related incidents occur 
when	training	fire	safety	
volunteers. 

Incidents, should they occur, are reported through 
an incident reporting system developed for the 
volunteers as is set out in the Health and Safety 
Manual. To date there have been no incidents 
reported.

Adequate 
equipment 

We will supply and maintain 
fire	and	emergency	
response equipment and 
plant on an on-going basis 
and ensure compliance with 
safety requirements.

All required equipment maintained and serviced. The 
majority of maintenance is on the fire vehicles and 
all service records are kept with the contractors who 
in turn notify RDC when servicing is due.

We will provide 
for capability and 
preparedness 
to respond to 
emergency 
situations.

Response 
structures, 
resources 
and plan-
ning 

We will have operative 
Civil Defence Emergency 
Management response and 
recovery plans (CDEM) in 
place at all times.

Plans reviewed and on track for updating.

We will ensure that all 
relevant preparedness 
information relating to an 
emergency response is 
available via the council 
website and at local 
libraries.

All relevant information supplied via council website 
and pamphlets distributed to libraries

http://www.rodney.govt.nz/

Emergency 
exercises

We will participate in 
the 2-yearly region wide 
emergency management 
training exercises, in 
partnership with other local 
authorities.

Participated in Regional Incident Management Team 
Exercise held at Camp Adair in Hunua on the 27th 
and 28th of April 2009. This exercise was held with 
both Auckland Region and Waikato Region Fire 
Authorities.

Regional 
cooperation 

Rodney will participate in 
regional working groups 
to promote greater 
coordination in emergency 
response.

Participated in bi monthly regional working groups 
and committee meetings.
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Group of Activities: Community Support

Achieved Capital Works
COMMUNITY SUPPORT
CAPEX Statement for 12 Months to June 2009

ACTUAL BUDGET Reason

$000 $000 Code

DISTRICTWIDE

New Capital Work

Arts Facilitation
Kumeu / Huapai Arts Centre 65 65 i
Arts embellishment 14 20 h
Special Projects 39 43 i,h

Fire and Emergencies
CDEM Public warning systems 1st phase 12 23 i,a
Implementation of radios into centres 26 27 h
Public warning systems 82 96 i,a
CDEM HQ Building Consent and Fitout 165 235 i,a
Emergency Lighting packs – 2 i,h

Total New Capital Work 404 511

Renewal Capital Work

Fire and Emergencies
Renewal safety equipment & protective clothing 24 24
Replacement radios for civil defence teams 9 11 h

Total Renewal Capital Work 32 35

TOTAL DISTRICTWIDE 436 546
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ACTUAL BUDGET Reason

$000 $000 Code

RURAL AND TOWNSHIPS

New Capital Work

Fire and Emergencies
PRS Radios (23) Comm Emrg Cnt based schl 15 25 i,h
Muriwai VRFF building materials 32 33 i
Kaukapakapa minor equipment & plant 3 4
Matakana minor equipment & plant 3 3
Muriwai minor equipment & plant 3 3
Ahuroa minor equipment & plant 4 4
Shelly Beach minor equipment & plant 4 4
Puhoi minor equipment & plant 3 3
CDEM HQ – VRFF input 9 12 h
Kawau Island equipment & plant minor purchases 1 2
Shelly Beach appliance safety upgrade 9 26 h

Total New Capital Work 85 115

Renewal Capital Work

Fire and Emergencies
Ahuroa Station Upgrade 254 479 a
Protective clothing renewals 18 19 h
RT Replacement radios for VRFF 10 11
Cmbntn Cutting tool for 2 appliances 4 6 h
Hose replacement program 6 6
Replacement 4x4 beach access vehicle for Muriwai 83 85 h
Breathing apparatus cylinders & components 10 10
Breathing apparatus cylinders & components 10 10

Total Renewal Capital Work 395 626

TOTAL RURAL AND TOWNSHIPS 480 741

TOTAL CAPITAL EXPENDITURE 917 1,286

To be completed in 2010/proposed carry forward a
Deferred pending further investigation/design work/strategy b
Delayed due to consent issues c
Project approved by Council during year/reallocation of funds d
Allocated to projects once priorities set for year e
Budget is the Annual Plan 2008/09 plus projects carried forward from the previous year. f
Project on hold/pending issues g
Project Savings h
Budget carried forward from previous years i
Budget is the Annual Plan 2008/09 plus projects carried forward from the previous year. j
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Group of Activities: Community Facilities

Activities in this group:
w	 Public Open Space

w	 Libraries

w	 Leisure Centres

w	 Holiday Parks

w	 Community Assets

Community facilities, including parks, coastal facilities and 
libraries,	make	a	significant	contribution	to	the	quality	of	
life experienced by Rodney’s people. They allow for active 
and passive recreation, further learning, and the social and 
cultural needs of communities. 

People have told the Council through Vision Rodney how 
important it is to them to belong to safe, active and caring 
communities. It is a characteristic of life in Rodney that is 
highly valued and that people want the Council to support. 

The Council’s community support activities create and maintain community wellbeing by providing for the social and cultural 
needs of communities. 

Contribution to Community Outcomes

Outcomes (as stated in the LTCCP 2006-16) How Community Facilities contribute

Outcome: Contained towns and villages 
w	 Making all towns and villages viable
Outcome: Maintained lifestyles and  
environmental care 
w	 Planting more trees
w	 Keeping our outdoor lifestyle accessible 
Outcome: Safe and healthy communities 
w	 Keeping the Rodney volunteer spirit alive 

By providing and managing public open space so that: 

w	 the viability of urban areas are maintained 
w	 people have the opportunity to be active and healthy 

and participate in shared activities such as sport and 
community events 

w	 environmentally sensitive areas such as bush areas,  
the margins of the coast, rivers and lakes are maintained 
and enhanced 

w	 biodiversity is maintained and enhanced.
By connecting people to the information they need 
for ongoing literacy, lifelong learning, and economic 
opportunities. 

By providing opportunities for social interaction and to give 
back to the community through volunteering. 

By sustaining and developing the joy of reading, creative 
imaginations and enquiring minds; by providing access to 
information needed for participation in their communities; 
and by linking people to their heritage and their place  
in the world. 

By providing programmes from the leisure centre that 
promote	physical	fitness	(including	swimming	lessons	that	
promote safety in the water, especially for children) for all 
age groups. 

By providing and managing coastal holiday parks and 
camping grounds that improve access to beaches  
and the sea. 

By providing affordable, well maintained facilities that are 
focal points for communities and community groups. 

Share of Total Expenditure

16% 
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Significant Negative Effects
Public access to parks and reserves, and providing leisure and recreation facilities can have a negative impact on the natural 
character of the areas where they are located. The Council takes mitigating measures where possible to balance providing 
facilities	with	protecting	the	environment.	The	potential	for	adverse	effects,	as	related	to	a	specific	activity,	is	identified	 
within that activity.

HIBISCUS COAST RURAL & TOWNSHIPS TOTAL DISTRICT

2008 
Actual

2009 
Plan

2009 
Actual

2008 
Actual

2009 
Plan

2009 
Actual

2008 
Actual

2009 
Plan

2009 
Actual

Public Open Space 3,954 3,957 4,185 5,174 5,814 5,904 9,128 9,771 10,089
Libraries 2,330 2,441 2,444 3,088 3,236 3,240 5,418 5,677 5,684
Leisure Centres 3,946 3,918 4,110 – – – 3,946 3,918 4,110
Holiday Parks 802 723 868 1,055 1,168 1,171 1,857 1,891 2,039
Community Assets 1,373 1,446 1,242 2,341 2,394 2,202 3,714 3,840 3,444

Total Operating Expenditure 12,405 12,485 12,849 11,658 12,612 12,517 24,063 25,097 25,366

Operating Revenue:
Revenue & user charges 3,761 4,315 3,967 1,794 2,066 1,837 5,555 6,381 5,804
Grants and subsidies 3 21 1 2 30 2 5 51 3
Interest Income 706 – 574 1,004 – 739 1,710 – 1,313
Cash contributions 937 804 1,645 1,611 2,706 1,217 2,548 3,510 2,862
Vested asset contributions 2,700 910 – 167 165 278 2,867 1,075 278
Targeted rates 7,764 8,256 8,266 9,565 10,620 10,615 17,329 18,876 18,881
Other Income 4 – 11 2 – 49 6 – 60
Gain (Loss) on sale of assets 6 – 14 (8) – 9 (2) – 23

Total Operating Revenue 15,881 14,306 14,478 14,137 15,587 14,746 30,018 29,893 29,224

TOTAL OPERATING SURPLUS ( DEFICIT) 3,476 1,821 1,629 2,479 2,975 2,229 5,955 4,796 3,858

Capital Expenditure
New capital works 4,629 3,221 3,787 2,255 8,727 7,082 6,884 11,948 10,869
Renewal capital works 1,023 913 1,142 1,754 1,078 1,326 2,777 1,991 2,468

Total Capital Expenditure 5,652 4,134 4,929 4,009 9,805 8,408 9,661 13,939 13,337

Other Funding Requirements
Loan repayments 581 446 446 2,003 275 275 2,584 721 721
Transfers to general & restricted reserves 8,650 116 2,389 10,733 516 1,704 19,383 632 4,093

Total Funding Requirement 14,883 4,696 7,764 16,745 10,596 10,387 31,628 15,292 18,151

Funds To Be Provided From:
Operating surplus 3,476 1,821 1,629 2,479 2,975 2,229 5,955 4,796 3,858
Asset sales 6 – – 15 – – 21 – –
Loans raised 2,166 1,847 2,444 3,736 6,221 5,429 5,902 8,068 7,873
Transfers from general & restricted 
reserves 4,413 – 2,205 5,527 – 1,165 9,940 – 3,370

Non cash expenses 1,224 1,026 1,036 2,039 1,403 1,305 3,263 2,429 2,341

Total Funds Provided 11,285 4,694 7,314 13,796 10,599 10,128 25,081 15,293 17,442

FUNDING SURPLUS / ( DEFICIT) (3,598) (2) (450) (2,949) 3 (259) (6,547) 1 (709)
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Activity: Public Open Space
The Council is responsible for planning for the open space 
needs of Rodney’s residents and then acquiring, maintaining 
and developing parks and reserves and the facilities on them 
where it has a clear mandate to do so. 

Public open space includes neighbourhood parks, water 
access reserves (including coastal/river walkways), 
conservation (habitat protection) reserves, esplanade 
reserves (through coastal subdivision) and sports parks.
Why we are involved
Public	open	space	makes	a	significant	contribution	to	
Rodney’s quality of life. It allows both active and passive 
recreation, provides access to coastline and beaches and 
protects	natural	landscape	and	flora	and	fauna	–	all	identified	
in Vision Rodney as important aspects of a healthy outdoor 
lifestyle. Parks, reserves and other public open spaces 
also	influence	the	nature	and	quality	of	Rodney’s	built	
environment. The arrangement of reserves and other areas of 
open space such as streets are becoming more important in 
defining	the	liveability	of	urban	centres,	particularly	as	 
they intensify. 

The Council is a primary provider of Rodney’s public open 
space,	thereby	influencing	the	extent	of	community	access	to	
the coast and beaches and the protection of natural features, 
the provision of land and facilities for recreation and the level 
of amenity in Rodney’s towns and villages. Private providers 
also play a role in contributing to the open space in Rodney 
(eg. golf courses, and forests such as Woodhill Forest). 
However, this land does not offer the same guarantees of 
access for the public.

Group of Activities: Community Facilities

Key Focus:
Orewa estuary walkways
Jelas Rd – HBC Highway Section: Property department are 
finalising agreement for the purchase of esplanade reserve. 
A topographical survey and archaeological survey have been 
completed and the engineering design is in progress for 
difficult sections.

Maygrove Western Section: Tenders for the Lakeside 
footbridge construction closed 1 July 2009. We are consulting 
with WFH to address design issues raised on the proposed 
Waru Nui Court bridge. The lakeside Bridge from Kath 
Hopper Dr to Waru Nui Ct cycleway path was tendered and 
prices received but a decision was made to withdraw the 
minor works contract and put out for public tender along with 
Waru Nui bridge for next construction season.
Orewa foreshore upgrades

Council is securing specialist consultants to continue with the 
communication process. The consent preparation  
is proceeding.
Complete Public Open Space strategy and review a 
number of reserve management plans and prepare 
new ones for new reserves where appropriate.
The Public Open Space Strategy has been re-scoped and a 
new timeline prepared. A workshop with Councillors was held 
to	outline	and	confirm	project	and	timeline/outputs.	A	survey	
of informal users of reserves was also undertaken. Reserve 
Management Plans for Coatesville, Shoesmith, Orewa, Victor 
Eaves, Shelly Beach reserves have been adopted.  
Work continued on the Metro Park East and West hearing 
report and a hearing on Puhoi Pioneers Memorial Park RMP 
was held.
Continue design work and preparation of a reserve 
management plan for Metro Park at Silverdale and 
Green Road Dairy Flat.
Report to be prepared for the 22 October Strategy and 
Community Committee meeting recommending the final 
adoption of the Metro Park East and West Management Plans
Continued sports park development at the 
Warkworth Showgrounds.
90% of earthworks completed but a wet month of May 2009 
prevented completion for attempting a winter grow-in of couch 
sandfields. Remaining work will now be held over to next 
construction for mid October start. A contract was awarded 
for riparian planting and is programmed for July/August 2009. 
Other contracts were also awarded for a new underground 
power supply with transformer at the northern end and for 
lighting of No. 1 rugby sandfield.
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How we monitor progress

Level of Service Measure Target Achievement
We will ensure that 
our Public Open 
Space assets are 
well maintained, 
pleasant to use 
and meet customer 
needs. 

Customer 
Satisfaction 

At least 75% public 
satisfaction with council 
run parks and reserves 
in the district is achieved 
annually*.

5 4 3 2 1

28.9% 49.6% 14.2% 5.6% 1.6%

Due to the change in methodology and the rating 
scale used for this year’s Annual Residents’ Survey 
(as noted on page 19) it is not possible to compare 
previous year’s results directly. It is also not clear-cut 
to state if the targets have been achieved or not 
achieved.

However, since the number of responses indicating 
dissatisfaction is relatively low we believe the target 
has been met.

At least 75% public 
satisfaction with access to 
the coast in the Rodney 
district is achieved 
annually*.

5 4 3 2 1

44.2% 40% 10.7% 3.1% 2%

Due to the change in methodology and the rating 
scale used for this year’s Annual Residents’ Survey 
(as noted on page 19) it is not possible to compare 
previous year’s results directly. It is also not clear-cut 
to state if the targets have been achieved or not 
achieved.

However, since the number of responses indicating 
dissatisfaction is relatively low we believe the target 
has been met.

Suitability 
for usage

We will ensure contract 
specifications	relating	to	
grass length maintenance in 
council parks and reserves 
are met over 80% of the 
time.

Contract specifications were achieved to satisfactory 
standards.

Facilities 
mainte-
nance

At least 70% public 
satisfaction with sports 
field	facilities	is	maintained	
annually*.

5 4 3 2 1

13.9% 47.7% 30% 6.5% 1.9%

Due to the change in methodology and the rating 
scale used for this year’s Annual Residents’ Survey 
(as noted on page 19) it is not possible to compare 
previous year’s results directly. It is also not clear-cut 
to state if the targets have been achieved or not 
achieved.

This year’s results provide the opportunity to 
prioritise areas to focus effort for improvement over 
the coming year.

We will work with local 
communities to retain 
coastal facility levels.

Three boat ramps (Marine View, Rainbows End and 
Martins Bay) have had minor repairs/improvements 
at the instigation of local groups. 

Two sand dune community plantings held at Snells 
Beach and Omaha.

* Source: Annual Residents Survey 2008/09 – refer to ‘Use of Surveys in Reporting Service Performance’ page 19 for explanation of rating scale.
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Group of Activities: Community Facilities

Activity: Libraries
The Council operates seven libraries – at Helensville, Kumeu, Mahurangi East, Orewa, Warkworth, Wellsford and 
Whangaparaoa. The Council also supports volunteer-run libraries at Kaipara Flats, Point Wells, Leigh and Tapora. Two libraries 
(Whangaparaoa and Helensville) also deliver Council information and services. 
Why we are involved
Libraries are provided in response to customer demand and to contribute to building stronger communities.

Key Focus:
Replace and extend the Wellsford library.
Workshops were undertaken and preferred sites identified. Public submissions made in response to the LTCCP 2009-19 
resulted in a request to undertake cost analysis of the two preferred sites. This is currently underway.
Complete installation of security system into the libraries.
This project was completed on time and within budget in March 2009.
Maintain the current assets.
Maintenance programmes are in place for buildings and resources.
Improve the libraries’ capacity to provide for growth and for better levels of service.
Preparation of the LTCCP 2009-19 has enabled library planning to be undertaken for the next ten years, with the next three 
years in more detail. This will ensure levels of service can be maintained within budgetary constraints.
Replace some assets to better serve particular communities.
Replacement programmes and projects are in place through the Libraries Asset Management Plan.

How we monitor progress

Level of Service Measure Target Achievement
We will provide 
access to library 
and information 
services through 
a programme of 
replacement and 
extension 

Public 
satisfaction 

At least 75% public 
satisfaction with library 
services offered is achieved 
annually*.

5 4 3 2 1

32.3% 47% 16.4% 3.7% 0.6%

Due to the change in methodology and the rating 
scale used for this year’s Annual Residents’ Survey 
(as noted on page 21) it is not possible to compare 
previous year’s results directly. It is also not clear-cut 
to state if the targets have been achieved or not 
achieved.

However, since the number of responses indicating 
dissatisfaction is relatively low we believe the target 
has been met.

Remote 
access to 
services 

5% increase in customer 
satisfaction with the 
performance of electronic 
library system, from initial 
baseline established in 2007 
to be achieved by 2009.

Satisfaction not measured as variable internet 
connection speeds make it impossible to accurately 
compare service delivered.

We will provide 
collection size and 
services in line with 
national standards

Electronic 
collection 
and services

3% increase in Customer 
satisfaction with the range 
of electronic databases 
available from initial baseline 
established in 2007 to be 
achieved by 2009.

Satisfaction not measured as previous attempts 
have produced minimal result. 

Anecdotal feedback suggests customers are happy 
with the range of databases as there are few 
requests for electronic resources covering different 
subject areas.

Support to 
users

At least 10 public focused 
programmes are undertaken 
annually to encourage 
literacy and the use of the 
library.

Achieved with 693 events over all libraries. 
These included events such as The Montana 
Poetry Podcast competition, The Mad Hatters 
Party, Storytime programmes and school holiday 
programmes.

* Source: Annual Residents Survey 2008/09 – refer to ‘Use of Surveys in Reporting Service Performance’ page 19 for explanation of rating scale
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Activity: Leisure Centres
The Council owns and manages the Hibiscus Coast Leisure 
Centre, a comprehensive indoor sport and recreation facility 
at Stanmore Bay. 

The Leisure Centre encourages a physically active and 
positive community that enjoys better health and lifestyles. 
It provides a wide range of services and activities such as 
swimming pools, a swim school, stadiums for basketball, 
gymnastics, indoor netball, soccer and other sports, a range 
of	aerobic,	circuit	classes,	individual	fitness	and	rehabilitation	
programmes,	and	a	fitness	gym	and	cardio	theatre.
Why we are involved
While the choice to have a healthy lifestyle and be active 
is an individual one, the Council accepts responsibility 
for making that choice easier. Its leisure centre services 
increase	people’s	awareness	of	the	benefits	of	being	active	
and create an environment that encourages physical activity 
on a regular basis. 

The centre also provides facilities and classes for children 
and adults to learn to swim, an important skill for a safe 
coastal lifestyle.

Key Focus:
Offer activities and programmes that meet 
customers’ needs.
37 Kickstart programmes were sold which was a good 
result. Average participants per Circuit Express class is 12 
(maximum) and average participants at the Mums and Babies 
class is 15-20.
Increase membership of the Hibiscus Coast 
Leisure Centre to the maximum.
Retention rate is increasing slowly and currently at 59%.
Initial design concepts for facilities at Metro Park, 
Silverdale.
Resource consent application is being processed. Various 
queries are being addressed.

How we monitor progress

Level of Service Measure Target Achievement
We will provide 
facilities and 
equipment in the 
existing Leisure 
Centre through 
a programme of 
upgrading and 
replacement.

Customer 
Satisfaction 

Customer satisfaction with 
the Leisure Centre facilities 
and equipment remains at 
least at 95% annually.

Not Achieved.

2009 91%

Mystery Shopper survey provider 
increased shoppers to five which made the target 
of 95% more difficult to achieve as compared with 
previous years when only three shoppers were used 
to report on their experiences.

2008 87%

Source: The Leisure Centre Mystery Shopper 
Survey August 2009 undertaken by Linnie Osborne 
Marketing.

We will provide 
services and 
programmes in line 
with best practice 
standards.

Programme 
quality 

We will maintain industry 
standards (including health 
and safety) requirements 
in all of the programmes 
offered through the Leisure 
Centre.

Industry standards are maintained throughout 
facilities, services and programmes offered by the 
Leisure Centre and include:

w	 Pool Lifeguard Unit Standards (qualified staff) 
w	 Pool Water Quality 5826:2000 fully compliant 
w	 Independent water testing (monthly)
w	 Registered Exercise Professionals (REPS) 

Registration 08/09 is undertaken by all staff 
who are prescribing exercise to members. This 
is a Fitness NZ initiative and ensures qualified, 
competent instruction and supervision 

w	 Individual Sporting Body Rules & Guidelines
w	 Fitness NZ guidelines.

We will retain our annual 
Sport and Fitness 
Recreation Industry Training 
Organisation accreditation.

SFRITO (now Skills Active) contract has been 
replaced with annual registration (as of March 09).

15 staff have completed qualifications. Seven 
training agreements are due to expire June 2009.

A ‘Skills Active’ review is booked for June 2009 to 
assess industry training requirements for new staff.

We will ensure 
effective 
and	efficient	
management of 
Leisure Centre 
assets and services 

Cost effec-
tiveness

We will recover 80% of the 
Leisure Centres costs on an 
annual basis.

Recovery of operational costs as at  
June 2009 was 86%.
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Group of Activities: Community Facilities

Activity: Holiday Parks
The Council operates three holiday parks – at Orewa 
Beach, Martins Bay and Whangateau. The parks are run as 
businesses. They provide sites for both casual and long-
stay campers and cabin accommodation. The Council also 
operates a 14-site camping ground at Shelly Beach. Holiday 
parks can be considered as part of Rodney’s public open 
space network, and their future strategic development is 
considered in the Council’s public open space strategy which 
is referred to in the public open space activity.

Why we are involved
Holiday parks help to keep Rodney’s outdoor lifestyle 
accessible. They provide holiday options for residents and 
visitors, and generate revenue to fund tourist promotions and 
reserve development.

Key Focus:
No major changes are planned for holiday parks. 
The focus will be on improving the existing services 
and facilities.
The manager’s house at Martins Bay has been upgraded and 
a new recreation room completed. A new office building has 
been erected at Whangateau Holiday Park.How we monitor progress

Level of Service Measure Target Achievement
We will maintain 
adequate facilities 
in existing Holiday 
Parks through 
a programme of 
upgrading and 
replacement.

Qualmark 
rating

Whangateau, Orewa and 
Martins Bay holiday parks 
will retain their ‘Qualmark’ 
hospitality rating annually.

Ratings retained. In addition, Whangateau gained 
the environmental qualmark at bronze.

Accommo-
dation/ facili-
ties options 

We will respond to customer 
feedback to improve 
accommodation and 
facilities when feasible.

Martins Bay and Whangateau provide Qualmark 
feedback forms that are sent to Qualmark for review. 
Whangateau also run a customer questionnaire.

Feedback received is acted upon if it is within the 
resources and capacity of the holiday park and 
is beneficial to all. Any customer service issues 
are dealt with promptly as a form of continuous 
improvement.

Orewa Beach Holiday Park provide a similar 
feedback system which goes to the Top 10 
Franchise and once again feedback whether positive 
or negative is acted upon if it is within our resources, 
and issues are dealt with promptly as a form of 
continuous improvement.

All feedback forms are at the discretion of clients 
and are not compulsory.

We will provide 
services in line 
with best practice 
standards.

Customer 
satisfaction 

We will achieve an 
occupancy rate of at least 
70% for each holiday park, 
per annum.

Orewa 82.05%

Martins Bay 75.18%

Whangateau 55.93% 

Not Achieved. Whangateau is below target. Shoulder 
and off peak seasons in the most northern park are 
less popular due to the more remote location. The 
recession has also affected occupancy.

Holiday park user 
satisfaction with the holiday 
park facilities remains at 
least at 90% annually.

Orewa 79% (2008 89%)

 Not Achieved. Feedback indicated that the result 
was affected by an extensive upgrade of the office 
and customer service area being in progress at the 
time of the Mystery Shopper visit.

Martins Bay 84% (2008 68%) 

Not Achieved. Feedback indicated the Mystery 
Shopper was unhappy with the inability to make 
telephone contact on the first try; however they 
chose not to leave a message. The full report states 
Martins Bay is a “little paradise” and the Mystery 
Shopper is considering buying a permanent site.

Whangateau 100% (2008 98%) 

Overall average 88%

Source: Holiday Park Mystery Shopper Survey 
November 2008 undertaken by Linnie Osborne 
Marketing.
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Activity: Community Assets
The Council owns and operates 25 halls and community 
centres, and nine cemeteries. Advisory groups made up of 
elected representatives from the community manage the use 
of these facilities and the Council maintains the buildings and 
grounds on advice from these groups. 

The Council also owns and maintains marine structures 
(wharves, jetties, ramps, moorings, seawalls etc.) along 
1019km of coastline. Coastal engineers are engaged 
in providing coastal protection in key areas by planting, 
landscaping, dune protection and access-way management.
Why we are involved
Local halls and community centres are a central focus for 
communities. The Council manages them on behalf of 
communities to ensure that community groups have access 
to functional, comfortable, affordable and well-maintained 
buildings. The halls are mainly older facilities comprising a 
public space, stage, kitchen and ablutions and are utilised by 
community groups and for private functions. 

Foreshore and waterway development and maintenance 
is undertaken for environmental and recreation needs of 
the community, increasingly in potential areas of coastal 
inundation. 

Community centres tend to be newer, provide a hall facility 
plus other services such as a library, Citizens Advice Bureau, 
or service centre. 

The Council is required by legislation to ensure that burial 
facilities are available to local communities. These facilities 
can be shared with, or made available by, neighbouring 
councils. While the Council intends to continue to provide 
relatively simple cemeteries, it has no plans to provide a 
cremation service. 

Key Focus:
Undertake building condition assessments for the 
halls and community centres.
Assessments have been completed and are included in Asset 
Management Plans.
Complete and adopt an asset management 
plan for community assets (cemeteries, halls, 
community centres and coastal facilities).
Completed.
Maintain existing assets including upgrading 
assets in order to meet community needs and 
statutory requirements.
Council buildings are maintained and upgrades completed as 
per the Annual Plan 2008/09.
Improve our asset management systems and use 
this knowledge to improve asset capacity.
An asset management database was established and 
populated with building data during this year.
Ensure that each asset is reviewed on a cyclical 
basis for maintenance and upgrade requirements 
as per activity management plans.
Asset reviews are ongoing.

How we monitor progress

Level of Service Measure Target Achievement
We will provide 
appropriate 
facilities at required 
locations.

Appropriate-
ness of use 
and location 

We will provide adequate 
burial facilities within the 
district.

RDC have 10 cemeteries in Rodney, Kaukapakapa, 
Helensville, Wainui, Te Kapa, Kaipara, Warkworth, 
Wellsford Hoteo, Kumeu and Tapora covering 
114.24 Ha. We are in the process of acquiring Puhoi 
cemetery. There is sufficient burial area in the district 
for 20 years.

We will work with local 
communities to retain 
current hall facility levels.

Most halls and community centres have Advisory 
Committees, which must meet at least quarterly, 
although most meet monthly. The Property 
Operations Officer attends these meetings and all 
decisions relating to the facilities are minuted and 
placed on file.
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Group of Activities: Community Facilities

Achieved Capital Works
COMMUNITY FACILITIES
CAPEX Statement for 12 Months to June 2009

ACTUAL BUDGET Reason

$000 $000 Code

DISTRICTWIDE

New Capital Work

Public Open Space
Other strategic land purchase 1,000 1,000

Libraries
District-wide Library materials multimedia 125 157 h 
Library capital items 21 22 h 
Library capital items 2 5 h 
Library Security System 323 343 i
Wellsford Library building (5) 60 a 10k only
Customer security – Library DW 29 28 i
Mahurangi East Library interior renovation 23 215 a
Signwriting replacement Courier vehicle 3 3

Total New Capital Work 1,521 1,833

Renewal Capital Work

Libraries
District-wide Library books & materials renewals 600 574
Library Books – Bequest Funds 4 – i
Library staff room repaint-Orewa 4 4
MaintenanceAirCon&AutomaticDoor-KumeuLib 4 4
Replace	floor	coverings-WW,HVL,Kumeu	Lib 9 9
Replace security alarms – Leigh 1 1
Repaint lunchroom & hallway toilets – WW – 1

Total Renewal Capital Work 621 593

TOTAL DISTRICTWIDE 2,142 2,426



117RDC making a positive difference

ACTUAL BUDGET Reason

$000 $000 Code

HIBISCUS COAST

New Capital Work

Public Open Space
Green Road Sports Park (HBC) 7 43 a i
Silverdale Parkway St4 Land Purchase Strat Projects 379 375 i
S/W Ponds land 100 100 i
Gulf Harbour Sub Division Reserves 6 4 i
General HBC Walkways 45 34 i
HBC	Sportsfields	Sand	Field	&	Irrigation 137 132 i
HBC Misc Lgtng Impvmnts Wlkwys/Acswys 20 20
Design, consultation & consent for toilets 37 18
Develop	MetroPark/Sportsfields 769 795 h i
HBC Misc design landscaping 17 11
HBC Minor reserves imprvmnts lndscaping 103 80
Acquisitions 38ha by 2016 2 979 i
Victor Eaves Park development landscaping 30 32
Ferry Rd Reserve landscape & playground 57 57
Orewa Esplanade Rsrve Enhancement Pjct 156 147
Western Reserve to Orewa College bridge 16 15 i
Stanmore Bay Res. continue landscape 47 43 i
Orewa West walkway / cycleway 629 1,179
Whangaparaoa Town Centre 2 41 i
Silverdale Parkway – Stage 4 landscaping Orewa West walkway 12 240 a
Metropark West 23 105 a
Silv North Esplanade enhancements 27 100 a
Fairhaven Walk Walkway 7 20
Gulf Harbour Deliarose Subdivision 125 118
Metro Park (East) MP and Leisure Centre Consent 87 100 a

Leisure Centres
Pool construction, design, building 18 185 a
Enclosure for café deck 24 32 h 

Community Assets
Gulf Harbour Breakwater – design & consent 39 47 i
Design, consent & consult for coastal protection 20 20
Ramp upgrades – general 22 50
Wharf upgrades – general 51 50
Coastal protection – general 115 100
Manly Beach – dune development at Glamis 4 –

Total New Capital Work 3,133 5,270
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Group of Activities: Community Facilities

ACTUAL BUDGET Reason

$000 $000 Code

Renewal Capital Work

Public Open Space
Playground replacement 8 23 i
HBC Accessways/Walkways Misc Upgrades 55 34 i
Toilet & changing rooms minor upgrade 39 40
Carpark renewals 146 117 i
Sand	field	&	irrigation	renewals 2 –

Leisure Centres
Deferred maintenance 92 93
Fitness equipment 47 60 i
Leisure Centre refurbishments 21 21
Leisure Centre-Ablution/Admin upgrade 1 14 i
Replace sprinkler system throughout Leisure centre 19 20
TLC-UV Filteration System 95 95
TLC-poolside Change Cubicles 56 56
TLC-Heat Pump 29 30 h

Holiday Parks
Orewa Beach Holiday Park – renewals 1 1 i
OHP-ablution	block-replace	existing	floor 24 22
Orewa Beach – Building repaint 22 22
Orewa Beach – Kitchen Taps 5 5 h
Orewa	Beach-	Extend	administration	office 103 91
Orewa Beach Power Box Replacements 11 16 h

Community Assets
Ramps Upgrade – HBC 8 26 i
HBC Coastal Protection Mnr Improvements 58 70
Maintenance & health & safety – halls 33 37 a

Total Renewal Capital Work 875 894

TOTAL HIBISCUS COAST 4,008 6,165



119RDC making a positive difference

ACTUAL BUDGET Reason

$000 $000 Code

RURAL AND TOWNSHIPS

New Capital Work

Public Open Space
Green Road Sports Park (R&T) 5 43 a i
Wellsford Corry farm Dev’mt – 193 i
Arts Centre (Visual & Performing Arts) – 20
Port Albert Domain – Field Drainage 43 38 i
Parks Garden Removal Renewal 12 4 i
South Head Walk Ways – 17 a i
Cement Works Warkworth 126 273 a i
Jamieson Bay Developments – 50 i
Town Entrance – Kumeu/Huapai – 138 i
Matakana Reserve Toilet Block and carpark 247 200 i
Puhoi Toilet design 226 229 i
Helensville River Reserve-landscape stg1 33 30 i
Sandspit (spit devm’t) – 25 i
Design, consultation & consent for toilets 9 9
RT Misc Design Landscaping 53 25
RT N’hood Reserve/Landscape Improvements 115 111 i
R&T Minor Reserves Improvements landscaping 129 129
Huapai Domain continue landscape 23 16 i
New Cemetery at Kumeu – 50 a i
Matakana Wharf landscape 45 37 i
Warkworth Showgrounds 1,652 2,887 a i
Goodall Reserve Landscape 71 68 i
Schoolhouse Bay Wharf Helipad 189 197 a i
Port Albert Reserve Domain – form & seal carpark 239 234 i
Structure Plan consequences (Matakana) 71 115 a i
Warkworth Riverbank walkways 34 34
Kowhai Park Kilns 8 –
Warkworth Town Centre Upgrade 476 885
Helensville Main Centre Upgrade Project 25 23
Northern area skate parks – Playgrounds 31 31
Omeru Reserve – fencing etc 13 15
R&T Reserve Purchases Land Acquisition – 296 a e
Whangateau Harbour walkways 5 5
Te	Hana	field	development 40 50 a
Toilets/Changing Rooms Omaha South 18 50
Mahurangi West Hall & reserve car parking 9 250 a
Sandspit Rd weed & vegetation project 8 30
Riverhead WMP – court upgrade 243 260 a
Te Hana Hall – form & seal car park 114 100
Kawau Island Reserve Land 110 114 h
Jade River Subdivision Reserve Alnwick St 356 –
Muncaster Rd Reserve 305 –
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Group of Activities: Community Facilities

ACTUAL BUDGET Reason

$000 $000 Code

Holiday Parks
Shelly Beach Campground – Improvements 14 46 i
Martins Bay – Water Tanks 24 235 i
Martins Bay Lane improvement 12 – i
Martins Bay Recreation Room 95 95 i
Martins Bay Holiday Park water Supply 21 21 i
Martins Bay – New cabins 1 –
Whangateau – Tourist Flat 38 38

Community Assets
Warkworth Community Centre Development 33 1,235 i
Design, consent & consult for coastal protection 26 20
RT Minor Improvements coastal protection 12 12 i
Kaipara Stage 1 new ramp addition 12 12 i
Coatesville Hall Sewer System – 17 a i
Kumeu Hall partial renovation 24 –
Sandspit jetty safety upgrade 16 16
Leigh Wharf – investigate, design steps 25 20
Ramp upgrades – general 53 50
Parakai ramp upgrade 4 50 a
Wharf upgrades – general 160 99
Campbell/Baddeleys Beach stair addition 18 20
Omaha – CCMP deliverables 116 116
Coastal protection – general 106 106
Coatesville	Hall	floor 47 40

Total New Capital Work 5,937 9,529

Renewal Capital Work

Public Open Space
Playground replacement 60 50
Toilet & changing rooms minor upgrade 79 80
Wstrn Wrd Toilet/Changing Rooms Mnr Upg 16 16 i
Sports	and	sand	field	irrigation	R&T 78 216 i
Nrthrn Wrd Accessways/Walkways Minor Upg 23 16 i
Carpark renewals 68 68
Wstrn Wrd Sprts & Sand Field Irrgtn Rnwl 27 27 i
Omaha water bores 69 40 i
Minor Upgrades – per annum 78 40

Holiday Parks
Whangateau Holiday Park – renewals 56 71 i
Martins Bay – Drainage improvements 3 3 i
Whangateau-Interior renovations Mngs hse 6 – i
Martins Bay-Replace Power Boxes 39 39 i
Martins Bay – Manager house upgrade 20 20
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ACTUAL BUDGET Reason

$000 $000 Code

Community Assets
Fibro Sea Wall Replacement Stage 1 – Omaha 13 13 i
Rainbows End – replace & extend timber sea wall 19 19 i
Helensville Community Centre renewals 13 24 i
RT Cemeteries General Maintenance 1 – i
All RT Cemeteries maintenance 53 47
Omaha	replace	fibrolite	sea	wall	–	Stage	2 33 27 i
RT Halls Maintenance and Health & Safety 37 55 i
RT Moorings Misc Upgrades 17 20
Wellsford	–	new	carpets	&	repaint	CAB	office 8 8
Mahurangi East – repaint roof 9 9
Pakiri – new roof 20 24 h
Te Hana – maintenance & front entrance upgrade 10 24 h
Kaipara	flats	–	replace	roof 29 24
Whangateau Hall renewals 11 18 h
Wainui Cemetery – Replace Water supply 3 10 h
Muriwai – foreshore protection 26 100
Helensville Cemetery Driveway Upgrade 47 –

Total Renewal Capital Work 971 1,108

TOTAL RURAL AND TOWNSHIPS 6,908 10,637

TOTAL CAPITAL EXPENDITURE 13,058 19,227

 
To be completed in 2010/proposed carry forward a
Deferred pending further investigation/design work/strategy b
Delayed due to consent issues c
Project approved by Council during year/reallocation of funds d
Allocated to projects once priorities set for year e
Budget is the Annual Plan 2008/09 plus projects carried forward from the previous year. f
Project on hold/pending issues g
Project Savings h
Budget carried forward from previous years i
Budget is the Annual Plan 2008/09 plus projects carried forward from the previous year. j
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Group of Activities: Corporate Holdings

Share of Total Expenditure

7% 

Activities in this group:
w	 Quarries and Forests

w	 Property

w	 Corporate Assets

This group of activities covers the organisational and logistical 
activities that are a crucial part of the Council’s ability to 
deliver other activities and services. 

These cannot be delivered without the support of buildings, 
vehicles and equipment. 

The management of the Council’s investments in quarries and 
forests is also included. 

Contribution to Community Outcomes

Outcomes (as stated in the LTCCP 2006-16) How Corporate Holdings contribute

Outcome: Maintained lifestyles and  
environmental care 
w	 Keeping the soil on the land
Outcome: Locally determined futures 
w	 Working together and providing strong leadership

By managing Council’s forestry holdings and local quarries 
and	landfills	so	they	help	to	rehabilitate	and	stabilise	
erosion-prone land. 

By ensuring Council’s property investments are well 
managed and maintained and that its utilities serve the 
community. 
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Significant Negative Effects
Quarries	and	forests	have	significant	negative	effects	on	the	environment	and	community.	The	Council	mitigates	these	effects	
by ensuring that forestry operations are managed in a sustainable way and that quarry operations are mitigated to have the 
least	possible	effect	on	communities	and	the	environment.	The	potential	for	adverse	effects,	as	related	to	a	specific	activity,	is	
identified	within	that	activity.

HIBISCUS COAST RURAL & TOWNSHIPS TOTAL DISTRICT

2008 
Actual

2009 
Plan

2009 
Actual

2008 
Actual

2009 
Plan

2009 
Actual

2008 
Actual

2009 
Plan

2009 
Actual

Quarries and Forests 5 – – 111 141 199 116 141 199
Property Holdings 1,222 1,457 1,155 833 985 1,143 2,055 2,442 2,298
Corporate Assets 1,827 3,122 4,429 1,352 3,154 5,101 3,179 6,276 9,530

Total Operating Expenditure 3,054 4,579 5,584 2,296 4,280 6,443 5,350 8,859 12,027

Operating Revenue:
Revenue & user charges 2,160 2,303 2,110 1,539 1,276 1,343 3,699 3,579 3,453
Interest Income 789 83 562 1,124 109 857 1,913 192 1,419
Vested asset contributions – – – 40 – – 40 – –
Targeted rates – – – 114 50 47 114 50 47
General rates 466 1,218 425 126 1,727 8 592 2,945 433
Other Income 11 – – 12 – – 23 – –
Gain (Loss) on sale of assets 229 – 5,725 354 – 767 583 – 6,492
Loss on changes in valuation investment 
property – – (721) – – (955) – – (1,676)

Total Operating Revenue 3,655 3,604 8,101 3,309 3,162 2,067 6,964 6,766 10,168

TOTAL OPERATING SURPLUS ( DEFICIT) 601 (975) 2,517 1,013 (1,118) (4,376) 1,614 (2,093) (1,859)

Capital Expenditure

New capital works 4,107 1,288 608 9,684 1,801 919 13,791 3,089 1,527
Renewal capital works 1,662 260 1,389 2,284 345 1,861 3,946 605 3,250

Total Capital Expenditure 5,769 1,548 1,997 11,968 2,146 2,780 17,737 3,694 4,777

Other Funding Requirements
Loan repayments 741 193 194 988 255 418 1,729 448 612
Transfers to general & restricted reserves 1,203 739 257 1,270 577 262 2,473 1,316 519

Total Funding Requirement 7,713 2,480 2,448 14,226 2,978 3,460 21,939 5,458 5,908

Funds To Be Provided From:
Operating	surplus	/	deficit 601 (975) 2,520 1,013 (1,117) (4,377) 1,614 (2,092) (1,857)
Asset sales 81 64 – 107 85 – 188 149 –
Loans raised 4,432 1,964 5,063 9,659 2,292 6,814 14,091 4,256 11,877
Transfers from general & restricted 
reserves 1,742 828 1,000 1,753 1,097 806 3,495 1,925 1,806

Non cash expenses 1,277 600 1,389 1,693 620 1,861 2,970 1,220 3,250

Total Funds Provided 8,133 2,481 9,972 14,225 2,977 5,104 22,358 5,458 15,076

FUNDING SURPLUS / ( DEFICIT) 420 1 7,524 (1) (1) 1,644 419 – 9,168
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Activity: Quarries and Forests
The Council administers six forestry holdings and two 
quarries as core corporate and investment properties. The 
quarries are operated under resource consent requirements. 
One quarry is not currently operating as infrastructure is 
being developed so that the property meets resource consent 
requirements. Council administers these landholdings to 
maximise their income and minimise costs. 
Why we are involved
Most of the forestry holdings have come into the Council’s 
ownership	because	they	are	on	former	landfills	or	on	land	not	
suitable for development. One major holding, Araparera, is a 
joint venture with the Maori owners. 

The Council’s forestry holdings will provide a return on 
investments. Council’s share of returns from the Araparera 
forest holdings will be used for Northern Ward rural roads. 

The quarries are strategic resources that provide aggregate 
for roads. The Council owns them primarily to provide 
aggregate	for	local	use,	whilst	generating	a	profit.

Key Focus:
Maintain existing forestry and quarry investments.
Routine maintenance of forestry and quarry operations  
is ongoing.
Ensure that each landholding is reviewed on 
a cyclical basis for maintenance and upgrade 
requirements.
Property reviews are ongoing.

How we monitor progress

Level of Service Measure Target Achievement
We will ensure 
effective 
management and 
stewardship of 
assets to achieve 
maximum yield.

Manage-
ment Plans 
and Pro-
grammes 

We will undertake silviculture 
work as recommended by 
Council’s forestry advisors 
on an ‘as required’ basis 

No silviculture work needed this year. Forests are 
mature.

Maximised 
yields

We will receive all budgeted 
royalty income as a return 
on the investment in 
quarries until 2015.

63.7% budgeted income achieved.

The major downturn in all forms of construction 
activity this year has impacted on income from 
quarries.

Group of Activities: Corporate Holdings
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Activity: Property
The Council owns properties for core corporate, strategic, 
operational or investment purposes. We manage these 
strategic assets in terms of purchases, sales, leases and 
licensing, upgrading and maintaining these assets as 
required.
Why we are involved
Land is acquired to install utilities and services and to create 
reserves and parks. Land acquired for utility purposes and 
parks is generally included in the relevant activity section 
of this plan. Where land is not required immediately for its 
future use its income potential is maximised through grazing 
licences, residential tenancies, etc.

The Council is responsible for making sure all its land and 
buildings are maintained to a high standard, that they comply 
with all regulations, are safe and comfortable and that 
facilities	continue	to	meet	their	specific	purpose.

Key Focus:
Undertake building condition assessment reports 
on strategic and corporate assets.
Assessments have been completed on corporate assets but 
assessments on strategic assets placed on hold pending RPL 
business plan.
Maintain existing assets including upgrading 
assets in order to meet community needs and 
statutory requirements.
All assets are being maintained and upgraded on  
regular basis.
Ensure that each asset is reviewed on a cyclical 
basis for maintenance and upgrade requirements 
as per activity management plans.
Plans are being developed for an asset review system.
Determine which key strategic land holdings could 
be disposed of.
Property for disposal has been identified for action by RPL.
Increase the extent and capacity of assets to 
provide for growth and better levels of service.
Work around increasing the extent and capacity of assets to 
provide for growth and better levels of service is ongoing.
Improve our asset management systems and use 
this knowledge to improve asset capacity. 
AMP’s completed. Work on developing improvement systems 
is continuing.
Complete the property asset management plan.
Property Asset Management Plan completed.
Ensure a review of each asset’s maintenance and 
upgrade requirements on a cyclical basis.
As mentioned above plans are being developed for an asset 
review system.
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How we monitor progress

Level of Service Measure Target Achievement
We will manage 
and maintain our 
portfolio of property 
assets.

Activ-
ity Manage-
ment Plans

We will meet all health 
and safety requirements 
relating to council owned or 
managed properties.

No health and safety issues were reported.

We will endeavour 
to realise the best 
returns possible on 
our property assets.

Maximised 
returns 

The rate of rental return on 
property that the Council 
manages is within 1% of 
similar industry returns.

8.37% return on capital value of commercial 
properties.

Return slightly behind on housing stock due to 
high land value component and fair to average 
improvements.

Activity: Corporate Assets
The Council owns, manages and maintains assets that enable its elected representatives and staff to perform their roles.  
These	assets	include	office	buildings,	service	centres,	information	and	communications	technology,	and	vehicles.	

Why we are involved
The Council needs these assets so that it can carry out the functions that Rodney’s communities want and legislation requires. 
Also, the Council is required to provide a comfortable and healthy working environment for staff, and a safe and pleasant place 
for the public to visit.

Key focus:
Continue to replace existing assets as technology and demands dictate.
Work around replacement of existing assets as technology and demands dictate is ongoing.
Purchase new assets to maintain a similar ratio of assets to staff as exists at present.
Current practice is to provide a standard level of assets per staff member.

How we monitor progress

Level of Service Measure Target Achievement
We will manage and 
maintain corporate 
assets

Public 
Accessibility 

A 5% increase in public 
satisfaction with access 
to Council services and 
information from the 
baseline established in 2007 
to be achieved by 2009.

No survey undertaken 2009.

2008 CSI 61.1%

2007 CSI 69%

Group of Activities: Corporate Holdings
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Achieved Capital Works
CORPORATE HOLDINGS
CAPEX Statement for 12 Months to June 2009

ACTUAL BUDGET Reason

$000 $000 Code

DISTRICTWIDE

New Capital Work

Property Holdings
Capital Work on Rental Properties 107 60
Removal of Relocatables Orewa 29 –

Corporate Assets
Silverdale	file	remediation 546 566 a i
Orewa	Office	Space	extension (15) 27 i
Orewa	office	new	furniture 117 70
AMIS/GIS 31 31 i
Library Infrastructure 122 122 i
New Vehicles 178 73
Payroll / HR – 60 a i
Orewa	Office	Upgrade 16 20
Publications Review – 15 h i
Digital Camera 3 2
HVL S/Centre Repaint exterior of building 7 –
PDA Equipment – 10
Satellite phones – 5
Project Database – 150 a 
Security Compound for Vehicles 31 30
Workplace equipment 6 6
Business Applications 71 71
Document Management 3 3
GPS 9 –
CE and Mayor Furniture 16 –
Property Records Management 54 54

Total New Capital Work 1,330 1,374

Renewal Capital Work

Corporate Assets
Orewa	Office	main	office	refurbishment (1) – i
Orewa	office	furniture	renewals 31 30
Workplace Equipment 246 316 a i
Document management 117 162 a i
Business applications 239 458 a i
Telephony infrastructure – 85 a i
ICT infrastructure 408 907 a i
Vehicle renewals 583 518
Warkworth Service Centre re-roof and roof repairs 16 45
Refurbishment	of	Existing	1977	Orewa	Office	Building 1,554 933 i
Council Art Collection 4 6
Art collection renewal 2 3
AMIS/GIS – 75 a i
Library infrastructure – 243 a i

Total Renewal Capital Work 3,199 3,783

TOTAL DISTRICTWIDE 4,528 5,157



128 GROUPS OF ACTIVIT IES

ACTUAL BUDGET Reason

$000 $000 Code

HIBISCUS COAST

New Capital Work

Property Holdings
Surplus Penlink Properties 14 98 i
HBC Res. Dacre Reserve Purchase – 150 i
Wgp Land purchases 1 416 i
Community House Modcom Relocation 21 –

Total New Capital Work 36 664

Renewal Capital Work

Property Holdings
Manly property disposals 13 –

Total Renewal Capital Work 13 –

TOTAL HIBISCUS COAST 49 664

RURAL AND TOWNSHIPS

New Capital Work

Property Holdings
Road land purchases 2 149 i
12 Waimauku Station Rd Purch 1 1
Blue Gum Link Rd Land Purchase 144 198 i
King Property (31) – i
Purchase reserve land Matakana 10 50
Warkworth carpark – re-surfacing & deck 35 224

Total New Capital Work 161 622

Renewal Capital Work

Property Holdings
Sandspit Carpark Renewals 33 59 i

Corporate Assets
New CAB premises 5 1

Total Renewal Capital Work 38 60

TOTAL RURAL AND TOWNSHIPS 199 682

TOTAL CAPITAL EXPENDITURE 4,777 6,503

To be completed in 2010/proposed carry forward a
Deferred pending further investigation/design work/strategy b
Delayed due to consent issues c
Project approved by Council during year/reallocation of funds d
Allocated to projects once priorities set for year e
Budget is the Annual Plan 2008/09 plus projects carried forward from the previous year. f
Project on hold/pending issues g
Project Savings h
Budget carried forward from previous years i
Budget is the Annual Plan 2008/09 plus projects carried forward from the previous year. j

Group of Activities: Corporate Holdings
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STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE & RESPONSIBILITY
Statement of Compliance
The Council and management of Rodney District Council confirm that all the statutory requirements of section 
98 of the Local Government Act 2002, have been met.

Responsibility
The Council and management of Rodney District Council accept responsibility for the preparation of the annual 
Financial Statements and the judgments used in them.

The Council and management of Rodney District Council accept responsibility for establishing and maintaining 
a system of internal control designed to provide reasonable assurance as to the integrity and reliability of 
financial reporting.

In the opinion of the Council and management of Rodney District Council, the annual Financial Statements for 
the year ended 30 June 2009 fairly reflect the financial position and operations of Rodney District Council.

Penny Webster Rodger Kerr-Newell
MAYOR CHIEF EXECUTIVE

27 October 2009 27 October 2009

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income 130

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 131

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity 132

Schedule of Capital Expenditure 132

Consolidated Statement of Cash flows 133

Notes to the Financial Statements 134

Audit Report 167

RDC making a positive difference
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PARENT  
& GROUP

2008 2009 2009

(All in $000) Note Actual Plan Actual 

Income
Rates revenue 2 88,263 99,490 99,130
Other revenue 3 65,475 68,554 61,684
Other gains/(losses) 4 606 46 4,880
Total income 5 154,344 168,090 165,694

Expenditure
Personnel costs 6 28,240 30,026 30,453
Other expenses 7 56,011 57,549 64,752
Finance costs 8 18,865 22,320 21,138
Depreciation and amortisation expense 14 34,150 37,368 37,204
Regional Amenities and Museum funding 1,452 1,525 1,532
Total operating expenditure 5 138,718 148,788 155,079

Surplus before tax 15,625 19,302 10,615

Income tax credit 9 – – –

Surplus after tax 15,625 19,302 10,615

Other comprehensive income
Financial assets revaluation fair value gains/(losses) (130) – 2,429
Financial assets revaluation cash flow hedge gains/(losses) (3,124) – (9,020)
Intial recognition of forestry assets 1,282 – –
Total comprehensive income 13,653 19,302 4,024

The accompanying accounting policies and notes form part of these financial statements.

The above Statement of Comprehensive Income shows operating costs and all revenues (operating and capital) to give a net surplus.

The Council achieved a surplus for the year ended 30 June 2009 of $10.6M.

Note: this surplus includes revenues of cash contributions of $6.3M, vested assets of $3.1M, and NZ Transport Agency subsidies of $23.4M. 
These funds are combined with proceeds from asset sales and depreciation funds to fund capital expenditure of $87.4M.

Explanations for significant variances from budget are detailed in note 34.

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 30 June 2009
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PARENT  
& GROUP

2008 2009 2009

(All in $000) Note Actual Plan Actual 

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 10  4,366  4,752  12,824 
Debtors and other receivables 11  15,844  15,885  25,146 
Inventories 12  25  29  35 
Non-current assets held for resale 17  –  –  17,581 
Derivative financial instruments 13  115  100  – 
Total current assets  20,351  20,766  55,586 

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 14  1,579,685  1,627,132  1,617,311 
Intangible assets 14  3,968  3,529  4,599 
Forestry assets 15  1,282 –  1,626 
Investment properties 16  12,847  12,194  1,928 
Other financial assets 18  17,689  17,184  20,118 
Derivative financial instruments 13  3,773  5,000  4,460 
Deferred tax 9 – – – 
Total non-current assets  1,619,244  1,665,039  1,650,042 

TOTAL ASSETS  1,639,595  1,685,805  1,705,628 

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Creditors and other payables 19  28,361  22,479  32,049 
Employee entitlements 20  3,181  2,500  3,500 
Borrowings 21  57,500  15,000  122,502 
Contributions, bonds and deposits  8,837  9,211  7,661 
Derivative financial instruments 13  45  –  858 
Total current liabilities  97,924  49,190  166,570 

Non-Current liabilities
Employee entitlements 20  7  7  7 
Borrowings 21  202,667  272,332  182,501 
Provisions 22  –  –  3,450 
Derivative financial instruments 13  –  –  10,079 
Total non-current liabilites  202,674  272,339  196,037 

TOTAL LIABILITIES  300,598  321,529  362,607 

Equity
Retained earnings 23  867,959  901,804  875,662 
Other reserves 23  471,037  462,472  467,359 
Total equity  1,338,996  1,364,276  1,343,020 

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY  1,639,595  1,685,805  1,705,628 

The accompanying accounting policies and notes form part of these financial statements.

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
As at 30 June 2009
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PARENT  
& GROUP

2008 2009 2009

(All in $000) Actual Plan Actual 

Opening balances
General equity  854,548  883,401  867,960 
Restricted reserves  22,310  21,412  25,806 
Property, plant and equipment revaluation reserve  440,162  440,162  440,162 
Cash flow hedge reserve  7,750  –  4,626 
Fair value reserve  574  –  444 
Total opening balance  1,325,343  1,344,975  1,338,996 

Changes in equity
General equity
Surplus for the year  15,625  19,302  10,615 
Transfer (to)/from restricted reserves (3,496) (898) (2,912) 
Adjustment to retained earnings on intial recognition of forestry assets  1,282  –  – 

Restricted reserves
Transfer (to)/from general equity  3,496  898  2,912 

Cash flow hedge reserve
Fair Value gains/(losses) (3,022)  – (10,455) 
Transfer to Statement of Comprehensive Income (102)  –  1,435 

Fair value reserve
Financial assets revaluation gains/(losses) (130)  –  2,429 

Closing balances
General equity  867,960  901,805  875,662 
Restricted reserves  25,806  22,310  28,718 
Property, plant and equipment revaluation reserve  440,161  440,162  440,162 
Cash flow hedge reserve  4,626  – (4,394) 
Fair value reserve  444  –  2,873 
Total Closing balance  1,338,996  1,364,276  1,343,020 

The accompanying accounting policies and notes form part of these financial statements.

PARENT  
& GROUP

2008 2009 2009

(All in $000) Actual Plan Actual 

Community Facilities  9,661  13,938  13,337 
Community Support  483  703  917 
Corporate Holdings  17,737  3,695  4,777 
District and Environmental Planning  2  –  2 
Economic Development  48  20  9 
Regulation  174  53  1,249 
Transportation  38,765  44,230  42,721 
Waste Management  108  154  144 
Water Services  28,625  18,070  24,316 
Total Capital Expenditure  95,603  80,863  87,471 

The accompanying accounting policies and notes form part of these financial statements.

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity 
For the year ended 30 June 2009

Schedule of Capital Expenditure
For the year ended 30 June 2009
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PARENT  
& GROUP

2008 2009 2009

(All in $000) Note Actual Plan Actual 

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash was provided from:
Receipts from rates revenue 87,693 99,490 98,683 
Grants and subsidies 27,175 24,297 25,528 
Interest received 834 241 763 
External recoveries 31,498 35,370 23,054 

147,200 159,398 148,028 
Cash was applied to:
Payments to suppliers and employees 83,611 86,003 88,082 
Interest paid 17,343 22,215 20,197 
Levies paid 1,452 1,525 1,532 

102,406 109,743 109,811 
Net cash from operating activities 24 44,794 49,655 38,217 

Cash flows from financing activities
Cash was provided from:
Proceeds from borrowings 68,010 32,259 49,836 

68,010 32,259 49,836 
Cash was applied to:
Repayment of borrowings 22,502 5,000 5,000 

22,502 5,000 5,000 
Net cash from financing activities 45,508 27,259 44,836

Cash flows from investing activities
Cash was provided from:
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 195 149 8,174 
Sale of investment properties and shares – – 763 

195 149 8,937 
Cash was applied to:
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 89,105 73,845 82,598 
Purchase of intangible assets – – 934 

89,105 73,845 83,532 
Net cash from investing activities (88,910) (73,696) (74,595)

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents 1,392 3,218 8,458

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 2,975 1,534 4,366 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 4,366 4,752 12,824

The closing balance is represented by the following:
Cash and bank deposits 4,366 4,752 12,824

The accompanying accounting policies and notes form part of these financial statements.

The net GST component of operating activities reflects the net GST paid and received with the Inland Revenue Department. The net GST 
component has been presented on a net basis, as the gross amounts do not provide meaningful information for financial statement purposes.

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 30 June 2009
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2009

Reporting Entity
Rodney District Council (RDC) is a territorial local authority 
governed by the Local Government Act 2002 and is domiciled 
in New Zealand.

The Rodney District Council group (RDC) consists of the 
ultimate parent Rodney District Council and its subsidiary 
Rodney Properties Ltd (100% owned). Rodney Properties Ltd 
is incorporated and domiciled in New Zealand.

The primary objective of RDC is to provide goods or services 
for the community or social benefit rather than making a 
financial return. Accordingly, RDC has designated itself and 
the group as public benefit entities for the purposes of  
New Zealand equivalents to International Financial Reporting 
Standards (NZ IFRS).

The primary objective of RPL is to provide advice on the 
disposal of a portfolio of non-operational RDC properties to 
maximise financial returns to the Council so that debt can be 
minimised whilst trying to achieve good urban design and 
strategic outcomes.

The operations of the Council are reported in two geographic 
areas – the Hibiscus Coast and the Rural and Townships 
area. Costs that are district wide have been apportioned to 
the two geographic areas on the basis of population.

The significant activities of the Council are:

w Civic Leadership
w District and Environmental Planning
w Water Services
w Transportation 
w Waste Management 
w Regulation 
w Economic Development 
w Community Support 
w Community Facilities 
w Corporate Holdings
The financial statements of RDC are for the year ended  
30 June 2009. The financial statements were authorised for 
issue by Council on 27 October 2009.
Basis of preparation
The financial statements of RDC have been prepared in 
accordance with the requirements of the Local Government 
Act 2002: Part 6, Section 98 and Part 3 of Schedule 10, 
which includes the requirement to comply with New Zealand 
generally accepted accounting practice (NZ GAAP).  
They comply with NZ IFRS, and other applicable Financial 
Reporting Standards, as appropriate for public benefit entities. 

The accounting policies set out below have been applied 
consistently to all periods presented in these financial 
statements. 

The financial statements have been prepared on a historical 
cost basis, modified by the revaluation of land, certain 
infrastructural assets, forestry assets, investment property and 
certain financial instruments (including derivative instruments). 

The financial statements are presented in New Zealand 
dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand 
dollars ($’000). The functional currency of RDC is  
New Zealand dollars.

Auckland reorganisation
In accordance with the Local Government (Tamaki Makaurau 
Reorganisation) Act 2009, Rodney District Council will 
be dissolved on 1 November 2010. The functions, duties 
and powers of Rodney District Council will become the 
functions, duties and powers of the Auckland Council – the 
single unitary authority responsible for governing the entire 
Auckland region from 1 November 2010. All of Rodney District 
Council’s assets, rights, liabilities, contracts, entitlements and 
engagements vest in the Auckland Council at that date. 

Decisions are yet to be made on the Auckland Council’s 
structure and operations, including how the existing Councils, 
their subsidiaries and associates will be vested and integrated. 

The pending dissolution of Rodney District Council requires 
the financial statements to be prepared on a dissolution basis, 
not the normal going-concern basis. However, Rodney District 
Council and its group expect the services it currently delivers 
to continue to be delivered by the organisational structure put 
in place by the Auckland Council, and therefore the assets 
and liabilities of Rodney District Council and its group will be 
relevant to the Auckland Council. For that reason, while the 
financial statements have been prepared on a dissolution 
basis, no adjustments have been made to the financial 
statements because of the dissolution basis of preparation.
Basis of Consolidation
The purchase method of consolidation is used to prepare 
the consolidated group financial statements, which involves 
adding together like items of assets, liabilities, equity, income 
and expenses on a line by line basis. All significant intragroup 
balances, transactions, income and expenses are eliminated 
on consolidation.
Joint ventures
A joint venture is a contractual arrangement whereby two or 
more parties undertake an economic activity that is subject to 
joint control. For jointly controlled assets RDC recognises in 
its financial statements its share of jointly controlled assets, 
the liabilities and expenses it incurs, its share of liabilities and 
expenses incurred jointly and income from the sale or use of 
its share of the output of the joint venture.
Standards, amendments and interpretations 
issued that are not yet effective and have not been 
early adopted.
There are no Standards, amendments and interpretations 
issued that are not yet effective that are relevant to RDC 
which we have adopted early. 
Changes in accounting policies
With the exception of the initial application of NZ IAS 1 
Presentation of Financial Statements (revised 2007), the 
accounting policies have been applied consistently to all 
periods presented. 

NZ IAS 1 (revised 2007) is effective for reporting periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2009. The revised 
standard requires information in financial statements to 
be aggregated on the basis of shared characteristics and 
introduces a Statement of Comprehensive Income. The 
Council has adopted the single Statement of Comprehensive 
Income which presents items of income and expense, and 
components of other comprehensive income.

Note 1 Statement of Accounting Policies
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Budget figures
The budget figures are those approved by the Council at the 
beginning of the year after a period of consultation with the 
public as part of the Annual Plan process. The budget figures 
have been prepared in accordance with NZ GAAP, and are 
consistent with the accounting policies adopted by the Council 
for the preparation of the financial statements.
Cost allocation
RDC has derived the cost of service for each significant activity 
of RDC using the cost allocation system outlined below.

Direct costs are those costs directly attributable to a 
significant activity. Indirect costs are those costs, which 
cannot be identified in an economically feasible manner, with 
a specific significant activity.

Direct costs are charged directly to significant activities. 
Indirect costs are charged to significant activities using 
appropriate cost drivers such as actual usage, staff numbers 
and floor area.
Good and Service Tax (GST)
All items in the financial statements are stated exclusive of 
GST, except for receivables and payables, which are stated on 
a GST inclusive basis. Where GST is not recoverable as input 
tax then it is recognised as part of the related asset or expense.

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, 
the Inland Revenue Department (IRD) is included as part of 
receivables or payables in the statement of financial position.

The net GST paid to, or received from the IRD, including the 
GST relating to investing and financing activities, is classified 
as an operating cash flow in the statement of cash flows.

Commitments and contingencies are disclosed exclusive of GST.
Revenue
Revenue is measured at the fair value of  
consideration received.

w Rates are set annually by a resolution from Council and 
relate to a financial year. All ratepayers are invoiced within 
the financial year to which the rates have been set.  
Rates revenue is recognised when levied.

w Water billing revenue is recognised on an accrual basis. 
Unbilled sales, as a result of unread meters at year end, 
are accrued on an average usage basis.

w RDC receives government grants from Land Transport 
New Zealand, which subsidises part of RDC’s costs in 
maintaining the local roading infrastructure. The subsidies 
are recognised as revenue upon entitlement as conditions 
pertaining to eligible expenditure have been fulfilled.

w Other grants and assets vested in the Council – with or 
without conditions – are recognised as revenue when 
control over the assets is obtained.

w Financial Contributions with the exception of reserve 
contributions, the Council holds all financial contributions 
received in appropriate liability accounts, and only 
recognises them as revenue when relevant capital works 
are identified and undertaken. Reserve contributions are 
realised as income as soon as they are received.

Borrowing costs 
Borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the period 
in which they are incurred. 

Income Tax
Generally the Council is not liable for income tax on its core 
activities, however where taxable income arises, the following 
policies apply.

Income tax expense comprises both current tax and deferred 
tax, and is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted 
or substantively enacted by balance date.

Current tax is the amount of income tax payable based on 
the taxable profit for the current year, plus any adjustments to 
income tax payable in respect of prior years.

Deferred tax is the amount of income tax payable or 
recoverable in future periods in respect of temporary 
differences and unused tax losses. The measurement of 
deferred tax reflects the tax consequences that would follow 
from the manner in which the entity expects to recover or 
settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable 
temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are recognised 
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be 
available against which the deductible temporary differences 
or tax losses can be utilised.

Deferred tax is not recognised if the temporary difference 
arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or from the initial 
recognition of an asset and liability in a transaction that is not 
a business combination, and at the time of the transaction, 
affects neither accounting profit nor taxable profit.

Deferred tax is recognised on taxable temporary differences 
arising on investments in subsidiaries and associates, and 
interests in joint ventures, except where the company can 
control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is 
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the 
foreseeable future.

Current tax and deferred tax is charged or credited to the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income, except when it relates 
to items charged or credited directly to equity, in which case 
the tax is dealt with in equity.
Operating leases
An operating lease is a lease that does not transfer 
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership 
of an asset. Lease payments under an operating lease are 
recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the 
lease term.
Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand, deposits 
held at call with banks, other short-term highly liquid 
investments with original maturities of three months or less, 
and bank overdrafts. 

Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current 
liabilities in the statement of financial position. 
Statement of Cash Flows
w Operating activities include cash received from all income 

sources of the Council and record the cash payments made 
for the supply of goods and services. 

w Investing activities are those activities relating to the 
acquisition and disposal of non-current assets.

w Financing activities comprise activities that change the 
equity and debt capital structure of the Council.

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2009
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Trade and other receivables 
Trade and other receivables are measured at fair value, an 
assessment of the recoverability of the rating and sundry 
debtors has been performed and adjustments have been 
made where necessary.
Inventories 
Inventories held for distribution or consumption in the 
provision of services that are not supplied on a commercial 
basis are measured at the lower of cost, adjusted when 
applicable, for any loss of service potential.
Financial assets 
RDC classifies its financial assets into the following four 
categories: financial assets at fair value through profit or 
loss, held-to-maturity investments, loans and receivables and 
financial assets at fair value through equity. The classification 
depends on the purpose for which the investments were 
acquired. Management determines the classification of 
its investments at initial recognition and re-evaluates this 
designation at every reporting date. 

Financial assets and liabilities are initially measured at fair 
value plus transaction costs unless they are carried at fair 
value through profit or loss in which case the transaction 
costs are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income. 

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in 
an active market is determined using valuation techniques. 
RDC uses a variety of methods and makes assumptions that 
are based on market conditions existing at each balance date. 

The four categories of financial assets are: 

1 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
 This category has two sub-categories: financial assets held 

for trading, and those designated at fair value through profit 
or loss at inception. A financial asset is classified in this 
category if acquired principally for the purpose of selling 
in the short term or if so designated by management. 
Derivatives are also categorised as held for trading unless 
they are designated as hedges. Assets in this category are 
classified as current assets if they are either held for trading 
or are expected to be realised within 12 months of the 
balance sheet date. 

 Currently, RDC does not hold any financial assets in  
this category. 

2 Loans and receivables 
 These are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or 

determinable payments that are not quoted in an  
active market. 

 After initial recognition they are measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method. Gains and losses 
when the asset is impaired or derecognised are recognised 
in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. Loans and 
receivables are classified as “trade and other receivables” 
in the statement of financial position. 

3 Held to maturity investments 
 Held to maturity investments are assets with fixed or 

determinable payments and fixed maturities that RDC has 
the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity. 

 After initial recognition they are measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method. Gains and losses when 
the asset is impaired or derecognised are recognised in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

4  Financial assets at fair value through equity 
 Financial assets at fair value through equity are those 

that are designated as fair value through equity or are not 
classified in any of the other categories above. 

 This category encompasses: 
 w Investments that RDC intends to hold long-term but 

which may be realised before maturity; and 
 w Shareholdings that RDC holds for strategic purposes. 

RDC’s investments in Watercare Services Ltd and Civic 
Assurance are held at the net asset backing of the shares. 

Impairment of financial assets 
At each balance sheet date RDC assesses whether there 
is any objective evidence that a financial asset or group 
of financial assets is impaired. Any impairment losses are 
recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 
Accounting for derivative financial instruments 
and hedging activities 
RDC uses derivative financial instruments to hedge exposure 
to interest rate risks arising from financing activities. In 
accordance with its treasury policy, RDC does not hold or 
issue derivative financial instruments for trading purposes. 

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date 
a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently 
remeasured at their fair value at each balance date. 

The method of recognising the resulting gain or loss depends 
on whether the derivative is designated as a hedging 
instrument, and if so, the nature of the item being hedged. 
RDC designates certain derivatives as either: 

w hedges of the fair value of recognised assets or liabilities or 
a firm commitment (fair value hedge); or 

w hedges of highly probable forecast transactions  
(cash flow hedge). 

The RDC documents at the inception of the transaction the 
relationship between hedging instruments and hedged items, 
as well as its risk management objective and strategy for 
undertaking various hedge transactions. RDC also documents 
its assessment, both at hedge inception and on an ongoing 
basis, of whether the derivatives that are used in hedging 
transactions are highly effective in offsetting changes in fair 
values or cash flows of hedged items. 

The full fair value of hedging derivatives is classified as a  
non-current asset if the remaining maturity of the hedged 
item is more than 12 months and as a current asset if the 
remaining maturity of the hedged item is less than 12 months. 

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2009
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Fair value hedge 

The gain or loss from remeasuring the hedging instrument 
at fair value, along with the changes in the fair value on the 
hedged item attributable to the hedged risk, is recognised in 
the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

Cash flow hedge 

The portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument 
that is determined to be an effective hedge is recognised 
directly in equity through the statement of changes in equity 
and the ineffective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging 
instrument is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income.

If a hedge of a forecast transaction subsequently results in 
the recognition of a financial asset or a financial liability, the 
associated gains or losses that were recognised directly 
in equity will be reclassified into profit or loss in the same 
period or periods during which the asset acquired or liability 
assumed affects profit or loss. However, if RDC expects that 
all or a portion of a loss recognised directly in equity will not be 
recovered in one or more future periods, it will reclassify into 
profit or loss the amount that is not expected to be recovered. 

When a hedge of a forecast transaction subsequently results 
in the recognition of a non-financial asset or a non-financial 
liability, or a forecast transaction for a non-financial asset or 
non-financial liability becomes a firm commitment for which 
fair value hedge accounting is applied, then the associated 
gains and losses that were recognised directly in equity will 
be included in the initial cost or carrying amount of the asset 
or liability. 

For cash flow hedges other than those covered above, 
amounts that had been recognised directly in equity will be 
recognised in profit or loss in the same period or periods 
during which the hedged forecast transaction affects profit or 
loss (for example, when a forecast sale occurs). 

If a hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated, 
exercised or revoked, or it no longer meets the criteria for 
hedge accounting, the cumulative gain or loss on the hedging 
instrument that remains recognised directly in equity from the 
period when the hedge was effective will remain separately 
recognised in equity until the forecast transaction occurs. 
When the forecast transaction is no longer expected to 
occur any related cumulative gain or loss on the hedging 
instrument that remains recognised directly in equity from the 
period when the hedge was effective will be recognised in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

Property, plant and equipment 
Property, plant and equipment consists of: 

w Operational assets – These include land, buildings, 
library books, office and computer equipment, plant and 
machinery, and motor vehicles. 

w Restricted assets – Restricted assets are parks and 
reserves owned by RDC which provide a benefit or service 
to the community and cannot be disposed of because of 
legal or other restrictions. 

w Infrastructure assets – Infrastructure assets are the fixed 
utility systems owned by RDC. Each asset class includes 
all items that are required for the network to function, for 
example, sewer reticulation includes reticulation piping and 
sewer pump stations. 

Property, plant and equipment is shown at cost or valuation, 
less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. 
Additions 
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is 
recognised as an asset if, and only if, it is probable that 
future economic benefits or service potential associated with 
the item will flow to RDC and the cost of the item can be 
measured reliably. 

In most instances, an item of property, plant and equipment is 
recognised at its cost. Where an asset is acquired at no cost, 
or for a nominal cost, it is recognised at fair value as at the 
date of acquisition. 
Assets under construction
Assets under construction are not depreciated. The total 
cost of a project is transferred to the relevant asset class on 
its completion and then depreciated. The current carrying 
amount of items under construction is disclosed in Note 14. 
Disposals 
Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing 
the proceeds with the carrying amount of the asset. Gains 
and losses on disposals are included in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income. When revalued assets are sold, the 
amounts included in asset revaluation reserves in respect of 
those assets are transferred to retained earnings. 
Subsequent costs 
Costs incurred subsequent to initial acquisition are capitalised 
only when it is probable that future economic benefits or 
service potential associated with the item will flow to RDC and 
the cost of the item can be measured reliably. 

Notes to the Financial Statements
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Depreciation
Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis on all 
property, plant and equipment other than land, at rates that 
will write off the cost (or valuation) of the assets to their 
estimated residual values over their useful lives. The useful 
lives and associated depreciation rates of major classes of 
assets have been estimated as follows:

Buildings

Concrete 100 years 1%

Wooden 40 years 2.5%

Computer Equipment 3 years 33.3%

Furniture and Fittings 8 years 12.5%

Library Books 8 years 12.5%

Office Equipment 8 years 12.5%

Motor Vehicles 4 years 25%

Plant and machinery 15 years 6.66%

Gym Equipment 5 years 20%

Wharves 40 years 2.5%

Roading

Bridges 80 to 100 years 1% to 1.25%

Bus Shelters 50 years 2%

Culverts 50 to 100 years 1% to 2%

Footbridges 50 years 2%

Footpaths 80 years 1.25%

Formation Not Depreciated

Kerb & Channel 60 years 1.6%

Pavement Shoulder 25 years 4%

Pavement Unsealed 5 to 25 years 4% to 20%

Pavement Sealed 20 to 30 years 3.3% to 5%

Pavement Surface 5 to 20 years 5% to 20%

Road Furniture 8 to 30 years 8.8% to 12.5%

Street Lights 20 to 60 years 1.6% to 5%

Sewerage Reticulation

Pipes 80 to 100 years 1% to 1.25%

Laterals 80 to 120 years 0.83% to 1.25%

Fittings 25 to 90 years 1.1% to 4% 

Treatment Plant 10 to 70 years 1.4% to 10%

Water Reticulation

Pipes 60 to 80 years 1.25% to 1.6%

Fittings 30 to 100 years 1% to 3.3%

Pump Stations 10 to 100 years 1% to 10 %

Stormwater System

Pipes 80 to 120 years 0.83% to 1.25%

Laterals 50 to 100 years 1% to 2%

Fittings 50 to 100 years 1% to 2%

Structures 50 to 100 years 1% to 2%

Retention Ponds 30 to 100 years 1% to 3.3%

Infrastructure Buildings

Concrete 100 years 1%

Wooden 40 years 2.5%

Reserve Structures 10 to 60 years 1.6% to 10%

The residual value and useful life of an asset is reviewed, and 
adjusted if applicable, at each financial year-end.

Revaluation
Those asset classes that are revalued are valued on a three 
yearly valuation cycle on the basis described below. All other 
asset classes are carried at depreciated historical or deemed 
cost. The carrying values of revalued items are reviewed 
at each balance date to ensure that those values are not 
materially different to fair value.
Operational and Restricted land and buildings:
Land – other than investment properties, is held at deemed 
cost as determined by independent market valuation as at 
30 June 1990. This valuation excludes land underneath the 
roads. Land additions since that date are shown at cost. 

Buildings are held at deemed cost as determined by 
independent market valuation as at 30 June 2005.
Infrastructural asset classes: roads, water 
reticulation, sewerage reticulation and 
stormwater systems:
At fair value determined on a depreciated replacement 
cost basis by an independent valuer. At balance date RDC 
assesses the carrying values of its infrastructural assets to 
ensure that they do not differ materially from the assets’ fair 
values. If there is a material difference, then the off-cycle 
asset classes are revalued. The most recent valuation was 
performed by GHD Valuers, and the valuation is effective as 
at 30 June 2007. All infrastructural asset classes carried at 
valuation were valued.
Land under roads
Land under roads was valued at 30 June 2002 by using the 
average value for all properties in the district and applying this 
to the area of land lying under the Council’s roading network. 
This is deemed to be cost. Additions since then are recorded 
at cost. Land under roads is not revalued
Library collections
At depreciated replacement cost in accordance with the 
guidelines released by the New Zealand Library Association 
and the National Library of NZ in May 2002. Library valuations 
are performed by the Head Librarian and are not subject to 
an independent review because they are readily available 
market prices to determine fair value. The last valuation was 
performed in June 2007.
Accounting for revaluations
RDC accounts for revaluations of property, plant and 
equipment on a class of asset basis.

The results of revaluing are credited or debited to an asset 
revaluation reserve for that class of asset. Where this results 
in a debit balance in the asset revaluation reserve, this 
balance is expensed in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income. Any subsequent increase on revaluation that off-sets 
a previous decrease in value recognised in the Statement 
of Comprehensive Income will be recognised first in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income up to the amount 
previously expensed, and then credited to the revaluation 
reserve for that class of asset.
Intangible assets
Acquired computer software licenses are capitalised on the 
basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the 
specific software. Costs associated with maintaining computer 
software are recognised as an expense when incurred.  
Costs that are directly associated with the development 
of software for internal use by RDC, are recognised as 
an intangible asset. Direct costs include the software 
development employee costs and an appropriate portion  
of relevant overheads.
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Amortisation of intangible assets
The carrying value of an intangible asset with a finite life 
is amortised on a straight-line basis over its useful life. 
Amortisation begins when the asset is available for use  
and ceases at the date that the asset is derecognised.

The amortisation charge for each period is recognised in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

The useful lives and associated amortisation rates of major 
classes of intangible assets have been estimated as follows:

Asset classes Expected useful life (years)
Computer software 3 to 10 years

Investment property
Properties leased to third parties under operating leases are 
classified as investment property unless the property is held 
to meet service delivery objectives, rather than to earn rentals 
or for capital appreciation.

Investment property is measured initially at its cost, including 
transaction costs.

After initial recognition, RDC measures all investment 
property at fair value as determined annually by an 
independent valuer.

Gains or losses arising from a change in the fair value of 
investment property are recognised in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income.
Impairment of non-financial assets
Non-financial assets that have an indefinite useful life are 
not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for 
impairment. Assets that have a finite useful life are reviewed 
for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.  
An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the 
asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.  
The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value 
less costs to sell and value in use.

Value in use is depreciated replacement cost for an asset 
where the future economic benefits or service potential of 
the asset are not primarily dependent on the assets ability 
to generate net cash inflows and where the entity would, if 
deprived of the asset, replace it’s remaining future economic 
benefits or service potential.

The value in use for cash-generating assets is the present 
value of expected future cash flows.

If an asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount 
the asset is impaired and the carrying amount is written 
down to the recoverable amount. For revalued assets the 
impairment loss is recognised against the revaluation reserve 
for that class of asset. Where that results in a debit balance 
in the revaluation reserve, the balance is recognised in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income.

For assets not carried at a revalued amount, the total 
impairment loss is recognised in the statement of  
financial performance.

The reversal of an impairment loss on a revalued asset is 
credited to the revaluation reserve. However, to the extent 
that an impairment loss for that class of asset was previously 
recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income, 
a reversal of the impairment loss is also recognised in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income.

For assets not carried at a revalued amount (other than 
goodwill) the reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in 
the Statement of Comprehensive Income.
Forestry assets
Standing forestry assets are independently revalued to 
fair value less estimated costs to sell for one growth cycle. 
Fair value is determined based on the present value of 
expected net cash flows discounted at a current market 
determined pre-tax rate. This calculation is based on existing 
sustainable felling plans and assessments regarding growth, 
timber prices, felling costs and silviculture costs and takes 
into consideration environmental, operational and market 
restrictions.

Gains or losses arising on initial recognition of biological 
assets at fair value less estimated costs to sell and from 
a change in fair value less estimated costs to sell are 
recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

The costs to maintain forestry assets are included in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income.
Non-current assets held for sale
Non-current assets held for sale are classified as held for sale 
if their carrying amount will be recovered principally through 
a sale transaction, not through continuing use. Non-current 
assets held for sale are measured at the lower of their 
carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. 

Any impairment losses for write-downs of non-current 
assets held for sale are recognised in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income. 

Any increases in fair value (less costs to sell) are recognised 
up to the level of any impairment losses that have been 
previously recognised. 

Non-current assets (including those that are part of a 
disposal group) are not depreciated or amortised while they 
are classified as held for sale. Interest and other expenses 
attributable to the liabilities of a disposal group classified as 
held for sale continue to be recognised.
Employee benefits
Short-term benefits

Employee benefits that RDC expects to be settled within 12 
months of balance date are measured at nominal values 
based on accrued entitlements at current rates of pay.

These include salaries and wages accrued up to balance 
date, annual leave earned to, but not yet taken at balance 
date, retiring and long service leave entitlements expected to 
be settled within 12 months.

RDC recognises a liability and an expense for bonuses where 
contractually obliged or where there is a past practice that has 
created a constructive obligation.

Long-term benefits

Entitlements that are payable beyond 12 months, such as 
long service leave, have been calculated on current rates 
of pay. The calculation is based on likely future entitlements 
accruing to staff, based on years of service and the likelihood 
that staff will reach the point of entitlement.
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Superannuation scheme
RDC belongs to the Defined Benefit Plan Contributors 
Scheme (the scheme), which is managed by the Board of 
Trustees of the National Provident Fund. The scheme is a 
multi-employer defined benefit scheme.

Insufficient information is available to use defined benefit 
accounting, as it is not possible to determine from the 
terms of the scheme, the extent to which the surplus/deficit 
will affect future contributions by individual employers, as 
there is no prescribed basis for allocation. Obligations for 
contributions are recognised as an expense in the Statement 
of Comprehensive Income as incurred.
Provisions
RDC recognises a provision for future expenditure of 
uncertain amount or timing when there is a present obligation 
(either legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it 
is probable that expenditures will be required to settle the 
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount 
of the obligation. Provisions are not recognised for future 
operating losses.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the 
expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation 
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific 
to the obligation. The increase in the provision due to the 
passage of time is recognised as an interest expense.
Landfill aftercare provision
The Council has a duty under the Resource Management 
Act to avoid, remedy or reduce any adverse effects on 
the environment. To meet this obligation, the Council has 
identified a number of closed landfill sites that we are required 
to monitor and provide remedial work over the next 30 years.

The estimated cost of this work has been discounted to 
current cost and is provided for in the financial statements. 
Financial guarantee contracts
A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires RDC 
to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a loss 
it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment 
when due.

Financial guarantee contracts are recognised at fair value.  
A provision is recognised based on the probability RDC will be 
required to reimburse a holder for a loss incurred, discounted 
to present value. The portion of the guarantee that remains 
unrecognised, prior to discounting to fair value, is disclosed 
as a contingent liability.
Borrowings
Borrowings are initially recognised at their fair value.  
After initial recognition, all borrowings are measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method.
Equity
Equity is the community’s interest in RDC and is measured  
as the difference between total assets and total liabilities. 
Equity is disaggregated and classified into a number  
of reserves.

The components of equity are:

w Retained earnings 
w Restricted reserves 
w Fair value and hedging reserves 
w Asset revaluation reserves 

Restricted and Council created reserves
Restricted reserves are a component of equity generally 
representing a particular use to which various parts of equity 
have been assigned. Restricted reserves are reserves 
restricted by Council decision. The Council may alter them 
without references to any third party or the Courts.  
Transfers to and from these reserves are at the discretion  
of the Council.

RDC’s objectives, policies and processes for managing 
capital are described in Note 32.

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions

In preparing these financial statements RDC has made 
estimates and assumptions concerning the future.  
These estimates and assumptions may differ from the 
subsequent actual results. Estimates and judgements are 
continually evaluated and are based on historical experience 
and other factors, including expectations or future events 
that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 
The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk 
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts 
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are 
discussed below:
Infrastructural assets
There are a number of assumptions and estimates used when 
performing DRC valuations over infrastructural assets.  
These include:

w the physical deterioration and condition of an asset, for 
example the Council could be carrying an asset at an 
amount that does not reflect its actual condition. This is 
particularly so for those assets, which are not visible, for 
example stormwater, wastewater and water supply pipes 
that are underground. This risk is minimised by Council 
performing a combination of physical inspections and 
condition modelling assessments of underground assets; 

w estimating any obsolescence or surplus capacity of an 
asset; and 

w estimates are made when determining the remaining 
useful lives over which the asset will be depreciated. 
These estimates can be impacted by the local conditions, 
for example weather patterns and traffic growth. If useful 
lives do not reflect the actual consumption of the benefits 
of the asset, then RDC could be over or under estimating 
the annual depreciation charge recognised as an expense 
in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. To minimise 
this risk RDC’s infrastructural asset useful lives have 
been determined with reference to the NZ Infrastructural 
Asset Valuation and Depreciation Guidelines published 
by the National Asset Management Steering Group, and 
have been adjusted for local conditions based on past 
experience. Asset inspections, deterioration and condition 
modelling are also carried out regularly as part of the 
RDC’s asset management planning activities, which gives 
RDC further assurance over its useful life estimates. 

Experienced independent valuers perform the Council’s 
infrastructural asset revaluations.
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PARENT  
& GROUP

Note 2 Rates Revenue 2008 2009 2009

(All in $000) Actual Plan Actual 

General rates 18,888 19,164 19,174
Targeted rates attributable to activities
Community Facilities 17,329 18,876 18,881
Corporate Holdings 114 50 47
District and Environmental Planning 3,768 4,037 4,114
Economic Development 135 139 138
Transportation 20,722 25,658 25,676
Water Services 27,307 31,566 31,100

69,375 80,326 79,956
Total rates revenue 88,263 99,490 99,130

Revenue is shown net of rates remissions and non-rateable land. The Council has established rates remission policies under the Local 
Government (Rating) Act 2002. These policies provide for rates to be remitted for community groups, sporting groups, school sanitation charges 
and other purposes.

PARENT  
& GROUP

2008 2009

Actual Actual 

Rates remitted for protected land:
Total value of rates remitted for protected land $10,716 $13,570
Total number of rates remitted for protected land 19 22

PARENT  
& GROUP

Note 3 Other Revenue 2008 2009 2009

(All in $000) Actual Plan Actual 

Revenue and user charges 21,809 23,515 21,475
NZ Transport Agency grants 21,375 23,084 23,395
Petrol tax 715 783 691
Vested asset contributions 6,798 7,015 3,148
Interest income 834 192 763
Rental revenue 2,817 2,735 2,891
Cash contributions 10,327 10,800 6,257
Grants and subsidies 765 430 2,088
Other income 35 0 976
Total other revenue 65,475 68,554 61,684

There are no unfulfilled conditions and other contingences attached to government grants recognised.

PARENT  
& GROUP

Note 4 Other Gains / (Losses) 2008 2009 2009

(All in $000) Actual Plan Actual 

Gain/(loss) on disposal of property, plant and equipment 66 46 6,032
Gain/(Loss) on changes in fair value of investment property (Note 16) 540 0 (239)
Gain/(Loss) on changes in fair value of non-current assets for sale (Note 17) 0 0 (1,256)
Gain on changes in fair value of forestry assets (Note 15) 0 0 344
Total other gains / (losses) 606 46 4,880
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PARENT  
& GROUP

Note 5 Summary Cost of Services 2008 2009 2009

(All in $000) Actual Plan Actual 

Revenue
Civic Leadership 149 40 37
Community Facilities 30,019 29,894 29,224
Community Support 427 287 337
Corporate Holdings 6,373 3,822 9,736
District and Environmental Planning 4,089 4,133 4,846
Economic Development 257 192 179
Regulation 11,987 13,528 12,108
Transportation 46,203 56,896 52,291
Waste Management 155 28 40
Water Services 35,797 40,106 37,721
Total Activity income 135,456 148,926 146,519

General Rates 18,888 19,164 19,174

Total income 154,344 168,090 165,694

Expenditure
Civic Leadership 3,760 3,914 3,636
Community Facilities 24,063 25,097 25,366
Community Support 4,897 5,226 5,364
Corporate Holdings 4,943 8,859 12,027
District and Environmental Planning 5,168 4,469 5,527
Economic Development 1,389 1,416 1,518
Regulation 17,104 16,667 17,722
Transportation 40,823 43,850 43,575
Waste Management 2,556 2,769 6,145
Water Services 34,016 36,519 34,199
Total expenditure 138,719 148,786 155,079

PARENT  
& GROUP

Note 6 Employee Benefit Expenses 2008 2009 2009

(All in $000) Actual Plan Actual 

Salaries and wages 27,894 30,026 30,069
Defined contribution plan employer contributions 48 – 66
Increase in employee benefit liabilities 298 – 318
Total employee benefit expenses 28,240 30,026 30,453

Employer contributions to defined contribution plans include contributions to Kiwisaver.
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PARENT  
& GROUP

Note 7 Other Expenses 2008 2009 2009

(All in $000) Actual Plan Actual 

Total other expenses 56,011 57,549 64,752
Items to note
Fees to principal auditor:  
 Audit fees for financial statement audit 134 140 158
 Audit fees for other assurance services  
 (process to select set of physical works providers) – – 17

 Audit fees for other assurance services (Penlink project) 4 – –
 Audit fees for Long term Council Community Plan audit – 60 111
Research and development 141 415 319
Minimum lease payments under operating leases 16 14 16
Future Landfill monitoring costs – – 3,450

PARENT  
& GROUP

Note 8 Finance Costs 2008 2009 2009

(All in $000) Actual Plan Actual 

Interest Expense
Interest on bank borrowings 18,282 22,320 19,839

Fair value gains on derivatives
Interest rate swaps: cash flow hedges, transfer from equity 583 – 1,299

Total Finance Costs 18,865 22,320 21,138

Note 9 Tax
Historically RDC policy has been that all activities were non-taxable, however a recent tax review has identified that some activities associated 
with port operations and the Araparera forestry joint venture may be subject to inome tax.

Income tax returns have been lodged with the IRD claiming significant tax losses to date of $2.134 million and we are currently in negotiations  
on this.

Note 10 Cash and Cash Equivalents
PARENT  

& GROUP

(All in $000) 2008 2009

Cash at bank and in hand 296 250
Short term deposits maturing three months or less from date of acquisition 4,070 12,574
Balance at 30 June 4,366 12,824

The carrying value of short-term deposits with maturity dates of three months or less approximates their fair value.

Short term deposits are held by banks which are approved institutions under the Retail Deposit Guarantee Scheme. Cover under this scheme is 
limited to a maximum of $1,000,000 per depositor for each institution.

The weighted average effective interest rate for cash and cash equivalents is 3.14%

Cash and bank overdrafts include the following for the purpose of the cash flow statement:

PARENT  
& GROUP

(All in $000) 2008 2009

Cash at bank and in hand 296 250
Short term bank deposits maturing within three months 4,070 12,574

4,366 12,824

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2009



FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & POLICIES144

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2009

Note 11 Debtors and Other Receivables PARENT  
& GROUP

(All in $000) 2008 2009

Rates receivables  4,484  6,084 
Other receivables  6,276  6,120 
Accrued income  436  6,873 
NZTA subsidy  1,832  2,477 
Sundry debtors  3,015  5,233 
Prepayments  699  177 

 16,742  26,964 
Less provision for impairment of receivables  (898)  (1,818)
Balance at 30 June  15,844  25,146 

Less non-current portion: – –

Current portion  15,844  25,146 

The carrying value of debtors and other receivables (excluding community loans) approximates their fair value.

There is no concentration of credit risk with respect to receivables outside the Council, as the Council has a large number of customers.

RDC does not provide for any impairment on rates receivable, as it has various powers under the Local Government (Rating) Act 2002 to 
recover any outstanding debts. Ratepayers can apply for payment plan options in special circumstances. Where such payment plans are in 
place debts are discounted to the present value of future repayments.

These powers allow RDC to commence legal proceedings to recover any rates that remain unpaid four months after the due date for payment. 
If payment has not been made within three months of the Court’s judgement, then RDC can apply to the Registrar of the High Court to have the 
judgement enforced by sale or lease of the rating unit.

As of 30 June 2009 and 2008, all overdue receivables, except for rates receivable, have been assessed for impairment and appropriate 
provisions applied. RDC holds no collateral as security or other credit enhancements over receivables that are either past due or impaired.

The status of receivables as at 30 June 2009 and June 2008 are detailed below:

2008 2009

(All in $000) Gross Impairment Net Gross Impairment Net

Group
Current  10,359  –  10,359  18,969  –  18,969 
Past due 1 Month  355  –  355  1,151  –  1,151 
Past due 2 Months  145  –  145  324  –  324 
Past due 3 Months +  5,883  (898)  4,985  6,520  (1,818)  4,702 
Total  16,742  (898)  15,844  26,964  (1,818)  25,146 

The impairment provision has been calculated based on expected losses for RDC’s pool of debtors. Expected losses have been determined 
based on an analysis of RDC’s losses in previous periods, and review of specific debtors.

PARENT  
& GROUP

(All in $000) 2008 2009

Individual impairment  898 1,818
Collective impairment – –
Total provision for impairment 898 1,818

Individually impaired receivables have been determined to be impaired because of significant financial difficulties being experienced by the 
debtor. An analysis of these individually impaired debtors is as follows:
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Note 11 Debtors and Other Receivables cont.
PARENT  

& GROUP

(All in $000) 2008 2009

Past due 1-60 days  –  – 
Past due 61-120 days  –  – 
Past due > 120 days  898  1,818 
Total individual impairment  898  1,818 

Movements in the provision for impairment of receivables and community loans are as follows:

PARENT  
& GROUP

(All in $000) 2008 2009

At 1 July 790  898 
Additional provisions made during the year 108 920
Receivables written off during period – –
Balance at 30 June  898  1,818 

Note 12 Inventories
PARENT  

& GROUP

(All in $000) 2008 2009

Leisure Centre  8  18 
Cafeteria  11  10 
Orewa Holiday park  1  2 
Information Centre  5  5 
Balance at 30 June  25  35 

Note 13 Derivative Financial Instruments
PARENT  

& GROUP

(All in $000) 2008 2009

Current asset portion
Interest Rate swaps – cash flow hedges  115 – 

Non current asset portion
Interest Rate swaps – cash flow hedges  3,168  4,460 
Interest Rate swaps – held for trading  605  – 

Current liability portion
Interest Rate swaps – cash flow hedges  (45)  (858)

Non current liability portion
Interest Rate swaps – cash flow hedges  –  (9,182)
Interest Rate swaps – held for trading  –  (897)
Balance at 30 June  3,843  (6,477)

The fair value of the interest rate swaps have been determined using a discounted cash flows valuation technique based on quoted market prices.

The notional principal amounts of the outstanding interest rate swap contracts at 30 June 2009 were $324,000,000 (2008 $162,000,000).

At 30 June 2009, the fixed interest rates of cash flow hedge interest rate swaps vary from 3.40% to 7.66% (2008 6.05% to 7.25%).

Gains and losses recognised in the hedging reserve in equity (note 23) on interest rate swap contracts as at 30 June 2009 will be released to the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income as interest paid on the underlying debt.
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Land  1,934 
Buildings  4,380 
Library Books – 
Heritage  39 
Plant and equipment  1,208 
Furniture and Fittings – 
Computer Equipment  93 
Office Equipment  4 

Note 14 Property, Plant, Equipment & Intangible Assets (PARENT & GROUP)

Cost / Accumulated Carrying Current Current Current Cost / Accumulated Carrying Assets Held Reported

2009 Revaluation depreciation amount year year Transfers year Revaluation depreciation amount For Resale amount

1-Jul-08 1-Jul-08 1-Jul-08 additions disposals depreciation 30-Jun-09 30-Jun-09 30-Jun-09 Reclassified 30-Jun-09

Council restricted assets
Land  65,757  –  65,757  4,412 – – –  70,169 –  70,169  (21)  70,148 
Buildings  8,979  1,111  7,868  247 – –  298  9,226  1,409  7,817  7,817 
Total restricted assets  74,736  1,111  73,625  4,659 – –  298  79,395  1,410  77,986  (21)  77,965 

Council operational assets
Land  95,997  –  95,997  1,348  (1,723) – –  95,622 –  95,622  (6,775)  88,847 
Buildings  68,581  5,964  62,616  6,142  (348) –  1,936  74,309  7,834  66,474  (2,102)  64,372 
Library books  5,410  2,736  2,674  622 – –  791  6,032  3,527  2,505 –  2,505 
Heritage  243  5  238  21 – –  2  264  7  257 –  257 
Plant and equipment  7,362  1,714  5,647  791 – –  285  8,153  1,999  6,153 –  6,153 
Motor vehicles  3,259  1,079  2,180  761  (114) –  561  3,585  1,319  2,266 –  2,266 
Furniture and fittings  5,338  3,891  1,446  335 – –  404  5,673  4,295  1,377 –  1,377 
Computer equipment  9,368  6,597  2,771  1,016 – –  1,574  10,384  8,171  2,213 –  2,213 
Office Equipment  815  451  364  3 –  (202)  9  616  460  156 –  156 
Total operational assets  196,373  22,437  173,936  11,039  (2,185)  (202)  5,562  204,636  27,612  177,023  (8,877)  168,146 

Council infrastructural assets
Reticulation – Wastewater  219,939  4,742  215,197  12,287 – –  5,139  232,226  9,881  222,345 –  222,345 
Reticulation – Water  115,471  2,414  113,057  5,651 – –  2,595  121,122  5,009  116,113 –  116,113 
Reticulation – Stormwater  200,880  2,190  198,690  3,394 – –  2,261  204,274  4,451  199,823 –  199,823 
Roading network (including bridges)  662,925  17,453  645,472  42,592 –  (747)  19,236  705,517  36,689  668,081 –  668,081 
Land under roads  104,125  –  104,125  691 – – –  104,816 –  104,816 –  104,816 
Carparks  6,389  –  6,389  258 – – –  6,647 –  6,647  (179)  6,468 
Buildings – Wastewater  22,017  4,479  17,538 – – –  315  22,017  4,794  17,223 –  17,223 
Buildings – Water  9,317  1,841  7,476 – – –  111  9,317  1,952  7,365 –  7,365 
Buildings – Stormwater  50  2  48 – – – –  50  2  48 –  48 
Buildings – Wharves  –  – – – – – – – – – – – 
Buildings – Carparks  302  30  272  100 – –  12  402  42  360 –  360 
Buildings – Conveniences  6,741  500  6,241 – – –  149  6,741  649  6,092 –  6,092 
Reserves  21,755  4,560  17,195  5,823 – –  1,015  27,578  5,575  22,003 –  22,003 
Cemetery structures  436  16  420  44 – –  5  480  21  459 –  459 
Miscellaneous structures  6 –  6 – – – –  6 –  6 –  6 
Total infrastructural assets  1,370,353  38,227  1,332,126  70,840  –  (747)  30,839  1,441,193  69,069  1,371,381  (179)  1,371,202 
Total property plant and equipment  1,641,462  61,775  1,579,687  86,538  (2,185)  (949)  36,699  1,725,224  98,091  1,626,390  (9,077)  1,617,311 

Council intangible assets
Software  7,072  3,104  3,968  934  –  202  505  8,208  3,609  4,599 –  4,599 
Total RDC PPE and intangibles  1,648,533  64,882  1,583,653  87,472  (2,185)  (747)  37,204  1,733,432  101,700  1,630,989  (9,077)  1,621,910 

Properties reclassified as Non-Current Assets for Resale represent those expected to be sold in the next 12 months.

The following amounts of works under construction valued at cost are included in property, plant and equipment:
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Note 14 Property, Plant, Equipment & Intangible Assets (PARENT & GROUP)

Cost / Accumulated Carrying Current Current Current Cost / Accumulated Carrying Assets Held Reported

2009 Revaluation depreciation amount year year Transfers year Revaluation depreciation amount For Resale amount

1-Jul-08 1-Jul-08 1-Jul-08 additions disposals depreciation 30-Jun-09 30-Jun-09 30-Jun-09 Reclassified 30-Jun-09

Council restricted assets
Land  65,757  –  65,757  4,412 – – –  70,169 –  70,169  (21)  70,148 
Buildings  8,979  1,111  7,868  247 – –  298  9,226  1,409  7,817  7,817 
Total restricted assets  74,736  1,111  73,625  4,659 – –  298  79,395  1,410  77,986  (21)  77,965 

Council operational assets
Land  95,997  –  95,997  1,348  (1,723) – –  95,622 –  95,622  (6,775)  88,847 
Buildings  68,581  5,964  62,616  6,142  (348) –  1,936  74,309  7,834  66,474  (2,102)  64,372 
Library books  5,410  2,736  2,674  622 – –  791  6,032  3,527  2,505 –  2,505 
Heritage  243  5  238  21 – –  2  264  7  257 –  257 
Plant and equipment  7,362  1,714  5,647  791 – –  285  8,153  1,999  6,153 –  6,153 
Motor vehicles  3,259  1,079  2,180  761  (114) –  561  3,585  1,319  2,266 –  2,266 
Furniture and fittings  5,338  3,891  1,446  335 – –  404  5,673  4,295  1,377 –  1,377 
Computer equipment  9,368  6,597  2,771  1,016 – –  1,574  10,384  8,171  2,213 –  2,213 
Office Equipment  815  451  364  3 –  (202)  9  616  460  156 –  156 
Total operational assets  196,373  22,437  173,936  11,039  (2,185)  (202)  5,562  204,636  27,612  177,023  (8,877)  168,146 

Council infrastructural assets
Reticulation – Wastewater  219,939  4,742  215,197  12,287 – –  5,139  232,226  9,881  222,345 –  222,345 
Reticulation – Water  115,471  2,414  113,057  5,651 – –  2,595  121,122  5,009  116,113 –  116,113 
Reticulation – Stormwater  200,880  2,190  198,690  3,394 – –  2,261  204,274  4,451  199,823 –  199,823 
Roading network (including bridges)  662,925  17,453  645,472  42,592 –  (747)  19,236  705,517  36,689  668,081 –  668,081 
Land under roads  104,125  –  104,125  691 – – –  104,816 –  104,816 –  104,816 
Carparks  6,389  –  6,389  258 – – –  6,647 –  6,647  (179)  6,468 
Buildings – Wastewater  22,017  4,479  17,538 – – –  315  22,017  4,794  17,223 –  17,223 
Buildings – Water  9,317  1,841  7,476 – – –  111  9,317  1,952  7,365 –  7,365 
Buildings – Stormwater  50  2  48 – – – –  50  2  48 –  48 
Buildings – Wharves  –  – – – – – – – – – – – 
Buildings – Carparks  302  30  272  100 – –  12  402  42  360 –  360 
Buildings – Conveniences  6,741  500  6,241 – – –  149  6,741  649  6,092 –  6,092 
Reserves  21,755  4,560  17,195  5,823 – –  1,015  27,578  5,575  22,003 –  22,003 
Cemetery structures  436  16  420  44 – –  5  480  21  459 –  459 
Miscellaneous structures  6 –  6 – – – –  6 –  6 –  6 
Total infrastructural assets  1,370,353  38,227  1,332,126  70,840  –  (747)  30,839  1,441,193  69,069  1,371,381  (179)  1,371,202 
Total property plant and equipment  1,641,462  61,775  1,579,687  86,538  (2,185)  (949)  36,699  1,725,224  98,091  1,626,390  (9,077)  1,617,311 

Council intangible assets
Software  7,072  3,104  3,968  934  –  202  505  8,208  3,609  4,599 –  4,599 
Total RDC PPE and intangibles  1,648,533  64,882  1,583,653  87,472  (2,185)  (747)  37,204  1,733,432  101,700  1,630,989  (9,077)  1,621,910 

Properties reclassified as Non-Current Assets for Resale represent those expected to be sold in the next 12 months.

The following amounts of works under construction valued at cost are included in property, plant and equipment:

Reticulation – Wastewater  12 
Reticulation – Water  881 
Reticulation – Stormwater  68 
Roading network (including bridges)  19,241 
Carparks  159 
Wharves  –
Reserves  5,767 

 33,786 
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Land  6,815
Buildings 20,909
Library Books 107
Heritage 27
Plant and equipment 2,184
Furniture and Fittings 53
Computer Equipment 1,343
Office Equipment 210

Note 14 Property, Plant, Equipment & Intangible Assets (PARENT & GROUP)

Cost / Accumulated Carrying Current Current Cost Current Cost / Accumulated Carrying

2008 Revaluation depreciation amount year year Transfers year Revaluation depreciation amount

1-Jul-07 1-Jul-07 1-Jul-07 additions disposals depreciation 30-Jun-08 30-Jun-08 30-Jun-08

Council restricted assets
Land  61,591 –  61,591  4,166 – – –  65,757 –  65,757 
Buildings  8,702  822  7,880  277 – –  289  8,979  1,111  7,868 
Total restricted assets  70,293  822  69,471  4,443 – –  289  74,736  1,111  73,625 

Council operational assets
Land  92,535 –  92,535  3,462 – – –  95,997 –  95,997 
Buildings  58,546  4,455  54,090  10,035 – –  1,509  68,581  5,964  62,616 
Library books  4,451  2,069  2,382  959 – –  667  5,410  2,736  2,674 
Heritage  182  2  180  61 – –  3  243  5  238 
Plant and equipment  6,963  1,401  5,561  428  (23) –  319  7,362  1,714  5,647 
Motor vehicles  3,047  944  2,103  702  (106) –  519  3,259  1,079  2,180 
Furniture and fittings  5,065  3,534  1,530  273 – –  357  5,338  3,891  1,446 
Computer equipment  6,784  3,514  3,270  1,376 – –  1,875  9,368  6,597  2,771 
Office Equipment  809  442  367  6 – –  9  815  451  364 
Total operational assets  178,382  16,361  162,018  17,302  (129) –  5,258  196,373  22,437  173,936 

Council infrastructural assets
Reticulation – Wastewater  206,490  25  206,465  13,449 – –  4,717  219,939  4,742  215,197 
Reticulation – Water  107,428  7  107,421  8,043 – –  2,407  115,471  2,414  113,057 
Reticulation – Stormwater  194,776  3  194,773  6,104 – –  2,187  200,880  2,190  198,690 
Roading network (including bridges)  624,716  108  624,608  38,317 – –  17,453  662,925  17,453  645,472 
Land under roads  102,790  0  102,790  1,335 – – –  104,125 –  104,125 
Carparks  6,093  0  6,093  296 – – –  6,389 –  6,389 
Buildings – Wastewater  21,583  4,164  17,419  434 – –  315  22,017  4,479  17,538 
Buildings – Water  9,317  1,730  7,587 – – –  111  9,317  1,841  7,476 
Buildings – Stormwater  24  2  22  26 – – –  50  2  48 
Buildings – Wharves – – – – – – – – – – 
Buildings – Carparks  229  20  209  73 – –  10  302  30  272 
Buildings – Conveniences  6,445  351  6,094  296 – –  149  6,741  500  6,241 
Reserves  17,058  3,559  13,499  4,589 – –  893  21,755  4,560  17,195 
Cemetery structures  436  12  424 – – –  4  436  16  420 
Miscellaneous structures  6 –  6 – – – –  6 –  6 
Total infrastructural assets  1,297,391  9,983  1,287,410  72,962 – –  28,246  1,370,353  38,227  1,332,126 
Total property plant and equipment  1,546,066  27,166  1,518,899  94,707  (129) –  33,793  1,641,462  61,775  1,579,687 

Council intangible assets
Software  6,176  2,748  3,428  896 –  356  7,072  3,104  3,968 
Total RDC PPE and intangibles  1,552,242  29,912  1,522,324  95,603  (129) –  34,149  1,648,533  64,882  1,583,653 

The following amounts of works under construction valued at cost are included in property, plant and equipment:
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Note 14 Property, Plant, Equipment & Intangible Assets (PARENT & GROUP)

Cost / Accumulated Carrying Current Current Cost Current Cost / Accumulated Carrying

2008 Revaluation depreciation amount year year Transfers year Revaluation depreciation amount

1-Jul-07 1-Jul-07 1-Jul-07 additions disposals depreciation 30-Jun-08 30-Jun-08 30-Jun-08

Council restricted assets
Land  61,591 –  61,591  4,166 – – –  65,757 –  65,757 
Buildings  8,702  822  7,880  277 – –  289  8,979  1,111  7,868 
Total restricted assets  70,293  822  69,471  4,443 – –  289  74,736  1,111  73,625 

Council operational assets
Land  92,535 –  92,535  3,462 – – –  95,997 –  95,997 
Buildings  58,546  4,455  54,090  10,035 – –  1,509  68,581  5,964  62,616 
Library books  4,451  2,069  2,382  959 – –  667  5,410  2,736  2,674 
Heritage  182  2  180  61 – –  3  243  5  238 
Plant and equipment  6,963  1,401  5,561  428  (23) –  319  7,362  1,714  5,647 
Motor vehicles  3,047  944  2,103  702  (106) –  519  3,259  1,079  2,180 
Furniture and fittings  5,065  3,534  1,530  273 – –  357  5,338  3,891  1,446 
Computer equipment  6,784  3,514  3,270  1,376 – –  1,875  9,368  6,597  2,771 
Office Equipment  809  442  367  6 – –  9  815  451  364 
Total operational assets  178,382  16,361  162,018  17,302  (129) –  5,258  196,373  22,437  173,936 

Council infrastructural assets
Reticulation – Wastewater  206,490  25  206,465  13,449 – –  4,717  219,939  4,742  215,197 
Reticulation – Water  107,428  7  107,421  8,043 – –  2,407  115,471  2,414  113,057 
Reticulation – Stormwater  194,776  3  194,773  6,104 – –  2,187  200,880  2,190  198,690 
Roading network (including bridges)  624,716  108  624,608  38,317 – –  17,453  662,925  17,453  645,472 
Land under roads  102,790  0  102,790  1,335 – – –  104,125 –  104,125 
Carparks  6,093  0  6,093  296 – – –  6,389 –  6,389 
Buildings – Wastewater  21,583  4,164  17,419  434 – –  315  22,017  4,479  17,538 
Buildings – Water  9,317  1,730  7,587 – – –  111  9,317  1,841  7,476 
Buildings – Stormwater  24  2  22  26 – – –  50  2  48 
Buildings – Wharves – – – – – – – – – – 
Buildings – Carparks  229  20  209  73 – –  10  302  30  272 
Buildings – Conveniences  6,445  351  6,094  296 – –  149  6,741  500  6,241 
Reserves  17,058  3,559  13,499  4,589 – –  893  21,755  4,560  17,195 
Cemetery structures  436  12  424 – – –  4  436  16  420 
Miscellaneous structures  6 –  6 – – – –  6 –  6 
Total infrastructural assets  1,297,391  9,983  1,287,410  72,962 – –  28,246  1,370,353  38,227  1,332,126 
Total property plant and equipment  1,546,066  27,166  1,518,899  94,707  (129) –  33,793  1,641,462  61,775  1,579,687 

Council intangible assets
Software  6,176  2,748  3,428  896 –  356  7,072  3,104  3,968 
Total RDC PPE and intangibles  1,552,242  29,912  1,522,324  95,603  (129) –  34,149  1,648,533  64,882  1,583,653 

The following amounts of works under construction valued at cost are included in property, plant and equipment:

Reticulation – Wastewater 8,623 
Reticulation – Water 5,226
Reticulation – Stormwater 3,922
Roading network (including bridges) 17,499
Carparks 610
Wharves – 
Reserves 3,505

71,033
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Note 15 Forestry Assets
PARENT  

& GROUP

(All in $000) 2008 2009

Balance at 1 July –  1,282 
Increase due to change in accounting treatment  1,282 – 
Revaluation gain (note 4) –  344 
Balance as at 30 June  1,282  1,626 

Through its investment in Araparera joint venture RDC owns a 67% share of 201 hectares of Pinus Radiata, which mature at varying stages over 
the next five years. RDC owns 36 hectares of Pinus Radiata which mature at varying stages over the next 16 years.

Independent registered valuers Harvest Pro New Zealand Ltd have valued forestry assets as at June 2009. The following valuation assumptions 
have been adopted in determining the fair value of forestry assets:

w a pre-tax discount rate of 8% has been used in discounting the present value of expected cash flows;

w the forest value only includes the value of the existing crop on a single rotation basis;

w no allowance for inflation has been provided;

RDC has not taken measures to manage the risks of a decline in timber prices.

Note 16 Investment Property
PARENT  

& GROUP

(All in $000) 2008 2009

Balance at 1 July  12,347  12,847 
Additions  –  40 
Disposals  (40)  (959)
Reclassified as Non-current assets held for resale (note 17)  –  (9,761)
Fair value gains/(losses) on valuation (note 4)  540  (239)
Balance at 30 June  12,847  1,928 

RDC’s investment properties are valued annually at fair value effective 30 June. All investment properties were valued based on open 
market evidence. The valuation was performed in accordance with the New Zealand Institute of Valuers’ standards by ME Forrest ANZIV, an 
independent valuer from Barker & Morse Valuers Ltd, who has recent experience in the location and category of the investment property valued. 

Note 17 Non-current Assets held for sale
PARENT  

& GROUP

(All in $000) 2008 2009

Transferred from property, plant and equipment (note 14) –  9,077 
Transferred investment properties (note 16) –  9,761 
Less losses on revaluation (note 4) –  (1,257)
Balance at 30 June  –  17,581 

Council have identified properties that are expected to be sold by 30 June 2010, in line with the LTCCP.
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Note 18 Other Financial Assets
PARENT  

& GROUP

(All in $000) 2008 2009

Current portion  –  – 
Non-current portion
Community loans  26  26 
Shares in companies (fair value through equity)
– Watercare Services Limited  17,622  20,051 
– New Zealand Local Government Insurance Corporation Limited  41  41 
Balance as at 30 June  17,689  20,118 

There were no impairment provisions for other financial assets.

 Unlisted shares – valuation
The fair value of unlisted shares in Watercare Services Limited has been calculated as the net asset backing of the shares. At 30 June 2009 the 
net asset backing of the 3,602,651 shares in Watercare Services Limited was $5.57 per share (2008 – $4.89).

A net asset backing approach to valuation is considered appropriate because Watercare is a public benefit entity and a discounted cash flow 
approach to valuation would not be meaningful. The majority of Watercare assets are carried at fair value and those not at fair value are not 
materially different to fair value.

The fair value of unlisted shares in NZ Local Government Insurance Corp Limited has been calculated as the net asset backing of the shares.  
At 31 December 2008 the net asset backing of the 13,554 shares in NZ Local Government Insurance Corp Limited was $3.01 per share  
(2007 – $3.00).

 Community Loans
The carrying value of community loans is $26,000 (2008 $26,000). This approximates fair value as the impact of discounting is not significant.

 Shares in subsidiary
The Council holds 100% of Rodney Properties Limited (RPL). The net asset backing as at 30 June 2009 of the 100 shares (2008 0) was $1.00 
per share.

Following is a financial summary extracted from the year end financial accounts of RPL.

PARENT  
& GROUP

(All in $000) 2008 2009

Total Revenue  –  61 
Total Expenditure  –  61 
Total Assets  –  61 
Total Liabilities  –  61 

Note 19 Creditors & Other Payables
PARENT  

& GROUP

(All in $000) 2008 2009

Trade payables  18,404  19,112 
Deposits and bonds  1,144  999 
Accrued expenses  8,246  11,204 
Rates in advance  567  734 
Balance at 30 June  28,361  32,049 

Creditors and other payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 30 day terms, therefore the carrying value of creditors and 
other payables approximates their fair value.

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2009
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Note 20 Employee Benefit Liabilities
PARENT  

& GROUP

(All in $000) 2008 2009

Accrued pay  925  922 
Annual leave  2,253  2,578 
Long service leave  3  – 
Retirement gratuities  7  7 
Total employee benefit liabilities  3,188  3,507 

Comprising:
Current  3,181  3,500 
Non-current  7  7 
Balance at 30 June  3,188  3,507 

Note 21 Borrowings
PARENT  

& GROUP

(All in $000) 2008 2009

Current portion secured loans  57,500  122,502 
Non Current portion secured loans  202,667  182,501 
Balance at 30 June  260,167  305,003 

 Security
RDC’s loans are secured over either separate or general rates of the district.

 Maturity analysis and effective interest rates
The following is a maturity analysis of RDC’s borrowings. There are no early repayment options.

PARENT  
& GROUP

(All in $000) 2008 2009

Less than one year  57,500  122,502 
 weighted average effective interest rate 9.01% 6.78%

Later than one year but not more than five years  117,653  92,501 
 weighted average effective interest rate 8.95% 5.55%

Later than five years  85,014  90,000 
 weighted average effective interest rate 8.93% 6.29%

Total Borrowings  260,167  305,003 
 weighted average effective interest rate 8.96% 6.32%

 Secured loans
RDC’s secured debt of $305,003,000 (2008 $260,167,000) is issued at floating rates of interest. For floating rate debt, the interest rate is reset 
quarterly based on the 90 day bank bill rate plus an on average 0.35% margin for credit risk.

PARENT  
& GROUP

PARENT  
& GROUP

Fair values of non-current borrowings  Carrying amount  Fair Value

(All in $000) 2008 2009 2008 2009

Secured loans (Council)  202,667  182,501  202,667  182,501 

The carrying amounts of borrowings repayable within one year approximate their fair value, as the impact of discounting is not significant.
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Note 22 Provisions
PARENT  

& GROUP

(All in $000) 2008 2009

Landfill Monitoring Costs  –  3,450 
Balance at 30 June  –  3,450 

RDC has a number of closed landfills and has responsibility, under the resource consents obtained, to provide ongoing maintenance and 
monitoring of the landfills. The Council monitors and manages these sites to avoid gas and leachate discharges.This is the first year the Council 
has calculated and provided for the future maintenance and monitoring of the closed landfills.

The cash outflows for landfill post-closure are expected to occur over the next thirty years. The long-term nature of the liability means that there 
are inherent uncertainties in estimating costs that will be incurred. The provision has been estimated taking into account existing technology and 
known changes to legal requirements. The gross provision before discounting is $9,162,000 The discount factor used for landfills is 6.32%.

Note 23 Equity
PARENT  

& GROUP

(All in $000) 2008 2009

Retained earnings
As at 1 July  854,548  867,960 
Transfers from restricted reserves  –  890 
Transfer to restricted reserves  (3,496)  (3,802)
Forestry assets recognised for first time  1,282  – 
Surplus / (deficit) for the year  15,625  10,615 
As at 30 June 867,960 875,662

Retained earnings consist of:
General funds  896,595 913,296
Funding reserves held  39,739  40,021 
Funding reserves used  (68,374)  (77,655)
As at 30 June  867,960  875,662 

Other reserves
Restricted reserves
As at 1 July  22,310  25,806 
Transfers to: Retained earnings  –  (890)
Transfers from: Retained earnings  3,496  3,802 
As at 30 June  25,806  28,718 

Revaluation reserves
As at 1 July  440,162  440,162 
Revaluation gains/(losses)  –  – 
As at 30 June  440,162  440,161 

Revaluation reserves consist of:
Roading  141,014  141,014 
Wastewater  83,116  83,116 
Water  65,657  65,657 
Stormwater  147,668  147,668 
Reserves  25  25 
Bridges  2,682  2,682 
As at 30 June  440,162  440,161 
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2009

Note 23 Equity cont. PARENT  
& GROUP

(All in $000) 2008 2009

Fair value through equity reserve
As at 1 July 574  444
Valuation gains/(losses) taken to equity  (130)  2,429 
As at 30 June 444  2,873 

Cash flow hedge reserve
As at 1 July  7,750  4,626 
Fair value gains/(losses) in the year  (3,022)  (10,455)
Transfers to Statement of Comprehensive Income  (102)  1,435 
As at 30 June 4,626  (4,394)

Total other reserves 471,036 467,359

Balance at 30 June 1,338,996 1,343,020

Note 24 Net Cash from Operating Activities PARENT  
& GROUP

(All in $000) 2008 2009

The reconciliation of net surplus to net cashflows from operating activities is:
Net Surplus as per Statement of Consolidated Income 15,625 10,615 
Add (deduct) non cash items:
 Loss (gain) on sale of assets (66) (6,032)
 Loss (gain) on revaluation of investment properties (540) 239
 Loss (gain) on revaluation of non-current assets for sale – 1,256
 Loss (gain) on revaluation of forestry assets – (345)
 Depreciation and amortisation 34,149 37,203 
 Interest credited to derivatives 713 1,439
 Vested assets (6,798) (3,148)

43,083 41,227 
Add (deduct) working capital movements:
 Trade and other receivables 161 (9,803)
 Trade and other payables 1,198 6,779
 Interest payable 809 (498)
 Inventories 16 (10)
 Prepayments (472) 522
Net cash from operating activities 44,795 38,217



RDC making a positive difference 155

Note 25 Commitments PARENT  
& GROUP

(All in $000) 2008 2009

Capital commitments
Roading  19,467  55,285 
Wastewater  3,488  3,121 
Water Supply  900  1,496 
Recreation and Civic Amenities  2,257  1,261 
Stormwater Drainage  258  815 
Total Capital Commitments 26,370 61,978 

Capital Commitments by area:
Hibiscus Coast:
 AWPT,Reseals and Second Coat Seals  4,971  10,881 
 654 Whangaparaoa Rd Erosion Protection  46  – 
 Army Bay sewerage treatment plant – UV equipment  122  – 
 P/S for New Offices at Orewa Campus  74  – 
 Desludging of Orewa Wastewater Treatment Plant  391  – 
 Hibiscus Coast watermain extensions – Group D  51  – 
 Maire Rd, Hatfields Watermain Upgrade  108  – 
 Silverdale South Watermain Upgrade  16  – 
 Supply and Installation of a Screen Partioning System  36  – 
 P/S Corrider Management and Operation Plan  210  – 
 Hammond Lake Stormwater Upgrade  76  – 
 Riverside Road, Orewa – Stormwater Diversion  118  – 
 Army Bay Wastewater Treatment Plant – Outfall  53  – 
 HBC watermain extensions – Group E  128  – 
 HBC watermain extensions – Group F  129  – 
 Hibiscus Coast Pressure reducing Valve  –  268 
 Asset Management Professional Services Contract  –  756 
 Transport and Property Professional Services Contract  –  1,184 
 Safety and Compliance Professional Services Contract  –  201 
 Structures Professional Services Contract  –  188 
 Geotechnical Professional Services Contract  –  65 
 Public Litter Bin Collection, 2008-2011  2,146  75 
 Kerbside Recycling  –  378 
 Closed Landfill Monitoring  –  4 
 Water Supply Reactive Renewals  –  528 
 Wastewater Reactive Renewals  –  1,062 
 Stormwater Reactive Renewals  –  309 
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Note 25 Commitments cont. PARENT  
& GROUP

(All in $000) 2008 2009

Rural and Township:
 AWPT,Reseals and Second Coat Seals  14,074  39,624 
 Professional Services Nth Rodney Land Use and Travel  35  – 
 Stormwater upgrade at Kawau Views, Snells Beach  18  – 
 Warkworth Wastewater Treatment Plant  723  230 
 Snells/Algies Wasatewtater Treatment Plan Sludge  30  – 
 Warkworth Raw Water Pipeline Sanderson to View Rd  64  – 
 Cornell Circle, Snells Beach Wastewater Lining  130  – 
 Dawson Road to Goodall Rd. Snells Beach  189  – 
 Waitoki Walkway/Cycleway 2007/08  176  – 
 Harrison Street, Wellsford Sewer Upgrade  271  – 
 Taupaki Bridge Waterway Improvements  405  – 
 Warkworth Wastewater Treatment Plant Upgrade  1,579  – 
 Army Bay Wastewater Treatment Plant Upgrade  –  549 
 Martins Bay Camp Ground Water Tank  –  194 
 Asset Management Professional Services Contract  –  1,002 
 Transport and Property Professional Services Contract  –  1,570 
 Safety and Compliance Professional Services Contract  –  267 
 Structures Professional Services Contract  –  250 
 Geotechnical Professional Services Contract  –  86 
 Public Litter Bin Collection  –  100 
 Kerbside Recycling  –  501 
 Closed Landfill Monitoring  –  6 
 Water Supply Reactive Renewals  –  309 
 Wastewater Reactive Renewals  –  1,083 
 Stormwater Reactive Renewals  –  309 
Total Capital Commitments by Area 26,370 61,978 

Non-Capital commitments
Maintenance Works Contracts  27,440  70,725 
Photocopying equipment  152  811 
Security, Cleaning, and Air Conditioning  1,109  1,099 
Technology One and Geac – Software Support  17  16 
Software Support  74  70 
Other  44  21 
Total Non-Capital Commitments 28,836 72,742 

Non-capital commitments by period:
Not later than one year  26,051  24,427 
Later than one year and not later than two years  976  23,984 
Later than two years and not later than five years  1,809  24,331 
Later than five years –  – 
Total Non-Capital Commitments by Period 28,836 72,742 

Total Commitments 55,206 134,720 

These amounts represent operational and capital expenditure which have not been accrued at 30 June 2009 but which are the subject of either 
specific contractual commitment or a resolution of the Council.
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Note 26 Contingencies PARENT  
& GROUP

(All in $000) 2008 2009

Contingent liabilities
The Council is contingently liable in respect of various loans between third parties which 
have been guaranteed by a resolution of the Council.

Hibiscus Coast:
 Orewa Surf Lifesaving Club  120  120 
 Hibiscus Coast Raiders Rugby League and Sports Club Incorporated  50  50 

 170  170 

 

PARENT  
& GROUP

(All in $000) 2008 2009

Potential Legal Claims  582 3,000 

 A review of the Councils files of potential and actual legal claims arising from the Consents area has been undertaken. A Contingent Liability 
arises in respect of those claims thought possible but unlikely to succeed.
The Council has received claims notified to it or the Weathertight Homes Resolution Service as one of a number co-defendants in relation to 
weathertightness building defects. The Council has also received claims directly. The claims are substantially covered by insurance.  
The Council’s liability in relation to these claims depends on a number of factors including the existence of other liable parties that are able to 
contribute to any liability and the amount of excess Council has with its insurer. Council is contesting both the amount and any liability.

All Councils with responsibilities under the Building Act have, to varying extents, been impacted by the leaky building issue. Unfortunately, as 
the issue has evolved, other parties to the claims have disappeared and Councils and Riskpool (our insurer) are often the only party responding 
to the claims. This has meant that judgements against Councils are increasing. Riskpool’s funds are exhibiting deficits and this means that calls 
may be made upon member Councils to contribute to the fund. Council has received a call of $87,772 (included in Current Liabilities) and has 
been advised by Riskpool that one or two calls over the next two years may also be made. The amount of these calls is undetermined at this 
time. Riskpool have withdrawn cover for any future claims arising after 1 July 2009.

Council also acknowledges that it may be liable for claims in the next 10 to 15 years relating to weathertightness building defects not yet 
identified. The value of these claims may be material. Information surrounding these potential claims is subject to extreme uncertainty and 
therefore no provision has been made for them.

 Watercare guarantee
In order to minimise long term price increases, as at 24 July 2008 the Council joined the five other shareholding Councils of Watercare Services 
Limited (Watercare) to provide the creditors of Watercare and its subsidiaries with a guarantee of Watercare’s debt.

Watercare provides bulk water and wastewater services to the Auckland region. The company is collectively owned by the six Councils, with the 
Rodney District Council (RDC) shareholding being 1.38% which reflects the fact that the only service received is a relatively small bulk water 
supply to the Hibiscus Coast area.

Auckland City Council provided a primary guarantee for the Watercare debt with a back up guarantee by the other shareholding Councils in 
proportion to their shareholding. RDC’s percentage of any liability called under this guarantee is therefore 1.38%.

The Council’s share of the indemnity would be called upon if Watercare defaulted on its debt. RDC’s financial exposure is projected to be 
a maximum of $8m based on Watercare’s funding plan for the year ended 30 June 2009, based on a first call where all Councils paid their 
respective shares; for the year ended 30 June 2008 the equivalent amount would have been $8m.

 Unquantified claims
RDC belongs to the Defined Benefit Plan Contributors Scheme (the scheme), which is managed by the Board of Trustees of the National 
Provident Fund. The scheme is a multi-employer defined benefit scheme. Insufficient information is available to use defined benefit accounting, 
as it is not possible to determine from the terms of the scheme, the extent to which the surplus/deficit will affect future contributions by individual 
employers, as there is no prescribed basis for allocation. Obligations for contributions are recognised as an expense in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income as incurred.

 Contingent assets
There are no Contingent Assets as at 30 June 2009 (30 June 2008 – nil).
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Note 27 Related Party Transactions
There were no material related party transactions requiring disclosure between the Council and its related parties during the 
year ended 30 June 2009 apart from those shown below.

PARENT  
& GROUP

(All in $000) 2008 2009

Related Party Balances
Amount owing to Watercare Services Ltd  142  117 
Amount owing to Rodney Properties Ltd  –  61 

Related Party Transactions
Services provided by Watercare Services Ltd  1,963  1,614 
Services provided by Rodney Properties Ltd  –  61 

Watercare provides bulk water and wastewater services to the Auckland region. The company is collectively owned by the six Councils, with the 
Rodney District Council (RDC) shareholding being 1.38% which reflects the fact that the only service received is a relatively small bulk water 
supply to the Hibiscus Coast area.

 Key management personnel
During the year Councillors and key management, as part of a normal customer relationship, were involved in minor transactions with the 
Council (such as payment of rates). Except for items of a trivial nature, no Councillors or senior management have entered into transactions with 
the Council during the year ended 30 June 2009.

PARENT  
& GROUP

(All in $000) 2008 2009

Key management personnel compensation
Salaries and other short term employee benefits 2,029 2,057
Post-employment benefits (Kiwisaver) – 3
Termination benefits 247 –

2,276 2,060

Key management personnel include the Mayor, Councillors, Chief Executive and other senior management personnel. Also included are 
directors remuneration paid by Rodney Properties Ltd.
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Note 28 Remuneration
During the year ended 30 June 2009, the total remuneration and value of other non-financial benefits received by, or payable 
to the Mayor and Councillors were as follows:

PARENT  
& GROUP

(All in $000) 2008 2009

Elected representatives
 Penny Webster, Mayor  90 108
* John Law, Former Mayor  45  – 
 Ross Craig  40 58
 Pat Delich  55 55
 Michael Goudie  39 57
* Thomas Grace  20 – 
 Gaye Harding  55 56
 John Kirikiri  40 61
* Colin MacGillivray  21 – 
 Dave Parker  37 55
 Dr Grahame Powell  59 62
* John Ross  19 – 
* Bill Smith  21 – 
* David Steele  21 –
 Zane Taylor  39 59
 June Turner  40 56
 Grev Walker  55 56
 Wayne Walker  53 57
* John Watson  20 – 
 Suzanne Weld  38 59

 807 799

* indicates those Councillors not re-elected in the local body elections held 13th October 2007.

During the year ended 30 June 2008 there was a change of Chief Executive, with Rodger Kerr-Newell starting on 3rd March 2008.  
The total combined remuneration paid was made up as follows:

PARENT  
& GROUP

(All in $000) 2008 2009

Vijaya  
Vaidyanath

Rodger  
Kerr-Newell

Total
 Rodger  

Kerr-Newell

Salary  205,902 85,420 291,322  277,616 
Vehicle  15,000 22,384  37,384  22,384 
Medical Insurance  2,644 –  2,644 –
Superannuation  26,002 –  26,002 – 

249,548 107,804 357,352 300,000

Note 29 Severance Payments
For the year ended 30 June 2009 RDC made four (2008 five) severance payments to employees totalling $32,875  
(2008 $95,098). The value of each of the severance payments was $500, $7,000, $5,000, and $20,375.

Note 30 Events after the Balance Sheet date
There are no significant events after balance date to be reported.
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Note 31 Financial Instruments PARENT  
& GROUP

(All in $000) 2008 2009

Financial Assets
Derivatives that are hedge accounted
Derivative financial instrument assets  3,888  4,460 

Loans and receivables
Cash and cash equivalents  4,366  12,824 
Debtors and other receivables  15,844  25,145 

Other financial assets – Community loans  26  26 

Total loans and receivables  20,236  37,995 

Fair value through equity
Other financial assets:
– unlisted shares  17,663  20,092 

 17,663  20,092 

Financial Liabilities
Derivative financial instrument liabilities  (45)  (10,937)

Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Creditors and other payables  (28,361)  (32,049)
Borrowings  (260,167)  (305,003)
Total financial liabilities at amortised cost  (288,573)  (347,989)

Credit risk
RDC’s maximum credit exposure for each class of financial instrument is as follows:
Cash at bank  4,366  12,824 
Debtors and other receivables  15,844  25,145 
Community loans  26  26 
Derivative financial instrument assets  3,888  4,460 
Financial guarantees – Watercare  8,000  8,000 
Financial guarantees – Other  170  170 
Total credit risk  32,294  50,625 

The maximum exposure to credit risk for financial guarantees is the maximum amount RDC would have to pay if the guarantee is called on, 
which may be significantly greater than the amount recognised as a liability.

The credit quality of financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired can be assessed by reference to Standard and Poor’s credit ratings 
(if available) or to historical information about counterparty default rates.
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Note 31 Financial Instruments cont. PARENT  
& GROUP

(All in $000) 2008 2009

Counterparties With Credit Ratings
Cash at bank
AA  3,766  3,524 
AA-  600  9,300 
Total cash at bank  4,366  12,824 

Derivative financial instrument assets
AA  3,888  4,460 
AA- – – 
Total derivative financial instrument assets  3,888  4,460 

Counterparties Without Credit Ratings
Community loans:
Existing counterparty with no defaults in the past  26  26 
Existing counterparty with defaults in the past – – 
Total community loans  26  26 

Debtors and other receivables mainly arise from RDC’s statutory functions, therefore there are no procedures in place to monitor or report the 
credit quality of debtors and other receivables with reference to internal or external credit ratings. RDC has no significant concentrations of credit 
risk in relation to debtors and other receivables, as it has a large number of credit customers, mainly ratepayers, and RDC has powers under the 
Local Government (Rating) Act 2002 to recover outstanding debts from ratepayers.

 Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that RDC will encounter difficulty raising liquid funds to meet commitments as they fall due. Prudent liquidity risk 
management implies maintaining sufficient cash, the availability of funding through an adequate amount of committed credit facilities and the 
ability to close out market positions. RDC aims to maintain flexibility in funding by keeping credit lines available.

In meeting its liquidity requirements, RDC maintains a target level of investments that must mature within the next 12 months. RDC manages its 
borrowings in accordance with its funding and financial policies, which include a Liability Management Policy. These policies have been adopted 
as part of the RDC’s Long Term Plan.

The table below analyses RDC’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the balance date to the 
contractual maturity date. Future interest payments on floating rate debt is based on the BKBM FRA rates at year end plus a margin, on the 
instrument at the balance date. The amounts disclosed are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.

(All in $000)  Carrying 
amount 

 Contractual 
cash flows 

 Less than 
1 year 

 1 – 2 
years 

 2 – 5  
years 

 More than 
5 years 

2009
Creditors and other payables 32,049 32,049 32,049 – – –
Net settled derivative liabilities  6,477  43,164  889  2,351  7,880  32,044 
Secured loans  305,003  334,108  123,458  37,188  62,708  110,754 
Total  343,529  409,321  156,396  39,539  70,588  142,798 

2008
Creditors and other payables  28,127  28,127  28,127 – – –
Secured loans  260,167  352,372  58,218  45,558  100,853  147,743 
Total  288,294  380,499  86,345  45,558  100,853  147,743 
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Note 31 Financial Instruments cont. 
Contractual maturity analysis of financial assets

The table below analyses the RDC’s financial assets into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the balance sheet date to 
the contractual maturity date.

(All in $000)  Carrying 
amount 

 Contractual 
cash flows 

 Less than 
1 year 

 1 – 2 
years 

 2 – 5  
years 

 More than 
5 years 

2009
Cash and cash equivalents  12,824  12,824  12,824 – – –
Debtors and other receivables  25,146  25,146  25,146 – – –
Other financial assets:
– community loans  26 – – – – –
Total  37,996  37,970  37,970  –  –  – 

2008
Cash and cash equivalents  4,366  4,366  4,366 – – –
Debtors and other receivables  15,500  15,500  15,500 – – –
Net settled derivative assets  3,843  12,906  165  764  2,655  9,322 
Other financial assets:
– community loans  26 – – – – –
Total  23,735  32,772  20,031  764  2,655  9,322 

 Sensitivity Analysis
The tables below illustrate the potential profit and loss and equity (excluding retained earnings) impact for reasonably possible market 
movements, with all variables held constant, based on RDC’s financial instrument exposure at the balance date.

2008 2009

(All in $000) Note Profit

-100bps 
Other 
Equity Profit

+100bps 
Other 
Equity Profit

-200bps 
Other 
Equity Profit

+200bps 
Other 
Equity

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 1  (43) –  43 –  (256) –  256 –
Derivatives – hedge accounted 2a –  (4,627) –  4,387 –  (7,141) –  6,087 

Financial liabilities
Derivatives – hedge accounted 2b – – – – –  (17,092) –  15,269
Borrowings – term loans 3  931 –  (931) –  620 –  (620) –
Total sensitivity to interest rate risk  888  (4,627) (888)  4,387  364  (24,233) (364)  21,356

Explanation of sensitivity analysis
 The Council has changed from showing interest rate in movements of 1% in 2008 to 2% in 2009 because of the significant movement in the 

market in 2009.

1 Cash and cash equivalents
 Cash and cash equivalents include deposits at call totalling $12,824,000 (2008 $4,366,000) which are at floating rates. A movement in interest 

rates of plus or minus 2% has an effect on interest income of $256,000 (2008 $43,000), with a movement of 1%.

2 Derivatives – hedge accounted
 (a) Financial assets

 Derivative financial assets hedge accounted includes interest rate swap and cash flow hedges with a fair value totalling  
$4,460,000 (2008 $3,843,000). A movement in interest rates of plus or minus 2% has an effect on the cash flow hedge reserve of  
$-7,141,000 +$6,087,000 (2008 -$4,627,000+$4,387,000). 

 (b) Financial liabilities

 Derivative financial liabilities hedge accounted includes interest rate swap cash flow hedges with a fair value totalling $10,937,000  
(2008 $45,000). A movement in interest rates of plus or minus 2% has an effect on the cash flow hedge reserve.

3 Secured loans
 RDC has a floating rate debt with a principal amount totalling $31,003,000 (2008 $93,667,000). A movement in interest rates of plus or minus 

2% has an effect on interest expense of $620,060 (2008 $9,367,000). A movement in market interest rates on fixed rate debt does not have any 
impact because secured loans are accounted for at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

 The floating portion of secured loans of $31,003,000 (2008 $93,667,000) represents the portion of debt that is not in a hedge relationship.
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Note 32 Capital Management
The Council’s capital is its equity (or ratepayers’ funds), which comprise retained earnings and reserves. Equity is represented by net assets. 

The Local Government Act 2002 [the Act] requires the Council to manage its revenues, expenses, assets, liabilities, investments, and general 
financial dealings prudently and in a manner that promotes the current and future interests of the community. Ratepayer’s funds are largely 
managed as a by-product of managing revenues, expenses, assets, liabilities, investments, and general financial dealings. 

The objective of managing these items is to achieve intergenerational equity, which is a principle promoted in the Act and applied by the Council. 
Intergenerational equity requires today’s ratepayers to meet the costs of utilising the Council’s assets and not expecting them to meet the full 
cost of long term assets that will benefit ratepayers in future generations. Additionally, the Council has in place asset management plans for 
major classes of assets detailing renewal and maintenance programmes, to ensure ratepayers in future generations are not required to meet the 
costs of deferred renewals and maintenance. 

The Act requires the Council to make adequate and effective provision in its Long Term Plan (LTP) and in its Annual Plan to meet the expenditure 
needs identified in those plans. And the Act sets out the factors that the Council is required to consider when determining the most appropriate 
sources of funding for each of its activities. The sources and levels of funding are set out in the funding and financial policies in the Council’s LTP. 

RDC has the following Council created reserves: 

w reserves for different areas of benefit; 

w self-insurance reserves; and 

w trust and bequest reserves. 

Reserves for different areas of benefit are used where there is a discrete set of rate or levy payers as distinct from the general rate. Any surplus 
or deficit relating to these separate areas of benefit is applied to the specific reserves. 

Self-insurance reserves are built up annually from general rates and are made available for specific unforeseen events. The release of these 
funds generally can only be approved by Council. 

Trust and bequest reserves are set up where Council has been donated funds that are restricted for particular purposes. Interest is added to 
trust and bequest reserves where applicable and deductions are made where funds have been used for the purpose they were donated.

Note 33 Joint Venture
Araparera forest
RDC’s interest in the Araparera forestry joint venture is accounted for as a jointly controlled asset. RDC’s interest is as follows:

PARENT  
& GROUP

(All in $000) 2008 2009

Non-current assets  983  1,280 

 Northern Animal Shelter
Rodney District Council (RDC) and North Shore City Council (NSCC) have designed, constructed and will jointly own and operate an animal 
shelter facility (Northern Animal Shelter) in Tavern Road, Silverdale.

This joint venture is undertaken in order for the Councils to meet their respective long-term statutory requirements for the custody, care, exercise, 
release and disposal of dogs and implementation of their dog policies under the Dog Control Act 1996.

The shelter is a small, non-profit Council controlled organisation (CCO) exempted as a CCO under section 7(3) of the LGA 2002, by Council 
resolution on 07 August 2008. Council is required to review this exemption within three years after it is granted, i.e., before 07 August 2011.

The carrying value included in Property Plant & Equipment Note 14 is $1,324,000.
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Note 34 Explanation for major variances against budget

Explanations for major variations from the Council estimate figures for 2008/2009 as per the Long Term Plan are as follows: 
Statement of Comprehensive Income
(All in $000) Actual Plan Variance

Income  165,694  168,090  (2,396)
Expenditure  155,079  148,788  6,291 
Surplus 10,615 19,302  (8,687)

Income
Vested Assets 3,148 7,015  (3,867)

Vested assets are not cash but are assets such as roads or water and wastewater pipes built by developers and passed to Council on 
completion of their projects. It is difficult to prepare an accurate budget for these types of assets as the Council has little control of the timing or 
quantity of the amount vested.

Cash Contributions 6,257 10,800  (4,543)

Cash contributions are dependent on the development occurring in the district, which is determined by the economic environment at the time 
and the rate at which developers commence and complete projects. During the year a project was undertaken to review the cash contributions 
regime the Council has in place. Following extensive consultation a new development contribution policy was adopted and the policy applies 
from 1 July 2009.

NZ Transport Agency grants 23,395 23,084  311 

In preparing the Annual Plan and Auckland Regional Transport Authority submissions for 2008/09 a number of assumptions were made around the 
subsidy which would be received. This has resulted in the Councils programme being higher than the initially approved programme from NZTA. 

Other gains/(losses) 4,833 46  4,787 

The Council sold 54 Hibiscus Coast Highway for a sum which exceeded its book value. This was offset by a decrease in value of investment 
properties following the annual valuation.

Expenditure
Finance Costs 21,138 22,320  (1,182)

Finance costs reduced significantly this year due to the change in global lending market. The Council has in place a number of treasury 
instruments which are used to actively manage and minimise the interest expense both in the short and long term.

Other operating Costs 64,752 57,549 7,203

The Council recognised for the first time this year, costs attributed to future landfill monitoring costs. The amounted was $3.5 million.

Other operating costs are the costs of delivering services and including payments for maintenance contracts for roading, water, wastewater, and 
parks. They also include costs such as legal expenditure, insurance payments, power costs and vehicle running expenses etc.  
 
The overrun of costs compared to budget can be broadly grouped into the following types of cost overrun, namely: 

w Budgets were lower than should have been in hindsight such as relates to power, kerbside recycling, property rates, water tightness claims 
and unbudgeted costs associated with establishing new professional services contracts.

w Professional services, contractors and legal fees associated with activities such as the Hammerhead development and District Plan.

w Public open space maintenance, renewals and repairs in areas such as public toilets, general repairs and mainentance and specialist tree 
services also in part attributed to storm damage.

Statement of Financial Position
(All in $000) Actual Plan Variance

Current assets  55,586  20,766  34,820 
Non current assets  1,650,042  1,665,039  (14,997)
Total Assets  1,705,628  1,685,805  19,823 
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2009

Note 34 Explanation for major variances against budget cont.

Current Assets
The variances in current assets is primarily related to an increase in short term funds on deposit. We held $12.8 million in the bank at year end. 
Our policy is to hold much smaller balances. This situation arose as an event right on 30 June when we were able to secure favourable interests 
rates on a loan which was set to mature in early July. We secured the money early. This amount offsets the additional borrowings held in current 
liabilities. Additionally $17.6 million of properties were reclassified to current assets being those properties expected to be sold within 12 months.

Debtors and other receivables have increased by $9.3 million, $6.2 million of this relates to a property sale which was confirmed prior to 30 June 
but payment is required in the new financial year.

(All in $000) Actual Plan Variance

Current liabilities 166,570 49,190 117,380
Non current liabilities  196,037  272,339  (76,302)
Total Liabilities  362,607  321,529  41,078 

There are $9.5 million more creditors at year end than we budgeted for in the Annual Plan. Based on hindsight, the value of creditors estimated 
in the Annual Plan was too low. The actual 2009 value was $3.6 million more than the 2008 actual value.

Net borrowings (borrowings less cash held) was $292.1 million at 30 June 2009, we had budgeted that net borrowings would be $282.5 million, 
a difference of $9.6 million. Borrowings were higher because we did not sell all of the properties we intended to by year end and income received 
from cash contributions policy was $4.5 million less than we budgeted.

In preparing the Annual Plan we estimated that only $15 million of our borrowings (approx 5.3% of net borrowings) would be a current liability 
repayable in one year. At 30 June 2009 $122.5 million (41.9% of net borrowings) was classified as a current liability. RDC has traditionally 
funded itself by accessing Floating Rate Notes (FRNs.) When this market virtually dried up overnight it utilised bank facility debt. Banks have not 
been prepared to offer facilities beyond the three year period and the cost had increased significantly. It was therefore deemed prudent to fund 
short term during a very difficult time to minimise the cost of borrowing to the Council. Funding beyond the three years in terms of FRNs is now 
becoming more available although pricing is still expensive. The reliance on facility funding will therefore lessen as it will be replaced with longer 
term debt.

The Council has for the first time created a provision of $3.4 million relating to future landfill monitoring costs

In preparing our Annual Plan we assumed that the derivative financial instruments would have a similar value to the value at 30 June 2008. Due 
to the change in financial markets the value of our derivative financial instruments changed from a net financial asset valued at $3.8 million in 
2008 to a net financial liability valued at $6.4 million at 30 June 2009, a decrease in value of $10.2 million.

Statement of Cashflow
(All in $000) Actual Plan Variance

Net cash from operating activities 38,217 49,655  (11,438)
Net cash from financing activities 44,836 27,259 17,577 
Net cash from investing activities  (74,595)  (73,696)  (899)
Net cash inflow (outflow)  8,458  3,218  5,240 

 Net cash from operating activities
The cash contributions and additional operating expenditure mentioned above resulted in a variance to the net cash from operating activities.

 Net cash from financing activities
Borrowings as outlined above resulted in a variance in the net cash from financing activities.

 Net cash from investing activities
The Council reduced the uncompleted capital works this year. In addition the Council sold some properties.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2009

Note 35 Auckland Governance
Legislation (the Local Government (Tamaki Makaurau Reorganisation) Act 2009) is in place that means the local authority will be 
dissolved on 31 October 2010. As a consequence of the dissolution of the local authority, the group structure in its current form 
will also cease to exist. The functions, duties and powers of the local authority and group will become the functions, duties and 
powers of the single unitary authority (the Auckland Council) that will be responsible for governing the entire Auckland region 
from 1 November 2010.   

w All property belonging to the local authority and group will be vested in the Auckland Council.   

w All money payable to or by the local authority and group will become payable to or by the Auckland Council.  

w All rights, liabilities, contracts, entitlements and engagements of the local authority and group will become the rights, liabilities, 
contracts, entitlements, and engagements of the Auckland Council.

There is a Transition Agency that will develop an organisational structure for the Auckland Council so that it can operate 
efficiently and effectively on and from 1 November 2010 and it will develop a change management plan that includes protocols 
and processes for managing the transition of:

w assets from existing local government organisations to the Council structure; 

w staff from existing local government organisations to the Council structure, having regard to the existing employment 
agreements applying to the staff.

w Decisions are yet to be made on the Auckland Council’s structure and operations including how the systems, plans, 
policies, assets and liabilities of the local authority, including its subsidiaries will be vested and integrated.  
Nevertheless, the local authority and group expects the services it currently delivers to continue to be delivered by the 
organisational structure put in place by the Auckland Council, and therefore the assets and liabilities of the local authority 
will be relevant to the Auckland Council. For that reason, no adjustments have been made to the financial statements 
because of the dissolution basis of preparation.
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To the readers of Rodney District Council and group’s 
financial statements and performance information
For the year ended 30 June 2009

The Auditor-General is the auditor of Rodney District Council (the District Council) and group. The Auditor-General has 
appointed me, Karen MacKenzie, using the staff and resources of Audit New Zealand, to carry out the audit. The audit covers 
the District Council’s compliance with the requirements of Schedule 10 of the Local Government Act 2002 that apply to the 
annual report of the District Council and group for the year ended 30 June 2009, including the financial statements.

Unqualified Opinion 
In our opinion: 

w	 The financial statements of the District Council and group on pages 15 to 128 and 130 to 166 that are prepared on a 
dissolution basis:
– comply with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand; and
– fairly reflect:

– the District Council and group’s financial position as at 30 June 2009; and
– the results of operations and cash flows for the year ended on that date. 

w	 The service provision information of the District Council and group on pages 15 to 128 fairly reflects the levels of service 
provision as measured against the intended levels of service provision adopted, as well as the reasons for any significant 
variances, for the year ended on that date; and

w	 The Council has complied with the other requirements of Schedule 10 of the Local Government Act 2002 that apply to the 
annual report (the “other requirements”).

The audit was completed on 27 October 2009, and is the date at which our opinion is expressed. 

The basis of our opinion is explained below and refers to the financial statements being appropriately prepared on a dissolution 
basis and the transition to a new local government structure for the Auckland region on 1 November 2010. In addition, we 
outline the responsibilities of the Council and the Auditor, and explain our independence.

Basis of Opinion
We carried out the audit in accordance with the Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards, which incorporate the New Zealand 
Auditing Standards. 

We planned and performed the audit to obtain all the information and explanations we considered necessary in order to obtain 
reasonable assurance that the financial statements, performance information and the other requirements did not have material 
misstatements, whether caused by fraud or error. 

Material misstatements are differences or omissions of amounts and disclosures that would affect a reader’s overall 
understanding of the financial statements, performance information and the other requirements. If we had found material 
misstatements that were not corrected, we would have referred to them in our opinion. 

The audit involved performing procedures to test the information presented in the financial statements, performance information 
and the other requirements. We assessed the results of those procedures in forming our opinion.

Audit procedures generally include:

w	 determining whether significant financial and management controls are working and can be relied on to produce complete and 
accurate data;

w	 verifying samples of transactions and account balances;
w	 performing analyses to identify anomalies in the reported data;
w	 reviewing significant estimates and judgements made by the Council;
w	 confirming year-end balances; 
w	 determining whether accounting policies are appropriate and consistently applied; and
w	 determining whether all required disclosures are adequate.
We did not examine every transaction, nor do we guarantee complete accuracy of the financial statements, performance 
information and the other requirements.

We evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the financial statements, performance information and 
the other requirements. We obtained all the information and explanations we required to support our opinion above. 

Audit Report
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The financial statements are appropriately prepared on a dissolution basis and refer to 
the new local government structure for the Auckland region
In forming our opinion, we considered:

w	 the accounting policy on pages 134 to 140 about the financial statements being prepared on a dissolution basis; and
w	 the disclosures in note 35 on page 166 about the Government’s decision to dissolve the District Council and, as a 

consequence, the group, and establish a new local government structure for the Auckland region.
The Government’s decision includes the dissolution of the District Council and other existing local authorities in the Auckland 
region after 31 October 2010. As a consequence of the dissolution of the District Council the group structure in its current form 
will also cease to exist. In accordance with the Local Government (Tamaki Makaurau Reorganisation) Act 2009, the functions, 
duties and powers of the District Council will become the functions, duties and powers of a single unitary authority (the Auckland 
Council) that will be responsible for governing the entire Auckland region from 1 November 2010.

Decisions are yet to be made on the Auckland Council’s structure and operations including how the systems, plans, policies, 
assets and liabilities of the District Council, including its subsidiaries and the other existing local authorities will be vested and 
integrated. Nevertheless, the District Council and group expects the services currently delivered to continue to be delivered by 
the organisational structure put in place by the Auckland Council, and therefore the assets and liabilities of the District Council 
and group will be relevant to the Auckland Council. For that reason, no adjustments have been made to the financial statements 
because of the dissolution basis of preparation. We consider the basis of preparation of the financial statements and the related 
disclosures to be appropriate to the District Council and group’s circumstances.

Responsibilities of the Council and the Auditor
The Council is responsible for preparing financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting practice in 
New Zealand. The financial statements must fairly reflect the financial position of the District Council and group as at 30 June 
2009. They must also fairly reflect the results of operations and cash flows and the levels of service provision for the year ended 
on that date. The Council is also responsible for meeting the other requirements of Schedule 10 and including that information in 
the annual report. The Council’s responsibilities arise from section 98 and Schedule 10 of the Local Government Act 2002.

We are responsible for expressing an independent opinion on the financial statements, performance information and the other 
requirements and reporting that opinion to you. This responsibility arises from section 15 of the Public Audit Act 2001 and 
section 99 of the Local Government Act 2002.

Independence
When carrying out the audit we followed the independence requirements of the Auditor-General, which incorporate the 
independence requirements of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of New Zealand. 

In addition to the audit we have carried out an assignment to provide assurance over the tender processes for the selection 
of professional services providers and physical works providers and have conducted the audit of the Long Term Council 
Community Plan, both of which are compatible with those independence requirements. 

Other than the audit and these assignments, we have no relationship with or interests in the District Council  
or any of its subsidiaries.

Karen MacKenzie
AUDIT NEW ZEALAND

On behalf of the Auditor-General 
Auckland, New Zealand

Audit Report cont.
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Chief Executive

Director Corporate Services Director Infrastructure

Assistant Chief Executive  
& Director of Strategy and Policy

Director Customer Service

Council Structure & Management

Rodger Kerr-Newell
Council employs a Chief Executive 
(CE), who is responsible for putting 
policies into operation. The CE 
employs approximately 450 (FTE) 
staff to implement Council’s policies 
and provide a wide range of Council 
services. The organisational structure 
is arranged into four main directorates 
presided over by the Executive Team.

Kevin Ramsay
Key responsibilities include strategic 
investment, treasury management, 
annual report, annual plan, rates 
and revenue, risk management, 
business analysis, finance services, 
legal services, democracy services, 
IT services, land information services 
and records.

Murray Noone
Key responsibilities for infrastructure 
include water, parks and 
coastal planning and delivery, 
hall maintenance and property 
management, cemeteries, 
transportation strategy planning and 
delivery.

Warren Maclennan
Key responsibilities include  
long-term sustainable development 
planning, statutory planning, economic 
and social development, strategic 
project planning and implementation, 
community planning and Iwi liaison, 
LTCCP, strategy, human resources 
and communications.

Lloyd Barton
Key responsibilities for customer 
service include libraries, leisure 
centre, holiday parks, visitor 
information centres, customer 
and visitor reception, call centre, 
resource and building consents, 
bylaws, monitoring and compliance, 
community development and 
emergency management.

w Policy & Planning 
w Economic & Social Development
w Strategy
w Human Resources
w Communications
w Iwi Liaison

w Regulatory 
w Community Development
w Customer Services
w Libraries
w Leisure Centre
w Business Support

w Water Services 
w Transport Services
w Environmental Services
w Property Services
w Infrastructure Coordination

w Financial Services 
w Information Management
w Legal
w Democracy Services

Assistant Chief Executive

Warren Maclennan

Chief Executive

Rodger Kerr-Newell

Director Customer Service

Lloyd Barton
Director Infrastructure

Murray Noone
Director Corporate Services

Kevin Ramsay
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Council Committees

Committee Membership

Full Council 
Quorum: 7

Chairperson: Mayor, Penny Webster
Deputy Chair: Deputy Mayor, Cr John Kirikiri
Members: All Councillors

Strategy & Community Committee
Quorum: 7

Chairperson:  Cr Zane Taylor
Deputy:  Cr Michael Goudie
Members:  All Councillors

Infrastructure & Environment Committee
Quorum: 7

Chairperson:  Cr Grahame Powell
Deputy:  Cr Pat Delich
Members:  All Councillors

District Plan & Regulatory Committee
Quorum: 4 members for policy decisions and 3 
members for other matters

Chairperson:  Cr Gaye Harding
Deputy:  Cr Suzanne Weld
Members:  Crs Michael Goudie, Gaye Harding, Dave 

Parker, Grahame Powell and Suzanne Weld
Alternates:  Crs Pat Delich, June Turner and Wayne Walker. 

Resource Consents Hearings Panel 
Quorum: 2 (one must be the Independent 
Commissioner)

Chairperson:   Independent Commissioner
Members:  One councillor from the ward related to the 

application and one councillor from outside that 
ward.

Kawau Island Advisory Committee Elected Member:  Cr Dave Parker
Alternate:  Cr June Turner
Members:  Lyn Hume, Michael Morris, John Pryor

Audit Committee
Quorum: 3

Chairperson:   Stuart Bauld
Elected Member:  Cr John Kirikiri
Members:  Alan Curtis and Roy Tiffin 

Finance and Audit Committee 
Established November 2007  
Disestablished February 2009
Quorum: 3

Chairperson:   Cr Grev Walker
Elected Member:  Crs John Kirikiri and Ross Craig
Members:  Alan Curtis 
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Contact Cards: Mayor & Councillors

Mayor Deputy Mayor & Hibiscus Coast Ward

Ross Craig

48 Haigh Access Road, RD4 Albany
P: 09 473 0132
M: 021 912 861
E: ross.craig@rodney.govt.nz

Wayne Walker

PO Box 270, Whangaparaoa
P/F: 09 424 3121
M: 021 882 861 
E: wayne@waynewalker.co.nz

Zane Taylor

14 Edgewater Grove, Orewa
M: 027 589 0210
E: zane.taylor@rodney.govt.nz

Penny Webster

Private Bag 500, Orewa
P: 09 426 5169
F: 09 426 7280
E: penny.webster@rodney.govt.nz

Michael Goudie

52 Walton Street, Red Beach
M: 021 810 194
E: michael.goudie@gmail.com

John Kirikiri

PO Box 535, Orewa
P: 09 427 3165
M: 021 906 309
E: john.kirikiri@rodney.govt.nz

Gaye Harding

4 Tiri Road, Little Manly, 
Whangaparaoa
P: 09 424 7802
M: 021 112 7697
E: gaye.harding@rodney.govt.nz

Central Ward

Hibiscus Coast Ward
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June Turner

1 Merehai Place, Snells Beach
P: 09 425 6195 
F: 09 425 6199
M: 021 365 156
E: june.turner@rodney.govt.nz

Suzanne Weld

54 Garfield Road, Helensville
P: 09 420 9390 
M: 021 656 485
E: suzanne.weld@rodney.govt.nz

Dave Parker QSM, J.P.

PO Box 581, Warkworth
P: 09 425 0393
M: 027 484 9935
E: dave.parker@rodney.govt.nz

Pat Delich

35 Fork Road, RD1 Kumeu
P: 09 412 9664
F: 09 412 9644
M: 021 475 502
E: pdel@xtra.co.nz

Dr Grahame Powell, J.P.

338 Rodney Street, Wellsford
P: 09 423 8009
F: 09 423 8609
M: 021 661 818
E: powellg@xtra.co.nz

Grev Walker, J.P

58 Pipitiwai Drive, Helensville
P: 09 420 7173
F: 09 420 7103
E: grevwalker@clear.net.nz

Western Ward

Northern Ward
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Statement of Resources
As at 30 June 2009

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

Volume Actual Actual Actual Actual Actual

Base Statistics
Area Sq Km 2,475 2,475 2,475 2,475 2,475
Population (Estimate following Census 2006) Number 85,150 89,200 89,559 94,700 96,562
Households (Estimated Occupied dwellings 
following Census 2006) Number 32,047 33,572 32,910 33,483 36,084

Electors (Estimate) Number 59,531 59,531 59,531 64,903 64,903
Financial divisions Number 2 2 2 2 2
Wards (at Election) Number 3 3 4 4 4
Urban areas Number 12 12 15 15 15
Total number of properties Number 41,282 43,245 43,967 44,873 45,362
Total rateable properties Number 39,957 41,974 43,538 44,466 44,076
Value of improvements $ Million 6,649 8,551 9,939 12,083 12,148
Net land value $ Million 7,124 12,839 13,118 21,609 21,241
Capital value (Revaluation 2007) $ Million 13,773 21,001 23,057 33,692 33,389
Total rates $000 66,171 72,535 81,752 88,263 99,130
Total Rates Per Property $ 1,656 1,728 1,878 1,985 2,249
Total Assets $000 1,354,351 1,448,832 1,578,681 1,639,595 1,705,628
Net Borrowings (Borrowings net of cash held) $000 109,379 169,070 211,683 255,800 292,179

Average full time equivalent staff1

Total (based on 2080 hours per year) FTE Staff 415 450 472 472 473
FTE excluding Temporary and Casual staff 2 333 370 401 396 409

Roading
Sealed roads km 919 956 990 1,008 1,020
Unsealed roads km 769 740 718 704 694
Total km 1,688 1,696 1,708 1,712 1,714

Wastewater
Systems Number 10 10 10 11 10
Sewer reticulation length km 553 578 599 606 603
Number of Properties connected to the System Number 20,764 22,474 22,770 23,243

Water Supplies
Systems Number 7 7 7 7 7
Water reticulation length3 km 468 480 496 495 526
Number of Connections to the System Number 16,610 17,022 17,371 17,994 18,297

Stormwater Control
Urban km of piped drains4 km 557 473 489 493 644
Urban km of open drains km 228 244 249 250 254

Community Wellbeing
Reserves and parks-total area5 ha 2,046 2,092 2,081 1,778 1,726
Public conveniences and changing sheds Number 84 87 93 90 92
Total length of coastline km 1,019 1,019 1,019 1,019 1,019
Foreshore structures (licensed) Number 191 195 170 174 175
Mooring sites (excluding Gulf Harbour) Number 973 995 983 990 982
Boat ramps (includes beach access)6 Number 63 63 71 67 67
Camping grounds Number 4 4 4 4 4
Public halls Number 27 25 25 25 27
Leisure centre Number 1 1 1 1 1
Libraries Number 7 7 7 7 7

 Notes
1 Rodney District Council is an Equal Opportunity Employer
2 Note that excluding temporary and casual staff gives a more meaningful and consistent trend as it removes short term variations arising from 

specific seasonal and short term needs.
3 As at 2008 this figure has discounted the length of pipe (total 10km) outside the public sytem.
4 Subsoil drains (110km) are excluded from 2006 forward.
5 Due to reclassifying a number of properties from reserve to operational (utilities) from 2008.
6 Only ramps maintained by RDC (2007 figure included ARC ramps).
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Growth Trends

Number of Land Information Memorandums

2005 2009200820072006

2,272

1,863

2,842

2,225 2,116

Number of Notices of Sale

2005 2009200820072006

6,102

3,646

5,9945,957

4,987

Number of Building Consent Applications

2005 2009200820072006

3,104

1,892

3,490
3,696

3,433

Number of Subdivision Consent Applications

2005 2009200820072006

434

258

333

525

420

Number of Land Use Consent Applications

2005 2009200820072006

1,192

872

1,3281,353
1,253

Number of Library Books Issued

2005 2009200820072006

1,343,000 1,344,0681,349,000
1,452,000

1,345,000

Number of Visitors to the Leisure Centre

2005 2009200820072006

328,912

288,545
264,906

294,876

255,197

Number of Telephone Calls Received

2005 2009200820072006

346,287

266,606

330,875332,413
307,405



APPENDICES176

Council Controlled Organisations

Rodney Properties Limited
The primary objective of RPL is to provide advice on the disposal of a portfolio of non-operational RDC properties to maximise 
financial returns to the Council so that debt can be minimised whilst trying to achieve good urban design and strategic outcomes.

RPL was incorporated on 23 February 2009 which is not more than 6 months before the end of the financial year. Therefore, the 
company is not required to prepare a statement of intent for the 2009 financial year. 

Northern Animal Shelter   
Rodney District Council (RDC) and North Shore City Council (NSCC) have designed, constructed and will jointly own and operate an 
animal shelter facility (Northern Animal Shelter) in Tavern Road, Silverdale.   

This joint venture is undertaken in order for the Councils to meet their respective long-term statutory requirements for the custody, 
care, exercise, release and disposal of dogs and implementation of their dog policies under the Dog Control Act 1996. 

The shelter is a small, non-profit council controlled organisation (CCO) exempted as a CCO under section 7(3) of the LGA 2002, by 
Council resolution on 07 August 2008. Council is required to review this exemption within three years after it is granted, i.e., before 07 
August 2011. No statement of intent for the 2009 financial year is required.



A SNAPSHOT IN TIME

Rodney District Council
is proud to present you with four limited edition prints  

from local amateur photographer and council staff  
member Azeem Mohammed. Azeem was asked by us  

to travel to each of our wards – North, West, Central and 
Hibiscus Coast—with his family and there capture the 

essence of the ward and celebrate Rodney as she is today. 

Azeem’s choices were numerous; we are after all such a 
diverse district. But a choice had to be made and these 

are the four prints, one for each ward, we have chosen to 
represent Rodney the way we look at her now. ©RDC 2009. 

There is more of Azeem’s photography, including his 
Rodney portfolio, at his website: www.imagingnz.co.nz



www.rodney.govt.nz
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CONTACT US

Rodney District Council 
50 Centreway Road, Orewa  
Auckland, New Zealand

T: +64 9 426 5169

F: +64 9 426 7280

E: customerservice@rodney.govt.nz


